
  City of Nevada City 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 20, 2020 1:30 PM 
Council Chambers – City Hall 

317 Broad Street - Nevada City, CA  95959 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
•AUDIENCE MEMBERS DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE PLANNING COMMISSION ON ITEMS ON THE
AGENDA:  After recognition by the Chair, state your name, address and your comments or questions.  Please direct your
remarks to the Commission.  So that all interested parties may speak, please limit your comments to the item under discussion.
All citizens will be given the opportunity to speak, consistent with Constitutional rights.  Time limits are at the discretion of the
Chair.  •If you challenge the Commission’s decision on any matter in court, you will be limited to raising only those issues you
or someone else specifically raised or delivered in writing to the Planning Commission at or prior to the meeting.  •Requests
for disability-related modifications or accommodations may be made by contacting the City Planner and should be made at
least 72 hours prior to the meeting.
__________________________________________________________________________________________

Mission Statement 
The City of Nevada City is dedicated to preserving and enhancing its small town character 

 and historical architecture while providing quality public services 
 for our current and future residents, businesses and visitors. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ROLL CALL Chair Josie Andrews, Vice-Chair Jason Rainey Commissioners, Peter Van Zant, Stuart Lauters, and 
David Bohegian 

APPROVAL OF ACTION MINUTES   

1. December 19 , 2019 Meeting

HEARING FROM THE PUBLIC: Comments on items not on the agenda are welcome and are limited to three 
minutes.  However, action or discussion by the Commission may not occur at this time.  

DEPARTMENT REQUESTED ITEMS 

2. City-wide Crosswalk Design Consideration

SIGN APPLICATION

3. 419 Broad- Ariel Wolansky –Cocoa Cafe

TREE REMOVAL

4. 319 Nevada Street – 13 Trees

5. 630 East Broad Street – 6 Trees

6. 403 South Pine Street – 4 Trees

7. 514 Nursery Street – 8 Trees

ARCHITECTURAL REVEW

8. 632 Zion Street- New Primary Dwelling

9. 224 Church Street – New garage door

10. 332 Jordan Street- New garage and tree removal

HISTORICAL PLAQUE PROPOSAL

11. Ellen Sargent Plaque Proposal



February 20, 2020  PC 
Page 2 of 2 
 

 

PUBLIC HEARING 

12. National Hotel Sign Variance and Architectural Review 

CANNABIS BUSINESS APPLICATIONS 

13. Longitude Management, LLC – Proposed distribution-only business 

14. Floracy – Amendment to allow for full distribution of any licensed product  

15. Thrive Society (Changing to R&R Goods, Inc) – Amendment to change name and principals  

PLANNING COMMISSION LIAISON REPORTS –Previously approved projects – informational only 

STAFF APPROVALS AND DETERMINATIONS – (for information only): 

519 Coyote Street – Side porch enclosure 
214 Reward St.  – Auxiliary Generator 
519 Nimrod St. – Tree Removal (one Oak) 
332 Jordan  St. – Tree Removal (one Pine-dead) 
222 Park Ave.  – Tree Removal (one Maple) 
200 Clay Street – Re-roof, like-for-like 
320 Woodpecker – Re-roof, like-for-like 
310 Gethsemane –Reroof, like-for like 
785 Old Washington - Reroof, like-for like 
414 Main Street – Roof-mounted solar 
436 South Pine St – Tree Removal –one cedar 
224 Reward – Generator 
510 Main St. – Tree removal – two liquid ambers 
220 Nihell – Tree removal – two dead pines 
224 Grove - Reroof, like-for like 
528 Main St- Second Dwelling 
200 Clay -224 Grove - Reroof, like-for like 
 

CORRESPONDENCE:   

ANNOUNCEMENTS:    

Next Regular Meeting – March 19, 2020 

ADJOURNMENT   



  City of Nevada City 
PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION MINUTES 

THURSDAY, DECEMBER 19, 2019 1:30 PM 
Council Chambers – City Hall 

317 Broad Street - Nevada City, CA  95959 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
•AUDIENCE MEMBERS DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE PLANNING COMMISSION ON ITEMS ON THE
AGENDA:  After recognition by the Chair, state your name, address and your comments or questions.  Please direct your
remarks to the Commission.  So that all interested parties may speak, please limit your comments to the item under discussion.
All citizens will be given the opportunity to speak, consistent with Constitutional rights.  Time limits are at the discretion of the
Chair.  •If you challenge the Commission’s decision on any matter in court, you will be limited to raising only those issues you
or someone else specifically raised or delivered in writing to the Planning Commission at or prior to the meeting.  •Requests
for disability-related modifications or accommodations may be made by contacting the City Planner and should be made at
least 72 hours prior to the meeting.
__________________________________________________________________________________________

Mission Statement 
The City of Nevada City is dedicated to preserving and enhancing its small town character 

 and historical architecture while providing quality public services 
 for our current and future residents, businesses and visitors. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ROLL CALL Chair Josie Andrews, Vice-Chair Jason Rainey Commissioners, Peter Van Zant, Stuart Lauters, and 
David Bohegian 

APPROVAL OF ACTION MINUTES   

1. November 21, 2019

Public: None 
Motion by P. Van Zant to approve the minutes as presented 
Seconded by D. Bohegian 
Vote:      3  ayes,     0    noes,  1 absent (Lauters),   1 abstention (Rainey),   motion carries 

HEARING FROM THE PUBLIC: Comments on items not on the agenda are welcome and are limited to three 
minutes.  However, action or discussion by the Commission may not occur at this time.  

See video record 

SIGN APPLICATION 

None 

TREE REMOVAL 

2. 9 Kidder Inn Town Campground – Request to remove five trees

Public: See video record 
Motion by P. Van Zant to approve the tree removal as presented 
Seconded by J. Rainey 
Vote:      4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),   motion carries 
3. 555 Nevada- Request to remove one tree (two previously approved by staff)

Public: None 
Motion by J. Rainey to approve the tree removal as presented  
Seconded by D. Bohegian  
Vote:      4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),   motion carries 



December 19, 2019  PC 
Page 2 of 5 
 

 

4. 210 Park Avenue – Request to remove three trees 

Public: None 
Motion by P. Van Zant to approve the tree removal as presented 
Seconded by J. Rainey 
Vote:      4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),   motion carries 
 
ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW 

5. 224 Main Street- Repair and replace gutter; Repair and replace portico 

Public: None 
Motion by P. Van Zant to approve the  application as presented 
Seconded by D. Bohegian  
Vote:      4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),   motion carries  
Liaison to review gutter profile: P. Van Zant 

 

HISTORICAL PLAQUE PROPOSAL 

6. Calanan Park- Revised plaque proposal honoring Ellen Sargent 

Public: See video record 
Motion by D. Bohegian to continue to a future meeting with direction to the applicant to add language that 
strengthens understanding of Ellen Sargent’s role in the suffrage movement 
Seconded by P. Van Zant 
Vote:      4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),   motion carries  

 

PUBLIC HEARING 

7. ADU Ordinance Update 

Public: See video record 
Motion by J. Rainey recommending to City Council that Draft Ordinance 2019-XX is Exempt from the 
California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Sections 15282(h) ,15303, 15305, and 
15061 
Seconded by P. Van Zant  
Vote:        4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),    motion carries 
 
Motion by J. Rainey recommending to City Council that they adopt Draft Ordinance 2019-XX to amend 
Section 17.72.020 through Section 17.72.038, as amended by the Planning Commission,  in order to update 
the City’s Ordinance pertaining to Accessory Dwelling Units in compliance with adopted State legislation 
Seconded by P. Van Zant 
Vote:       4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),    motion carries 
  
   Ordinance Revisions as Recommended by the Planning Commission: 

17.72.026 (I.2) Accessory Dwelling units shall not exceed 16-feet in height unless constructed over a 
garage, in which case the ADU shall not exceed the height of the primary residence or 35-
feet 

 



December 19, 2019  PC 
Page 3 of 5 
 

 

17.72.026 (I.3) Accessory Dwelling Unit Entrances shall be oriented to face the street except that if 
topographic or other site constraints prevent such orientation, the entrance shall be screened 
from neighboring properties. 

 
17.72.026 (M) Any ADU taking advantage of reduced setbacks pursuant to Section 17.72.027 shall not 

have doors or windows within such setback unless required to meet health and safety 
requirements.  

 
17.72.026 (P) A detached ADU  may include an attached unconditioned garage space that does not 

exceed 250 square feet. 
  
17.72.029 (G) Kitchen Requirements: The junior accessory dwelling unit shall include an efficiency 

kitchen, including a food preparation counter, a cook stove (as opposed to the term 
“cooking appliances” provided by the State language), and storage cabinets that are of 
reasonable size in relation to the size of the junior accessory dwelling unit. 

 
 

8. 211 Broad Street –  Sign Variance  and National Hotel Exterior Renovation (continue to January 16, 2019) 

Public: None 
Motion by P. Van Zant to continue until the January 16, 2019 meeting 
Seconded by J. Rainey 
Vote:        4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),    motion carries 
CANNABIS BUSINESS APPLICATIONS  

9. SBGE, Inc, dba Bloomfield - Cannabis Extraction Manufacturing and Distribution Business- Amendment to include a 
hydrocarbon extraction component 

Motion by D. Bohegian to approve the amended application as presented to authorize the addition of 
hydrocarbon extraction to their authorized application and business operation, subject to the updated 
Conditions of Approval as amended by the planning commission, making findings a-c 
Seconded by P. Van Zant 
Vote:        4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),    motion carries 

 
Added Condition of approval: Operational hours between 8PM to 8AM shall be passive in nature, in terms of 
operation shall not be visible from an outside observer and shall not involve shipping/receiving activities. 
 

10. Deep Dessert, LLC – Cannabis Infusion Manufacturing and Distribution Business 

Public: None 
Motion by P. Van Zant to find the project exempt pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15301 (existing 
facilities) because the building is already existing and the proposed cannabis manufacturing and 
distribution use is consistent with the principal permitted uses allowed in the Light Industrial Zoning 
District pursuant to Section 17.48.020, and there is no expansion of use  beyond what is already considered 
a  permitted use 
Seconded by J. Rainey  
Vote:        4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),    motion carries 
 



December 19, 2019  PC 
Page 4 of 5 
 

 

Motion by P. Van Zant to approve the application as presented to authorize a cannabis business permit to 
Deep Desert LLC for a manufacturing  and distribution operation at 555 Searls Avenue, suite 4 subject to 
the recommended Conditions of Approval, attached, as may be  modified by the planning commission, 
making findings “a” and “b”: 
Seconded by D. Bohegian 
Vote:        4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),    motion carries 

 

11. MMR Books, LLC- Cannabis Hydrocarbon Extraction Manufacturing and Distribution Business 

Public: None 
Motion by P. Van Zant to find the project exempt pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15301 (existing 
facilities) because the building is already existing and the proposed cannabis manufacturing and 
distribution use is consistent with the principal permitted uses allowed in the Light Industrial Zoning 
District pursuant to Section 17.48.020, and there is no expansion of use  beyond what is already considered 
a  permitted use 
Seconded by D. Bohegian 
Vote:        4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),    motion carries 
 
Motion by P. Van Zant to approve the application as presented to authorize a cannabis business permit to 
MMR Books, LLC “MMR” for a manufacturing  and distribution operation at 545 Searls Avenue, suite 5  
subject to the recommended Conditions of Approval, attached, as may be  modified by the planning 
commission, making findings “a” and “b”: 
Seconded by D. Bohegian 
Vote:        4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),    motion carries  
12. Spoiled Patient Collective, LLC - Cannabis Hydrocarbon Extraction Manufacturing Business 

Public: None 
Motion by P. Van Zant to find the project exempt pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15301 (existing 
facilities) because the building is already existing and the proposed cannabis manufacturing and 
distribution use is consistent with the principal permitted uses allowed in the Light Industrial Zoning 
District pursuant to Section 17.48.020, and there is no expansion of use  beyond what is already considered 
a  permitted use 
Seconded by D. Bohegian 
Vote:       4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),    motion carries 
 
Motion by D. Bohegian to approve the application as presented to authorize a cannabis business permit to 
Spoiled Patient Collective, LLC for a manufacturing  operation at 545 Searls Avenue, suite 1  subject to 
the recommended Conditions of Approval, attached, as may be  modified by the planning commission, 
making findings “a” and “b”: 
Seconded by P. Van Zant 
Vote:        4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),    motion carries 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION LIAISON REPORTS –Previously approved projects – informational only 

STAFF APPROVALS AND DETERMINATIONS – (for information only): 

To Be Provided at Meeting 

CORRESPONDENCE:   



December 19, 2019  PC 
Page 5 of 5 
 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS:    

Next Regular Meeting – January 16, 2020 

Happy Holidays! 

ADJOURNMENT   

Motion by  J. Rainey  to adjourn at 5:43 p.m. 
Seconded by D. Bohegian 
4  ayes,      0   noes,  1 absent (Lauters),    motion carries 
 



          City of Nevada City  

  
 
 
TO:    Planning Commission 
FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
MEETING  DATE:  January 16, 2020 
RE: Crosswalk Design throughout the City 

BACKGROUND: Engineering and Public Works Department staff are preparing to install a 
crosswalk at the intersection of Railroad Avenue and Sacramento Street, as part of pedestrian 
improvement plans being implemented city-wide.  Because crosswalks are often prominently visible, 
they have the potential for impacting the overall City aesthetics. Staff is seeking the Planning 
Commission’s direction on material and design options so that these improvements maintain a 
consistent aesthetic throughout the City, and are compatible with the City’s design goals, particularly 
in the Historic District. Attached to this staff report are several examples of crosswalk styles for the 
Commission’s consideration.  
 
REQUESTED ACTION: Proved direction to Engineering and Public Works staff on appropriate an 
appropriate crosswalk design to use throughout the City.  
 

 



 
Old Town Folsom 



                               City of Nevada City 

 
City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

 

 
 
TO:    Planning Commission 
FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
MEETING DATE:  February 20, 2020 
APPLICANT:  Ariel Wolansky, business owner 

RE:   Application for Sign Review at 419 Broad Street for a sign for “Cocoa Café” 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Prior application  
2. Sign Graphic 

ACTION REQUESTED 
1. Approve a new hanging sign for “Cocoa Cafe” 

 
PROKECT PROPOSAL:  Business owner, Ariel Wolansky is applying to modify his previously 
approved sign (July 18, 2019 meeting) and replace it with a new sign of the same dimensions and in the 
same location. The existing sign currently hangs from existing eyelets between posts on an existing sign 
stand, detached from the building and located in the front yard.  
 
Wall sign details:  
Sign Material hand painted, aluminum composite panel 
Sides Two-Sided 
Dimensions/Area 3’ x 0.77’ (both sides: 4.62 square feet) 
Letters Similar to “Times New Roman” 
Graphic Botanical 
Colors Black background, tan lettering, green/brown/cream graphic 

 

                                 

  
Prior sign approvals 

 
Current Sign Proposal 

 



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

REGULATORY CONSIDERATION:  
17.68.080- Signs—Requirements and Restrictions (in the Historical District) 
No sign shall be placed, erected, altered or relocated on any property within the historical district unless 
such sign is, as to its exterior appearance, compatible with the Mother Lode type of architecture, and 
unless it complies with all of the following requirements: 
 

• No sign shall be allowed except a sign, which identifies or advertises the business conducted 
on the premises. 

• Each sign shall be affixed to a building, except that where the building is set back from the 
street to such extent that a sign affixed to the building would not be within reasonable view 
from the street, then a sign need not be so affixed, but may be located in some other manner 
as the planning commission shall approve. 

• No single sign shall exceed twenty-four square feet in area 
• The aggregate area of all signs of any one business entity shall not exceed twenty-four 

square feet; provided, however, that a single business entity having public customer 
entrances on two or more sides of a building may treat each such side as a separate entity. 

 
FINDINGS: In order to approve this application, the following finding must be made: 
 

A. That the exterior appearance of the proposed signage is consistent with the Mother Lode type of 
architecture (17.68.080). 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION: 
After discussion and hearing from the public, the Commission can make a motion to approve the sign 
application, with the following conditions as agreed to by the applicant: 
 

1. No neon is permitted. 
 

2. No banners are permitted. 
 

3. Nevada City contracts with the Nevada County Building Department for issuance of permits.  
The County will not issue permits unless the plans have been stamped and approved by Nevada 
City.  Therefore, prior to issuance of a building permit, submit three sets of plans to Nevada City 
Planning Department, along with the filing fee applicable at the time of filing. The plans will be 
reviewed by the City Planner and City Engineer for consistency with the approval and will 
require their signatures.   

 
4. All improvements shall substantially comply with the exhibits presented to the Planning 

Commission.  
 

5. A Planning Commission member may be appointed as a Liaison to assist the applicant with any 
minor modifications to the permit, if needed. 
 

6. The decision of the planning commission may be appealed to the city council not later than 
fifteen (15) days after this final action or decision. Any work during this period is at the 
applicant’s own risk. 

 







          City of Nevada City 

TO:    Planning Commission 

FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

MEETING  DATE:  February 20, 2020 

RE: Tree Removal Application – 319 Nevada Street 

ATTACHMENTS:   1. Application
2. Tree Removal Site Plan and tree location map
3. Photos

APPLICATION: Property owner Ethan Gicker, at 319 Nevada Street, is requesting removal of 
11 incense cedars and two ponderosa pines for a total of 13 trees of various size on his 0.44 acre 
property. Reasons for removal are primarily for forest thinning and/or poor growth structure.  

MITGATION CONSIDERATION: Pursuant to Section 18.01.070 of the City Municipal Code, 
the Planning Commission may impose mitigation on the loss of any protected tree(s). The total 
replacement requirement shall be based on the number of tree(s) removed. Mitigation replanting 
or seedling protection shall be provided with the intent to reflect the character of the site prior to 
tree removal.  

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATION: This project may be considered exempt from 
environmental review pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)  Guidelines 
Section 15304 (Minor Alterations to Lands) for small projects that do not involve the removal of 
healthy, mature, and scenic trees, except for forestry and agricultural purposes. 

RECOMMENDED MOTION 
1. In approving the Tree Removal application, as conditioned, located at 319 Nevada  

Street, Nevada City, CA, the  Planning Commission finds:

a. That the removal of up to 13 trees identified in the exhibits provided by the 
applicant are necessary for reasonable use of the property 

RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The approval for the tree removal shall expire 180-days from the issuance of the permit.

2. It is the applicant’s responsibility to obtain any necessary permits from applicable
agencies that may include the CA Department of Fish and Wildlife, US Federal
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), CA Department of Forestry and Fire
Protection (CDF)

3. Any tree work shall avoid impacts to nesting birds under the federal Migratory Bird
Treaty Act

4. Any firm or person removing the trees shall obtain a business license from City Hall













Migratory Bird Treaty Act
 Was enacted to put an end to the commercial trade of birds and their feathers. 
 Prohibits killing, possessing, or trading migratory birds. 
 Applies to whole birds, parts of birds, bird nests and eggs. 
 Applies to many common bird species and private, state and federal lands. 
 Does not provide protection of habitat of migratory birds, but does prohibit the 

destruction of active bird nests in active use without a permit from U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service. 

 It is easiest to avoid active nests by working during the non-breeding season.  
This means avoiding vegetation removal between March 1 and August 31 

 If you want to work during the nesting season, you should hire a biologist to 
survey for nesting birds and mark sites to be avoided during vegetation removal.  
Leave a buffer of vegetation around each nest to avoid nest abandonment. 

More than 800 migratory birds are listed under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act. 
The Eagle Protection Act also protects bald and golden eagles. 

       Mourning Dove Tri-Colored Blackbird 

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Jurisdiction 
Birds protected under the act include all common songbirds, waterfowl, shorebirds, 
hawks, owls, eagles, ravens, crows, native doves and pigeons, swifts, martins, swallows 
and others, including their body parts (feathers, plumes etc), nests, and eggs. A 
complete list of protected species is found at 50 CFR 10.13. Activities related to fire 
management which are most likely to result in take of migratory birds include, but are 
not limited to, clearing or grubbing, tree pruning or limbing, prescribed burning, and 
vegetation removal in migratory bird nesting habitat during the nesting season when 
eggs or young are likely to be present. Section 7031 of the MBTA prohibits taking any 
migratory bird, part, nest or eggs. Take is defined as “to pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, kill, 
trap, capture, or collect, or any attempt to carry out these activities.” A take does not 
include habitat destruction or alteration, as long as there is not a direct taking of birds, 
nests, eggs, or parts thereof.   

Who Do I Contact? 
USFWS:  Sacramento office 916-445-0411 http://www.fws.gov

http://www.fws.gov/carlsbad
http://migratorybirds.pacific.fws.gov/mbta.htm
AWolfson
Stamp



          City of Nevada City 

TO:    Planning Commission 

FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

MEETING  DATE:  February 20, 2020 

RE: Tree Removal Application – 630 East Broad Street 

ATTACHMENTS:   1. Application
2. Applicant Narrative
3. Photos

APPLICATION: Property owner Greg Archbald, at 630 East Broad Street, is requesting 
removal of six Aspen trees all under 9 inches diameter his 0.20 acre property. Reasons for 
removal are primarily because trees are showing signs of disease and poor health.  

MITGATION CONSIDERATION: Pursuant to Section 18.01.070 of the City Municipal Code, 
the Planning Commission may impose mitigation on the loss of any protected tree(s). The total 
replacement requirement shall be based on the number of tree(s) removed. Mitigation replanting 
or seedling protection shall be provided with the intent to reflect the character of the site prior to 
tree removal.  

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATION: This project may be considered exempt from 
environmental review pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)  Guidelines 
Section 15304 (Minor Alterations to Lands) for small projects that do not involve the removal of 
healthy, mature, and scenic trees, except for forestry and agricultural purposes. 

RECOMMENDED MOTION 
1. In approving the Tree Removal application, as conditioned, located at 630 East Broad 

Street, Nevada City, CA, the  Planning Commission finds:

a. That the removal of up to six trees identified in the exhibits provided by the 
applicant are necessary for reasonable use of the property 

RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The approval for the tree removal shall expire 180-days from the issuance of the permit.

2. It is the applicant’s responsibility to obtain any necessary permits from applicable
agencies that may include the CA Department of Fish and Wildlife, US Federal
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), CA Department of Forestry and Fire
Protection (CDF)

3. Any tree work shall avoid impacts to nesting birds under the federal Migratory Bird
Treaty Act

4. Any firm or person removing the trees shall obtain a business license from City Hall



CITY OF NEVADA CITY
317 Broad Street . Nevada City, Califomia 95959 . (530) 265,2496

OF'FICE I]SE ONI,Y

Filing Fees

chk Cash

Bus. Lic.

TREE REMOVAL APPLICATION

A City permit is required for removal of any tree with a cumulative diameter at breast height (cbdh) of 4" or greater
(Mandrone, Manzanita, Oak); or 6" or greater (all other trees). An arborist's repoft may also be required. See Ordinance
2004-09 (City Code, Ch 18) for criteria.

NOTE: A $100 administratiye fee must be paid when the application is submitted. All applications must include
photographs of the tree(s) to be removed and a site plan showing the location of all trees to be removed and
approximate locations of any roads and structures.

Street Address/Location: C,\0 tr (3raal Strcal- aeN u: 008-07C. 010

owner/Representatir", 6rc1 Arthbtll nrone#: S!d.f9t-!SB
Mailing Address:

Identify and describe tree(s) to be removed and state reason(s). Use additional pages if necessary.

Species Reason for removal (See I 18.01.035)

Asp* 0itcrr<J
Dcrd

DitcucJ

Dircaal
Dircrrc/
Lihell aircrrcJ

Number Diameter

t (t/q'
z ,Yr' .r

, t/t' .,

L r/2"

( r/1"
,"

la

rl

3

1

I
L

propertyowner'ssignature: ,(, f , ox", l/gt/ZO

OFFICE USE ONLY.

Permit Date: Expiration Date:

Remarks (Mitigation/Protection Measures):

Approved by:

Signature

J/Forms,{Planning/Tree Removal Application - Revised 7 /20 I 07









          City of Nevada City 

TO:    Planning Commission 

FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

MEETING  DATE:  February 20, 2020 

RE: Tree Removal Application – 403 South Pine 

ATTACHMENTS:   1. Application
2. Tree location Map
3. Photos 

APPLICATION: Property owners Gretchen Bond and Mark Jacoby, at 403 South Pine Street, 
are requesting removal of  two Willow, one Cedar and one Walnut for a total of four trees 
between 18 and 30 inches diameter (application appears to reference circumference) on their 
0.10 acre property. Reasons for removal are primarily because trees are damaging or in danger of 
damaging property. Photographs also show significant ivy growth. Based on it’s size/age, staff 
believes the Walnut to be a Felix Gillet tree, having “additional protection” as outlined below. 

MITGATION CONSIDERATION: Pursuant to Section 18.01.070 of the City Municipal Code, 
the Planning Commission may impose mitigation on the loss of any protected tree(s). The total 
replacement requirement shall be based on the number of tree(s) removed. Mitigation replanting 
or seedling protection shall be provided with the intent to reflect the character of the site prior to 
tree removal.  
Pursuant to Section 18.01.036 additional protection may consist of, but is not limited to, one 
(1) or more of the following:

• Modifications to existing structures, such as porches/decks or similar improvements;

• Pruning/trimming;

• Spraying for insects and disease;

• Special care and feeding;

• Method of tree removal.

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATION: This project may be considered exempt from 
environmental review pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)  Guidelines 
Section 15304 (Minor Alterations to Lands) for small projects that do not involve the removal of 
healthy, mature, and scenic trees, except for forestry and agricultural purposes. 

RECOMMENDED MOTION 
1. In approving the Tree Removal application, as conditioned, located at 403 South Pine

Street, Nevada City, CA, the  Planning Commission finds:

a. That the removal of up to four trees identified in the exhibits provided by the
applicant are necessary for reasonable use of the property



403 South Pine Street 
Tree Removal Staff Report 
Page 2 of 2 
 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The approval for the tree removal shall expire 180-days from the issuance of the permit.   

 
2. It is the applicant’s responsibility to obtain any necessary permits from applicable 

agencies that may include the CA Department of Fish and Wildlife, US Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), CA Department of Forestry and Fire 
Protection (CDF) 
 

3. Any tree work shall avoid impacts to nesting birds under the federal Migratory Bird 
Treaty Act 
 

4. Any firm or person removing the trees shall obtain a business license from City Hall 























          City of Nevada City 

TO:    Planning Commission 

FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

MEETING  DATE:  February 20, 2020 

RE: Tree Removal Application – 514 Nursery Street 

ATTACHMENTS:   1. Application
2. Acton Arboriculture Assessment
3. Photos 

APPLICATION: Property owner Crystal Helbig, 514 Nursery Street, is requesting removal of 
five ponderosa Pines and two Hawthorns for a total of  seven  trees,  of various sizes on her  0.82 
acre property. Reasons for removal are due to fire risk, risk of tree failure, and risk to the home. 
Acton Arboriculture has provided an assessment of several trees on the property, including those 
proposed for removal, attached. A Ponderosa Pine was approved for removal  

MITGATION CONSIDERATION: Pursuant to Section 18.01.070 of the City Municipal Code, 
the Planning Commission may impose mitigation on the loss of any protected tree(s). The total 
replacement requirement shall be based on the number of tree(s) removed. Mitigation replanting 
or seedling protection shall be provided with the intent to reflect the character of the site prior to 
tree removal.  

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATION: This project may be considered exempt from 
environmental review pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)  Guidelines 
Section 15304 (Minor Alterations to Lands) for small projects that do not involve the removal of 
healthy, mature, and scenic trees, except for forestry and agricultural purposes. 

RECOMMENDED MOTION 
1. In approving the Tree Removal application, as conditioned, located at 514 Nursery Street,

Nevada City, CA, the  Planning Commission finds:

a. That the removal of up to six trees identified in the exhibits provided by the
applicant are necessary for reasonable use of the property

RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The approval for the tree removal shall expire 180-days from the issuance of the permit.

2. It is the applicant’s responsibility to obtain any necessary permits from applicable
agencies that may include the CA Department of Fish and Wildlife, US Federal
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), CA Department of Forestry and Fire
Protection (CDF)

3. Any tree work shall avoid impacts to nesting birds under the federal Migratory Bird
Treaty Act

4. Any firm or person removing the trees shall obtain a business license from City Hall





















City of Nevada City 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

TO:    Planning Commission 
FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
MEETING DATE:  February 20, 2020 
APPLICANT: Kirk and Deanna McGuire, property owner 
RE: Application for Architectural Review at 632 Zion Street 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Application (Architectural Review)
2. Site Plan and Elevations
3. Site Photos
4. Manufacturer's Spec Sheets: Hardie, Milguard
5. Design Guidelines Section 5.0: Architectural Review Outside the Historical District

Lot Coverage: 50% 
Building Height: 35-feet 

ACTIONS REQUESTED 
1. Approve Architectural Review application

SITE DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
Lot Size: 0.26 acres 
Zoning: R1: Single-Family Residential 
Setbacks: Front yard: 30-ft, Rear Yard: 25-ft, Interior side 

yards: 5-ft, Corner Side: 10-feet 
Historical District: Outside 

BACKGROUND: The subject property is developed with an existing 685 square foot unit in 1942 
according to the property owners, Kirk and Deanna McGuire. They are proposing to construct a new 
primary unit and convert the existing unit to an Accessory Dwelling Unit pursuant to a pending 
Ordinance that is going for a second reading before City Council at their January 22, 2020 meeting, to 
go into effect 30 days after adoption.  

PROJECT PROPOSAL: The proposed residence will be 1,288 square feet in size and will be on-
story. The roof material will be composition shingle and siding is proposed to be a horizontal Hardie 
lap siding on the front, vertical siding on the sides and rear. Windows will be single-hung, vinyl 
material   The front gable roof pitch facing the road will be pitched at 7:12, consistent with Design 
Guidelines for Nevada City style architecture. The property is consistent with all site development 
standards including property line setbacks, and sensitive resource setbacks. 

Front Elevation (facing Zion Street) 



Page 2 of 3 
McGuire Residence 
PC 1/16/2020 
 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

 
Material Details: 

  

Windows Siding Roofing 
Vinyl single-hung Hardie-lap Composition Shingle 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS: 
Architectural Review: The Planning Commission, in their role as the Architectural Review 
Committee, is required to review proposals for the erection or exterior alterations of any structure, or 
the remodel, demolition, or razing of any structure. Findings must be made that the structure is 
generally compatible with Nevada City style architecture and compatible with the surrounding 
neighborhood.   
 
Second Dwelling Unit: The applicant is also proposing to convert the existing unit to an Accessory 
Dwelling Unit (ADU) pursuant to a pending Ordinance update that will be codified under Section 
17.72.023 in the City municipal Code. ADU’s that meet the standards of that section are required to be 
ministerally processed provided they are compatible with the architecture of the primary dwelling. 
Many of the pictures attached to the staff report show the existing dwelling unit.  
 
Environmental Review: Because a residence meets criteria in the R1 zoning designation, as an 
allowed use on the property, local authority can only be ministerial in nature. Sections 21080 of the 
Public Resource Code, of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), exempts ministerial 
projects from environmental review.   
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: 

 
1) Make a Motion to Approve the Architectural Review Application subject to the above Conditions 

of Approval or as modified, making findings a and b,  Sections 17.88.040 of the City Municipal 
Code: 
a) That the proposed residential structure is generally compatible with Nevada City style 

architecture; and 
 
b) That the proposed residence is compatible with the context of the surrounding neighborhood; 

and  
 

RECOMMENDED CONIDTIONS OF APPROVAL:  
1. Nevada City contracts with the Nevada County Building Department for issuance of permits.  The 

County will not issue permits unless the plans have been stamped and approved by Nevada City.  



Page 3 of 3 
McGuire Residence 
PC 1/16/2020 
 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

Therefore, prior to issuance of a building permit, submit three sets of plans to Nevada City 
Planning Department, along with a filing fee of $100 (made payable to the City of Nevada City).  
The plans will be reviewed by the City Planner and City Engineer for consistency with the 
approval and will require their signatures.   
 

2. All improvements shall substantially comply with the exhibits presented to the Planning 
Commission.  
 

3. A Planning Commission member shall be appointed as a Liaison to assist the applicant with any 
minor modifications to the permit, if needed. 

 





















































G
eneral 

Product 
Inform

ation

Tools for 
C

utting and 
Fastening

G
eneral 

Installation
R

equirem
ents

G
eneral 

Fastener 
R

equirem
ents

Finishing and
M

aintenance
H

ardieTrim
®

 B
oards/B

attens
H

ardieW
rap

®

 W
eather B

arrier
H

ardieSoffit ®

 Panels
H

ardiePlank
®

 Lap Siding
H

ardieShingle
®

 Siding
H

ardiePanel ®

 Vertical Siding
ESR

-1844 &
2290 R

eport
Appendix/
G

lossary
W

orking 
Safely

85

HardiePlank® Lap Siding Product Description

HardiePlank® lap siding is factory-primed fiber-cement lap siding available in a variety of styles and textures. Please 
see your local James Hardie® product dealer for product availability. HardiePlank lap siding comes in 12 ft. lengths. 
Nominal widths from 51/4 in to 12 in. create a range of exposures from 4 in to 103/4 in

HardiePlank lap siding is also available with ColorPlus® Technology as one of James Hardie’s prefinished products. 
ColorPlus® Technology is a factory applied, oven-baked finish available on a variety of James Hardie siding and trim 
products. See your local dealer for details and availability of products, colors, and accessories.

The HZ5® product line is right at home in climates with freezing temperatures, seasonal temperature variations, 
snow and ice. HZ5® boards are the result of our generational evolution of our time-tested products. We’ve evolved our 
substrate composition to be specifically designed to perform in conditions found in these climates. To ensure that its 
beauty matches its durability, we’ve engineered the surface for higher performance, giving it superior paint adhesion 
and moisture resistance. In addition, we’ve added a drip edge to the HardiePlank® HZ5® lap siding product to provide 
improved water management in conditions specific to HZ5® climates.

Sloped 
Edge

Nail Line

Drip Edge

Select Cedarmill© Smooth

Beaded Smooth Custom Colonial Roughsawn®

Beaded Cedarmill©

Custom Colonial Smooth®



G
en

er
al

 
Pr

od
uc

t 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n

W
or

ki
ng

 
Sa

fe
ly

To
ol

s 
fo

r 
C

ut
tin

g 
an

d 
Fa

st
en

in
g

G
en

er
al

 
In

st
al

la
tio

n
R

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

G
en

er
al

 
Fa

st
en

er
 

R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts

Fi
ni

sh
in

g 
an

d
M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
H

ar
di

eT
rim

®

 B
oa

rd
s/

B
at

te
ns

H
ar

di
eW

ra
p®

 W
ea

th
er

 B
ar

rie
r

H
ar

di
eS

of
fit

®

 P
an

el
s

H
ar

di
eP

la
nk

®

 L
ap

 S
id

in
g

H
ar

di
eS

hi
ng

le
®

 S
id

in
g

H
ar

di
eP

an
el

®

 V
er

tic
al

 S
id

in
g

ES
R

-1
84

4 
&

22
90

 R
ep

or
t

Ap
pe

nd
ix

/
G

lo
ss

ar
y

86

Install factory ends of 
planks at butt joints.

OVERVIEW OF HARDIEPLANK LAP SIDING

Ends of planks must 
land over a stud.

Framing square and 
torpedo level transfer 
the course elevationsStagger butt joints a mini-

mum of 2 stud bays for 16 
in. O.C. framing

Starter 
strip

Starter strip builds out siding 
to the proper angle.

Framed wall with 
structural sheathing

Joint flashing

Install starter 
strip over the 
weather barrier 
and even with 
the bottom of 
the sheathing.

Water-resistive barrier

INSTALL A STARTER STRIP

HardiePlank® lap siding requires a starter strip beneath the first course to set 
it on the proper angle and to create a proper drip edge at the bottom of the 
siding. Starter strips are easily made by ripping 1¼ in. pieces of HardiePlank 
siding from full or partial planks.

The bottom of the starter strip should be installed even with the bottom of 
the mudsill or the bottom edge of the sheathing. The strip must be installed 
over the water-resistive barrier, but occasional gaps should be left in the starter 
strip to allow any accumulated moisture behind the siding to drain away safely.

TIP: For accurate fastening, snap vertical chalk lines on 
the water-resistive barrier at the center of every stud 

location.

Water-resistive barrier10.1

10.2

Installation of HardiePlank® Lap Siding



G
eneral 

Product 
Inform

ation

Tools for 
C

utting and 
Fastening

G
eneral 

Installation
R

equirem
ents

G
eneral 

Fastener 
R

equirem
ents

Finishing and
M

aintenance
H

ardieTrim
®

 B
oards/B

attens
H

ardieW
rap

®

 W
eather B

arrier
H

ardieSoffit ®

 Panels
H

ardiePlank
®

 Lap Siding
H

ardieShingle
®

 Siding
H

ardiePanel ®

 Vertical Siding
ESR

-1844 &
2290 R

eport
Appendix/
G

lossary
W

orking 
Safely

87

Pull from across the stack Do not go down the stack

TIP: When taking planks from the pallet installation, avoid 
repeating the texture pattern by working across the pallet. Two 
to four planks can be removed from a stack at one time. But then 
material should be taken from adjacent stacks, again working 
across the pallet. Texture repeat is typically a concern on large 
walls with few breaks such as windows or doors.

Pull from across the stack Do not go down the stack

The first course of HardiePlank® siding is 
critical to the proper installation of the plank 
on the rest of the building. The first course 
should start at the lowest point of the house 
and within required clearances. Special 
attention should be made to ensure that it’s 
straight and level. Attention should also be 
paid to staggering any butt joints in the planks 
so that the installation is attractive while mak-
ing efficient use of material.

1. Use a level (4 ft. or longer) or chalked level 
line to be sure that the first course is level. 
As installation proceeds up the wall, peri- Snapped chalk line guides the first course.

Use a level 4 ft. or 
longer level to check 
the first course.

Keep bottom 
edge of the first 
course even with 
the bottom of 
the corner trim.

 INSTALLING THE PLANKS

End plank 
courses 1/8 in  
from vertical 
trim and  
fill gap with  
permanently  
flexible caulk.

PLANK ALIGNMENT AT CORNERS 

HANDLING

10.3

10.4

odically check the level and straightness of the courses. When correcting for flatness over products such as exterior 
insulation, use drywall shims. It is good practice to snap a chalk line every 3 to 5 courses to keep the planks straight 
and level.

2. Position the bottom edge of the first course of siding a minimum ¼ in below the edge of the starter strip (maintain 
required clearances) and secure. 

3. Run the siding to the HardieTrim® board leaving a 1/8 in. gap between the siding and trim. 

 The bottom of the siding should be kept even with the bottom of the trim, or if desired, the trim may extend below 
the bottom of the siding. But the siding should never hang below the trim. *When installing the first course make 
sure ground clearances are in accordance with James Hardie requirements and those of local codes.

For the best looking installation, make sure that the heights of the plank 
courses match on both sides of a corner. Use a framing square, speed 
square or a level to match up the plank heights. Check every few courses to 
make sure proper heights are being maintained.

IMPORTANT: To prevent damage to the drip edge, extra care should be tak-
en when removing planks from the pallet, while handling, and when installing 
with a lap gauge. Planks are interlocked together on the pallet, therefore they 
should be removed from the pallet horizontally (side to side) to allow planks to 
unlock themselves from one another.

6 in min



G
en

er
al

 
Pr

od
uc

t 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n

W
or

ki
ng

 
Sa

fe
ly

To
ol

s 
fo

r 
C

ut
tin

g 
an

d 
Fa

st
en

in
g

G
en

er
al

 
In

st
al

la
tio

n
R

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

G
en

er
al

 
Fa

st
en

er
 

R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts

Fi
ni

sh
in

g 
an

d
M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
H

ar
di

eT
rim

®

 B
oa

rd
s/

B
at

te
ns

H
ar

di
eW

ra
p®

 W
ea

th
er

 B
ar

rie
r

H
ar

di
eS

of
fit

®

 P
an

el
s

H
ar

di
eP

la
nk

®

 L
ap

 S
id

in
g

H
ar

di
eS

hi
ng

le
®

 S
id

in
g

H
ar

di
eP

an
el

®

 V
er

tic
al

 S
id

in
g

ES
R

-1
84

4 
&

22
90

 R
ep

or
t

Ap
pe

nd
ix

/
G

lo
ss

ar
y

88

BLIND NAILING (nailing through top of plank)

Blind nailing is recommended for installing 
any type of HardiePlank® lap siding 
including ColorPlus® siding. With blind 
nailing, each course covers the fasteners 
on the course below, which provides a 
better looking installation. 

For blind nailing HardiePlank lap siding, 
James Hardie recommends driving 
fasteners 1 in. from the top edge of the 
plank. Additionally fasteners should be 

Although blind nailing is recommended by James Hardie, face nailing may 
be required for certain. installations including: installations in high wind areas, 
fastening into OSB or equivalent sheathing without penetrating a stud, or 
when dictated by specific building codes. Refer to Appendix D for related 
code matters.

Fasteners are 
hidden by the 
course above.

Nails are 
driven 
through the 
sheathing 
into the 
studs.

Keep nails 
3/8 in from 
ends of 
boards.

Nails for blind nailing shall 
be between 3/4 in and 
1 in. from the top of the 
board.

Blind nailing

Exposed 
fasteners 
are driven 
through the 
face of the 
boards.

Drive fasteners 
only where 
planks overlap

Face nailing

Blind nailing measurments

FACE NAILING (nailing through the overlap at the bottom of the plank) 

For walls longer than 12 ft, it is necessary to butt joint additional 
lengths of HardiePlank siding. These butt joints should be staggered 
to avoid noticeable patterns, which is determined by the placement 
of the first course. Butt joints between consecutive courses should 
be spaced apart by at least two stud bays for 16 in, o.c. framing or 
one bay for 24 in. o.c. framing.

While random placement of the planks is usually the most 
aesthetically pleasing, a progressive stagger pattern can make the 
job easier and faster without the pattern becoming too noticeable. 
With this strategy, the cut off piece for one course becomes the 
starter piece for a course above, making efficient use of materials 
and ensuring that all butt joints land on studs. The pattern can be 
modified for different stud placement.

For walls longer than 12 ft 
land butt joints over studs, 
staggering the joints at least 
24 in (for 24 in. o.c. framing) 
or 32 in. (two stud bays for 
16 in. o.c. framing).

Cutoff pieces 
form the 
starter pieces 
for courses 
above. 

STAGGERING THE BUTT JOINTS

10.5 10.6

10.7

10.8

placed no closer than 3/8 in from the ends of the plank. 

HardiePlank® HZ5® Lap Siding is manufactured with a nail line that should be used as a guide for proper nail 
placement when blind nailing. This nail line should not be used as a lap line.

Avoid placing fasteners near the top edge of the plank. This practice, called “high nailing”, may lead to loose 
planks, unwanted gaps or rattling. Pin-backed corners may be done for aesthetic purposes only. Finish 
nails are recommended for pin-backs. Headed siding nails are allowed. Place pin-backs no closer than 
1in. from plank ends & 3/4in. from plank edge into min. 3/8in. wood structural panel. Pin-backs are not a 
substitute for blind or face nailing

Installation of HardiePlank® Lap Siding (cont.)



G
eneral 

Product 
Inform

ation

Tools for 
C

utting and 
Fastening

G
eneral 

Installation
R

equirem
ents

G
eneral 

Fastener 
R

equirem
ents

Finishing and
M

aintenance
H

ardieTrim
®

 B
oards/B

attens
H

ardieW
rap

®

 W
eather B

arrier
H

ardieSoffit ®

 Panels
H

ardiePlank
®

 Lap Siding
H

ardieShingle
®

 Siding
H

ardiePanel ®

 Vertical Siding
ESR

-1844 &
2290 R

eport
Appendix/
G

lossary
W

orking 
Safely

89

COLORPLUS® TIP: When 
installing HardiePlank 
lap siding with ColorPlus 

Technology, position the plank 
in the immediate area where 
the plank is to be fastened. 
Do not place the plank on the 
course below and slide into 
position. Doing so may scuff or 
scratch the ColorPlus finish on 
the installed piece.

Caulking at HardiePlank lap siding butt 
joints is not recommended for ColorPlus 
for aesthetic reasons as the caulking and 
ColorPlus will weather differently. For the 
same reason, do not caulk exposed nail 
heads. Refer to the ColorPlus touch-up 
section for details

Do not use caulk on HardiePlank® lap 
siding with ColorPlus® technology

Flashing behind to add an 
additional layer of protection from 
water infiltration

Extend flashing 
1 in. onto the 
course below

JOINT FLASHING

One or more of the following joint treatment options are required by code (as 
referenced 2009 IRC R703.10.2)

A. Joint Flashing (James Hardie recommended)

B.  Caulking* (Caulking is not recommended for ColorPlus for aesthetic reasons 
as the Caulking and ColorPlus will weather differently. For the same reason, 
do not caulk nail heads on ColorPlus products.}

C. “H” jointer cover

Flashing behind butt joints provides an extra level of protection against the entry 
of water at the joint. James Hardie recommends 6 in. wide flashing that overlaps 
the course below by 1 in. Some local building codes may require different size 
flashing.

Joint-flashing material must be durable, waterproof materials that do not react 
with cement products. Examples of suitable material include finished coil stock and 
code compliant water-resistive barriers. Other products may also be suitable. 

Butt joints in HardiePlank lap siding should always land on 
a stud. Butt joints between studs are not recommended 
and should be avoided. Whenever possible, factory-
finished ends should be used at butt joints.

Place cut ends where the siding meets a corner, door, 
window trim, or other break in the wall where the joint is 
to be caulked. If cut ends are used in a butt joint between 
planks, James Hardie requires sealing cut ends for all 
products. For ColorPlus products, use the color-matched 
edge coater to seal the cut end. 

TIP: Joint flashing can be quickly and easily made by cutting a 6 in. wide section 

off a roll of housewrap. Tape the roll tightly at the cut mark and cut the section off 

using a miter saw with a carbide blade. Individual sheets then can be cut to length 

with a utility knife.

TIP: Use light-colored joint flashing when using light-colored ColorPlus lap siding 

or other siding with a light-colored finish. Dark-color joint flashings should be 

used on siding with dark finishes.

10.9

10.10

Butt planks with 
moderate edge 
contact

10.11

JOINT PLACEMENT AND TREATMENT



G
en

er
al

 
Pr

od
uc

t 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n

W
or

ki
ng

 
Sa

fe
ly

To
ol

s 
fo

r 
C

ut
tin

g 
an

d 
Fa

st
en

in
g

G
en

er
al

 
In

st
al

la
tio

n
R

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

G
en

er
al

 
Fa

st
en

er
 

R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts

Fi
ni

sh
in

g 
an

d
M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
H

ar
di

eT
rim

®

 B
oa

rd
s/

B
at

te
ns

H
ar

di
eW

ra
p®

 W
ea

th
er

 B
ar

rie
r

H
ar

di
eS

of
fit

®

 P
an

el
s

H
ar

di
eP

la
nk

®

 L
ap

 S
id

in
g

H
ar

di
eS

hi
ng

le
®

 S
id

in
g

H
ar

di
eP

an
el

®

 V
er

tic
al

 S
id

in
g

ES
R

-1
84

4 
&

22
90

 R
ep

or
t

Ap
pe

nd
ix

/
G

lo
ss

ar
y

90

COLORPLUS TIP: HardiePlank lap siding 
with ColorPlus Technology is shipped 
with a protective laminate slip sheet, 
which should be left in place during 
cutting and fastening to reduce marring 
and scratching. The sheet should be 
removed immediately after each plank is 
installed.

Once the initial course of HardiePlank® 
siding is fastened to the wall, continue 
installing successive courses with full 
12 ft. pieces (follow the stagger pattern 
for longer walls), or until a window, door 
or other opening interrupts the course 
(fig 10.12). Notch planks as needed to 
fit around windows and doors. Again, 
be sure to seal all cut edges. Avoid 
placing butt joints directly above or below 
windows or above doors. Separate the 
joint from the opening by at least one 
course of siding.

Where butt joints land on a stud, make 
sure there is enough stud space for plank 
on both sides of the joint to land properly. 
Optimally both sides of a butt joint 
should land in the middle of a stud with 
3/4 in landing space for each side. The 
minimum stud space for a  
plank to land is 3/8 in

Pay special attention to window, 
doors, and corners that have been 
trimmed before the siding goes on. 
Vertical trim boards may cover the king 
studs beside windows or doors, or they 
may cover up corner studs leaving no 
room for nailing the siding. In these 

CONTINUING THE INSTALLATION

Keep butt joints more 
than one course away 
from top of window.

Add an extra stud if nec-
essary for nailing the ends 
of the planks.

Planking around windows
Notch plank 
around window 
trim and flashing.

Siding gable walls can be challenging, and some of the keys to siding gable walls efficiently are determining the angle 
or pitch of the roof, properly staging materials, and ensuring that the plank lengths are measured accurately. 

To estimate the amount of siding needed to complete a gable end, use the estimating tools located in Appendix C. 

Stage enough material on the pump jacks or scaffolding to complete the gable end, but take care not to overload the 
staging. When possible, a cut table should be located on the pump jacks or scaffolding, which frees up crew members 
to work on other walls.

INSTALLING HARDIEPLANK® SIDING ON GABLE WALLS

places add extra studs as needed.

If corners are trimmed with HardieTrim® 5/4, 4/4 boards, it may be necessary to measure and cut the first pieces of 
siding to make sure the butt joints land on studs.

10.12

Installation of HardiePlank® Lap Siding (cont.)



G
eneral 

Product 
Inform

ation

Tools for 
C

utting and 
Fastening

G
eneral 

Installation
R

equirem
ents

G
eneral 

Fastener 
R

equirem
ents

Finishing and
M

aintenance
H

ardieTrim
®

 B
oards/B

attens
H

ardieW
rap

®

 W
eather B

arrier
H

ardieSoffit ®

 Panels
H

ardiePlank
®

 Lap Siding
H

ardieShingle
®

 Siding
H

ardiePanel ®

 Vertical Siding
ESR

-1844 &
2290 R

eport
Appendix/
G

lossary
W

orking 
Safely

91

HARDIEPLANK® SIDING FASTENER SPECIFICATIONS
The Fastener Specifications table shows fastener options for a variety of different nailing 
substrates. Please refer to the applicable ESR report online (see back page) to determine 
which fastener meets your wind load design criteria.

Tip for fast gable installation

1 Measure, cut and fit lowest 
gable plank using gable angle 
template.

2 Before installing, measure 
down the 11/4 in. overlap at 
the top of the board.

3 Place a plank for the next 
piece on the overlap lines 
and mark the length.

4 Draw the angle, cut and 
repeat the process for the 
next course.

Scrap piece 
of siding

Scrap piece 
of siding held 
against rake 
board

Angle Template

TIP: Stainless steel fasteners are recommended 
when installing James Hardie® products.

wood
studs

bl
in

d 
na

il 16 in o.c.

24 in o.c.

fa
ce

 n
ai

l 16 in o.c.

24 in o.c.

steel
 studs*

bl
in

d 
na

il 16 in o.c.

24 in o.c.

fa
ce

 n
ai

l 16 in o.c.

24 in o.c.

*When blind fastening 9.5 in or wider
 product onto steel studs, use screws. indicates recommended fasteners

6D
common

2
.113 in x .267 in x 2 in

6D 
siding nail

3
.093 in x .222 in. x 2 in

9
No 11ga 1.25 in long

roofing nail

screws

7
Ribbed Bugle-Head No. 8
.323 in x 1.625 in

8
Ribbed Wafer-Head No. 8 (.375 in x 1.25 in)

13
[AGS-100] .100 in x .313 in x 1.5 in

12
[AKN-100] .100 in x .25 in x 1.5 in ET&F

masonry nail14
[ASTM C-90] ASM-144-125 (P/C) 
.30 in  x .14 in  x 1.25 in

4
.091 in. x .221 in. x 1.5 in

4D siding 
nail

Fastener
Substrate

Approved
Fastener

Fastener Type

16
No 11ga 1.75 in long

roofing nail
Direct to Masonry

7/16 in OSB or 
equivalent (face nailed)

To cut planks for the gable: 

1. Tack up a small scrap piece of siding where the first gable course is going. 

2. Hold a second small piece of siding against the eave or rake board. 

3. Trace the angle onto the scrap. 

4. Cut that line and label the scrap as the template for the gable angle. The 
template can then be used to transfer the angle onto the larger pieces for 
cutting and installation. 

5. Periodically check the angle as 
you progress up the wall.

The quickest way to measure 
and cut consecutive courses of 
siding for a gable is to work off 
the previous piece. 

1. Cut and fit the lowest course of 
siding. 

2. Before installing, lay it flat and 
measure down 1¼ in. from the 
top edge of the plank for the 
course overlap. Make a mark 
on both ends.

3. Set a piece of uncut siding on 
top of the first piece, aligning the 
bottom edge with the overlap 
marks. Transfer the length 
directly to the uncut piece. 

4. Draw the gable angle with the 
template, cut the angle and then 
repeat the process for the next 
course. 

Draw 
line 
here

10.13

10.14

8D 
common

5
.113 in  x .260 in  x 2.375 in

13

7

14

8

2

2

16

5

5

93

4

12



92

IMPORTANT: To prevent damage to the drip edge, extra care should be taken when removing planks from the pallet, while handling, and when installing with a lap gauge. Please see 
additional handling requirements on page 4.

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS:  
• HardiePlank® lap siding can be installed over braced wood or steel studs, 20 gauge (33 mils) minimum to 16 gauge (54 mils) maximum, spaced a maximum of 24 in o.c. or directly to 

minimum 7/16 in thick OSB sheathing. See General Fastening Requirements. Irregularities in framing and sheathing can mirror through the finished application. Correct irregularities 
before installing siding.

• Information on installing James Hardie products over non-nailable substrates (ex: gypsum, foam,etc.) can be located in JH Tech Bulletin 19 at www.jamehardie.com
• A water-resistive barrier is required in accordance with local building code requirements. The water-resistive barrier must be appropriately installed with penetration and junction flashing 

in accordance with local building code requirements. James Hardie will assume no responsibility for water infiltration. James Hardie does manufacture HardieWrap® Weather Barrier, a 
non-woven non-perforated housewrap¹, which complies with building code requirements.

• Adjacent finished grade must slope away from the building in accordance with local building codes - typically a minimum of 6 in. in 
the first 10 ft.. 

• Do not use HardiePlank lap siding in Fascia or Trim applications.
• Do not install James Hardie products, such that they may remain in contact with standing water.
• HardiePlank lap siding may be installed on flat vertical wall applications only.
• For larger projects, including commercial and multi-family projects, where the span of the wall is 

significant in length, the designer and/or architect should take into consideration the coefficient of thermal expansion and 
moisture movement of the product in their design. These values can be found in the Technical Bulletin “Expansion Characteristics 
of James Hardie® Siding Products” at www.jameshardie.com. 

• James Hardie Building Products provides installation /wind load information for buildings with a maximum mean roof height of 85 
feet. For information on installations above 60 feet, please contact JH technical support.

Figure 2

Install planks in 
moderate contact 
at butt joints

stud

Nail 3/8 in. from 
edge of plank

water-
resistive 
barrier

joint 
flashing

Install a 1 1/4 in. starter strip to 
ensure a consistent plank angle

24 in. o.c. max.

Leave appropriate gap between 
planks and trim, then caulk.* 

water-resistive
barrier

plywood or
OSB sheathing

let-in bracing

fastener

water-resistive 
barrier

Double Wall
Construction

Single Wall
Construction

Note: Field painting over caulking may produce a sheen difference when compared to the field painted PrimePlus. *Refer to Caulking section in these instructions. 
¹For additional information on HardieWrap® Weather Barrier, consult James Hardie at 1-866-4Hardie or www.hardiewrap.com

INSTALLATION: JOINT TREATMENT
One or more of the following joint treatment options are 
required by code (as referenced 2009 IRC  R703.10.2)
A. Joint Flashing (James Hardie recommended)
B. Caulking* (Caulking is not recommended 

for ColorPlus for aesthetic reasons as the 
Caulking and ColorPlus will weather differently. 
For the same reason, do not caulk nail heads on 
ColorPlus products.)

C. “H”  jointer cover

Nail line (If nail line is not 
present, place fastener 
between 3/4 in. & 1 in. 
from top of plank)

IMPORTANT: FAILURE TO FOLLOW JAMES HARDIE WRITTEN INSTALLATION INSTRUCTIONS AND COMPLY WITH APPLICABLE BUILDING CODES MAY VIOLATE LOCAL LAWS, AFFECT 
BUILDING ENVELOPE PERFORMANCE AND MAY AFFECT WARRANTY COVERAGE. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH ALL HEALTH AND SAFETY REGULATIONS WHEN CUTTING AND INSTALLING 
THIS PRODUCT MAY RESULT IN PERSONAL INJURY. BEFORE INSTALLATION, CONFIRM YOU ARE USING THE CORRECT HARDIEZONE® PRODUCT INSTRUCTIONS BY VISITING 
HARDIEZONE.COM OR CALL 1-866-942-7343 (866-9-HARDIE)

Visit jameshardiepros.com for the most recent version.

EFFECTIVE SEPTEMBER 2019

SELECT CEDARMILL©   |   SMOOTH   |   BEADED CEDARMILL©   |    BEADED SMOOTH  

HardiePlank® Lap Siding 

HS11117  P1/4   09/19

Figure 1

Store flat and keep dry and covered prior to 
installation. Installing siding wet or saturated may 
result in shrinkage at butt joints. Carry planks on 
edge.  Protect edges and corners from breakage. 
James Hardie is not responsible for damage caused 
by improper storage and 
handling of the 
product.

OUTDOORS
1. Position cutting station so that airflow blows dust away from the 
 user and others near the cutting area.
2. Cut using one of the following methods:
 a. Best: Circular saw equipped with a HardieBlade® saw blade 
                      and attached vacuum dust collection system. Shears 
                      (manual, pneumatic or electric) may also be used, not 
                      recommended for products thicker than 7/16 in.
 b. Better: Circular saw equipped with a dust collection feature 
                      (e.g. Roan® saw) and a HardieBlade saw blade.
 c. Good: Circular saw equipped with a HardieBlade saw blade.

INDOORS 
DO NOT grind or cut with a power saw indoors. Cut using shears (manual, pneumatic or 
electric) or the score and snap method, not recommended for products thicker than 7/16 in.

- DO NOT dry sweep dust; use wet dust suppression or vacuum to collect dust.
- For maximum dust reduction, James Hardie recommends using the “Best” cutting 
 practices. Always follow the equipment manufacturer’s instructions for proper operation. 
- For best performance when cutting with a circular saw, James Hardie recommends 
 using HardieBlade® saw blades.
- Go to jameshardiepros.com for additional cutting and dust control recommendations. 

 CUTTING INSTRUCTIONS
STORAGE & HANDLING:

IMPORTANT: The Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) regulates workplace exposure to silica dust.  For construction sites, OSHA has deemed 
that cutting fiber cement with a circular saw having a blade diameter less than 8 inches and connected to a commercially available dust collection system per 
manufacturer’s instructions results in exposures below the OSHA Permissible Exposure Limit (PEL) for respirable crystalline silica, without the need for additional 
respiratory protection.   

If you are unsure about how to comply with OSHA silica dust regulations, consult a qualified industrial hygienist or safety professional, or contact your James 
Hardie technical sales representative for assistance. James Hardie makes no representation or warranty that adopting a particular cutting practice will assure 
your compliance with OSHA rules or other applicable laws and safety requirements.



93

FASTENER REQUIREMENTS*

Figure 3 
Roof to Wall

Figure 4 
Horizontal Flashing

Figure 5  
Kickout Flashing

Figure 6 
Slabs, Path, Steps to Siding

Figure 7 
Deck to Wall

Figure 8 
Ground to Siding

Figure 10 
Sheltered Areas

Figure 9 
Gutter to Siding

Figure 12 
Drip Edge

Figure 13 
Block Penetration

Figure 14 
Valley/Shingle Extension

Figure 11  
Mortar/Masonry

BLIND NAILING
Nails - Wood Framing
• Siding nail (0.09 in. shank x 0.221 in. HD x 2 in. long)
• 11ga. roofing nail (0.121 in. shank x 0.371 in. HD x 1.25 in. long)

Screws - Steel Framing
• Ribbed Wafer-head or equivalent (No. 8 x 1 1/4 in. long
 x 0.375 in. HD) Screws must penetrate 3 threads into metal framing.

Nails - Steel Framing
• ET & F Panelfast® nails or equivalent (0.10 in. shank x 0.313 in. HD x 1-1/2 in. long) 
Nails must penetrate minimum 1/4 in. into metal framing.

OSB minimum 7/16 in.
• Siding nail (0.09 in. shank x 0.215 in. HD x 1-1/2 in. long
• Ribbed Wafer-head or equivalent (No. 8 x 1 5/8 in. long x 0.375 in. HD).

FACE NAILING
Nails - Wood Framing
• 6d (0.113 in. shank x 0.267 in. HD x 2 in. long)
• Siding nail (0.09” shank x 0.221” HD x 2” long)

Screws - Steel Framing
• Ribbed Bugle-head or equivalent (No. 8-18 x 1-5/8 in. long x
 0.323 in. HD) Screws must penetrate 3 threads into metal framing.

Nails - Steel Framing
• ET & F pin or equivalent (0.10 in. shank x 0.25 in. HD x 1-1/2 in. long)
 Nails must penetrate minimum 1/4 in. into metal framing.

OSB minimum 7/16 in.
• Siding nail (0.09 in. shank x 0.221 in. HD x 1-1/2 in. long)

Refer to the applicable ESR report online to determine which fastener meets your wind load design criteria.

Blind Nailing is the preferred method of installation for HardiePlank® lap siding products. Face nailing should only be used where required by code for high wind areas and must not 
be used in conjunction with Blind nailing (Please see JH Tech bulletin 17 for exemption when doing a repair). 

Min. 2 in.

Min. 
2 in.

6 in.

1in.

Z-Flashing

Z-Flashing

Z-Flashing

Min. 2 in.

Min. ¼ in.

Min. ¼ in.
Do not caulk

Min. ¼ in.Min. ½ in.

Z-Flashing

Extend shingles 
at least 1 in. 
out from the 
fascia when 
gutters are 
present

Z-Flashing

L-Flashing

As required 
by IRC code 

min 4 in. x 4 in.

Min. ¼ in.
Do not caulk

CLEARANCE AND FLASHING REQUIREMENTS

*Also see General Fastening Requirements; and when considering alternative fastening options refer to James Hardie's Technical Bulletin USTB 5 - Fastening Tips for HardiePlank Lap Siding.

HardiePlank® Lap Siding 

HS11117  P2/4   09/19



94

Laminate sheet to be removed immediately after installation of each course for ColorPlus® products.

Figure 15

min. 1 1/4 in.
overlap

Minimum overlap
for Both Face

and Blind Nailing

Figure 14

Joint
Flashing 1 1/4” min.

Overlap

3/4”-1”

Face Nail

24”
O.C. max

Water Resistive
Barrier

Stud

Nail Line

1 1/4” min.
Overlap

Blind Nail

24”
O.C. max

Water Resistive
Barrier

Stud

FASTENER REQUIREMENTS continued

HS11117  P3/4   09/19

HardiePlank® Lap Siding 

PNEUMATIC FASTENINGGENERAL FASTENING  REQUIREMENTS
James Hardie products can be hand nailed or fastened with a pneumatic tool. 
Pneumatic fastening is highly recommended.  Set air pressure so that the 
fastener is driven snug with the surface of the siding. A flush mount 
attachment on the pneumatic tool is recommended.  This will help control the 

Fasteners must be corrosion resistant, galvanized, or stainless steel. Electro-galvanized 
are acceptable but may exhibit premature corrosion.   James Hardie recommends the 
use of quality, hot-dipped galvanized nails. James Hardie is not responsible for the 
corrosion resistance of fasteners. Stainless steel fasteners are recommended when 
installing James Hardie® products near the ocean, large bodies of water, or in very 
humid climates.

Manufacturers of ACQ and CA preservative-treated wood recommend spacer materials 
or other physical barriers to prevent direct contact of ACQ or CA preservative-treated 
wood and aluminum products. Fasteners used to attach HardieTrim Tabs to preserva-
tive-treated wood shall be of hot dipped zinc-coated galvanized steel or stainless steel 
and in accordance to 2009 IRC R317.3 or 2009 IBC 2304.9.5

•  Consult applicable product evaluation or listing for correct fasteners type and 
placement to achieve specified design wind loads.

•  NOTE: Published wind loads may not be applicable to all areas where Local Building 
Codes have specific jurisdiction. Consult James Hardie Technical Services if you are 
unsure of applicable compliance documentation.

•  Drive fasteners perpendicular to siding and framing.
•  Fastener heads should fit snug against siding (no air space).
• NOTE: Whenever a structural member is present, HardiePlank should be fastened with 

even spacing to the structural member. The tables allowing direct to OSB or plywood 
should only be used when traditional framing is not available.

CUT EDGE TREATMENT
Caulk, paint or prime all field cut edges. James Hardie touch-up kits are required to 
touch-up ColorPlus products.

CAULKING
For best results use an Elastomeric Joint Sealant complying with ASTM C920 Grade NS, 
Class 25 or higher or a Latex Joint Sealant complying with ASTM C834. Caulking/Sealant 
must be applied in accordance with the caulking/sealant manufacturer’s written instructions. 
Note: some caulking manufacturers do not allow "tooling". 

PAINTING
DO NOT use stain, oil/alkyd base paint, or powder coating on James Hardie® products. Factory-primed James Hardie products must be painted within 180 days of installation. 
100% acrylic topcoats are recommended. Do not paint when wet. For application rates refer to paint manufacturers specifications. Back-rolling is recommended if the siding 
is sprayed.

ALUMINUM

CLIPPED 

STAPLES

HEAD NAILS

FASTENERS
UNDER 
DRIVE

OVER 
DRIVE

SLANT

IF, THEN IF, THEN ADDITIONAL NAIL

WOOD 
FRAME

HAMMER 
FLUSH

REMOVE & 
REPLACE

COUNTERSINK 
& FILL

STEEL 
FRAME

FACE 
NAIL

DO NOT DO NOT DO NOT USE

AL

depth the nail is driven. If setting the nail depth 
proves difficult, choose a setting that under drives 
the nail.  (Drive under driven nails snug with a 
smooth faced hammer - Does not apply for 
installation to steel framing). SNUG FLUSH

Pin-backed corners may be done for aesthetic purposes only. Finish nails are recommended for pin-backs. Headed siding nails are allowed. Place pin-backs 
no closer than 1 in. from plank ends and 3/4 in. from plank edge into min. 3/8 in. wood structural panel. Pin-backs are not a substitute for blind or face nailing.



95

Do not go down the stackADDITIONAL HANDLING REQUIREMENTS Pull from across the stack

Number of 12 ft. planks, does not include waste
COVERAGE CHART/ESTIMATING GUIDE

SQ

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

5 1/4
4 
   
25
50
75

100
125
150
175
200
225
250
275
300
325
350
375
400
425
450
475
500

6 1/4
5

    
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180
200
220
240
260
280
300
320
340
360
380
400

7 1/4
6

    
17
33
50
67
83

100
117
133
150
167
183
200
217
233
250
267
283
300
317
333

7 1/2
6 1/4

16
32
48
64
80
96

112
128
144
160
176
192
208
224
240
256
272
288
304
320

8    
6 3/4

15
30
44
59
74
89

104
119
133
148
163
178
193
207
222
237
252
267
281
296

8 1/4
7 
   
14
29
43
57
71
86

100
114
129
143
157
171
186
200
214
229
243
257
271
286

9 1/4
8 
   
13
25
38
50
63
75
88

100
113
125
138
150
163
175
188
200
213
225
238
250

9 1/2
8 1/4

13
25
38
50
63
75
88

100
113
125
138
150
163
175
188
200
213
225
238
250

12    
10 3/4

9
19
28
37
47
56
65
74
84
93

102
112
121
130
140
149
158
167
177
186

(1 SQ = 100 sq.ft.)

HARDIEPLANK® LAP SIDING WIDTH

PAINTING JAMES HARDIE® SIDING 
AND TRIM PRODUCTS WITH 
COLORPLUS® TECHNOLOGY
When repainting ColorPlus products, James 
Hardie recommends the following regarding 
surface preparation and topcoat application:
• Ensure the surface is clean, dry, and free of any 

dust, dirt, or mildew
• Repriming is normally not necessary
• 100% acrylic topcoats are recommended
• DO NOT use stain, oil/alkyd base paint, or 

powder coating on James Hardie® Products.
• Apply finish coat in accordance with paint 

manufacturers written instructions regarding 
coverage, application methods, and application 
temperature

• DO NOT caulk nail heads when using ColorPlus 
products, refer to the ColorPlus touch-up 
section

IMPORTANT: To prevent damage to the drip edge, extra care should be 
taken when removing planks from the pallet, while handling, and 
when installing with a lap gauge. Planks are interlocked together on 
the pallet, therefore they should be removed from the pallet 
horizontally (side to side) to allow planks to unlock themselves from 
one another.

This coverage chart is meant as a guide. Actual usage is subject to variables such as building design. 
James Hardie does not assume responsibility for over or under ordering of product.

HS11117  P4/4   09/19

Product warranties, safety information and additional installation 
information are available at jameshardiepros.com

© 2019 James Hardie Building Products, Inc. All rights reserved TM, SM and ® 
denote trademarks or registered trademarks of James Hardie Technology Limited.

HardiePlank® Lap Siding 

COLORPLUS® TECHNOLOGY CAULKING, TOUCH-UP & LAMINATE
• Care should be taken when handling and cutting James Hardie ColorPlus® products. During installation use a wet soft cloth or soft brush to gently wipe off any 
   residue or construction dust left on the product, then rinse with a garden hose.
• Touch up nicks, scrapes and nail heads using the ColorPlus® Technology touch-up applicator. Touch-up should be used sparingly.  
   If large areas require touch-up, replace the damaged area with new HardiePlank® lap siding with ColorPlus® Technology.
• Laminate sheet must be removed immediately after installation of each course.
• Terminate non-factory cut edges into trim where possible, and caulk. Color matched caulks are available from your ColorPlus® product dealer.
• Treat all other non-factory cut edges using the ColorPlus Technology edge coaters, available from your ColorPlus product dealer.
Note: James Hardie does not warrant the usage of third party touch-up or paints used as touch-up on James Hardie ColorPlus products.

Problems with appearance or performance arising from use of third party touch-up paints or paints used as touch-up that are not James Hardie touch-up will not be covered 
under the James Hardie ColorPlus Limited Finish Warranty.

       WARNING: This product can expose you to chemicals including respirable crystalline silica, which is known to the State of California to cause cancer. For more information go to P65Warnings.ca.gov. 

RECOGNITION:  In accordance with ICC-ES Evaluation Report ESR-2290, HardiePlank® lap siding is recognized as a suitable alternate to that specified in the 2006, 2009, 2012 & 2015 International Residential Code for One and Two-Family 
Dwellings, and the 2006, 2009, 2012 & 2015 International Building Code. HardiePlank lap siding is also recognized for application in the following: City of Los Angeles Research Report No. 24862, State of Florida Product Approval FL#13192, 
Miami-Dade County Florida NOA No. 17-0406.06, U.S. Dept. of HUD Materials Release 1263f, Texas Department of Insurance Product Evaluation EC-23, City of New York MEA 223-93-M, and California DSA PA-019. These documents should 
also be consulted for additional information concerning the suitability of this product for specific applications.

DANGER: May cause cancer if dust from product is inhaled. Causes damage to lungs and respiratory system through prolonged or repeated inhalation of dust from product. Refer to the current product Safety Data Sheet before use. 
The hazard associated with fiber cement arises from crystalline silica present in the dust generated by activities such as cutting, machining, drilling, routing, sawing, crushing, or otherwise abrading fiber cement, and when cleaning 
up, disposing of or moving the dust. When doing any of these activities in a manner that generates dust you must (1) comply with the OSHA standard for silica dust and/or other applicable law, (2) follow James Hardie cutting 
instructions to reduce or limit the release of dust; (3) warn others in the area to avoid breathing the dust; (4) when using mechanical saw or high speed cutting tools, work outdoors and use dust collection equipment; and (5) if no 
other dust controls are available, wear a dust mask or respirator that meets NIOSH requirements (e.g. N-95 dust mask). During clean-up, use a well maintained vacuum and filter appropriate for capturing fine (respirable) dust or use 
wet clean-up methods - never dry sweep. SI

LI
CA

 W
AR

NI
NG



Style Line® 
Series
Vinyl Windows

Architectural 
Manual



Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows 
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.    — 2 

Instructions on how to use this manual:
This document has been designed for easy navigation and to quickly click to the section you 

need. Here’s some important tips on using this document:

• Any item printed in red, will click through to the corresponding item.

• Click to any item in the Table of Contents on page 3. Click on the Milgard logo at the top of 

any page to return to the Table of Contents - FULL MANUAL ONLY.

• From each section’s Quick Links page, click to any Drawing listed.

• From any Drawing page, click the “Go Back to Quick Links” box on the bottom right of the 

page to return to the list of drawings.

• Click on the links on the bottom of the page to go to Revit, SketchUp . PDF and .DWG files. 

Please note that you must have internet access for these links and you will be re-directed 

to the Milgard site.

• This document can also be navigated from Adobe Acrobat Bookmarks.

Revit, SketchUp, .PDF and .DWG files can be accessed 
at milgard.com or clicking here:

Technical Resources

https://www.milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Contents — 3 

Contents

COMPONENTS ________________________________ 4
Frame _________________________________4
Nail-On Fin _____________________________4
Weep System ___________________________4
Glazing Material ________________________4
Vent Panel _____________________________4
Weatherstripping _______________________5
Roller Assembly _________________________5
Locking Assembly _______________________5
Screen ________________________________5
Energy Packages ________________________5

OPTIONS _____________________________________ 5
Grids __________________________________5
Glass __________________________________5

Window Hardware _____________________________ 6
Premium Exterior Vinyl Finishes _________________ 7
Full Lifetime Warranty __________________________ 8
Awning Window ______________________________ 9

Configurations _________________________10
Minimum/Maximum Sizes _______________10
Available Frame Styles __________________10
Drawings - Quick Links __________________11
Awning Window _______________________12

Casement Window ___________________________ 22
Configurations _________________________23
Minimum/Maximum Sizes _______________23
Available Frame Styles __________________23
Drawings - Quick Links __________________24
Casement Window _____________________25

Horizontal Sliding Window _____________________ 41
Configurations _________________________42
Minimum/Maximum Sizes _______________42
Available Frame Styles __________________42
Drawings - Quick Links __________________43
Horizontal Sliding Window _______________44
Double Vent Horizontal Sliding Window ____53

Picture and Radius Window ____________________ 54
Configurations _________________________55
Minimum/Maximum Sizes _______________55
Available Frame Styles __________________55
Drawings - Quick Links __________________56
Picture/Radius Window __________________57

Single Hung Window _________________________ 67
Configurations _________________________68
Minimum/Maximum Sizes _______________68
Available Frame Styles __________________68
Drawings - Quick Links __________________69
Single Hung Window ___________________70

Rev.0718



Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Series Information — 4 

About Style Line® Series
The Style Line series vinyl (PVC) window blends the 

energy efficiency and low maintenance of vinyl with 

the clean lines and low profile appearance of an 

aluminum window.

The result is a window with maximum glass area. 

Available in white, tan, and clay (select regions), as 

well as premium painted exteriors. The windows 

will maintain their color and shape and can be 

constructed to your exact size specifications, 

subject to review.

COMPONENTS
Frame

Frame components are made from high 

performance polyvinyl chloride, available in White 

or Tan, with Clay available in select regions or 

premium painted upgrade window frames. The 

Style Line series is designed to offer a low profile 

appearance, ideal for contemporary homes or 

whenever maximum glazing area is desired. Mitered 

corners are precision welded resulting in an air and 

water tight seal.

Standard frame depth is 2-7/8”, ideal for both new 

construction and or use as a replacement window.

Nail-On Fin

A 1-1/16” pre-punched nail flange extends around 

the perimeter frame, securing the window in 

rough openings and acting as a part of the flashing 

system. The nailing fin may be removed as needed 

for particular block frame applications. Fin setbacks 

are available in 1-3/8” from outside of frame; also 

in 1” for our SW locations using 3 coat stucco 

applications (not available at all locations).

Weep System

Hollow sill construction and offset weep holes that 

release any accumulated moisture from track and 

help prevent blow back, or water seeping to the 

interior caused by a combination of wind and rain.

Glazing Material

AAMA approved glazing tape adheres glass to the 

fixed panel frame which seals and cushions the 

glass. Rigid vinyl setting blocks are used to support 

the unit above the sill, preventing glass slippage. 

Extruded vinyl glazing (snap-in) bead is applied 

around the exterior edge.

Glass insulating dual glazed panes, 3/4” in overall 

thickness (1” overall on picture frame), are butyl 

sealed for energy efficiency. Specialty glass options 

are available upon request.

Vent Panel

The vent panel has an “L” shaped lip that fully 

interlocks with the vertical meeting rail, adding 

security and preventing air and water penetration. 

Its roller assembly rides on a monorail track for 

easy operation and durability. This raised track in 

the frame sill helps keep the vent panel free from 

interference by foreign particles that may collect in 

the sill.



Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Series Information — 5 

Weatherstripping

Silicone-treated water-repellent polypropylene fin 

seal weatherstripping provides a durable, weather 

tight seal. This weatherstripping is installed in an 

integral, continuous keyway around three sides of 

the vent panel and interlock.

Roller Assembly

Self-lubricating, wear resistant, dual nylon rollers 

provide flexible, free-wheeling, smooth and silent 

operation. The adjustable rollers are engineered for 

reduction of friction and elimination of torque on 

the vent frame.

Locking Assembly

A Positive Action™ lock mechanism provides 

security and a tighter seal. The lock engages when 

the window is closed.

Screen

Screen frames are cambered aluminum, reinforced 

with rigid plastic corner clips. Screens come 

standard with matching frame color.

The fiberglass charcoal screen mesh is strong, 

durable and easy to replace. Two plastic pulls 

located on the screen allow you to install from 

inside or outside of house.

Energy Packages

Milgard adheres to ENERGY STAR®  v6 requirements 

to meet or exceed U-Factor and Solar Heat Gain 

Coefficient (SHGC) criteria for all ENERGY STAR® 

zones.

Milgard also offers high energy performance 

options for the ultimate in energy efficiency.  Energy 

efficient windows could include one or more of the 

following features based on your climate.

• SunCoat® or SunCoatMAX®

• EdgeGardMAX®

• Argon or Krypton

• 4th Surface 

For more details on Milgard Energy Efficient 

packages, visit www.milgard.com/learn/energy-

efficiency/energy-efficient-components

To check the energy performance of all Milgard 

windows and doors, use our Energy Calculator at:

milgard.com/energy-calculator

OPTIONS
Grids

Available in 5/8” flat. Color-matched to frame.

1-1/16” sculptured grid available in select markets – 

check with your Milgard representative.

Glass

Refer to glass section. Many more options 

are available. Please check with your Milgard 

Representative.

Caution: The use of petroleum based fuels or solvents 
as release agents in stucco wall installations or glass 
cleaning will chemically attack materials used in 
seals and other components, and voids the Milgard 
Warranty. The use of wax based release agents is 
recommended.

Expanding foam for insulation purposes should not be 
used.

http://www.milgard.com/learn/energy-efficiency/energy-efficient-components
http://www.milgard.com/learn/energy-efficiency/energy-efficient-components
https://www.milgard.com/professionals/energy-calculator


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows 
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Series Information — 6 

Window Hardware

Single Hung and Horizontal Slider

Positive Action™ Lock – Closes and locks window securely in one action. 

Casement and Awning

Standard Handle with Sash Lock



Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows 
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Series Information — 7 

Premium Exterior Vinyl Finishes

Bronze Espresso Classic Brown Tweed

White Tan

Silver Fog Sand

Premium - White interior only

Standard - Matching interior

Ivory

Clay

(available in select regions)



Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows 
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Series Information — 8 

Full Lifetime Warranty
At Milgard, we build our windows and doors to last. With the 

dedication to quality that we put into building the best windows in 

the business, it wouldn’t make sense to back them with anything but 

the best warranty in the business. That’s why we back every properly 

installed window and door for as long as the homeowner owns their 

home–including parts and labor.   

It’s why you can be sure you won’t find any windows better than 

Milgard. 

For complete warranty details, visit milgard.com.

Why Milgard?

Quality 

Milgard offers award-winning windows and patio doors built for long-lasting comfort. For over 50 years, 

industry experts have consistently recognized Milgard as a trusted brand. By producing our vinyl and 

fiberglass frame materials in-house, we can more closely monitor for quality control. Milgard windows and 

patio doors stand up, while standing out.

Experience

Since 1962, Milgard Windows & Doors has designed and assembled superior, top quality windows and patio 

doors, backed with a Full Lifetime Warranty. Milgard engineers are known for their industry-leading designs 

using patented technologies. Whatever your project calls for, Milgard has the right product that can beautifully 

reflect your vision. From new construction to home remodeling, all Milgard windows and doors are custom 

made to your exact specifications. 

Service

We serve the Western U.S. and Canada with a dozen full-service facilities and customer care centers. Our belief 

is that by being close to our customers, we can provide them better service. 

https://www.milgard.com/warranty/full-lifetime-warranty
https://www.milgard.com/warranty/full-lifetime-warranty


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 67 

Single Hung Window

The Style Line® Series vinyl (PVC) Single Hung 

window blends the energy efficiency and low 

maintenance of vinyl with clean lines and a 

narrow profile.

The result is a window with maximum glass 

area. Available in white, tan, and clay (select 

regions), as well as premium painted exteriors. 

The windows will maintain their color and 

shape and can be constructed to your exact size 

specifications.

Please also see:

Components

Options

Hardware

Premium Exterior Vinyl Finishes

Full Lifetime Warranty



Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 68 

Single Hung Window
Configurations

Not all frame styles available at all Milgard locations. 
Contact your Milgard  Representative for more information.

Minimum/Maximum Sizes
Single-Hung

 – Min 1020  Max 4066

Double Single-Hung
 – Min 2020  Max 7066

Triple Single-Hung
 – Min 3020  Max 9066

Double Single-Hung with Center Lite
 – Min 3020  Max 9066

Gable Top Single Hung
 – Min 1026  Max 4066

Minimum egress is 3050 with a 30” bar set or
2660 with a 36” bar set.
SH vent set: 12, 15, 18, 21, 24, 27, 30, 33 or 36.

Available Frame Styles
 1-3/8” Nail Fin Setback
 1” Nail Fin Setback with Stucco Key
 1” Nail Fin Setback with J-Channel
 Contour Z-bar
 Flat Z-bar
 Block Frame (no fin)

NOTE: For engineering approval contact your Milgard representative for 
any configuration over 40 square feet. Each Milgard Manufacturing plant 
reserves the right to alter or change sizes and configurations according to 
location capabilities. Ask your Milgard rep about specialty applications. 
Windows over 40 square feet shipped open for field glazing. Varies by 
location.

Gable Top Single Hung

Double Single Hung/Center Lite

Triple Single Hung

Single Hung Double Single Hung



Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 69 

Drawings - Quick Links

Single Hung Window
70—1-3/8” Fin Setback

71—1-” Fin Setback with Stucco Key

72—1-3/8-” Fin Setback with Stucco Key

73—1” Fin Setback with J-channel

74—1-1/2” Contour Z-bar

75—1-1/2” Flat Z-bar

76—Double Single Hung - 1-3/8” Fin Setback

77—Double Single Hung above 2 Lites - 1-3/8” Fin 
Setback

78—Double Single Hung below 2 Lites - 1-3/8” Fin 
Setback

79—Single Hung above - Block Frame

80—True Divide - Block Frame

81—Triple Single Hung - Block Frame

82—Single Single Hung - Z-bar frame

Revit, SketchUp, .PDF and .DWG files can be accessed at 
milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources

https://www.milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 70 

Go back to Quick Links

Revit, SketchUp, .PDF and .DWG files can be accessed at 
milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources

Single Hung Window
1-3/8” Fin Setback

Cross Section Drawing
StyleLine Single Hung Window
1 3/8" Fin Set Back

CAD File Scale
NTS

View
Horizontal & Vertical

File Name
6210-01SH

Units
Inch

More Technical Documents can be found at milgard.com/professionals
Due to continual research and development, details may be changed at any time.  ©2013 Milgard Mfg.

HEAD & SILL JAMBS

SINGLE HUNG
SERIES 6210

https://www.milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 71 

Go back to Quick Links

Revit, SketchUp, .PDF and .DWG files can be accessed at 
milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources

Single Hung Window
1-” Fin Setback with Stucco Key

Cross Section Drawing
StyleLine Single Hung Window
1"  Fin Set Back W/ Stucco Key

CAD File Scale
NTS

View
Horizontal & Vertical

File Name
6230-01SH

Units
Inch

More Technical Documents can be found at milgard.com/professionals
Due to continual research and development, details may be changed at any time.  ©2013 Milgard Mfg.

HEAD & SILL JAMBS

SINGLE HUNG
SERIES 6230

https://www.milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 72 

Go back to Quick Links

Revit, SketchUp, .PDF and .DWG files can be accessed at 
milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources

Single Hung Window
1-3/8-” Fin Setback with Stucco Key

https://www.milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 73 

Go back to Quick Links

Revit, SketchUp, .PDF and .DWG files can be accessed at 
milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources

Single Hung Window
1” Fin Setback with J-channel

Cross Section Drawing
StyleLine Single Hung Window
1" Fin Set Back W/ "J" Channel

CAD File Scale
NTS

View
Horizontal & Vertical

File Name
6230J-01SH

Units
Inch

More Technical Documents can be found at milgard.com/professionals
Due to continual research and development, details may be changed at any time.  ©2013 Milgard Mfg.

HEAD & SILL JAMBS

SINGLE HUNG
SERIES 6230J

https://www.milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 74 

Go back to Quick Links

Revit, SketchUp, .PDF and .DWG files can be accessed at 
milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources

Single Hung Window
1-1/2” Contour Z-bar

Cross Section Drawing
StyleLine Single Hung Window
1 1/2"  Contour Z-Bar

CAD File Scale
NTS

View
Horizontal & Vertical

File Name
6270-01SH

Units
Inch

More Technical Documents can be found at milgard.com/professionals
Due to continual research and development, details may be changed at any time.  ©2013 Milgard Mfg.

HEAD & SILL JAMBS

SINGLE HUNG
SERIES 6270

https://www.milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 75 

Go back to Quick Links

Revit, SketchUp, .PDF and .DWG files can be accessed at 
milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources

Single Hung Window
1-1/2” Flat Z-bar

Cross Section Drawing
StyleLine Single Hung Window
1 1/2" Flat Z-Bar

CAD File Scale
NTS

View
Horizontal & Vertical

File Name
6270-02SH

Units
Inch

More Technical Documents can be found at milgard.com/professionals
Due to continual research and development, details may be changed at any time.  ©2013 Milgard Mfg.

HEAD & SILL JAMBS

SINGLE HUNG
SERIES 6270

https://www.milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 76 

Go back to Quick Links

Revit, SketchUp, .PDF and .DWG files can be accessed at 
milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources

Single Hung Window
Double Single Hung - 1-3/8” Fin Setback

https://www.milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 77 

Go back to Quick Links

Revit, SketchUp, .PDF and .DWG files can be accessed at 
milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources

Single Hung Window
Double Single Hung above 2 Lites - 1-3/8” Fin Setback

https://www.milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 78 

Go back to Quick Links

Revit, SketchUp, .PDF and .DWG files can be accessed at 
milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources

Single Hung Window
Double Single Hung below 2 Lites - 1-3/8” Fin Setback

https://www.milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 79 

Go back to Quick Links

Revit, SketchUp, .PDF and .DWG files can be accessed at 
milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources

Single Hung Window
Single Hung above - Block Frame

https://www.milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 80 

Go back to Quick Links

Revit, SketchUp, .PDF and .DWG files can be accessed at 
milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources

Single Hung Window
True Divide - Block Frame

https://www.milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 81 

Go back to Quick Links

Revit, SketchUp, .PDF and .DWG files can be accessed at 
milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources

Single Hung Window
Triple Single Hung - Block Frame

https://www.milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources


Style Line® Series Vinyl Windows
Architectural Manual 

© Milgard Manufacturing, Inc.  Single Hung Window — 82 

Go back to Quick Links

Revit, SketchUp, .PDF and .DWG files can be accessed at 
milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources

Single Hung Window
Single Single Hung - Z-bar frame

https://www.milgard.com/professionals/technical-resources


5.0 ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW OUTSIDE THE 
HISTORICAL DISTRICT 

5.1   Existing Residential Neighborhoods 

Outside the Historical District, in recognition of the diversity of architectural styles that 
developed in Nevada City and contribute to its character, the City zoning regulations also define 
as being important to Nevada City and require permits to protect those homes and neighborhoods 
that are known as being of the pre-World War II era, i.e. pre-1942.  Architectural review permits 
are required for construction or renovation of all buildings and structures in existing 
neighborhoods – including new construction of or additions to residences or outbuildings; 
alteration of the exterior appearance; and any removal, demolition or razing and replacing of any 
part of any such building or structure – to make sure that such projects conform to the ‘context of 
the neighborhood’ and are generally compatible with the style of architecture therein respecting 
changes that over time may have acquired significance in their own right.   

Distinctive stylistic features and examples of skilled craftsmanship of both Mother Lode and pre-
WW II buildings and structures should be treated with sensitivity.  Removal or alteration of 
historical material or distinctive features should be avoided wherever possible and distinguishing 
original qualities or character of the building, structure or site and environment should not be 
destroyed.  Alterations to older homes should match the existing style, materials and details. 
Synthetic materials are discouraged.  Like-for-like replacements and repairs are recommended. 

New projects, additions to homes and renovations, as well as construction of new outbuildings, 
must be generally compatible with Nevada City’s style of architecture.  Such projects should 
conform to the “context of the neighborhood” previously discussed in these Guidelines 

Nevada City Architecture or Mother Lode type of architecture is defined as “that type of 
architecture generally used in the Mother Lode region of the state of California during the period 
from 1849 and 1900. Such type of architecture involves the use of wood and brick as primary 
materials, and is generally characterized by such design features, among others, as gabled or 
shed roofs, tall and narrow windows and doors, dormer windows, iron or wooden shutters, 
balconies, wooden awnings and ornamental scroll work.  

The determination of whether a building conforms with the Mother Lode type of architecture 
shall include all factors which affect the external appearance of the building, including, without 
limitation, architectural elevations, building materials, colors, finish, lighting, ornamental 
devices and signs.  

35 

Table of Contents Link



Features typical of Mother Lode era architecture such as: 

• Roof Pitches.  Main roofs steeply peaked (6:12 to 12:12) with overhangs and gable
ends.
Hipped roofs in the appropriate architectural context are allowed. (Victorian homes
were often very vertical in appearance and the relationship of the size of the house
to the roof should be considered).

6:12 pitch 8:12 pitch        8:12 with gabled dormer 

Roof Pitch and Height Limit 
The Zoning Ordinance provides the height limit for the various zoning districts, with 
the residential zones having a height limit of 35 feet.  The following heights are 
recommended: 

Roof Pitch Stories Height Limit 

12:12 1 28' 

12:12 2 35' 

  6:12 1 20' 

  6:12 2 28' 

Front, rear and side elevations should be similar in height and size to surrounding 
homes 

• Siding for Existing Homes.  Painted wood horizontal siding, board and batten.
Cement fiber board, vinyl siding, and other synthetic siding (such as T-111 siding)
is discouraged in older neighborhoods particularly when the neighborhood is in
close proximity to pre-1942 homes or if the home itself is pre-1942 or exhibits a
style which is not complemented by these types of siding.

• Materials, New Homes.  Materials on new homes will be reviewed against the
context of the neighborhood.  If modern materials are used, they should match
historic materials in appearance.

36 



• Materials, Older Homes and Structures.   Alterations to older homes and structures
should match existing, historic materials. Synthetic materials with no historic basis
are discouraged on both existing older home additions and renovations.  Removal or
alteration of any historic material or distinctive architectural features should be
avoided when possible

• Covered porches and entries.  Such entries and porches usually have shallower roof
slopes. 

Zion Street 
4-plex

• Trim, railings, and details should have a historic basis and fit the style of the
existing home or new structure.

• Roofing material.  Asphalt shingles and metal roofing in muted non-glare colors
such as tans, blacks, browns, and greens have historically been approved on new
homes and additions.  The use of corrugated metal has also been approved.

• Exterior Colors.  There is no color review or approval required for change in colors
of a home outside the Historical District. However, the following guidelines are
recommended:
• Select colors that are similar to the tones found in the area and on adjacent

buildings
• Muted, soft colors on large wall expanses are encouraged
• The use of bright, modern colors and intense white color are discouraged.
• Use subdued colors as the primary color and brighter, contrasting trim when

appropriate
• Incorporate the color from primary building materials, such as stone, brick and

37 

Table of Contents Link



hardwood, as the base colors for new development 

Alexander St 

• Windows.  Typical windows include multi-pane, vertical, and bay windows.
Wood windows and true divided lights are generally required of additions,
renovations and newly constructed homes in older neighborhoods though
existing window types may be duplicated.

Bay Window 
Sacramento St 

38 

Table of Contents Link



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wood Clad Window Vinyl Clad Window 

Discussion on Wood Windows 
The Design Guidelines have, in the past, preferred the use of historically correct wood 
windows. The design of windows is continuously evolving as they become more efficient and 
maintenance free.  Wood windows require maintenance throughout their life time, mainly 
painting. Because of these maintenance issues, the wood window is not as popular as the 
same window with “cladding” on the wood exposed to the weather. The cladding replaces the 
layers of paint on the wood window. The cladding can be several materials with aluminum and 
vinyl being the most popular. The cladding protects the wood and usually never needs painting. 
This is good for the homeowner and the environment. 

There are two important points to be made. First, this discussion is not relative to a vinyl or 
aluminum window but is for discussion of a clad wood window. It is difficult to make a solid vinyl 
or aluminum window match the proportions of the true wood window. Secondly, referring to the 
two images below of an actual wood window and the same window with white colored cladding, 
it is easy to see that the proportions and dimensions as basically identical. 

There also are windows made from fiberglass for strength and low maintenance. The Planning 
Commission will consider the fact that if the windows have the same proportions of a wood 
window, they can possibly be considered as meeting the Cityʼs requirements. 

39 

Table of Contents Link



Below are photograph of homes that meet the definition of “Mother 
Lode Architecture” (Classic 19th Century) 

Miner’s Cabin on Cabin Street

Miners C 

Victorian on Prospect Street 

40 

Table of Contents Link



Below are examples of pre-WW II homes 20th Century to 1942 

North Pine Street, about 1935 

Adams Street, about 1930 

Coyote Street, about 1938 

41 

Table of Contents Link



Below are examples of 1940’s to 1970’s homes 

Brock Road, about 
1948 

Gold Tunnel Road, 1950’s 

Lindley Avenue, about 1960 

42 

Table of Contents Link



Turpentine Drive, 1970 (part of Steger Tract Subdivision) 

Below are a ‘before and after’ photograph of a renovation consistent 
with Mother Lode Architecture. 

Before (2000) After (2014) 

This home on Sacramento Street, built in 1891, was granted approval to remodel the home by adding 
conditioned living space to the attic area of the home.  The home contains 1,348 sq ft and the project 
added 1,082 sq ft of conditioned area.  Interior work to the home was done and like-for-like windows 
were replaced.  The new conditioned area became living space and the roof was raised by 4 feet.  New 
dormers and windows were added to this area and materials matched those of the existing home and 
those in the immediate area.  Railings and steps were replaced. 

43 

Table of Contents Link



. 

Winter Street, new home built in 
1990 (replacing original due to 
fire) 

Additions. Nevada City is concerned about retaining a mix of housing sizes for affordable 
housing and historic preservation. As a result, major additions should not overwhelm the original 
structure. The integrity of the original structure should be retained.   Additions to homes that are 
greater than 25% of the floor area are considered by the Planning Commission.  Additions less 
than 25% with materials matching the home can be approved by staff; however the City Planner 
always has the ability to send an application to the Planning Commission for approval. 

436 Washington Street – 25% addition to west side of home by extending kitchen and 
adding bay window (2013) 

44 

Table of Contents Link



Garages and Accessory Structures, Second Dwelling Units 

Accessory building means a “detached subordinate building located on the same premises as the 
main building or buildings, the use of which is customarily incidental to that of the main building 
or to the use of the land.  Said accessory building shall not be used as sleeping or housekeeping 
quarters.”  However, the City’s second dwelling unit ordinance does encourage second dwelling 
units above new garages. 

Accessory buildings such as guest houses, garages, barns, and workshops should be designed to 
fit the character of the neighborhood and with adherence to all of the appropriate guidelines in 
this section. Accessory structures should complement the main building’s architecture (design, 
materials, color, etc.). 

Existing accessory structures often contribute to the significance of the property and should be 
retained.  Repair and restoration of such structures is desired rather than removal.  If the structure 
is pre-WWII or of special historic or architectural value, it will not be permitted to be 
demolished without approval of a Demolition Permit which requires a finding by the Planning 
Commission that the building cannot be reasonably repaired or restored.  (See Attach #11.2) 

Accessory buildings can be detached from the main residence or attached (or may be connected 
by a breezeway).  Accessory buildings need to comply with all requirements as the main 
residence including setbacks and undergo architectural review by the Planning Commission.   

Exceptions to setbacks and design review are small accessory structures (such as tool sheds) that 
are less than 160 square feet in size; such structures are placed in the rear half of the lot and 
cannot exceed 30% of the rear yard area.  Staff can assist with the placement of such structures 
to ensure compliance with the zoning ordinance. 

Garage patterns in the existing neighborhood should be respected. For example, if rear detached 
garages are the norm, it is a good idea for any new garages to follow that form. Where single 
garage doors are common, new two car garages should use two similar doors instead of one 
larger double door. Regardless, the garage should not be the dominant feature of a front 
elevation.  

Garage behind home – Clay Street Garage, Alexander Street 

45 

Table of Contents Link



Second Dwelling Units 
The City adopted Ordinance 2008-14, finding that such dwelling units are an important form of 
housing that contributes to the character and diversity of housing opportunities in Nevada City. 
Such a unit is defined as an attached (640 square feet maximum) or detached unit (800 square 
feet) that is smaller and secondary to the main residence.  Second dwelling units can also be 
constructed above a new garage (640 square feet maximum).  A use permit can be submitted by 
the owner to the Planning Commission for any deviation in unit size. 

Second dwelling units are permitted in all zoning districts that allow single family dwellings as a 
permitted use.  The City encourages residential second dwelling units and has imported standards 
that enable homeowners to create such units to be compatible, as much as possible, with the 
neighborhood. 

Second dwelling units are approved at staff level by the City Planner with submittal of an 
application, site plan and any required fees.  Units are subject to standards such as: 

1. Must meet building and fire codes
2. Payment of public water and sewer fees, along with AB1600 Mitigation Fees (can be

waived with a 30-year deed restriction ensuring affordable rent at “low” or “very low”
income levels as established by the State of California.

3. Each unit shall have one spate off street parking space (in addition to two spaces required
for main residence).

4. One of the residences shall be occupied by the owner of the property.
5. Lot coverage of all buildings cannot exceed 50 percent.
6. Materials, colors and architecture shall be similar to the primary unit.
7. Lighting shall not spill onto neighboring lots.
8. Entrances shall be screened from neighboring properties.

:

American Hill Rd. - 2nd unit under construction            Chief Kelly Dr. - 2nd unit above garage

46 

Table of Contents Link



5.2 New Residential Neighborhoods 

New homes in new subdivisions or previously undeveloped neighborhoods must exhibit high 
quality design which is compatible and sympathetic to Nevada City's Mother Lode architecture 
incorporating traditional materials, building lines, features, and landscaping wherever possible. 
For example:  

Features typical of Mother Lode era architecture: 

• Roofs may vary in their design and detailing which is more flexible than the review
standard in older neighborhoods, but they should be steeply pitched (6:12 to 12:12).

• Wall material - Siding on new homes in new neighborhoods should be high quality
and at least reminiscent of traditional materials. Painted siding, cement fiber siding,
shingles, and traditionally surfaced stucco are examples or preferred materials
though it must be reviewed for furthering the intent of achieving a continuation of
Mother Lode architecture. T-111 type siding, vinyl, and other synthetic siding are
strongly discouraged.

• Covered porches and entries should be used wherever possible to continue a Nevada
City architectural tradition.

• Windows should match the style of the house. Multi-pane, vertical, and bay
windows are encouraged with variations to fit the style of the house.

• Trim, railing, and details should fit the style of the new house. The intent should be
to add texture, shadowing, contrast, and interest which are reminiscent of the City's
older homes.

• Roofing material such as treated wood shingles, asphalt shingles, and metal roofing
in muted non-glare colors such as tans, blacks, browns, greens and grays are desired.

• Colors. Colors are not reviewed outside the Historic District. However, the
following guidelines are recommended:

• Select colors that are similar to the tones found in the area and on adjacent
buildings

• Muted, soft colors on large wall expanses are encouraged

• The use of bright, modern colors and intense white color are discouraged.

• Use subdued colors as the primary color and brighter, contrasting trim when
appropriate

• Incorporate the color from primary building materials, such as stone, brick and
hardwood, as the base colors for new development

47 

Table of Contents Link



Approved Elevations for varied housing styles within a subdivision off Gracie Road 

Lost Hill Drive 
Residences 
(subdivision approved 
in 2000) 

Nevada City Cottages, 
multi-   family project 
built in 2005 

48 

Table of Contents Link



                               City of Nevada City 

 
City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

 

 
 
 
TO:   Planning Commission 
FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
MEETING DATE: February 20, 2020 
RE:     Architectural Review Application for Exterior Alterations at 224 Church Street 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1) Application for Architectural Review 
2) Improvement Plans (Site Plan, Floor Plan, Elevation Details) 
3) Garage Door Spec Sheet 
4) Lighting fixture details 

 
ACTION REQUESTED: 

1) Approve new garage door and light fixtures for 224 Church Street 
 
SITE SPECIFICATIONS: 
Lot Size: 0.31acres Lot Coverage: 100% 
Zoning: GB-HD-SC: General Business-Historical District Building Height: 40-feet 
Setbacks: None Historical District: Within  
 
BACKGROUND: The owner of the building, John Conger and his design team originally 
presented an application for exterior alterations of the subject building at the August 15, 2019 
Planning Commission meeting. At the September 19, 2019 meeting, the Planning Commission 
approved a Use Permit for specified office uses on the ground floor and also approved 
architectural review for a newly proposed garage with upper story deck, to be located in the rear of 
the existing building. The Commission further approved exterior alterations at their Meeting held 
on October 17, 2019 and the Special Meeting held on October 30, 2019.  
Immediately following this approval, Conger’s neighbor expressed concern that the corrugated 
metal cladding  and faux windows would create gaps between the rock face and metal that would 
potentially invite rodent and pest problems. As a result, Conger requested that the Planning 
Commission consider a revised Architectural Review proposal at their November 21, 2019 
meeting to reconsider the metal cladding and faux windows and allow the rock face to remain as 
is, and also allow the north elevation to remain as is, though painted in the proposed color scheme. 
The Planning Commission denied Conger’s proposal from the November 21st meeting based on it 
being incompatible with Motherlode architecture. However, Conger appealed this decision at the 
January 8, City Council meeting, whereby Council overturned the Planning Commission decision 
with a 4 to 1 vote. Therefore the elevations as presented at the November 21st Planning 
Commission meeting and at the January 8th City Council Meeting represent the approved 
Architectural Review, attached.  
The current structure was constructed in 1962 and is not considered a contributing building to the 
National Register Historic District. The National Register inventory describes it as follows:  
CURRENT PROPOSAL: Conger is proposing to install a garage door on the front of the 
building, facing Church Street, with access from the existing parking lot.  The garage door is a 



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

full-view, aluminum door that incorporates window lites across the entire panel.  Four parking 
spaces will need to be removed in order to accommodate the drive access. The loss of parking will 
limit the commercial use of the building, though presently Conger has decided to improve the 
space only for residential use of two units, for which adequate parking exists, and not lease out the 
office space. Staff has added a condition of approval, that any commercial use of the building, 
including office use, shall require evaluation by the Planning Department for consistency with 
commercial, off-street parking standards pursuant to 17.80.030 of the City Municipal Code. 
 
Conger is also proposing to install gas lanterns at the entry and gas tiki-style lamps on the roof 
deck adjacent to the upper residence. The Fire Chief has advised that the California Fire Code 
regulates open-flame decorative devices under section 308.3.1. Adherence to that code is required 
and has been included in the recommended Conditions of Approval below. 
 
In addition to the exterior improvements, Conger is proposing a new barrier gate at the entrance of 
the parking lot off Church Street. However, this feature is not under the purview of the Planning 
Commission since it does not involve an alteration of the building itself. It will need to be 
reviewed by City staff, including the Fire, Police, and Engineering Departments in order to make 
sure it is installed consistently with safety standards.  
 
REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS:  
Historical District: Pursuant to Section 17.68.070  of the City Municipal Code, Stylistic 
conformance of alteration or new construction, all buildings which may hereafter be constructed or 
altered as to their exterior appearance within  the historical district shall substantially conform 
with the Mother Lode type of architecture with respect to their exterior appearance within public 
view. 
Scenic Corridor: The subject property is designated with a scenic corridor (SC) combining 
district. This designation is applied to land areas which are adjacent to roads and highways which 
are indicated on the General Plan with the symbol for scenic corridors, and as may be designated 
by the city council from time to time. These roadways are generally entryways to Nevada City 
which were recognized in the General Plan as being particularly important to protect the existing 
essential character of Nevada City, namely that of a small, compact historical town surrounded by 
green, wooded hills, by hiding development from view from the highways and preserving the 
existing tree cover to the greatest extent possible, and assuring visually pleasing corridors.  The 
planning commission may require the incorporation of special conditions of approval or design 
features, prior to approval.  
Environmental Review: Staff has determined that the project is exempt from environmental 
review pursuant to §15301 of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guidelines. The 
CEQA Guidelines for Categorical Exemption §15301, Existing Facilities “consists of operation, 
repair maintenance of existing public or private structures or facilities…involving no or negligible 
expansion of use beyond that existing at the time of the lead agency’s determination.” 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: 

A. The Planning Commission, acting as the Architectural Review Committee, approves the 
Architectural Review application, as conditioned, for the proposed exterior alterations 
located at 224 Church Street, Nevada City, CA, making findings a through d: 

a. That the garage door and lighting fixtures are generally compatible with Mother 
Lode style Architecture and with the Historical District  



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

b. That the garage door and lighting fixtures are compatible with the context of the 
surrounding neighborhood.  

c. That the garage door and lighting fixtures, as conditioned, are consistent with the 
General Plan in preserving the Nevada City essential character and scenic corridor 
designation; 

d. That the garage door and lighting fixtures, as conditioned, contains sufficient 
design and/or landscaping features to protect and enhance the aesthetics of the 
scenic corridor. 

RECOMMENDED CONIDTIONS OF APPROVAL:  
1. Nevada City contracts with the Nevada County Building Department for issuance of permits.  

The County will not issue permits unless the plans have been stamped and approved by 
Nevada City.  Therefore, prior to issuance of a building permit, submit one digital copy of 
plans OR three sets of plans to Nevada City Planning Department, along with a filing fee of 
$100 (made payable to the City of Nevada City).  The plans will be reviewed by the City 
Planner and City Engineer for consistency with the approval and will require their signatures.   
 

2. Material selections, colors, and all proposed work shall substantially comply with the exhibits 
presented and approved by the Planning Commission.   

3. Any future use beyond the two residential units shall be evaluated by the City Planner to 
determine the adequacy of off-street parking to serve those uses. Anyone pursuing a business 
license at 224 Church street shall provide the City Planner a diagram of the business space 
with square footage specified and information about the nature of the business and 
demonstrate compliance with off-street parking requirements pursuant to 17.80.030 of the City 
Municipal Code 

4. All State, Local, and Federal permits required for the project shall be the responsibility of the 
property owner including, but not limited to the following agencies, Northern Sierra Air 
Quality District (potentially for the fireplace), Nevada County Building Department, the 
Nevada City Engineer, and the Nevada City Fire Department.   

5. Open-flame decorative devices shall comply with the restrictions outlined in Section 308.3.1 
of the California Fire Code. 

6. The decision of the planning commission may be appealed to the city council not later than 
fifteen (15) days after this final action or decision. Any work during this period is at the 
applicant’s own risk.  









 2
50

7' 
- 0

"

 2
50

8' 
- 0

"

 2
50

9' 
- 0

"

 2
51

0' 
- 0

" 25
11

' - 
0"

 25
12

' - 
0"

 2513' - 0
" 2514' - 0

" 2515' - 0" 2516' - 0" 2517' - 0"
 2518' - 0"

 2519' - 0
"

 25
20

' - 
0"

 25
21

' - 
0"

 2522' - 0
" 2523' - 0

"

 2524' - 0"

 2
49

9' 
- 0

"

 2
50

0' 
- 0

"

 2
50

1' 
- 0

"

 2
50

2' 
- 0

"

 2
50

3' 
- 0

"

 2
50

4' 
- 0

"

 2
50

5' 
- 0

"

EXISTING BUILDING
TO BE REMODELED

25
20

25
15

2515

C H U R C H      S
 T R E E T

M A I N      S T R E E T
ENTRY

 25
10

' - 
0"

NEW PROPOSED
GARAGE  - 381 S.F.

4 AUTOMATIC VEHICLE ARM GATE
SCALE: 3/4"=1'-0"

CALIFORNIA
BUILDING PLANS

224 CHURCH STREET
NEVADA CITY, CALIFORNIA 95959 

APN: 005-390-004

224 CHURCH ST.
TENANT IMPROVEMENT

JOHN CONGER

A1.1

SITE PLAN

1
SITE PLAN
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

3
PELTON WHEEL
SCALE: NONE

2
STREET SIGN
SCALE: NONE

BUILDING COVERAGE CALCULATION

E:\Dropbox\Dropbox\DRAFTING\CAD-COM\224 Church St TI\A1.1 SITE PLAN_224 CHURCH.dwg, 1/5/2020 6:11:59 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) GAS METER  TO REMAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) PARKING  SPACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) PARKING SPACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) BOLLARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) A/C CONDENSER TO REMAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) BOLLARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) PARKING  SPACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) PARKING  SPACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) BOLLARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
(N) BALCONY ABV.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) BOLLARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) STEPS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) RAMP UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED HISTORIC  7' DIA. PELTON WHEEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) STEPS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) A.C. PAVING  TO REMAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) A.D.A. PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) BOLLARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) BOLLARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ADJACENT PARCEL PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
(N) BOLLARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING SIGN POST W/ NEW SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADE BREAK

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE PORTIONS OF (E) PLANTERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED GRADED DRIVEWAY SLOPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED VEHICLE  ARM GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(N) VEHICLE ARM GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
14'-16' WOODEN BARRIER ARM GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GATE OPERATOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUPPORT SLAB

AutoCAD SHX Text
FINISH GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWG. STATUS/REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/6/2020 PLANNING SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
120 JOERSCHKE DRIVE, #5

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRASS VALLEY, CALIFORNIA 95945

AutoCAD SHX Text
(530) 913-3162 | www.calbuildingplans.com

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.J.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/6/2020

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.A.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.:

AutoCAD SHX Text
19035

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT:

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
STRUCTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVERAGE = 32.9%%% 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY = 0.31 AC = 13,503 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
4140 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQUARE FOOTAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
300 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW GARAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
4440 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL



BEDROOM

KITCHEN

LIVINGROOM

BEDROOMBATH-2

STORAGE

1 2 3 4 5 6

A

B

1 2 3 4 5 6

B

A

BATH-1

GARAGE-1 

WALL LEGEND

CALIFORNIA
BUILDING PLANS

224 CHURCH STREET
NEVADA CITY, CALIFORNIA 95959 

APN: 005-390-004

224 CHURCH ST.
TENANT IMPROVEMENT

JOHN CONGER

A3.1

LOWER LEVEL
FLOOR PLAN

1
LOWER LEVEL FLOOR PLAN
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

E:\Dropbox\Dropbox\DRAFTING\CAD-COM\224 Church St TI\A3.1 LOWER LEVEL FLOOR PLAN_224 CHURCH.dwg, 1/5/2020 6:12:03 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) STAIRS

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
3068

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E)

AutoCAD SHX Text
TUB/SHOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINDOW TRIM

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
A6.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
S&P

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHELVES

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E)  FURNACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.H.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
S&P

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHELVES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PANTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
REF.  SPACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANGE/ OVEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SINK W/ DISP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
D.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) CONC. COLUMN (TYP. OF 4) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
T.V.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.&D. 27x30

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALCONY ABV.-SEE UPPER LEVEL FLOOR PLAN F/ ADDL. INFO. THIS AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) CMU WALL, TYP U.O.N.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(N) FRAMED WALLS @ GARAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOES

AutoCAD SHX Text
S&P

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 2x4 WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW 2x4 WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 8" C.M.U. WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW 8" C.M.U. WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWG. STATUS/REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/6/2020 PLANNING SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
120 JOERSCHKE DRIVE, #5

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRASS VALLEY, CALIFORNIA 95945

AutoCAD SHX Text
(530) 913-3162 | www.calbuildingplans.com

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.J.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/6/2020

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.A.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.:

AutoCAD SHX Text
19035

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT:

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT



KITCHEN

(E) BATH

(E) MECHANICAL

(E) BATH

CL CL CLCL CL

1 2 3 4 5 6

A

B

1 2 3 4 5 6

B

A

C

D

E

C

D

E

BEDROOM

BATH-2

BALCONY

BEDROOM

BATH-1 CLOSET

LIVINGROOM

ROOF DECK

ENTRY

SAUNA

GARAGE-2

(E) OFFICE(E) OFFICE

(E) OFFICE

(E) OFFICE

(E) OFFICE

(E) OFFICE

(E) OFFICE

WALL LEGEND

CALIFORNIA
BUILDING PLANS

224 CHURCH STREET
NEVADA CITY, CALIFORNIA 95959 

APN: 005-390-004

224 CHURCH ST.
TENANT IMPROVEMENT

JOHN CONGER

A3.2

UPPER LEVEL
FLOOR PLAN

1
UPPER LEVEL FLOOR PLAN
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

E:\Dropbox\Dropbox\DRAFTING\CAD-COM\224 Church St TI\A3.2 UPPER LEVEL FLOOR PLAN_224 CHURCH.dwg, 1/5/2020 6:12:08 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) STAIRS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROOF ABV.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(N) LIGHT FIXTURE-TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(N) 7' DIA. HISTORIC  PELTON WHEEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) STEPS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) 2868

AutoCAD SHX Text
TUB

AutoCAD SHX Text
S&P

AutoCAD SHX Text
S&P

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
D.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY  CLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
TUB/SHOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
S&P

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.&D. 27x30

AutoCAD SHX Text
PANTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
REF. SPACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANGE/ OVEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SINK W/ DISP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STEPPED  SHELVES

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) STEPS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MICRO. ABV.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HALF WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
HALF WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
(N) LIGHT FIXTURE-TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) PARKING LOT

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) ELEC. SUB-  PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) W.H.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) COMM.  CLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS STOVE  & HEARTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
136116 OVERHEAD GARAGE DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
(N) DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 2x4 WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW 2x4 WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 8" C.M.U. WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW 8" C.M.U. WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWG. STATUS/REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/6/2020 PLANNING SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
120 JOERSCHKE DRIVE, #5

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRASS VALLEY, CALIFORNIA 95945

AutoCAD SHX Text
(530) 913-3162 | www.calbuildingplans.com

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.J.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/6/2020

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.A.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.:

AutoCAD SHX Text
19035

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT:

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT



DOOR SCHEDULEWINDOW SCHEDULE

CALIFORNIA
BUILDING PLANS

224 CHURCH STREET
NEVADA CITY, CALIFORNIA 95959 

APN: 005-390-004

224 CHURCH ST.
TENANT IMPROVEMENT

JOHN CONGER

A3.3

DOOR & WINDOW
SCHEDULE /

EQUIPMENT SCHEDULE

E:\Dropbox\Dropbox\DRAFTING\CAD-COM\224 Church St TI\A3.3 DOOR & WINDOW SCHEDULE_224 CHURCH.dwg, 1/5/2020 6:12:13 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIZE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATERIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAX U-FACTOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHGC

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAFETY GLAZING

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
INT./EXT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMARKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
RATING

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAX U-FACTOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAX SHGC

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIZE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAFETY GLAZING

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRAME MATERIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-8"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMARKS:

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE WEATHER STRIPPING.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MUST HAVE SELF-CLOSING HARDWARE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINDOW SILL IS LESS THAN 24 INCHES FROM THE FINISH FLOOR AND MORE THAN 72 INCHES ABOVE EXTERIOR FINISH GRADE. PROVIDE WINDOW 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MUST BE NON-COMBUSTIBLE, IGNITION-RESISTANT, MINIMUM 1 3/8" THICK, SOLID CORE OR HAVE A MINIMUM 20 MINUTE FIRE RESISTIVE RATING.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY ROUGH OPENING SIZES PRIOR TO ORDERING WINDOWS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPENING CONTROL DEVICE. (R312.2.1)

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0" x 6'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES:  1. IF WINDOW SILL IS LESS THAN 24 INCHES FROM THE FINISH FLOOR AND MORE THAN 72 INCHES ABOVE EXTERIOR FINISH GRADE. PROVIDE IF WINDOW SILL IS LESS THAN 24 INCHES FROM THE FINISH FLOOR AND MORE THAN 72 INCHES ABOVE EXTERIOR FINISH GRADE. PROVIDE WINDOW OPENING CONTROL DEVICE. (R312.2.1) 2. EGRESS WINDOW. OPENING AREA OF WINDOW MUST BE 5.7 SQUARE FEET (5 SQUARE FEET AT GRADE FLOOR OR BELOW GRADE EGRESS WINDOW. OPENING AREA OF WINDOW MUST BE 5.7 SQUARE FEET (5 SQUARE FEET AT GRADE FLOOR OR BELOW GRADE OPENINGS), HAVE 24 INCHES CLEAR OPENING HEIGHT, AND 20 INCHES CLEAR OPENING WIDTH. SILL OF CLEAR OPENING SHALL BE AT 44 INCHES MAX ABOVE FINISH FLOOR. 3. EXISTING WINDOWEXISTING WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-8"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-4"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-8"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-8"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
PR. 3'-0"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-4"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVER HEAD   GARAGE DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BI-FOLD 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BI-PASS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-0"x 7'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"x 8'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-8"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARN-TYPE  DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"x 8'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
FULLY TEMPERED

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
PR. 3'-0"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-4"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-4"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-0"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-4"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-8"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"x 7'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-0"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-4"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-8"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-8"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-0"W.x 8'-0"H.

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROLL-UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"x 8'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOWER  ENCLOSURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
FULLY TEMPERED

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-10"x 6'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BI-PASS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0" x 6'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0" x 6'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FULLY TEMPERED

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FULLY TEMPERED

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FULLY TEMPERED

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOWER  ENCLOSURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
FULLY TEMPERED

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-0"x 6'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BI-PASS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-4" x 8'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-4" x 8'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-4" x 8'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0" x 4'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SINGLE HUNG

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-4" x 6'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-4" x 6'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-4" x 7'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6" x 6'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FULLY TEMPERED

AutoCAD SHX Text
FULLY TEMPERED

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
FULLY TEMPERED

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
20 MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1, 2, 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECURITY  DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-4"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"x 6'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE HINGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWG. STATUS/REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/6/2020 PLANNING SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
120 JOERSCHKE DRIVE, #5

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRASS VALLEY, CALIFORNIA 95945

AutoCAD SHX Text
(530) 913-3162 | www.calbuildingplans.com

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.J.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/6/2020

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.A.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.:

AutoCAD SHX Text
19035

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT:



MAIN FLOOR
2514' - 1 1/2"

MAIN FLOOR
2514' - 1 1/2"

MAIN PLATE
2526' - 7 1/2"

MAIN PLATE
2526' - 7 1/2"

2 3 4 51 6

LOWER FLOOR
2505' - 4 1/2"

LOWER FLOOR
2505' - 4 1/2"

MAIN FLOOR
2514' - 1 1/2"

MAIN FLOOR
2514' - 1 1/2"

MAIN PLATE
2526' - 7 1/2"

MAIN PLATE
2526' - 7 1/2"

A B C D E

SCALE: 1"=1'-0"
BALCONY RAILING4

MATERIALS LIST
NOTE: THE FOLLOWING IS A SUMMARY OF THE
PROPOSED EXTERIOR MATERIALS.  HATCHES SHOWN
MAY NOT BE TO SCALE. ALL EXTERIOR MATERIALS TO
BE VERIFIED BY OWNER.

ENTRY FASCIA: EXISTING, TO REMAIN

CMU BLOCK: BASALITE SHOT BLAST COLOR 790 OR
791. PAINT TO MATCH EXISTING

STONE VENEER: EXISTING, TO REMAIN

WINDOWS: ANDERSON E-SERIES,  DARK BRONZE
METAL CLAD WOOD WITH SIMULATED DIVIDED LITES
PER ELEVATIONS (7/8" WIDE MULLIONS, MIN.).

STOREFRONT WINDOWS: EXISTING, TO REMAIN

GARAGE DOOR:   NICKSBUILDING.COM
HERITAGE KNOTTY CEDAR, NO LITES
COLOR - NATURAL WITH VAN DYKE BROWN GLAZE,
LIGHT DISTRESSED

CALIFORNIA
BUILDING PLANS

224 CHURCH STREET
NEVADA CITY, CALIFORNIA 95959 

APN: 005-390-004

224 CHURCH ST.
TENANT IMPROVEMENT

JOHN CONGER

A6.1

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

1
NORTH ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

2
EAST ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

3
LIGHT FIXTURE
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

E:\Dropbox\Dropbox\DRAFTING\CAD-COM\224 Church St TI\A6.1-A6.2 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS_224 CHURCH.dwg, 1/5/2020 6:12:19 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW EXTERIOR LIGHT FIXTURE, TYP OF (3)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CONCRETE COLUMN. PAINT, MAINTAIN EXISTING COLOR, TYP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ROCK VENEER TO REMAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAINT EXISTING FASCIA. MAINTAIN EXISTING COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRAMED OPENING WITH STUCCO FINISH

AutoCAD SHX Text
13'-6"x11'-6" GLASS GARAGE DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALCONY RAILING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ROCK VENEER TO REMAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CONCRETE WALL W/ SKIM COAT. PAINT TO MATCH ADJACENT CMU WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"x2 " TUBE 12" TUBE STEEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
34"x " STEEL 18" STEEL PLATE, TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACORN BOLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"x2" TUBE STEEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWG. STATUS/REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/6/2020 PLANNING SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
120 JOERSCHKE DRIVE, #5

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRASS VALLEY, CALIFORNIA 95945

AutoCAD SHX Text
(530) 913-3162 | www.calbuildingplans.com

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.J.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/6/2020

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.A.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.:

AutoCAD SHX Text
19035

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT:



LOWER FLOOR
2505' - 4 1/2"

LOWER FLOOR
2505' - 4 1/2"

MAIN FLOOR
2514' - 1 1/2"

MAIN FLOOR
2514' - 1 1/2"

MAIN PLATE
2526' - 7 1/2"

MAIN PLATE
2526' - 7 1/2"

ABCDE

LOWER FLOOR
2505' - 4 1/2"

LOWER FLOOR
2505' - 4 1/2"

MAIN FLOOR
2514' - 1 1/2"

MAIN FLOOR
2514' - 1 1/2"

MAIN PLATE
2526' - 7 1/2"

MAIN PLATE
2526' - 7 1/2"

2345 16

MATERIALS LIST
NOTE: THE FOLLOWING IS A SUMMARY OF THE
PROPOSED EXTERIOR MATERIALS.  HATCHES SHOWN
MAY NOT BE TO SCALE. ALL EXTERIOR MATERIALS TO
BE VERIFIED BY OWNER.

ENTRY FASCIA: EXISTING, TO REMAIN

CMU BLOCK: BASALITE SHOT BLAST COLOR 790 OR
791. PAINT TO MATCH EXISTING

STONE VENEER: EXISTING, TO REMAIN

WINDOWS: ANDERSON E-SERIES,  DARK BRONZE
METAL CLAD WOOD WITH SIMULATED DIVIDED LITES
PER ELEVATIONS (7/8" WIDE MULLIONS, MIN.).

STOREFRONT WINDOWS: EXISTING, TO REMAIN

GARAGE DOOR:   NICKSBUILDING.COM
HERITAGE KNOTTY CEDAR, NO LITES
COLOR - NATURAL WITH VAN DYKE BROWN GLAZE,
LIGHT DISTRESSED

SCALE: 1"=1'-0"
WINDOW INSTALLATION5

CALIFORNIA
BUILDING PLANS

224 CHURCH STREET
NEVADA CITY, CALIFORNIA 95959 

APN: 005-390-004

224 CHURCH ST.
TENANT IMPROVEMENT

JOHN CONGER

3
SOUTH ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

4
WEST ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

A6.2

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

E:\Dropbox\Dropbox\DRAFTING\CAD-COM\224 Church St TI\A6.1-A6.2 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS_224 CHURCH.dwg, 1/5/2020 6:12:22 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW EXTERIOR LIGHT FIXTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CMU WALL - PAINT, MAINTAIN EXISTING COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CMU SITE WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FINISH GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW GARAGE - STUCCO FINISH

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALCONY RAILING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CMU WALL - PAINT, MAINTAIN EXISTING COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW EXTERIOR LIGHT FIXTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW EXTERIOR LIGHT FIXTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GARAGE STAIR ENCLOSURE - STUCCO FINISH

AutoCAD SHX Text
A6.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
REPLACED WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
REPLACED WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW DOOR IN EXISTING WINDOW OPENING

AutoCAD SHX Text
REPLACED WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ROCK VENEER TO REMAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CONCRETE WALL W/ SKIM COAT. PAINT TO MATCH ADJACENT CMU WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
A6.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALCONY RAILING

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW EXTERIOR LIGHT FIXTURE, TYP OF (6)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW DOOR IN EXISTING WINDOW OPENING

AutoCAD SHX Text
A6.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYP

AutoCAD SHX Text
A6.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALCONY RAILING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CMU WALL - PAINT, MAINTAIN EXISTING COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW GARAGE - STUCCO FINISH

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW GARAGE STAIR ENCLOSURE, STUCCO FINISH

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAIN FLOOR 2514' - 1  "12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
JAMB

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CONCRETE WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINDOW GLAZING

AutoCAD SHX Text
STEEL PLATES AND BOLT. PAINT TO MATCH WALLS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRE-CAST CONCRETE SILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
STEEL PLATES AND BOLT. PAINT TO MATCH WALLS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWG. STATUS/REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/6/2020 PLANNING SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
120 JOERSCHKE DRIVE, #5

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRASS VALLEY, CALIFORNIA 95945

AutoCAD SHX Text
(530) 913-3162 | www.calbuildingplans.com

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.J.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/6/2020

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.A.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.:

AutoCAD SHX Text
19035

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT:



THE  
QUALITY  
GARAGE  
DOOR™

 |  F U L L - V I E W  A L U M I N U M



2

3295 shown in clear anodized with optional frosted glass

|  F U L L - V I E W  A L U M I N U M
A dramatic statement, made to fit your contemporary garage door application. Our full-view aluminum garage doors are 
expertly engineered of aluminum and glass that will give your home the perfect blend of industrial and ultra modern.

|  K E Y  F E AT U R E S

INSULATION
Optional insulated 
section rails are available 
providing additional 
therrmal protection for 
your garage space.

BULB SEAL
Integrated bulb seal 
eliminates air and water 
infiltration keeping your 
interiors protected from 
the unwanted elements.

SECTION 
CONSTRUCTION
Rail and stile sections are 
assembled with through 
bolts for added strength 
and longevity. 

POWDER COATING
Choose from 188 color 
options that provide a 
maintenance free,  
durable finish.

Enjoy the view but keep the noise out!
C.H.I Full-View Aluminum doors have been tested and  
certified for an STC (sound transmission class) Rating of 27.



3

|  P E R S O N A L I Z I N G  O P T I O N S
Choose from a variety of personalizing options to complement your home’s design and create immediate curb appeal.

FINISH SUPER DURABLE POWDER COAT COLORS All powder coat colors add 1-week lead time

Clear Anodized White Almond Sandstone Brown Bronze Dark Bronze Gray Desert Tan Black

GLASS

Plain Frosted Tinted Obscure

ADDITIONAL GLASS  
& PANEL OPTIONS
In addition to our standard glass offering, customize your 
door with specialty glass, solid panels or special materials. 
Contact your C.H.I. Dealer for options and details.

SECTIONS
Limited Lifetime

SPRINGS
3 Years
HARDWARE
6 Years

Full-View Aluminum Model Comparison Chart
BETTER BEST

Section Construction
2” Thick - Hollow aluminum rails with through bolt 

assembly and bulb seal between sections
2” Thick - Insulated aluminum rails with through bolt 

assembly and bulb seal between sections

Section Material Heavy Duty - Aluminum Heavy Duty - Aluminum

Insulation Type No Insulation Polystyrene Insulation

Panel Style / Model Number2

Full-View
3295 3297

Personalizing Options

Powder Coating1 188 Colors 188 Colors

Windows • •

Solid Panels Insulated or Non-Insulated Insulated or Non-Insulated

Glass • •

Warranty Limited Lifetime Warranty

1 Refer to your local C.H.I. Dealer for exact color match. 2 Model number indicates insulation type.

APPEARANCE PACKAGE
All hardware, including struts and 
track, is powder coated, creating 
a complete garage door system 
with a lasting impression.



All information presented is based on the specifications and features available at the time of printing and is subject to change without notice. 

CHI051 202-190052 0731 V1 20K / ©2019 C.H.I. Overhead Doors

C.H.I. DEALERS

A BETTER BUYING EXPERIENCE
All C.H.I. doors, replacement parts, and accessories are sold only through our 

network of C.H.I. dealers: dedicated professionals who install and service our doors 

with the same quality and workmanship we use to manufacture them.

chiohd.com | 1485 Sunrise Drive | Arthur, IL 61911 | USA

Your Local Garage Door Professional

 |  DOORVISIONS
Bring your vision to life.

*  d o o r v i s i o n s . c h i o h d . c o m







City of Nevada City 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

TO:    Planning Commission 

FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

MEETING DATE:  February 20, 2020 

APPLICANT:  Jeffrey Adams, representing property owner, Marc Kieler 

RE:   Architectural Review for a new detached garage and tree removal at 332 Jordan Street 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Architectural Review  and Tree Removal Applications
2. Site Plan
3. Garage Elevations/Renderings
4. Photograph of trees to be removed

ACTION REQUESTED 
1. Approve remodel of the existing garage.

SITE SPECIFICATIONS 
Lot Size: 1.59 acres Lot Coverage: 50% 
Zoning: RR-Rural Residential Building Height: 35-feet 
Setbacks: Front yard: 50-feet, Rear Yard:25-feet, side yards: 6-

feet; Deer Creek: 100-feet 
Historical District: Outside 

BACKGROUND:  The Planning Commission previously approved the existing house along with a detached 
garage at their meeting on July 5, 2013.  These proposed structures were located further toward Deer Creek 
and were never constructed. The applicant filed an application to remodel the existing 1940 residence in 2013, 
which expired. There is a current and active permit, issued in 2018, to enclose an existing sunroom and 
enlarged a rear deck.   
PROPOSED GARAGE:  The applicant is proposing to construct a 2-car garage with storage space and 
laundry room space for a total 672 square feet. Materials will be ribbed metal siding and concrete with stone 
veneer, composite shingle roof, and a salvaged cedar garage door.  

Rendering of Proposed Garage 



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

TREE REMOVAL: The applicant is also requesting to remove four cedar trees ranging in size between 6 and 
20 inches in diameter. These four trees are located within the building footprint of the proposed garage and are 
identified on the site plan, attached.  The property owner has previously been approved to remove 19 trees by 
the Planning Commission at their October 18, 2018 meeting, and one dead tree, approved by staff on January 
7, 2020.  

REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS:  
Architectural Review:  The Planning Commission, in their role as the Architectural Review Committee, is 
required to review proposals for the erection or exterior alterations of any structure, or the remodel, 
demolition, or razing of any structure. Findings must be made that structures are consistent with Nevada City 
Architecture and compatible with the surrounding neighborhood.  

Tree Preservation: Pursuant to Section 18.01.070 of the City Municipal Code, the Planning Commission may 
impose mitigation on the loss of any protected tree(s). The total replacement requirement shall be based on the 
number of tree(s) removed. Mitigation replanting or seedling protection shall be provided with the intent to 
reflect the character of the site prior to tree removal..  

Environmental Review: Because the residential use and residential accessory uses are permitted by right in 
the RR zoning designation, local authority can only be ministerial in nature. Sections 21080 of the Public 
Resource Code, of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), exempts ministerial projects from 
environmental review.   

RECOMMENDED MOTION: 
A. Make a Motion to Approve the Architectural Review and Tree Removal Applications making the 

findings 1 through 4 pursuant to Sections 17.88.040 and 18.01.070 of the City Municipal Code: 

1) That the proposed garage l is generally compatible with Nevada City style Architecture; and 

2) That the proposed garage is compatible with the context of the surrounding neighborhood; and 

3) That the removal of up to 19 trees identified in the exhibits provided by the applicant are necessary 
for reasonable use of the property. 

 
RECOMMENDED CONIDTIONS OF APPROVAL:  
1. Nevada City contracts with the Nevada County Building Department for issuance of permits.  The County 

will not issue permits unless the plans have been stamped and approved by Nevada City.  Therefore, prior 
to issuance of a building permit, submit three sets of plans to Nevada City Planning Department, along 
with a filing fee of $100 (made payable to the City of Nevada City).  The plans will be reviewed by the 
City Planner and City Engineer for consistency with the approval and will require their signatures.   
 

2. All improvements shall substantially comply with the exhibits presented to the Planning Commission.  
 

3. Provide a site plan that delineates two off-street parking spaces meeting the design parameters of Section  
17.80.040 of the City Municipal Code. 

 
4. Any firm or person removing the trees shall obtain a business license from City Hall 

 
5. A Planning Commission member shall be appointed as a Liaison to assist the applicant with any minor 

modifications to the permit, if needed. 
 





























                               City of Nevada City 

 
City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

 

 
 
TO:     Planning Commission 

FROM:  Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

MEETING DATE:  February 20, 2020 

APPLICANT:  Nevada County Historical Society, represented by Linda Jack 

RE: Plaque Proposal to Honor Ellen Clark Sargent in Calanan Park (Continued from the 
December 19, 2019 meeting) 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Historic Plaque Application 
2. Summary of Revised Plaque Text Exhibit 
3. Picture of existing granite form proposed to hold the plaque 
4. Chair Andrews guidance to applicant 

 

 
BACKGROUND: At the November 21, 2019 meeting, the Historical Society presented a plaque 
proposal  to place a plaque in an existing granite form at Calanan Park. The plaque would honor Ellen 
Clark Sargent’s contribution to the women’s suffrage movement. The Commission approved the style 
and location of the plaque with a condition that reference to Aaron Sargent be omitted from the plaque 
text. At the December 19, 2019 meeting, they returned with a revised option to include a photograph of 
Ellen Sargent and also asked that the Commission reconsider the condition to omit Aaron Sargent from 
being referenced. At that meeting the Commission voted to continue the item with direction to the 
applicant to add language that strengthens understanding of Ellen Sargent’s role in the suffrage 
movement. After the canceling of the January meeting, and upon receiving a  request from the applicant 
to give them a sense about how likely the revised language was to be approved by the Commission,  the 
City Planner reached out to Chair Andrews. She indicated that she was still not happy with the revised 
text and provided some guidance for the applicant. On February 11, the applicant provided a final 
version of the proposed text, with little changed except the for the dedication information. A summary 
of the proposed text changes is attached.  
 
PLAQUE DESIGN: The plaque text has been updated to better highlight Ellen Sargent’s role in the 
eventual passage of the 19th Amendment to the US Constitution.  The plaque will be similar in design 
style to the one mounted on 309 Broad Street (Golden Era), but will feature text honoring Sargent: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Plaque proposal SR 
PC 2-20-20 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

Plaque at 309 Broad St. Proposed Plaque Text 

 

 
RECOMMEDATION ACTION: Make a motion to approve placement of the plaque as presented, and 
as may be modified or conditioned by the Planning Commission. 







11/21/19 Proposal 12/19/19 Proposal 

1/16/20 Proposal 
(Meeting canceled. Reached out to 

Chair Andrews for comment on this text) 

2/20/20 Proposal 



1

Amy Wolfson

From: Josie Laine <josielainek@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, February 7, 2020 2:40 PM
To: Amy Wolfson
Subject: Re: Sargent Plaque

My feelings on it haven't changed (nor has the text on the plaque). I went by and looked at his grave marker and 

she is not even mentioned on that-her burial site is unknown. I feel pretty strongly that she should have her own 

plaque-as her husband does. She continued to fight for women's rights long after her husband died and 

thousands of people attended her funeral service in San Francisco. The text that Aaron Sargent proposed was 

what was used to eventually craft the 19th amendment, and it was the first time voting rights for women had 

been formally proposed by a member of congress. It was debated for more than 40 years (!) before it was 

ratified. 

If for whatever reason, they think that it's imperative that they include Aaron I'd be ok with something like this: 

Her campaign for national women’s suffrage led to the introduction in 1878 of what would become 19th 

amendment to the U.S.Constitution by U.S. Senator A. A. Sargent. 

From: Josie Laine <josielainek@gmail.com>  
Sent: Friday, January 24, 2020 7:41 AM 
To: Amy Wolfson <Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov> 
Subject: Re: Sargent Plaque 

I'm super bummed to miss next months meeting. I'm going to be out of town this weekend for a memorial. I'll 
take a look at the place and get back to you with some feedback by next week. 

I've had several people ask about the new Chevron lights on their price kiosk. Is there a way that we can 
address that? 

On Thu, Jan 23, 2020, 3:26 PM Amy Wolfson <Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov> wrote: 

Hi Josie, 

I am reaching out to you as Chair, but also as the commissioner who appeared to have the strongest feelings 
about the text of the plaque honoring Ellen Sargent at Calanan Park.  

It is not looking like we’ll have a quorum of commissioners available for a Special Meeting so all of January’s 
agenda items will have to wait until the February meeting, including the plaque. I know you aren’t going to be 
at that meeting, but I do think the other commissioners value your opinion, particularly on this issue. Can you 
give me your opinion about the plaque as revised (see attachment)? Evidently, the plaque applicants need to get 
something in to the plaque designer soon in order to get in the que to make their summer deadline.  I think 
they’d just like to have a sense about whether this version has a chance of getting through. I’d like to be able to 
share your thoughts with the applicant and the other commissioners at the meeting if that’s okay with you.  

Amy Wolfson 





                               City of Nevada City 

 
City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

 

 
 
TO:    Planning Commission 
FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
HEARING DATE:  February 20, 2020 
APPLICANT:  National Exchange Hotel ownership group, represented by Anne L’Esperance 

 
RE: Application for a Sign Variance from Development Performance Standards and Historic 

District Signage Standards at the National Hotel, located at 211 Broad Street 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Applications (Variance, Sign Application) 
2. Sign Elevations/Details 
3. National Hotel Signage 
4. Similar Historic Signage 
5. Comments received from the Nevada County Historical Society at the October 17, 2019 meeting 

 
ACTIONS REQUESTED 

1. Approve a Variance Request to allow a sign that does not conform to Development Performance  and 
Historic District standards  

 
SITE DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

Lot Size: 0.49 acres Lot Coverage: 100% 
Zoning: GB-HD-SC  Building Height: 40-feet 

Setbacks: None Historical District: Within  
    

BACKGROUND: The National Hotel at 211 Broad Street is depicted on the 1898 Sanborn Map, showing a 
brick building. It is also considered a contributing building to the Nevada City Historical District, provided in 
the National Register of Historic Places. At the July 18, 2019 meeting the Planning Commission considered 
an Architectural Review application for an exterior renovation. At that meeting, the Commission approved 
some aspects of their application and provided direction on other aspects. Among their directional items was 
a suggestion that the applicant consider a Variance for a painted sign that was included in their architectural 
rendering, noting the concerns. A sign Variance was placed on the  October 17, 2019 agenda, but  at the 
applicant’s request, the Planning Commission voted to continue the matter to a future meeting. The 
Commission still opened the matter up for public comment and those comments may be heard on the video 
record at this link: https://www.nevadacityca.gov/agendaview.aspx?aid=11528&categoryid=9948#video. 
The current proposal has been revised since that initial proposal in response to public comment.  

SIGN VARIANCE PROPOSAL: The applicant is in process of renovating the historic National Exchange 
Hotel. They are proposing to paint a sign on the east side of the building. The proposed sign is proposed to 
be approximately 100 square feet and oriented vertically along the front of the building’s east side.  The 
Variance application is a request to deviate from two sections of the Zoning Ordinance:  
 
1)17.80.180 which states that “no exterior surface of any building or structure in any zone shall be painted in 
any color or with graphic design whereby such color or super-graphic shall constitute a message, code, or 
signal. Legal signs are excepted here from.”  
 
2) Section 17.68.080 (E) which states that “no single sign shall exceed 24 square feet in area” within the 
historic district.  
 

https://www.nevadacityca.gov/agendaview.aspx?aid=11528&categoryid=9948#video


City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

The applicant has provided an early illustration of the National Hotel that appears to show a painted sign in a 
similar location as the proposed sign, though the design, dimensions, and orientation are different from the 
historic depiction.  
 
PROPOSED SIGNAGE: 

 
Proposed hand-painted sign (east side) 

 
Existing Hotel Signage: 

  
Existing Sign overhanging Broad Street Cottage south of main hotel, west side 

 
 
 
 
 



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

Historic Hotel Signage: 

 

 

 
 
 
Remnants of  
an old sign  
covered by  
paint 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hotel  
Advertisement  

circa 1875 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1972-During 
Street Repaving 
(painted sign on 
building in 
background) 

 
  

REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS: 
Variance: Pursuant to Section 17.88.030 of the City Municipal Code A Variance request can only be 
approved when the Commission can make a finding that there are “special circumstances applicable to the 
property, including size, shape, topography, location, or surroundings, [that] the strict application of [site 
development standards] deprives the property of privileges enjoyed by other properties in the vicinity and 
under identical classification.” A finding must also be made that a Variance does not constitute a special 
privilege inconsistent with the limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and zone and a project may be 
conditioned as necessary to make that finding. Staff has provided findings that the commission may use to 
support the signage as part of the recommended motions below.  
 
The applicant is requesting that the Planning Commission find that the historic nature of the building, as well 
as the use as a hotel be considered special circumstances of that may be used to support a Variance.  The 
plaque on the hotel indicates it to be “one the oldest continuous running hotels west of the Rockies,” and is 
certainly the oldest continuous running hotel within the City. By a large margin, it is also the largest capacity 
hotel in the Historic District. There are few buildings as prominent as the National Hotel within the Historic 
District. The Stonehouse, Alpha Building and the Courthouse have similar stature in terms of size and iconic 
architecture. It is also one of few buildings that carries an individual designation on the Historic Register of 
Historic Places as National Register no. 73000416 and also registered as California Landmark no. 899, along 
with its contributing status to the Historic District, designated as Register no. 85002520.  In order for the 
Planning Commission to support the project, they will have to make a finding that the historic nature of the 
hotel and it’s use as the largest hotel in the Historic District, are special circumstances that warrant a 
Variance to the City’s sign Ordinance, and because of those special circumstances strict adherence to the 
Ordinance deprives the property of privileges enjoyed by other properties.   
 



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

The Commission must also find that the allowance of the sign does not constitute a special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitations upon other properties within the General Business and Historic District. 
Other properties would not be allowed to have such signage so the commission would have to specifically 
find that some quality of the building itself, such as its size or architecture, deprive the business a means to 
provide meaningful signage that is not diminished by the building’s stature, particularly with the 
overhanging balconies along the building face. The use of the building as a hotel, which requires clear and 
easy visibility for registered guests that may be unfamiliar with the City to be able to readily find their hotel 
accommodation when they enter downtown.  
 
Historic District Signage: 17.68.080- Signs—Requirements and Restrictions  
No sign shall be placed, erected, altered or relocated on any property within the historical district unless such 
sign is, as to its exterior appearance, compatible with the Mother Lode type of architecture, and unless it 
complies with all of the following requirements: 
 

• No sign shall be allowed except a sign which identifies or advertises the business conducted on 
the premises. 

• Each sign shall be affixed to a building, except that where the building is set back from the street 
to such extent that a sign affixed to the building would not be within reasonable view from the 
street, then a sign need not be so affixed, but may be located in some other manner as the 
planning commission shall approve. 

• No single sign shall exceed twenty-four square feet in area (Variance Request) 
• The aggregate area of all signs of any one business entity shall not exceed twenty-four square 

feet; provided, however, that a single business entity having public customer entrances on two or 
more sides of a building may treat each such side as a separate entity. 

 
Buildings and Structures used as Signs: 17.80.180 states that “no exterior surface of any building or 
structure in any zone shall be painted in any color or with graphic design whereby such color or super-
graphic shall constitute a message, code, or signal. Legal signs are excepted here from.” 
 
Sign Design Guidelines: The Planning Commission has previously reviewed signage proposals whereby 
signage was proposed on a side without a public entrance, as is the case with the proposed sign.  On an 
appeal of a sign similarly proposed, the City Council had made a finding that the sign was inconsistent with 
the Sign Design Guidelines, which reads as follows:  
 

“The City Council, in 1987, clarified the zoning ordinance as to signage relative to building 
entrances and they unanimously voted “that each public entrance on each street may have 24 
square feet of signage. Multiple businesses would share the 24 square feet and the design 
must be located on the side of the business entrance."  

 
However, the interpretation made by Council in 1987 was placed only in the “Design Guidelines” and not 
actually adopted by an Ordinance. This leaves it somewhat up to interpretation for each subsequent Council  
and Planning Commission bodies as the design guidelines are “ advisory only.” 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW: The proposed project is for a Variance to the City’s Development 
Performance  and Historic District sign standards.  Staff recommends that the Planning Commission find the 
project is exempt from environmental review pursuant to §15301 of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA) guidelines. The CEQA Guidelines for Categorical Exemption §15301, which “consists of minor 
alterations of existing public or private facilities…involving no or negligible expansion of use.   
 
 
 



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

RECOMMENDED CONIDTIONS OF APPROVAL:  

1. Nevada City contracts with the Nevada County Building Department for issuance of permits.  The 
County will not issue permits unless the plans have been stamped and approved by Nevada City.  
Therefore, prior to issuance of a building permit, submit three sets of plans to Nevada City Planning 
Department, along with a filing fee of $100 (made payable to the City of Nevada City).  The plans 
will be reviewed by the City Planner and City Engineer for consistency with the approval and will 
require their signatures.   

2. All improvements shall substantially comply with the exhibits presented to the Planning 
Commission.  

3. All future structures/features shall conform to site development standards unless another Variance is 
approved by the Planning Commission. 

4. A Planning Commission member may be appointed as a Liaison to assist the applicant with any 
minor modifications to the permit, if needed. 

5. No neon, no banners, and no A-frame signage are permitted. 

6. All improvements shall substantially comply with the exhibits presented to the Planning 
Commission.  

7. A Planning Commission member may be appointed as a Liaison to assist the applicant with any 
minor modifications to the permit, if needed. 

8. The decision of the planning commission may be appealed to the city council not later than fifteen 
(15) days after this final action or decision. Any work during this period is at the applicant’s own 
risk. 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS:  

I. Make a Motion to find the project is exempt from environmental review pursuant to §15301 of the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guidelines making the following finding: 

1. That proposed sign constitutes a minor alteration of existing private building and does not 
provide for an expansion of use.   

II. Make a Motion to approve a Variance request making the following findings pursuant to Section 
17.88.030 of the City Municipal Code: 

1. That there are special circumstances applicable to the property, including the historic nature 
of the hotel building whereby the proposed sign contributes to its historic significance along 
with the use of the building as the largest hotel within the Historic District which contributes 
to the City’s economic vitality; and 

2. That the Variance to the sign standards does not constitute a special privilege inconsistent 
with the limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in which such property is 
situated because the size and architectural style deprive the business a means to provide 
meaningful signage that is not diminished by the building’s stature, particularly with the 
overhanging balconies along the building face, whereas other commercial buildings without 
such large imposing balconies are  able to provide easily visible signage; and 

3. The hotel is often a visitor’s first point of contact and use as such requires clear and easy 
visibility for registered guests that may be unfamiliar with the City to readily find their hotel 
accommodation when they enter downtown. 

III. Make a motion to approve the historic district sign as conditioned, making finding 1 below: 

1. The historic district sign is, as to its exterior appearance, compatible with the Mother Lode 
type of architecture  



The National Hotel
211 Broad Street, Nevada City, CA 95949

THE NATIONAL HOTEL, 211 BROAD ST. NEVADA CITY, CA 95949

TO HAVE A HANDED PAINTED SIGN, WITH HISTORICAL
 REFERENCE, PUT ON THE EAST SIDE OF THE BUILDING

We do not believe that the hand-painted sign would interfere, harm or have any negative effect  on any other busi-
ness in downtown Nevada City, on the contrary, we believe that it will only benefit and highlight the Historic Dis-
trict.  Due to the hotel’s unique size and location, the signage on the East side of the building would he a huge 
benefactor to tourism by being spotted from the highway & its likelihood to be photographed and shared on the 
likes of social media.  The history of hand painted-signs on historical buildings, not only in Nevada City, but during 
the time of the National’s early life, can be seen in books and photographs found in our own library and historical 
museum.  Returning such a feature to the National & Nevada City could add a level of authenticity in the preserva-
tion of the area.  We believe that a hand-painted sign not only celebrates the National Hotel’s unique character, it 
would enrich the historical life and culture of the historical downtown district of Nevada City.

* A separate proposal for allowed signage on the north and south elevations 
will be presented at the March Planning Commission meeting

The National Hotel is a historic building with great signifiance to the community, it is located in the Historical Dis-
trict and we know that the city has a strong commitment to its preservation.
This Hotel is one of a kind and possibly has one of the highest levels of historical significance in the area. Sitting 
close to the highway, it poses as a beacon to Nevada City and it’s historical downtown district.



"Our design team created the National Exchange Hotel exterior signage
to be both historically sympathetic to the hotel's Gold Rush origins and 

in keeping with the neighbouring businesses."



BROAD STREET

HW
Y 2
0

VISIBILITY OF EAST WALL

SIGNAGE OF THE NATIONAL

HW
Y 4
9

VIEW FROM BROAD STREET

ALPHA HARDWARE SIGN

REMNATS ON REAR WALL



HISTORICAL USE OF HAND PAINTED SIGNS IN NEVADA COUNTY



Omaha, NE

Ghost Signs : Hand-Painted Signs in History & Their Remains

In the early 1900’s sign-painting was a fairly common job, and many sign-
painters travelled for work. While most cities had their own sign shops, 
many smaller towns and rural areas depended on traveling artisans to do 
their sign-painting
We can see the chipped and faded remains of many of these signs today, 
often called “ghost signs”, apparitions from a time before computers and 
vinyl letters. Because they had to be made on the spot, every sign was pro-
duced with a brush attached to a hand.  
Many towns and cities are bringing the old signs back to life by documenta-
tion, preservation and restoration. And in recent years, sign-painting has ex-
perienced something of a revival on the fronts and walls of new businesses. 
There are now sign shops and collectives celebrating the craft.
There are remains of this craft not only in our community, county and state, 
but world-wide.  These signs tell the forgotten pasts of cities and the show 
the craft of the pioneers that formed the places that we love.  
Nevada City is a place of preservation and in a few places we can see the re-
menants of a lost artform.  This seems to be a prime opportunity to demon-
strate the community’s commiment to it’s historic ties and the support of it’s 
local artists. 

Truckee, CA Pine St. Nevada City The Owl, Pine St. Nevada City Virgina City, NV





City of Nevada City 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

TO:    Planning Commission 
FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
MEETING DATE:  February 20, 2020 
RE: Longitude Management LLC, Cannabis Distribution Business 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Redacted Application
2. Recommended Conditions of Approval
3. Zoning Verification Letter
4. Clarification Responses
5. SCI Checklist and Applicant Responses
6. Sate Fact Sheet – Distribution License

APPLICATION REVIEW: The subject application was timely submitted prior to the September 30, 
2019 deadline. A redacted version of the application is attached to the staff report.  Notification and an 
invitation to review and comment was sent to the Fire Chief, the Police Chief, the City Attorney, the 
City Engineer, the City Manager, the Environmental Health Department, the Building Department, 
and to the Planning Commissioners. SCI Consulting Group, the consulting firm contracted with the 
City to review cannabis applications, has provided a checklist review for compliance with local and 
State requirements, for which the applicant provided responses, attached. The applicant was asked to 
respond to staff requests for clarification, which are also attached to the staff report. Applicable agency 
comments have been incorporated into the conditions of approval. The application was originally 
scheduled to be heard at the December 19, 2019 meeting, but the applicant discovered some erroneous 
information was accidently inserted into their electronic version of the application, which has now 
been removed.  

PROJECT PROPOSAL: Longitude Management, LLC is managed by Daniel Batchelor and 
Jonathan Hogander.   This operation involves full distribution of cannabis product from any licensed 
business to another licensed business.   They plan on also operating a “pre-roll machine” and “bio-
shredder.” Rolling pre-rolls involves rolling loose leaf  or kief  into paper. It appears that the State 
allows this type of activity to be conducted as part of a State Distribution license (see attached Fact 
Sheet). The City has no such exception to this type of activity, which otherwise aligns as “processing” 
under the cultivation business category. Therefore, staff is requesting that the Commission make a 
finding that the pre-roll and bio shredder services do not constitute a processing activity permitted only 
under the Cultivation category. The distribution activities will operate seven days a week from 8AM to 
8PM.   

The building manager has allocated six parking spaces to Longitude Management (22% of the 31 
parking spots for the building).  The applicant anticipates a maximum of 4 employees on site daily and 
one vendor at a time, utilizing five (5) spots at peak times. Future plans may include two dedicated 
distribution vehicles that will also be parked in this area.  Staff has only minor concerns about the 
ability of the business to maintain off-street parking once the dedicated distribution vehicles are kept 
on-site. Staff is recommending in Condition of Approval A.7 that justification of parking 



Cannabis Businesses – Longitude 
PC February 20, 2020 
Page 2 of 2 
 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

accommodation be submitted to the Planning Department with all annual renewals in order to evaluate 
the parking needs of the business after operation is underway and to evaluate parking needs as the 
business intensifies.  
 
A Live Scan background check was previously conducted on Batchelor and Hogander in relation to 
their status with Elevation 2477, the City’s cannabis dispensary located in the same building.   No 
disqualifying information has been reported on the two principals pursuant to Section 9.22.090 (M) of 
the City Municipal Code. The facility will be video surveilled in accordance with their application and 
Section 9.22.090 of the City Municipal Code. The Police Chief or designee will conduct an inspection 
of the facility prior to the city’s issuance of a cannabis business permit  
 
LOCATION: The local ordinance allows cannabis manufacturing, distribution, testing laboratory, and 
cultivation businesses only in the Light Industrial (LI) zoning district subject to obtaining a permit 
pursuant to Chapter 9.22 of the City Municipal Code.  The distribution business is proposed at 569 
Searls Avenue, suite B, totaling 1,850 square feet. The property currently supports existing and 
pending cannabis business operations.   
 
RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

1) Make a Motion to find the project exempt pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15301 (existing 
facilities) because the building is already existing and the proposed cannabis distribution business 
use is consistent with the principal permitted uses allowed in the Light Industrial Zoning District 
pursuant to Section 17.48.020, and there is no expansion of use  beyond what is already considered 
a  permitted use.   

2) Make a Motion to approve the application as presented to authorize a cannabis business permit to 
Longitude Management, LLC for a distribution operation at 569 Searls Avenue, suite B subject to 
the recommended Conditions of Approval, attached, as may be  modified by the planning 
commission, making findings “a” through “c”: 

a) As presented and conditioned, there is no reasonable argument that approval of the application 
is likely to be detrimental to the city, taking into account any health, safety, and welfare 
impacts on the community.    

b) Finding that the application is consistent with Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal 
Code.   

c) That the proposed pre-roll and bio shredder services do not constitute a processing activity 
permitted only under the “cultivation” category and are appropriate for offering as services 
under the “distribution” business category. 

OR 

Make a Motion to reject the application for a cannabis business permit to Longitude Management, 
LLC finding that the application is not consistent with Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal 
Code.   

OR 

Make a Motion to continue the decision for authorization of a cannabis business permit to 
Longitude Management LLC with direction to the applicant regarding any inadequacies of their 
application that must be addressed.   



Prepared for Consideration by: 
City of Nevada City | Nevada City, CA 

Private & Confidential, September 2019 

On Behalf of: 
Longitude Management LLC 

Cannabis Business Application 
Address: 569 Searls Avenue, Suite B, Nevada City, CA 95959 

Phone:  

LML-D-1



City of Nevada City 
Planning Department  

317 Broad Street, Nevada City CA 95959 

Phone: 530-265-2496 
Email: Amy.Wolfson@NevadaCityCA.gov 

CANNABIS BUSINESS PERMIT APPLICATION FORM 
(dispensary applicants, use other specific application form)

Phone#: _  E-mail: ___________ 
24-Hour  Contact Information: _____________ 

For details about the information required as part of the application process, please see the Implementation Procedures 
to Operate a Cannabis Business in Nevada City, Ordinance No. 2017-06 and additional requirements in order to 
complete the application process. All these documents can be found on the Nevada City webpage: www.NevadaCityCA.gov 

Please submit a minimum of two (2) bound hard copies and 
one (1) digital copy (usb drive, CD or email) of all application 
material. 

Fee:$_________

Date Paid:_______

Staff Use 

Check business type being proposed. If multiple types are proposed, each type 
will need to be distinctly  addressed in the supplemental documentation and on 
this form. A separate form may be submitted if it will help provide clarity.

____ Manufacturing

____ Cultivation

_X__ Distribution

_N/A  Dispensary (use separate 

form)____ Testing Laboratory

* See attached definitions of the above categories to ensure  appropriate selection

Longitude Management

Daniel Batchelor

Chief  Executive Officer

Daniel@latitudemanagement.com

LML-D-2

mailto:Amy.Wolfson@NevadaCityCA.gov
http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


Section A:   Principal Background Information (Must be signed by all Principals) 
(Add more pages as necessary to accommodate signatures of all Cannabis Business Principals.) 

Under penalty of perjury, I acknowledge that I have personal knowledge of the information stated in this 
application and that the information contained herein is true. I also understand that the information provided 
in this application, except the Safety and Security Plan in Section C and certain confidential information such 
as driver's license and social security number, w h i c h   c a n  be redacted, may be public information and subject to 
disclosure under the California Public Records Act. 

Principal Name:_______________ 

Principal Title:_______________ 

Principal Home or Cell Phone: 

Principal Home Address: 

Principal Signature: Date: _ 

Attachments: 
If business will operate as a collective/cooperative provide proof of status as a qualified patient 

or primary caregiver  (State card or doctor  recommendation) 
Receipt from Live Scan check 
Copy of Social Security Card 
Copy of Driver's License, OMV issued ID Card or Passport (must be a color copy)
Proof of address (DMV-issued  ID/driver's license, and/or  recent utility bill under 
Principal's name)     

Staff use only:   Pass background check_____ 

**************************************************************************************************************** 
Principal Name:_______________ 

Principal Title:_______________ 

Principal Home or Cell Phone: 

Principal Home Address: 

Principal Signature: Date: _ 

Attachments: 
If business will operate as a collective/cooperative provide proof of status as a qualified patient 

or primary caregiver  (State card or doctor recommendation) 
Receipt from Live Scan check 
Copy of Social Security  Card 
Copy of Driver's License, OMV issued ID Card or Passport 
Proof of address (DMV-issued  ID/driver's license, and/or  recent utility bill under  
Principal's name)   

Staff use only:   Pass background  check_____

Daniel Batchelor

Chief Executive Officer

9/30/19

Jonathan Hogander

Chief Financial Officer

9/30/19

LML-D-3



Principal/Partner History: 
1. List whether, the applicant(s) has other licenses and/or permits issued to and/or revoked from the

applicant, in the three years prior to the year of the permit application, such other licenses and or
permits relating to similar business activities as in the permit application. If yes, please list the
type, current status, issuing/denying for each license/permit. (Please attach a separate document
explanation if necessary)

2. List any and all partners who have been found guilty of a violent felony, a felony or misdemeanor
involving fraud, deceit, embezzlement, or moral turpitude, or the illegal use, possession,
transportation, distribution or similar activities related to controlled substances, as defined in the
Federal Controlled Substance Act, with the exception of cannabis related offenses for which the
conviction occurred after the passage of the Compassionate Use Act of 1996. (Please attach a
separate document explanation if necessary)

Section  B:  Business Organization Status 

1. Describe the Cannabis Business organizational status:

Attach proof of status, such as articles of incorporation, by-laws, partnership agreements, and 
other documentation as may be appropriate or required by the City. 

Section C:  Cannabis  Business Description and Location 

1. Statement of Purpose of Cannabis Business (a separate sheet may be attached, labeled
Section C.1):

Currently both principals are also principals for the licensed and operating Nevada City dispensary, Elevation 2477'.  

Please see Section 3 'Management Team Experience and Expertise' of the Business Plan for additional information

Not Applicable

Longitude Management is set up as an Limited Liability Corporation

Longitude Management proposes to be a distribution facility focusing on assisting Nevada County cultivators  

and manufacturers reach the consumer market.  Located in the 569 Searls Ave complex alongside several other

permitted cannabis businesses, we will focus on distribution throughout the complex.   

LML-D-4



2. Proposed Location of Business: ______________

3. Name and address of property owner:

4. Name and address of school(s) and/or public park(s) closest to Proposed Location:_______________

5. Have you received a Zoning Verification Letter? (Please check the appropriate response)
Yes (If yes, include documentation with this section of the application) No

6. Description of neighborhood around the proposed location surrounding uses, nearby sensitive
uses (such as schools, churches, parks, daycares, or residents), transit access to site, etc. A
separate sheet may be attached and labeled Section C.6.

7. Site plan must be dimensioned and show the entire parcel including parking and additional
structures [recommended scale of 1”= 20’]. In addition, please attach elevations and photos of
proposed location. If  any exterior alterations are proposed for the existing building, also attach a
proposed site plan that  is accurate, dimensioned and to-scale for each potential location and
include elevation details. The scale should accommodate an accurate site plan on a sheet of
paper no larger than 11X 17.

8. Floor Plans shall be attached and shall be accurate, dimensioned and to-scale [recommended
scale of 1/4”= 1’] for each potential location. If any interior alterations are proposed for the
existing building, also attach proposed floor plans. The scale should accommodate an accurate
floor plan on a sheet of paper no larger than 11X 17.

9. Signage Plan.

10. Vicinity Map.

11. Photos of the site and building(s).

569 Searls Ave, Suite B, Nevada City, CA 95959

NC Acquisitions 569

1253 University Ave, Suite 1002

San Diego, CA 92103

Deer Creek Elementary ~ 1234' away from proposed location ~ 805 Lindley Ave, Nevada City 95959

Pioneer Park ~ 3423' away from proposed location ~ 104 New Mohawk Rd, Nevada City 95959

X
Amy Wolfson to submit with packet.  Elevation 2477'  (same building) currently submitted.  Please see attached email

Please see 'Proposed Location' section of application for additional information

APN: 005-280-018-00

Suite B of 569 Searls Ave is already located in the Searls Avenue Cannabis Campus.  All businesses located in the 

building are permitted Cannabis businesses.  There are no  sensitive uses within 1,000 ft of the premise.  The parcel is 

zoned Light Industrial - Scenic Corridor and all surrounding businesses are commercial.

LML-D-5



Section  D:  Required supplemental  information 
This information is required for this application to be considered complete. Attach the following reports to 
the application. 

Business and Parking Plan 

Neighborhood Compatibility Plan 

Safety and Security Plan 

Environmental Benefits (Water/Energy Efficiency Measures) 

Community Benefits 

Labor and Employment 

Local Enterprise 

Qualifications of Principals 

LML-D-6



 STAFF USE ONLY:

Date of initial application: 

File Number assigned to application: 

__________ 

Date fee received 

Date application reviewed for completeness:

__________ 

Complete IIncomplete

Date Proof of ownership was verified or a signed and 
notarized statement from the property owner was received  

 __________ 

Date application reviewed by Planning Commission:____ 

 Approved  Denied 

LML-D-7



Pertinent Cannabis Definitions pursuant to the Nevada City Municipal Code 

"Cultivation" means any activity, whether occurring indoors or outdoors, involving the propagation, 
planting, growing, harvesting, drying, curing, grading, and/or trimming of cannabis plants or any part 
thereof for any purpose, including medical marijuana. 

"Dispensary" means a cannabis business facility where cannabis, cannabis products, or devices for the 
use of cannabis or cannabis products are offered, either individually or in any combination, for retail
sale, including an establishment (whether fixed or mobile) that delivers, pursuant to express 
authorization,  cannabis and  cannabis products as part of a retail sale. 

“Distribution” means the procurement, sale, and transport, of cannabis or  cannabis products between 
entities licensed pursuant to the MCRSA and any subsequent State of California legislation regarding 
the same. 

"Manufacturer" means a person that conducts the production, preparation, propagation, or 
compounding of manufactured cannabis, as defined in this section, or  cannabis products either directly 
or indirectly or by extraction methods, or independently by means of chemical synthesis at a fixed 
location that packages or repackages cannabis or cannabis products or labels or relabels its container. 

"Testing laboratory" means a facility, entity, or site that offers or performs tests of  cannabis or  
cannabis products and that is both of the following: 

(1) Accredited by an accrediting body that is independent from all other persons involved in the
cannabis industry in the state.

(2) Registered with the State Department of Public Health.

LML-D-8



 

 

 

ProPosed Location 
Longitude distribution 

LML-D-9



Nevada County GIS

Nevada County, CA

September 18, 2019
0 0.075 0.150.0375 mi

0 0.1 0.20.05 km

1:4,514

©2018
Nevada County GIS

LML-D-10



LML-D-11



LML-D-12



LML-D-13



                                

             City of Nevada City 

 
City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

 

 
 
 
August 23, 2017 
 
Daniele Bachelor 

 
 

 
 
Subject:  Nevada City Medical Cannabis Dispensary Business Zoning Verification Letter; 569 

Searls Avenue 
 

Dear applicant: 
 
This letter shall serve as verification that property located at 569 Searls Avenue, Nevada City, CA 
meets local setback and locational requirements in terms of zoning and proximity limits to operate a 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary (MCD) business. The subject property, located at    569 Searls Avenue          
is located within the “Light Industrial-Scenic Corridor” (LI-SC) zoning district and is located at least 
600 feet from any known school site or public park site as determined using the City’s GIS measuring 
tool. While this proximity determination will suffice for local verification purposes, this Zoning 
Verification letter does not constitute verification of compliance with State locational requirements.  
 

 
 

600-foot buffer area Subject property boundary 

LML-D-14



Page 2 of 2 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

Please note that the issuance of a “Zoning Verification Letter” does not constitute written evidence of 
any kind of permission being given by the City of Nevada City, and it does not convey any right to 
operate a MCD in the City.  Final decisions on the issuance of permits will be made by the City Council 
following the approved application procedure process.   

Sincerely, 

Amy Wolfson 
City Planner 
(530) 265-2496 x130

LML-D-15



LML-D-16



LML-D-17



LML-D-18



 

 

 

LML-D-19



Longitude Management LLC 
Distribution Facility 
Proposed Location 

 
 
 

Longitude Management LLC is located at 569 Searls Avenue, Suite B, 
Nevada City, CA 95959. The facility occupies 1,850 square feet of the 
8,250-square-foot building on a Light Industrial - Scenic Corridor (LI-SC) 
zoned parcel. 
 
APN: 005-280-018-00 
 
Longitude Management LLC holds a lease on the facility for 5 years with 
the option to renew. As a distribution company, Longitude Management is 
well positioned in the Searls Avenue Cannabis Campus to achieve its 
mission of collaborating with other local cannabis businesses to bring local 
products to the shelves of Elevation 2477’ and other retailers in the region 
who share our passion for small, craft cannabis farmers. 
 
Longitude Management LLC was formed by the same team who brought 
Elevation 2477’ to Nevada County with the goal of providing local farmers 
an opportunity to move their products directly to our shelves through 
exceptional branding and tested logistics. The goal of our team has always 
been to support the local cannabis industry and while we see many product 
makers being established in Nevada City, local farmers have been left with 
few distribution channels to bring their products to market. As with any of 
our other businesses, our employees will be exceptionally trained and 
qualified to handle the wide range of safety and security protocol for this 
developing industry.  
 
Longitude Management’s facility is well positioned for the proposed and it 
matches the city’s idea of a secure and well-managed cannabis business 
center. The entire campus is located over a 1,000 feet from any sensitive 
use outlined by Nevada City. Our goal is to convert a portion of the existing 
building into a facility that will be compliant with local and state regulations 
and respect the integrity, cultural and historical values of our town.  
The building will be shared with like minded businesses including several 
proposed cannabis businesses and the existing dispensary, Elevation 

LML-D-20



2477’, the first permitted cannabis business in Nevada County that has 
already proven to be a good neighbor to the 7 Hills Business District and a 
responsible role model for the local regulated cannabis industry. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

LML-D-21



LML-D-22



LML-D-23



 

 

 

Business and parking plan 
longitude distriBution 

LML-D-24



 
 

 

 

Longitude Management LLC 

Business and Parking Plan  

 

 

 

569 Searls Ave, Suite B 
Nevada City, CA 95959 

A Cannabis Distribution Facility 

  

LML-D-25



 

Table Of Contents 

 

1. Executive Summary 
2. Objectives 

a. Overview 
b. Mission Statement 
c. Vision Statement 
d. Philosophy 
e. Core Values 
f. Our Brand 

3. Management Team Experience and Expertise 
a. Corporate Officers and Board of Directors 
b. Management Team 
c. Advisors 
d. Partnerships and Associates 

4. Day to Day Operations 
a. Hours of Operation 
b. Grounds Management 
c. Security 
d. Odor Mitigation 
e. Distribution Operations 
f. Supplier Relationships 
g. Product Handling 
h. Lab Testing and Quality 
i. Storage and Inventory 
j. Packaging and Labeling 
k. Product Complaints 
l. Weights and Measures 
m. Waste Management 
n. Diversion Prevention  
o. Good Neighbor Policy 

5. Product List 
6. Local and State Law Compliance 

a. Compliance with Ordinance 2018-10 
b. Compliance with California State Laws 
c. Tax Compliance 
d. Tax Remittance 

LML-D-26



 

7. Track and Trace System 
a. Functionality of Seed to Sale software 
b. Responsible Employee 
c. Initial Inventory 
d. Monthly Inventory Protocol 
e. Random Physical Inventory Checks 
f. Annual Inventory 
g. Cannabis Waste Tracking and Notices 
h. Data Storage 

8. Timeline 
a. Timeline of Proposed Construction 
b. ADA Compliance 

9. Target Market Analysis 
a. Area of Influence 
b. Economics and need in the Market Place 
c. Market trends and Development 
d. Branch Differentiation and Value Proposition: Our Competitive Advantage 

10. Marketing Plan 
11. Financial Projections 
12. Parking Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LML-D-27



 

1. Executive Summary 

Longitude Management LLC  is a cannabis distribution company seeking to 
operate under California State and local Nevada City laws as a limited liability 
company. We are seeking to obtain a cannabis distribution license under Nevada 
City ordinance number 2018-10 adopted by city council on December 12th, 2018 
and section 26070.5 of the California Senate Bill number 94, most commonly 
known as the Medical and Adult Use Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act 
(“MAUCRSA”). A licensed distributor shall distribute only cannabis goods, 
cannabis accessories, and licensees’ branded merchandise or promotional 
materials. Subsequent to the issuance of our municipal license Longitude 
Management LLC intends to specifically apply for and be granted a Type 11: 
Distributor license under “MAUCRSA” which currently has an open application 
process. 

 
Entity Structure: Limited Liability Company 
State Organized: California 
State Filing Number: Currently Pending, Submission ID WQV-BKJR  
Entity Type: Limited Liability Company 
Federal Tax ID Number (EIN): Redacted for security reasons, provided upon request 
State License Type (seeking): Type 11: Distributor governed by the Bureau of Cannabis Control. 
Corporate Officers/Board of Directors:  

- Daniel Batchelor, Chief Executive Officer, Grass Valley, CA 
- Jonathan Hogander, Chief Financial Officer, Grass Valley, CA 

 
2.   Objectives 
 

a. Overview: 
 

Longitude Management’s main objective is to source local and fully-licensed cannabis products, 
including flower and locally-made products for distribution to affiliate retailers such as 
Elevation 2477’ and our network of trusted and licensed manufacturers and distribution 
companies in the region. 
 
Longitude Management aims to serve as the vehicle through which local permitted farmers in 
the region get their products to our local shelves, allowing the emerging local cannabis industry 
to flourish while infusing the local economy. As successful retailers, our principals have gained 
comprehensive knowledge about the market forces governing the burgeoning cannabis 

LML-D-28



industry and are well-positioned to work with regional local farmers to successfully get them to 
market. 
 
The main functions of Longitude Management include distribution of local flower to the local 
retailer, local manufacturers and eventually expanding into the Northern California region to 
establish Nevada County as an important producer of small, craft cannabis. 
 
As part of our distribution activities, Longitude Management will perform the following 
services: Transportation, inventory control, quality assurance through local testing laboratories, 
tax remittance, supply-chain management, order fulfillment, packaging, and labeling. 
 
Maintaining the vision of the principals’ retail business, Longitude Management was built as 
much with the idea of generating greater access for clients and adult consumers as it is about 
creating brand assistance and recognition for Nevada County cannabis products that embody 
the ethos of small-batch artisanship. Through thorough knowledge of local and state 
regulations, as well as a deep understanding of cannabis consumer behavior, we wish to enable 
local farmers who are seeking safe and legal means of distributing locally grown and 
manufactured cannabis to thrive while being responsible operators.   
 
It is our belief that cannabis distribution and manufacturing can provide safe and legal access to 
adults who are seeking cannabis for consumption, while keeping cannabis off the streets and 
out of the hands of youth by decreasing the need for illegal sales. We continue to be Nevada 
County locals  with the community’s best interest at heart.  

We know Nevada City patrons are savvy, and municipal stakeholders will only allow the finest 
of establishments to serve its community. As with the principals’ retail operations, employees 
will be exceptionally trained and qualified to handle the wide range of services we will be 
providing.   

We recognize the challenging and ever-evolving regulatory environment our organization will 
operate in and therefore have established a diverse team to fulfill the community's vision and 
properly manage this endeavor. 

   b. Mission Statement: 

Our commitment is to facilitate locally grown, first-class products to dispensaries around the 
state of California.  We will assure our clients clean, safe, and tested, locally grown cannabis 
from specialty purveyors. We will have a POS and Metrc track-and-trace system that will enable 
us to manage one-on-one relationships with our suppliers, manufacturers and retailers while 
keeping the most up-to-date records of our sales as well as our inventory. This will allow for 
complete transparency for Nevada City and State officials upon request. 

LML-D-29



Our mission remains creating avenues that empower the people to make choices about what 
brings them relief and wellness as well as create jobs and boost the local economy -- all while 
upholding the community values that make Nevada City a great place to call home.  
 
    c. Vision Statement: 

Our Principals and core team are a dedicated group that seeks to continue to establish a local 
ecosystem of independent cannabis businesses that support and encourage each other to 
thrive while destimagatizing cannabis as a cannabis and as a lifestyle choice. 

     d. Philosophy: 

Community strength is the basis to quality of life. By assisting our local cultivators and 
manufacturers to reach the statewide market we intend to enhance the economic vitality of the 
region.  

Through a well strategized marketing plan that includes appellation of origin designation and 
sophisticated branding, Longitude Management aims to connect suppliers and discerning 
consumers, opening a greater space for the statewide cannabis market to learn about the local 
artisanal passion that fuels our community, making the region as well as our local cannabis 
bounty stand out. 

    e. Core Values: 

● Knowledge and Integrity: We strive to be in alignment with our community’s highest 
standards of integrity, from the products we distribute to our commitment to 
community betterment. Our goal is to maintain a limitless outlook and never stop 
learning. Cannabis science education and industry knowledge is at the core of our 
mission. 

● Quality and Service: We shall provide the highest quality and safest cannabis products 
available in our region, along with the most knowledgeable team to help our clients 
make the best decisions for their consumers. Consistent with the regulatory framework 
outlined by the Bureau of Cannabis Control (BCC),  Longitude Management will only 
procure legal cannabis products from licensed  cannabis cultivators, manufactures and 
other distribution centers, ensuring the contents are safe for consumption and meet 
strict testing criteria established by the state.  

● Community Engagement: Our goal is to be a role model in the industry and community. 
We are already good citizens in the communities in which we live and work. We strive to 
work with local farmers, manufacturers and organizations that believe in building a 
better Nevada City. We will continue to locally sourced services and products related to 
the upkeep of the facility as well as inventory on our shelves.  

● Personal and Entrepreneurial Accountability: As business owners and members of the 
community, we believe our success is everyone’s success story. We will act in 

LML-D-30



compliance and know the state and local laws. We have a fiduciary responsibility to 
those that rely on our organization and a moral obligation to the farmers who are our 
neighbors. Longitude Management was founded with a spirit of collaboration among 
permitted cannabis business in the area to foment greater economic benefits for the 
local industry as well as the community at large. 

● Safety First: Be vigilant and prepared. We operate in a highly regulated environment 
and safety and security are paramount. We will continue to update and follow security 
and safety procedures throughout the continued operation of the distribution center 
and to work with local agencies to ensure our family of businesses remain responsible 
good corporate citizens. 

● Commitment to public health and safety. We worked with the highest standards of 
cannabis products and provide information for all products in our inventory --from 
cannabinoid content to certificate of analysis-- as required by state regulations. We will 
be working with local testing lab to ensure quality and will employ marketing and 
branding geared to a discerning medical and adult-use market, as well as child-resistant 
packaging and labeling standards designed to protect public health and safety. 

   f. Our Brand 

We chose the name Longitude Management LLC for several reasons: 

● In keeping with our commitment to highlighting the region and its bounty, Longitude 
Management, its sister company Elevation 2477’ and Latitude Management, its 
compliance consulting arm, collectively aim to put Nevada County on the map as an 
important producer of craft cannabis -- boosting local cannabis tax revenue and adding 
to the marketing of our region as a great place to visit.  

● The California coast is 840 miles long and only 250 miles wide.  It is the longest state in 
the nation and stretches along two degrees of Longitude and we would like our 
products to span the entire length of the state.   

● The Sierra Foothills also run parallel to the state and the Longitude Management brand 
was created to draw attention to appellations and the variety of cannabis products that 
come out of the different local regions.  We believe the stunning beauty of our region 
plays a part in our community's quality of life and we wanted to pay homage to the 
variance of attributes -- mountains, rivers, historic towns -- created by minor changes in 
a cultivator’s Longitude along the Sierra Foothills. 

 

3. Management Team Experience and Expertise  

Our team consists of professionals with vast organizational management and development 
skills, coupled with expert knowledge to best implement the goals and principles of Longitude 
Management LLC. Our team has been at the forefront of developing a responsible and 
compliant local cannabis industry and actively participate in advocating for policy that allows 

LML-D-31



the heritage cannabis farmers and product makers to enter the regulated marketplace. This 
time of hands-on expertise enables the organization to keep up with cutting-edge solutions and 
the most up-to-date operations and procedures. Our Directors will oversee the operations, 
manage cash flow, and monitor key indicators of performance on a daily basis.  

 

Corporate Officers and Board of Directors: 
 

● Daniel Batchelor, Chief Executive Officer, Grass Valley, CA : With a background in 
business development and consulting, and a successful track record as CEO of Elevation 
2477’, Daniel is positioned to expand into his own distribution facility. Daniel has been a 
local resident since 1991, when his family moved to the area from Santa Cruz. Since 
attending San Diego State University, Daniel has gained extensive knowledge of the  
cannabis industry in California, first by opening his own dispensary in the San Diego area 
in 2009, and then successfully winning the only dispensary license in Nevada City. Since 
opening the doors of Elevation 2477’ in August 2018, Daniel has been able to build 
important relationships with statewide product makers, farmers and distribution 
companies, gaining him the unique knowledge to successfully broker relationships 
between consumers and cannabis product providers that benefit both parties. He 
continues to be involved in the development of local cannabis policy as Executive Board 
member of the Nevada County Cannabis Alliance and actively participates in the local 
philanthropic community. His love for Nevada County led him to get involved with local 
organizations such as the Nevada City Chamber of Commerce. 
 

● Jonathan Hogander, Chief Financial Officer/Chief Operating Officer, Auburn, CA : 
Jonathan Hogander will be acting as CFO/COO for Longitude Management LLC as well as 
CFO for Elevation 2477. Jonathan has long been apart of the  cannabis community, as a 
client since 2002, and as an activist and advocate for  cannabis rights. Jonathan has 
resided in Nevada County since 2013, when he was in search of a school for his 
daughters that was in alignment with his idea of a balanced early childhood education. 
After finding the Live Oak Waldorf School in Meadow Vista he discovered Grass Valley 
and made it his home with his wife and three daughters. Jonathan has extensive  and 
recreational dispensary knowledge and experience. Currently his companies hold 10 
Oregon Liquor Control Commission (OLCC) Licensed Marijuana Retail Licenses; four (4) 
OLCC Licensed Marijuana Producer Licenses, and a Wholesale license. Additionally, 
Jonathan recently received the first Type 7 Volatile Manufacturer license in the City of 
Davis, California and is acting CEO/President for Blessed Extracts along with a Type 11 
Distribution license. As a current cannabis business operator, Jonathan has gained 
extensive knowledge of Franwell Metrc Cannabis Tracking System (CTS), which is used 
for seed-to-sale tracking of cannabis products in Oregon and is currently using metrc in 

LML-D-32



California at both Blessed Extracts and Elevation 2477. His educational background 
includes a degree from Cal Poly – San Luis Obispo in mechanical engineering in 2008 
(magna cum laude). Before Jonathan’s cannabis business career he had experience 
working as a senior mechanical design engineer and product manager in several 
companies including Microsoft and Sony Electronics. 
 

a. Management Team 
 

● Maria Herrera, Operations Consultant, Nevada City, CA: Maria has played an important 
role in the creation of our affiliate business, Elevation 2477’. As an industry consultant 
who has led project management roles locally and in the Sacramento Area, Maria is 
knowledgeable in cannabis licensing and permitting as well as in the development of 
standard operating procedures for cannabis businesses. In addition, Maria  is proficient 
as a business development consultant identifying the tools needed for businesses of any 
kind to be successful and thrive. She is a former journalist with 12 years of experience 
covering local and state politics. Maria will stay on board to develop the team that will 
lead Longitude Distribution into a successful business venture. 
 

● Menkin Nelson, Assistant Manager, Nevada City, CA : A transplant from Humboldt who 
spent several years cultivating and assisting farmers with the cultivation application 
process,  Menkin is adept at understanding local and state regulations and putting them 
into a system that works for developing cannabis businesses and farmers alike.  Prior to 
Cannabis Menkin worked as a yacht captain for decades, running vessels around the 
world.  The carryover of running a boat is much like a fledgling cannabis business with 
ever changing regulations, as you transit across borders, to training staff in safety 
procedures, security procedures and inventory systems.  While on the water your 
inventory, safety and security are paramount to survival.  Menkin will bring the same 
regimented consistency and crew management skills to the distribution facility. Her love 
for the Sierra Foothills has made this the final destination in her travels and the 
developing cannabis economy in her backyard has pulled at her drive and heart strings. 

 

b. Advisors 
i. Legal Team: 

1. Kathryn McCall: Kathryn McCall has twenty years of corporate 
governance and  transactional experience.  She focuses on helping 
emerging growth companies and small businesses succeed.  Her clients 
appreciate her pragmatic and strategic advice regarding their entity 
formation, financing, and operational concerns.  As outside general 
counsel for many of her clients, Ms. McCall has counseled C-Level 
Officers and Boards of Directors on corporate governance, debt and 

LML-D-33



equity financings, strategic alliances, mergers & acquisitions, technology 
transactions, joint ventures, commercial agreements (e.g. distribution, 
licensing, software-as-a service, development services, offer letters and 
employment agreements, master services agreements), equity incentive 
plans, and securities filings.  She has also negotiated preferred stock 
financings on behalf of  angel and seed investors and venture capital 
funds.  Some of the  industries in which Ms. McCall has provided legal 
counsel include: cannabis, media; technology; internet of things; 
education; internet-based products, services and applications; consumer 
products; retail; publishing; and health and fitness. 
 

2. Cameron Brady: Cameron Brady is a fourth-generation Nevada County 
resident, as well as a seasoned litigation counsel in the Bay Area and the 
Sierra Foothills. He has represented businesses, including cannabis 
businesses in real estate transactions, entity formation, labor and 
employment matters. Cameron is also a board member of KVMR and an 
active member of the philanthropic community in Nevada County.  
 

ii. CPA Advisor:  
1. Diane Piccioni. Diane is a self Employed CPA, specializing in both Tax and 

Accounting services for individual and business entities. Over 30 years 
experience in preparing 1040 individual, 1120 Corporate, 1065 
Partnership, 1041 Trust and 706 Estate tax returns. Experience in 
representing clients before I.R.S. also provides consultation for setting up 
client's using Quickbooks. 

 

c. Partnerships and Associations 
i. Elevation 2477’: As our first permitted cannabis business, maintaining a healthy 

local inventory on the shelves of Elevation 2477’ will be our main priority. 
However, our plan is to extend the offering from our premier dispensary to other 
retailers. Longitude Management and Elevation 2477’ aim to create brand 
recognition for Nevada County as an important produce of craft products 
throughout the Northern California region. 

ii. Nevada County Cannabis Alliance: Daniel Batchelor currently serves on the 
board of the Alliance. As part of our commitment to support the development of 
a local responsible cannabis industry, Longitude Manager will become a 
participating of the organization and contribute to is advocacy and education 
efforts. 

LML-D-34



iii. Higher Commitment: Longitude Management hopes to partner with our local 
testing laboratory for all the certificate of analysis required for any cannabis 
products that would get distributed through our facility. 

iv. Thrive Society: The success of other local cannabis businesses is our success as 
well. Longitude Management will partner with already established Thrive Society 
to bring licensing agreement and contract manufacturing agreements for brands 
looking for local fulfillment. 

v. Blessed Extracts: Our principles continue to manage one of the first Type 7 
manufacturing facilities in the state and will provide Longitude Management the 
opportunity to produce high quality products with raw materials sourced locally. 

4. Day to Day Operations 

The Longitude Management LLC team has a wealth of experience in operating cannabis 
businesses in compliance with State and local law in California. Our Standard Operating 
Procedures ensure that all staff understands what is expected of them at every level and is 
adequately trained to comply with all expectations, regulations and protocol. 

 

a. Hours of Operation: Longitude Management LLC will only operate within the hours 
specified in the business’s cannabis business permit and will not negatively impact our 
surrounding community in any way. 
 

b. Grounds management: Longitude Management LLC will not permit loitering by persons 
outside the facility both on the premises and within fifty (50) feet of the premises of the 
business.  Cannabis shall not be consumed on the premises. Signage to these effects, 
and conforming to the requirements of the Nevada City Municipal Code, shall be posted 
visibly throughout the premise. In addition, Longitude Management will contribute to 
Elevation 2477’ security protocols and add the number of perimeter checks security 
guards already perform on the property throughout the day. 
 

c. Security:   Our security plan, included in this application, include security surveillance 
cameras, security video recording and retention, an alarm system, on staff security 
guards and regular walking of the premise grounds for first hand visual inspections. 
 

d. Odor Mitigation:  Odor control devices and techniques shall be incorporated to ensure 
that odors from cannabis are not detectable off-site. We shall provide a sufficient odor 
absorbing ventilation and exhaust system so that odor generated inside the distribution 
facility is not detected outside anywhere on adjacent property or public rights-of-way, 
on or about the exterior or interior common area walkways, hallways, breezeways, 
foyers, lobby areas, or any other areas available for use by common tenants or the 

LML-D-35



visiting public, or within any other unit located inside the same building as the cannabis 
business. As such, we shall  install and maintain the following equipment, or any other 
equipment which the City Manager or his/her designee(s) determine is a more effective 
method or technology:  

1. An exhaust air filtration system with odor control that prevents internal odors 
from being emitted externally. Please see the neighborhood compatibility plan 
that details how the system has been designed to achieve the above standard 
based on the specific building size and layout;  

2. An air system that creates negative air pressure between Longitude 
Management LLC’s  interior and exterior, so that the odors generated inside the 
are not detectable on the outside of the building. Please see  the neighborhood 
compatibility plan  that details how the system has been designed to achieve the 
above standard based on the specific building size and layout 

e. Distribution Operations: Longitude Management LLC will be engaging in the  
procurement, sales and transportation of cannabis or cannabis products between 
entities licensed pursuant the MAUSCRA and all subsequent State of California 
legislation regarding the same.  We will only purchase cannabis from local and state  
licensed cultivators or cannabis products from state and local licensed manufacturers 
for resale at licensed dispensaries. 
 

f. Supplier Relationships: Our principles and management team have a proven record of 
helping and educating farmers on how to properly and effectively submit a cannabis 
business permit applications, and as such have established trust among local cultivators, 
some of who have already been able to place permitted and licensed cannabis flower on 
the shelves of Elevation 2477’. Our mission is to continue to grow those relationships to 
constantly supply local consumers with local product. 
 

g. Product Handling 

Transportation: Longitude Management employees will utilize proven and compliant 
transportation procedures to procure licensed cannabis and cannabis products from its 
suppliers as follows: 

■ All Longitude Management Vehicles will have a valid Motor Carrier 
Permit and be equipped with an alarm system, as per state regulations, 
similar to Elevation 2477’s delivery fleet. 

■ Transportation of cannabis and cannabis products shall only be 
conducted by Longitude Management employees. As with Elevation 
2477’ delivery services and shipping and receiving protocols, the 

LML-D-36



following details will be utilized when shipping/receiving and 
transporting: 

a. No other persons will be allowed in the vehicle at any time. 
b. Products will be transported inside a locked box or cage affixed 

securely to the frame of the vehicle, and will not be visible from 
outside the vehicle. 

c. Vehicles used for transportation of cannabis will not be branded 
with any cannabis identification or logos, and will be equipped 
with a GPS system or other technology for tracking its 
whereabouts in real time. This information is kept for 90 days.  

Shipping and Receiving: Longitude Management will receive products in accordance 
with all local and state regulations. The team will work with neighboring cannabis 
businesses to install a gate on the north side of the business preventing vehicles that are 
not delivering cannabis goods to Suites A, B,C and D from entering the small parking 
area. In addition to employing safety and security protocols, Longitude Management 
will do the following to receive and ship products: 

● All shipping arrivals will need to be pre scheduled. Drivers are to text or 
call Longitude Management team when they leave their facility.  

● When a driver arrives at the building they will ring the bell so the parking 
gate opens. Shared security guards with Elevation 2477’ will be notified 
so they can do a perimeter check during the transaction. 

● Once at Suite B, drivers must present government-issued identification 
and employee badge.  

● Goods will be unloaded or loaded, in the case of delivery drivers picking 
up product, onto the designated receiving area by facility personnel. 

● Once cannabis products arrive at the facility, employees will complete an 
electronic shipping manifest as prescribed by the licensing authority. The 
shipping manifest will include the unique identifier issued by the 
Department of Food and Agriculture for the cannabis product. 

● Each transportation load will be recorded and itemized on detailed 
transportation manifests, with electronic tracking to ensure a secure 
chain of custody at each point of transport.  

● The transportation team shall maintain a physical copy of the shipping 
manifest and make it available upon request to agents of the Department 
of Consumer Affairs and law enforcement officers when products are in 
transit. 

● The licensee receiving the shipment will maintain each electronic 
shipping manifest and shall make it available upon request to the 
Department of Consumer Affairs and any law enforcement officers. 

LML-D-37



● Upon receipt of the transported shipment, the licensee receiving the 
shipment shall submit to the licensing authority a record verifying receipt 
of the shipment and the details of the shipment. 

Sorting: Cannabis flower and biomass received at our distribution facility will be handled 
as follows: 

■ All incoming material, like bulk cannabis flower and manufactured 
cannabis products that are in their final packaging, will be segregated and 
labeled with the following information:  

a. Unique product identifier/Metrc tag 
b. Batch number of product 
c. Quantity 
d. Supplier State License # 
e. Origin of product identification: cultivator/farm/manufacturer 
f. Strain or Product name 
g. Date of delivery, method and time 
h. In the event Longitude Management intakes a batch that it 

intends to sell to another distributor, the responsibility for lab 
testing and labeling would then be transferred to the final 
distributor.  

■ All raw and unpackaged cannabis products will then be quarantined and 
R&D tested prior to being packaged. 

■ Once batches collected from vendors have passed testing and a 
Certificate of Analysis has been received from the testing lab, the product 
is then moved into a storage area to be ready for packaging and labeling 
or for distribution to a manufacturing facility. 

 

 

 

 

h.  Lab Testing and Quality: Longitude Management LLC is committed to working with 
licensed cannabis businesses that go above and beyond the testing requirements set 
forth by local and state regulations. We have already developed a network of local 
farmers and manufacturers whose ethos are steeped in organic and sustainable 
practices. All  products go through quality assurance, inspection and testing. Longitude 
Management LLC will verify and only source and sell products that have met or 
exceeded the state’s stringent guidelines. Longitude Management LLC will not sell or 
transfer any cannabis or cannabis products that are required to be tested before being 

LML-D-38



sold or transferred unless the required testing has been performed by a licensed 
laboratory. Longitude Management LLC will mark for waste any cannabis or cannabis 
products from a batch that has failed to meet state guidelines. When cannabis and 
cannabis products are tested at the facility, Longitude Management LLC will ensure that 
all required documentation concerning the product and product testing results are 
entered into applicable records and track-and-trace system. Quality assurance 
procedures will detail the following: 

● Sample selection by the lab agent will be recorded by video camera. Harvest 
batches will not exceed 50 pounds.  

● After the sample has been selected, the laboratory agent and our operations 
manager will sign and date a document, attesting to the sample selection having 
occurred, as required by state regulations. 

● A sample “passes” a laboratory test when the sample meets certain 
specifications required by the state, such as no pesticides, mold or bacterial 
contaminants are detected. Once product “passes” laboratory tests the tested 
batch will be labeled as such and enter into the packaging program when 
applicable. 

● If a product fails to pass testing it will be labeled and quarantined in the 
quarantine/fail storage area. If the contamination can be remediated as 
permitted by state regulations, then arrangements with the supplier will be 
made to send the batch out to a manufacturer or processor for remediation. If 
the contamination cannot be remediated, the batch will be destroyed, according 
to cannabis waste requirements. 

i.  Storage and Inventory Control: 

■  
 

 
 

 
  

■ Each storage will have temperature control and their own HVAC 
controller. 

■ Longitude Management will use Distru Software to accurately gather and 
keep inventory information in real-time. Distru software allows us to do 
batch-based product tracking with associated lab test results and 
expiration dates for each batch. The software also features built-in 
compliance tracking and monitoring, creates sales or purchase orders on 
demand, access order history and email invoices instantly or download 
them and send them as attachments. 

LML-D-39



 

j.  Packaging and Labeling: Longitude Management will assist farmers and product 
makers with branding development assistance, along with the opportunity to fulfill the 
demands of in-house brands. Longitude Management will use the following equipment 
for its packaging and labeling needs: 

● Biomass Shredder/ Grinders for the preparation of pre-roll products 
● Pre-roll Machine 
● Tamper Evident machine 
● Labeling Machine applying labels to flat and tapered containers.  
● Round Bottle Labeler 
● Weighing Filler 

k.  Product Complaints: In the event of a complaint from a supplier (manufacturer, 
processor, cultivator or distributor) or a customer (a dispensary, delivery company or 
distributor), facility personnel take the following steps:  

● If a product complaint is found to be defective, Longitude Management will 
replace the defective product with a non-defective version of the same type of 
cannabis good, or exchange for a similar cannabis good of equal value, as 
allowed in state regulations. 

● A Complaint Form will need to be filled out with the name, contact information 
and license # of the customer submitting complaint, UID and description of the 
product, description of events, and photo documentation if available. 

● Management will review the Complaint Form and determine the appropriate 
response, which may include contacting the cultivator/manufacturer supplying 
the product, contacting dispensaries receiving the product, notifying public 
health authorities; and/or process for determining any other additional follow-
up that may be needed. 

 

l.  Weights and Measures: Weighing devices used in the facility will be approved, tested 
and sealed in accordance with Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 12500) of Division 5 
of the Business and Professions Code, and registered with the Nevada County Sealer of 
Weights and Measures. Approved and registered devices will be used whenever: 

● Cannabis or cannabis product is bought or sold by weight or count 
● Cannabis or cannabis product is packaged for sale by weight or count 
● Cannabis or cannabis product is weighed or counted for entry into the track-and-

trace system 

 

LML-D-40



m.  Waste Management: (a) Licensees shall not dispose of cannabis goods, unless 
disposed of as cannabis waste, defined under section 5000(g) of this division. 

(b) Cannabis waste shall be stored, managed, and disposed of in accordance with all 
applicable waste management laws, including, but not limited to, Division 30 of the 
Public Resources Code. 

(c) Cannabis goods intended for disposal shall remain on the licensed premises until 
rendered into cannabis waste. The licensee shall ensure that: 

(1) Access to the cannabis goods is restricted to the licensee, its employees or 
agents; and 

(2) Storage of the cannabis goods allocated for disposal is separate and distinct 
from other cannabis goods. 

(d) To be rendered as cannabis waste for proper disposal, including disposal as defined 
under Public Resources Code section 40192, cannabis goods shall first be destroyed on 
the licensed premises. This includes, at a minimum, removing or separating the cannabis 
goods from any packaging or container and rendering it unrecognizable and unusable. 
Nothing in this subsection shall be construed to require vape cartridges to be emptied of 
cannabis oil prior to disposal, provided that the vape cartridge itself is unusable at the 
time of disposal. 

(e) Cannabis waste on the licensed premises shall be secured in a receptacle or area that 
is restricted to the licensee, its employees, or an authorized waste hauler. 

(f) A licensee shall report all cannabis waste activities, up to and including disposal, into 
the track and trace system, as required under Chapter 1, Article 6 of this division. 

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26013 
Bureau of Cannabis Control Order of Adoption - 48 of 138 and 26070, Business and 
Professions Code. 

All waste will be secured, locked and tracked in accordance with State regulations and 
the dispensary Operations and Management Practices Plan. 

○ Solid Cannabis Waste Handling Procedure: 
■ The cannabis waste will be weighed 
■ Data will be recorded noting date, weight, wet or dry, batch number, 

plant variety or product and section of the facility generating the waste. 
■ The waste will be bagged, tagged and moved in the track and trace 

system, as well as physically to the Secure Waste Storage. 
■ The Longitude Management LLC team will give the state a minimum of 

seven day’s notice through the traceability system prior to rendering the 
Cannabis solid waste unusable and disposing of the Cannabis waste. 

LML-D-41



■ As per state regulations, cannabis waste will be disposed of at a manned 
and fully permitted solid waste landfill. 
 

n.  Diversion Prevention: Longitude Management LLC will implement a comprehensive 
security plan that addresses facility security, the facility’s security and alarm system, 
product security during storage, product security during transport, and the secure 
handling of all cash and other payments in order to prevent theft and diversion. 
Longitude Management LLC security plan will also assist the Nevada City Police 
Department, the Sheriff’s Department to prevent and detect the theft or diversion of  
cannabis. The Metrc track-and-trace system is the state’s answer to diversion 
prevention and is spelled out in detail under the track-and-trace section of this business 
plan. 

Longitude Management shall ensure that all cannabis goods batches are stored 
separately and distinctly away from other cannabis goods batches, within secure locking 
containers. Each container of each batch shall ensure a label with the following 
information is physically attached: 

ii. The name, license number, and licensed premises address of the licensed 
manufacturer or licensed cultivator who provided the batch 

iii. The date of entry into the licensed distributor’s storage area 
iv. The unique identifiers and batch number associated with the batch 
v. A description of the cannabis goods with enough detail to easily identify the 

batch 
vi. The weight of or quantity of units in the batch 

vii. The best-by, sell-by, or expiration date of the batch, if any 
  

o.  Good Neighbor Policy: Longitude Management LLC will establish and maintain 
procedures for working to support our community and to resolve community 
concerns/complaints about our operations. We are committed to keeping open 
communication between our clients and our staff, and neighbors and management. It is 
important for us to educate our neighbors and clients about the procedure for 
expressing concerns or dealing with complaints about our operations so that requests, 
questions, concerns and ideas are addressed in a positive manner and timely fashion. A 
summary outline of the procedure is included in our Community Outreach and 
Engagement Plan. 

5. Product list 

○ Whole Plant and Flowers: Dried flowers from licensed, local small craft 
cultivator and manufactures. 

○ Concentrates/Extracts: Extractions allow consumers to regulate dosage more 
easily and are available in a wide variety of strains and strength.  Our local 

LML-D-42



manufacturers understand and facilitate the medical benefits of CBD throughout 
their product lines. 

○ Edible Cannabis Product: Manufactured cannabis that is intended for both THC 
and CBD consumers is readily available here in our community.  Edibles are the 
most common way for CBD to be consumed.  With approx 25% senior population 
in Nevada City we want to make sure that there is an open distribution line for 
both THC and CBD edibles to reach the local dispensary. 

○ Tinctures: Tinctures can be added to beverages and produce a more rapid onset 
of cannabis effects. Numerous artisans in the Sierra Foothills create high end, 
licensed tinctures. 

○ Cannabis Supplements: These are a number of local manufacturers that create 
capsules, pills, sprays, patches, and tonics infused with cannabis. These methods 
are ideal for consumers seeking curative treatment and cannabinoid saturation 
treatments.  

○ Topical Preparations: Cannabis can be infused into a number of topical 
ointments and lotions that may help with conditions, such as eczema or dry skin.  

 

6. Local and State Law Compliance 

Longitude Management LLC will be authorized to dispense  cannabis to clients in compliance 
with California Health and Safety Codes 11362.5 and 11362.7, et. al., Attorney General’s 
Guidelines for the Security and Non-Diversion of cannabis Grown for  Use, and the  Cannabis 
and Adult Use Regulation and Safety Act. We understand and will fully comply with Nevada City 
ordinance 2017-06. Our incorporating documents, operating procedures and day-to-day 
operations are designed to comply with all local and State laws. Our organization’s existing 
operations are authorized to serve a large membership base of qualified California clients and 
our location will help meet the growing demand of clients seeking clean, safe, and affordable 
cannabis cannabis. Our proposed facility meets all zoning and compliance standards. Longitude 
Management LLC will retain the services of a compliance attorney to ensure compliance with 
any future changes to local and state cannabis laws and regulations.  

Our in house Chief Compliance Officer will also ensure all compliance in day-to-day operations. 

a. Compliance with Ordinance 2018-10 

In December 2018, the Nevada City Council approved ordinance 2018-10, allowing cannabis 
businesses to operate within city limits, so long as they have a cannabis business permit, are in 
compliance with all applicable state and federal laws pertaining to its operation and comply 
with all applicable operational and zoning requirements set forth in the Nevada city Municipal 
Code. Ordinance 2018-10 further details specific Nevada City cannabis business requirements 
relating to licensure, facility design and layout, lighting and signage, record keeping, site 

LML-D-43



management, security, and operational requirements, as well as the application process for 
organizations. 

Should Longitude Management LLC be selected for a license to operate in Nevada City, we are 
fully prepared to comply with all aspects of Ordinance 2018-10. We have a long history of 
compliance with local cannabis programs as previous licensed providers in the city of Nevada 
City, city of San Diego and several municipalities in the state of Oregon. Our organization is 
prepared to do what it takes to ensure we go above and beyond what is expected by the city.  

b. Compliance with California State Laws 

The team at Longitude Management LLC has extensive knowledge of how the regulatory 
framework has evolved and been established in the state of California since 1996, when 
Proposition 215-CA Health and Safety Code 11362.5 was approved. Because of our rigid 
protocols for membership and extensive documentation policies we can ensure that all active 
client members are in compliance with The Compassionate Use Act of 1996. 

In October of 2015, the California State Legislature passed the  Cannabis Regulation and Safety 
Act (MCRSA), which established a regulatory process for State licensing for  cannabis 
businesses. In the 2016 legislative cycle the State Legislature passed three bills intended to 
regulate  Cannabis: AB266, AB243 and SB643. Together, those bills are referred to as the  
Cannabis Regulations and Safety Act or MCRSA. MCRSA has been codified in the California 
Business and Professions Code. MCRSA only applies to medicinal use of cannabis with a doctor’s 
recommendation.  

After the passage of Prop 64 or AUMA, MCRSA was later repealed with many of its provision 
being transferred to a new set of laws called MAURCSA which took hold on January 1, 2018.  

We will continue to adapt our programs where necessary to comply with new regulatory 
requirements as they are developed and implemented by the Bureau of Cannabis Control. 
Through our memberships with The International Cannabis Farmers Association and the 
Nevada County Cannabis Alliance,  our organization will ensure that the transition to the State 
licensing program is smooth and fluid. We will work with Nevada City officials to ensure that 
our program meets all requirements set forth by the State, as well as the City. Longitude 
Management LLC will retain the services of a compliance attorney to ensure compliance with 
any future changes to local and state cannabis laws and regulations.  Longitude Management 
shall be able to account for all inventory and provide that information to the Bureau upon 
request. We shall ensure all batches of cannabis goods are stored in accordance with section 
5302 and 5309 of Section 26013, Business and Professions Code.  

c. Tax Compliance 

Taxes assessed on cannabis businesses are remitted to the California Department of Tax and 
Fee Administration. All sellers of  cannabis are required to hold a seller's permit, report sales 
and pay taxes. Distributors are required to obtain a Cannabis Tax Certificate and remit state 

LML-D-44



taxes to the CDTFA.  The transportation of any cash payments will be held in our cash deposit 
vault and delivered via our transport vehicle accordingly. 

A cultivation tax of $9.25 per dry-weight ounce of cannabis flowers, $2.75 per dry-weight ounce 
of marijuana leaves. Longitude Management will serve to function as the remitter of cultivation 
tax amounts, before the cannabis or cannabis products ever reach a retailer. Cultivation tax 
amounts are due 30 days after the end of the quarter in which the cannabis or cannabis 
products “enter the commercial marketplace”. The triggering event for this tax deadline is 
when cannabis goods complete and comply with quality assurance testing requirements set 
forth in regulations (i.e., when the cannabis goods pass lab testing). 

Cannabis will be subject to a 15% excise tax at point of sale to the consumer. Excise tax is 
assessed at the time of transaction from distributor to retailer, must be collected by the 
distributor from the retailer and remitted within 90 days. In an arms-length transaction 
(between a distributor and a retailer who do not share ownership affiliation), Excise tax 
amounts are due within 90 days whether the cannabis goods have sold already. The rate of 
excise tax on cannabis goods is based on “Average Market Price”, which is determined by the 
CDTFA quarterly. 

As a distributor, Longitude Management is responsible for transporting cannabis and cannabis 
products between licensed cannabis businesses. When a distributor sells cannabis or cannabis 
products to a retailer, and the retailer provides a valid and timely resale certificate, the sale is 
not subject to sales tax. Regardless if all sales of cannabis goods are not subject to sales tax, it 
will be required to file a return and report all sales transactions to the CDTFA. 

 The City of Nevada City has proposed a municipal tax rate of 4% on Dispensaries and 2% on 
other  Cannabis Businesses. Longitude Management will pay 2% to the City of Nevada City with 
30 days of the previous quarter.. 

 d. Tax Remittance  

Taxes assessed on cannabis retailers and cultivators are remitted to the California Department 
of Tax and Fee Administration. All sellers of cannabis are required to hold a seller's permit, 
report sales and pay taxes. Distributors are required to obtain a Cannabis Tax Certificate, and 
are the sole licensed entity to remit state taxes to the CDTFA on behalf of other licensed 
cannabis businesses.  We will collect taxes when cannabis goods enter the commercial market. 
Taxes will be paid monthly in accordance with the tax schedule under existing law. The 
transportation of any cash payments will be held in our cash deposit vault and delivered via our 
transport vehicle accordingly. 

 

7. Track and Trace System 

LML-D-45



Longitude Management will implement Metrc track-and-trace inventory control system to 
monitor the chain of custody of cannabis from the point of transfer to the facility to the retailer. 
Longitude Management’s inventory control systems will include all cannabis and non-cannabis 
products.  

Longitude Management LLC has identified Distru as the global leader in Point of Sale system for 
cannabis and integrates state-mandated Seed-to-Sale traceability technology. Established in 
2006, Distru is a pioneer provider of both business management and government oversight 
software, the Distru team has the professional experience necessary to navigate regulations 
and enforce compliance across varying landscapes. This technology will allow Longitude 
Management LLC to successfully manage inventory and report to the appropriate authorities, 
including the city and state, as required. 

Distru’s comprehensive product suite increases transparency and accountability by monitoring 
key data points during cultivation, harvest, extraction, packaging, transport, and dispensing. In 
2013 Distru successfully implemented the Washington State Traceability System, the world’s 
first real time cannabis seed-to-sale traceability program. Oregon adopted the software in 2016 
to integrate it with its track-and-trace program.   

Additionally, Distru is compatible with the State of California's requirements and can seamlessly 
integrate with the Metrc Track and Trace System.  

a. Functionality of Seed to Sale Software: 
● State of California and Bureau of Cannabis Control compliance reporting.  
● Product expiration dates. 
● Complete and detailed transport manifests. 
● Real time client and client limit tracking to avoid over dispensing based on state law. 
● Real time product recall alerts. 
● Maintains compliant labels, warning and required disclosures.  
● State certified digital scale to reduce loss and increase accuracy of inventory.  
● Integrated ID scanners which will not allow a sale until an ID is scanned.  
● Employee restrictions, which only allow the proper employees to see the data they need 

to see.  
● Audit logs. 

 
b. Responsible Employee:  The manager on duty (MOD) is the designated employee with 
oversight of Longitude Management’s inventory control system and overall inventory 
management within the facility.   
 
c. Initial Inventory: Prior to commencing business, Longitude Management LLC will conduct an 
initial comprehensive inventory of all cannabis received at the facility.  
 

LML-D-46



d. Monthly Inventory Protocol: Longitude Management LLC will manage, check and monitor 
inventory, such that we can accurately and consistently document the status of all products: 

○ Each day's beginning inventory, acquisitions, sales, disbursements, designation 
and disposal of unusable cannabis, and ending inventory.   

○ Any samples provided, including the provision, return and/or destruction of the 
same, as set forth by law and regulation. 

○ Each batch of cannabis received shall include: 
■ The batch number 
■ The number of cannabis seeds or cannabis cuttings 
■ The date the cannabis seeds or cuttings were received 
■ The list of all chemical additives, including, without limitation, pesticides, 

herbicides and fertilizers used in the cultivation or propagation of seeds 
and cuttings. 

○ A complete physical inventory of both usable and unusable cannabis will be 
performed on a monthly basis and logged into the track and trace system. 
Longitude Management’s staff will document the following: 

■ Date of the inventory 
■ Summary of the inventory findings 
■ The name, signature and title of the employees who conducted the 

inventory and the agent-in-charge who oversaw the inventory 
■ Longitude Management staff will count and precisely weigh all products, 

including: 
● Packaged Cannabis 
● Cannabis Products 
● Cannabis products in quarantine 
● Waste Cannabis awaiting disposal 
● Cannabis plants in various stages of growth, including seedlings 

and seeds. 
○ Records of all  cannabis sold will show: 

■ The date of sale 
■ The name of the  cannabis client who purchased. 
■ Batch number, product name(s) and quantity of cannabis products sold 

○ Records of all  Cannabis destroyed will show: 
■ The date the  cannabis was destroyed 
■ Manner in which it was destroyed 
■ Reason it was destroyed 
■ Employee responsible for the destruction of the cannabis 

 
e. Random Physical Inventory Checks: Random physical inventory checks will be conducted 
throughout the facility, throughout the year. Longitude Management’s staff will document one 
or more of the following: 

LML-D-47



○ Packaged Cannabis 
○ Cannabis Products 
○ Waste Cannabis awaiting disposal 

 
f. Annual Inventory: A complete and accurate recording of all cannabis plant stock and 
products on hand will be prepared annually on or before the anniversary of the initial inventory 
under the direct supervision of the MOD. 
 

● Inventory Audit: The manager on duty shall conduct and document a system-wide audit 
of the inventory of the establishment that is accounted for according to generally 
accepted accounting principles at least once every year, and made available to 
government agencies as needed. 

 
● Justified Inventory Adjustments Can Be Made: Any non saleable products will be 

donated or repurposed into saleable products, in accordance with state regulations, and 
entered into the track-and-trace system. Only Authorized Personnel Can Make 
Adjustments. 

 
● Inventory Discrepancy Procedures: If an audit or random inventory check identifies a 

reduction in the amount of  cannabis in the inventory of the establishment not due to 
documented causes, or in the event actual inventory counts to not match the recorded 
or expected counts, the Longitude Management team shall determine where the loss 
has occurred and take and document corrective action. If the reduction in the amount 
of  cannabis in the inventory of the establishment is due to suspected criminal activity 
by an employee, the Longitude Management LLC team shall report the employee to the 
appropriate law enforcement authorities. When a significant discrepancy in inventory 
occurs, the MOD will conduct an internal audit and investigation and report to 
appropriate agencies and authorities within 24 hours. The MOD will document the 
incident in a report that includes the following information: 

○ Incident date  
○ Name of people involved  
○ A description of the incident 
○ Identification of known or suspected causes of the event any corrective actions 

taken. Pursuant to law all such incidents will be reported to regulatory and/or 
law enforcement authorities.   

  
g. Cannabis Waste Tracking and Notification: All waste will be secured, locked and tracked in 
accordance with State regulations and the dispensary Operations and Management Practices 
Plan. 

○ Solid Cannabis Waste Handling Procedure: 
■ The cannabis waste will be weighed 

LML-D-48



■ Data will be recorded noting date, weight, wet or dry, batch number, 
plant variety or product and section of the facility generating the waste. 

■ The waste will be bagged, tagged and moved in the track and trace 
system, as well as physically to the Secure Waste Storage. 

■ The Longitude Management LLC team will give the state a minimum of 
seven day’s notice through the traceability system prior to rendering the 
Cannabis solid waste unusable and disposing of the Cannabis waste. 

■ As per state regulations, cannabis waste will be disposed of at a manned 
and fully permitted solid waste landfill. 

  
h. Data Storage: All aspects of the cannabis plants, byproduct wastes, weights, ID numbers and 
associated data is stored in the system indefinitely. Destruction event information and 
explanations are also documented and stored within the track-and-trace software system. This 
data cannot be modified or deleted by the dispensary center employees or even by track-and-
trace software. Track-and-trace software records manual inventory adjustments through a 
detailed notes section. The reason for disposal and, if applicable, disposal company are 
recorded and archived to the 16 digit barcode associated with the disposed cannabis. As with 
all transactions in the track-and-trace software system, the employee responsible for the 
transaction is required to enter a PIN number or biometric fingerprint recording the date, time, 
and reason for the transaction.  
  
8. Timeline 

a. Timeline of Proposed Construction 

The Longitude Management LLC facility will be retrofitted. The following are permits we 
anticipate needing from the City before beginning the property improvements: 

● Planning/Zoning Use Permit 
● Signage Permit 
● Electrical Permit 
● Mechanical/Plumbing Permit 

Our estimated timeline is as follows if we are granted a permit by Dec 30, 2019: 

● December 2019 - Begin retrofit planning and Permitting Process 
● 3-6 weeks to obtain permits 
● 30-45 days to complete build-out and install fixtures, carpets and interior items. 

Our estimated time to open the facility, depending on building permits and state approval, 
would be between March and April of 2019. The timeline is based on estimates of time given by 
the City for the application process, with 60-90 days estimated for the Staff review process and 
time estimated for an Advisory Committee Review. Our organization will make every effort to 

LML-D-49



get the facility open as soon as possible and we are prepared to move forward with our plans 
immediately. 

b. Accommodation of Persons with Disabilities (ADA Compliance): 

To comply with the National Americans with Disabilities (ADA) as well as the State of California 
Handicap Access codes, the existing building does not require any upgrades.  There currently 
are appropriate and updated access points at all entrances to the building. All doors, hallways, 
and restrooms are compliant, and all interior or exterior improvements will incorporate 
necessary standards to remain ADA compliant. The parking lot will has a designated ADA 
parking space with proper signage in place consistent with Nevada City Parking Requirements. 
Our service counters and service areas will all have ADA access points as well, including 
appropriate height counters and tables. The main entrance is at ground level (no stairs) and will 
not require a wheelchair ramp or guardrail. 

9. Target Market Analysis 

a. Area of Influence 

California has 39.56 million residents and easily remains the biggest government-sanctioned 
market in the nation, with a projected 3 billion in licensed sales in 2019 (Per Los Angeles Times, 
Aug 2019). Consumers over the age of 50 are 25% of the market and the fastest growing 
demographic while millennials are still the largest group of consumers.   
 
Longitude Management LLC has projected its area of influence to be the entire State of California. 
However, we will be focusing on creating a marketing and branding campaign that focuses on 
offering local products to the regional market. There are currently 78 cannabis operations in the 
licensing process in Nevada County.  Our goal is to give our local businesses an avenue to reach 
market.  Longitude Management will also provide an in house distribution channel to supply the 
already licensed and operating Nevada City dispensary, Elevation 2477’, keeping local products 
local.  
 

b.  Economics and Market Place Need 

 
 
 
 
   

 
The majority of Longitude Management LLC targeted suppliers reside in the unincorporated 
areas of Nevada County. By establishing a location in the seat of Nevada County, Longitude 
Management LLC has the opportunity to provide these underserved farmers and manufacturers 
with a safe, reliable outlet to fulfill their cannabis distribution needs.  
 

LML-D-50



c. Market Trends and Development 

The industry will continue to grow and become more profitable due to the aging baby-boomer 
generation in the United States, which is projected to drive increasing demand for  cannabis as 
the dangers of some prescription drugs continue to be documented and discussed in the news 
media. In addition, prescription drug cost continue to rise while the  cannabis markets has 
remained relatively stable over the past four years. 

 cannabis dispensaries are now making use of technology to effectively manage their business 
by plugging financial leakages. The use of technology, i.e. Distru software is very effective in 
helping retail businesses manage their clientele base. 

For every $1 consumers/clients spend at dispensaries/stores, an additional $3 of economic 
value will be injected into the economy – much of it at the local level, according to the 
Marijuana Business Daily’s Marijuana Business Factbook 2016. 

 

d. Brand Differentiation and Value Proposition: Our Competitive Advantage 

In this industry, most of the competitive dynamics center around the quality of cannabis 
dispensed, the service offered, the location where the dispensary is, discounts offered for the 
products, and to some extent, the branding of the business plays a significant role. It is through 
superior client service, thorough knowledge of cannabis research and therapies, and the 
highest quality of products that we can secure a fair share of the available market. 

 

10. Marketing Plan 

The marketing and sales strategy of Longitude Management LLC will be based on generating 
long-term personalized relationships with dispensaries and partnering with additional 
distribution facilities. 

All of our employees will be well trained and equipped to provide the best service. We expect 
that if we are consistent with offering high quality  cannabis from the Sierra Foothills, along 
with excellent client service, we will increase the number of our clients by more than 25 
percent for the first year and then more than 30 percent subsequently. 

Our marketing strategy will consist of discrete and sophisticated advertising in publications 
targeting dispensaries and other distribution facilities.  

 

11. Financial Projections 

See attached Spreadsheet for financial model and Proof of Capitalization 

LML-D-51



 

12. Parking Plan 
 

Longitude Management LLC is committed to implementing a parking plan that is congruent with 
a smooth traffic flow in and out of our facility, including a strict parking monitoring program. 
Designated spaces will be clearly marked for distribution use and directional signs direct traffic 
to the appropriate parking areas. Our team will also establish lines of communication with 
neighboring businesses to ensure clients coming to the distribution facility don’t use 
neighboring businesses parking stalls.  Longitude Distribution is not a retail or forward facing 
business expecting traffic outside of deliveries and staff, therefore we should not be a 
contributor to the neighborhoods shortage of parking but increasing available parking for retail 
customers to neighboring businesses.    
 
Longitude Management has 1850 sq ft of an 8150 sq ft building allocating them six (6) of the on 
site parking spots (22% of the 31 parking spots for the building).  We expect to have a maximum 
of 4 employees on site daily and one vendor at a time, utilizing five (5) spots at peak times. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LML-D-52



LML-D-53



 

 

 

Neighborhood compatibility 
loNgitude distributioN 

LML-D-54



Nevada County GIS

Nevada County, CA

September 18, 2019
0 0.075 0.150.0375 mi

0 0.1 0.20.05 km

1:4,514

©2018
Nevada County GIS

LML-D-55



LML-D-56



 
 
Longitude Management 
569 Searls Ave, Suite B  
Nevada City, CA 95959 
 
Dear Neighbor, 
 
The Nevada City Council passed and adopted Ordinance No. 2018-10 on December 12, 2018, 
comprehensively re-enacting Chapter 9.22 to allow adult use cannabis businesses in addition to the 
medical-only businesses previously allowed. 
 
Longitude Management is an affiliate of Elevation 2477’, already your neighbor, and we plan on using the 
former Fit for Life suite at 569 Searls Avenue to conduct a small  distribution company and office space. 
 
569 Searls Avenue, Suite B, is within 300 feet of your residence or business and falls within the city’s 
distribution ordinance zoning requirements. It is our intent to begin the application process towards 
obtaining a cannabis distribution license for this location and we would like to mitigate any concerns you 
may have regarding our business. 
 
For us, a distribution facility  next to our retail space means we will be able to get local products to the 
shelves much quicker and safer than before. Since the beginning of our involvement in the local cannabis 
industry, our goal has been to provide access to patients and adult consumers to lab tested, regulated 
cannabis products as well as support our local farmers who are seeking safe and legal means of 
distributing locally grown cannabis. As always, our team of businesses aims to create avenues that 
empower people’s choices about what brings them relief and wellness and support the economic vitality 
of our community.  
 
As farmers, dispensary owners, and community members we believe we can address any concerns you 
may have regarding how our distribution company will be operated. We would like to be of service 
throughout this transition and will be available to provide as much information to help you understand the 
process as you desire. 
 
Please don’t hesitate to contact us at 530-237-4933 or daniel@latitudemanagement.com 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to be good neighbors, 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Daniel Batchelor and The Team at Longitude Management 

LML-D-57



 
 

Neighborhood Compatibility Plan 
 
The 7 Hills Business District has been home to Elevation 2477’, our affiliate business, since its 
application was approved in Nov 2017. As community minded business owner, we have 
executed an impeccable community relations plans that has made us a responsible and 
considerate neighbor to residents and other businesses in our area. 
 
Longitude Management plans on carrying on the tradition of being an exemplary cannabis 
business in the community. Our distribution space at 569 Searls Avenue, Suite B is uniquely 
positioned among other cannabis businesses in the Searls Cannabis Campus. The facility is a 
well-lit, well-ventilated commercial building using light diffusion panels and windows, which 
prevent viewing into the facility. Suite B has two entrances, one in the front of the building and 
one in the back facing the larger parking lot located in the southern-facing portion of the parcel. 
 
The exterior areas and surrounding public areas are already strictly managed by an exterior 
building security protocol that is included in our Safety and Security Plan, outlining measures 
and procedures that will provide additional safety to neighboring businesses and residences. 
We will share security personnel with Elevation 2477’ to walk the surrounding areas of the 
location before opening, during operating hours, and after closing the facility. 
   
To prevent access into the distribution facility, there are limited points of access. All doors 
(whether interior or exterior) will have electronic surveillance and sounding alarm equipment to 
deter and detect unauthorized intrusion and emergency exits. 
  
Our signage will be discreet and give no indication about the nature of our business, in keeping 
with the requirements of the statute while at the same time minimizing the presence of 
nuisances.  
  
The distribution facility’s aesthetic is ideal for anonymity and security purposes. In addition, 
Longitude Management will prevent viewing into the building by using light diffusion windows 
that will be protected with custom metal security bars as you have seen at our retail facility in 
the same building.  
 
The main entrance area will be modestly marked. Warning signs on the main entrance door will 
advise all entrants that no firearms or dangerous weapons are allowed anywhere in the facility 
or on the grounds.  
  
The exterior of the building shall be equipped with an automatic electronic alarm, lighting, and 
video monitoring to detect unwanted and unauthorized intrusion. We will, through planned 
construction improvements and security equipment installation, ensure that the building, people 
and product inside are safe from unwanted or negligent harm, and that no products are not 
observable from outside the facility.  

LML-D-58



 
Former Nevada City Police Chief Tim Foley and current Chief Chad Ellis have both toured the 
entire campus and provided advice on how to address security concerns.  As a result, Lab 
Properties, our landlords, installed landscaping that removed blind spots to make the exterior of 
our facility as safe as possible for our neighbors, patrons and employees. Law enforcement 
members also provided advice on cash drop protocols, inventory controls and product safety, all 
of which is addressed in our Safety and Security plan. 
 

Odor Mitigation 
 

Elevation Distribution will make every effort to be a good neighbor and avoid nuisances of odor 
that may be generated by its operations. Its Odor Control Plan, which includes a state-of-the-art 
HVAC system will mitigate against any such issues. The HVAC system will provide adequate 
ventilation and includes the following features: 
 

● Equipment for adequate control over air pressure, microorganisms, dust, humidity and 
temperature when appropriate for the packaging or holding of cannabis products.  

● Filtration systems -- including pre-filters and particulate matter air filters -- on air supplies 
to production areas, with the intakes placed in areas of highest anticipated contaminant 
concentration. 

● Exhaust and other systems adequate to control odor and contaminants, with a 
ventilation rate of at least 15 cfm/occupant based on occupancy of 30 persons at any 
given time.  

● In order to meet these odor mitigation goals, Longitude Management will install one 
CosaTron Model LC2000 mounted on the HVAC system and at least two CosaTron 
Model RV750’s to be utilized in the occupied space. We have already tested this product 
at Elevation2477’. For efficient odor removal, the system creates an air recirculation rate 
of about 12-15 times per hour which equates to 4,500 – 5,625 CFM.  The combination of 
the LC2000 system on the return of your 5 ton unit (2,000 CFM) and two RV750 systems 
(1,000 CFM each) will get us to the appropriate air change rate.   

● Once odor control has been established, periodic testing shall be conducted to ensure 
that the odor control systems are operating to maintain the baseline. As the filters age, 
replacement will be required and will be conducted, as determined by the calibrated 
sensor on the test equipment. 

● Testing will be done, in the absence of other standards, in accordance with Standardized 
Odor Measurement Practices for Air Quality Testing. Testing shall be done using a field 
Olfactometer, calibrated in accordance with ASTM E544-75 and AWMA odor control 
standards. 

● Planned, scheduled monitoring on a daily walk-about visit around the exterior of the site, 
near the exhaust system.  

 
 

Neighborhood Concerns 
 

LML-D-59



The Longitude Management Team has met or delivered letters of intent to every business 
owner/manager and homeowner within a 300-foot radius to explain our plans, address concerns 
and extend our assurance that we are committed to continuing being good neighbors. 
 
The neighboring businesses and residents who were contacted expressed support for our 
business.  The two concerns expressed were:   
 
Pete’s Welding & Machine, 521 Searls Ave, Nevada City, CA 95959; was concerned that the 
signage at the existing dispensary isn’t sufficient to get all customers in without turning around 
in his drive.  We assured him that Longitude Management is not a retail business and will 
experience minimal traffic. 
 
Reibe’s Auto Parts, 535 Searls Ave, Nevada City, CA 9595; was concerned that the traffic 
would overflow into his parking lot.  We assured him that Longitude Management is not a retail 
business and will experience minimal traffic. 
 
 

 

LML-D-60



LML-D-61



 

 

 

Safety and Security 
Longitude diStribution 

LML-D-62



LML-D-63



LML-D-64



Bea ty 

Systems Inc.

SCL #555161

ACO #3000

NV #0077351

Beam Vacuums of 

California Inc.

SCL #555162

August 17, 2017

 

          

    

 

 

 

 

 

 



Beam Security 

Systems Inc.

SCL #555161

ACO #3000

NV #0077351

Beam Vacuums of 

California Inc.

SCL #555162

August 17, 2017

Proposal To: Job Site:

DATE

CUSTOMER NO.

Bid#

ELEVAT

Q000010372 

PROPOSAL/CONTRACT

Security System

Page 2 of 2

Elevation 2477

569 Searls Ave.

Nevada City  CA     95959

onedbatchelor@gmail.com

Phone:(530) 320-1193

Elevation 2477

569 Searls Ave.

Nevada City  CA     95959

onedbatchelor@gmail.com

(530) 320-1193

Existing

422 Henderson St. Grass Valley, CA 95945    530-273-5166   800-273-0966   fax 530-274-3612

Under the Mechanics Lien Law, any contractor, sub-contractor, laborer, materialman or other person who helps to improve your property and is not paid for his labor, services, or material, has a right to enforce his 

claim against your property.  Under the law, you may protect yourself against such claims by filing, before commencing such work or improvement, an original contract for the work or improvement or a modification 

thereof, in the office of the county recorder of the county where the property is situated and requiring that a contractor’s payment bond be recorded in such office.  Said bond shall be in an amount not less than fifty 

percent (50%) of the contract price and shall, in addition to any conditions for the performance of the contract, be conditioned for the payment in full of the claims of all persons furnishing labor, services, equipment 

or materials for the work described in said contract.

In the State of California:  Contractors are required by law to be licensed and regulated by the Contractor’s State License Board.  Any questions concerning a contractor may be referred to the Registrar of the board 

Proposal Presented By:

X. Date: August 17, 2017

BEAM "Easy Living" CENTER

Representative: Justin Anthney

Proposal Accepted By:

X. Date:

We reserve the right to substitute like quality and kind due to discontinued and /or model changes. Invoice terms shall be due upon reciept.  Amounts not paid 

after 30 days shall incur a 1.5% late payment fee per month, prorated until paid.

X.

Signature.

Printed Name.

Customer  Email.X. onedbatchelor@gmail.com530-362-2426Justin.A@Beameasy.com

BEAM BUILT-IN VACUUMS - BURGLAR & FIRE ALARMS - PHONE SYSTEMS - INTERCOMS - STEREO/HOME THEATER - HOME NET

LML-D-66



Safety Plan 
 

● Fire Suppression:  
○ Going Beyond Code Requirements: Building is equipped with sprinklers both 

internally and externally. In addition, smoking is prohibited on premises. 
 

○ Ensuring Electrical Safety: All electrical work will be performed by a local 
licensed electrician and permitted by the city according to all applicable building 
and local fire codes. 

 
○ Good Housekeeping and Site Maintenance: Maintenance contractor will provide 

a monthly report of all maintenance work on premises and forecast any potential 
issues with the infrastructure of the facility. 

 
○ Adequate Complying with State and Local Fire Codes: An initial walk through is 

scheduled with Fire Marshal for August 31. 
 

○ Effective Emergency Response Plans: Procedures and instructions for 
responding to an emergency that will include: 

■ Accident prevention training  
■ How to respond to an emergency  
■ Fire Safety Training and Drills 
■ Emergency service provider location  
■ Emergency service contact information  
■ Emergency first aid kit locations  
■ Emergency exits and panic button location 

 
○ Fire Protection Checklist: MOD will perform a monthly Fire Protection inspection 
○ Flammable and Combustible Material Checklist: No flammable or combustible 

chemicals will be kept on premises. 
○ Evaluation of Independent Fire Consultant: A once a year detailed inspection of 

the facility to identify any potential fire risks. 
 

● Fire Prevention: Fire extinguishers are properly located and maintained throughout the 
building. No hazardous materials are located onsite. A fire exit plan will be in place in the 
event a fire occurs in the facility. Adequately lit exit signs are located both in the front 
and rear of the building. Additionally panic exit bars will be located on each exit door. All 
rooms will be equipped with smoke and carbon monoxide detectors. The HVAC is new 
and will provide adequate airflow and comfort to the clients. 

 
● Alarm System: Professionally installed alarm system. Additionally a full layout of the 

Alarm System is provided in the Security Layout drawing includes 7 motion detectors, 
alarm contacts on external doors and product safe room which will directly contact 
manager and owners upon opening via a phone app along with window contacts on all 
external windows. 

 
 

LML-D-67



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

   

 
0. 

 

LML-D-68



LML-D-69



LML-D-70



 

LML-D-71



 

 

LML-D-72



LML-D-73



LML-D-74



LML-D-75



 

 

 

 

LML-D-76



LML-D-77



LML-D-78



LML-D-79



LML-D-80



Employee Qualifications and Training 
Purpose. The purpose of this policy is to ensure that licensee’s employee screening process is aligned 
with the Nevada City and State of California requirements for cannabis handlers at medical retail 
facilities and also to ensure that employees receive sufficient training in their roles and responsibilities 
so that employee are able to support compliant facility operations. 

  
Policy and Procedures 
Training Upon Hire. All new employees will be trained on their specific responsibilities and all generally 
applicable responsibilities, including relevant requirements of the local and State regulations. Employees 
will be required to shadow a more experienced employee until employee is able to demonstrate the 
ability to perform all required tasks independently. As a part of the employee orientation process, and 
as an ongoing regimen, all employees will be provided with a copy of the Employee Handbook, the 
Security Plan, as well as security and safety training. Security and safety training shall consist of 
examination and discussion of the Security Plan, premises orientation, emergency training, and 
situational training and drills. Situational training consists of instruction related to particular employees’ 
job duties. 

Initial employee safety and security training shall include: 
1)   Building orientation and access authority which shall include:   

a)   The proper use of employee’s access badge for entry into the premises and main building 
entrance; 
b)  The proper use of employee’s access badge for entry into employee’s authorized access areas; 
c)   The proper use of employee’s agent card; 
d)   Employee’s authorized entry and exit points; 
e)   Employee’s locker; and 
f)    Restroom and sink facilities. 
g) Review of police and fire contact numbers 
h) Review of fire safety procedures  
i) Code of conduct or SOP for dealing with trouble patients  
j) Procedure for handling anyone who may loiter  
  

2)   Measures and controls for the prevention of diversion, theft or loss of cannabis and cannabis 

LML-D-81



products which shall include:   
a)   Necessity of keeping all facility doors locked and secure at all times 
b)   Prohibited activities such as entrance into unauthorized access areas 
c)   Awareness of video monitoring 
d)   Inventory control system training for the tracking of all product-related activities and 
information 
e)   Requirement to report any unusual activity, security concern, or loitering 

  
3. Procedures and instructions for responding to an emergency that will include: 

a)   Accident prevention training 
b)   How to respond to an emergency 
c)   Emergency service provider location 
d)   Emergency service contact information 
e)   Emergency first aid kit locations 
f)    Emergency exits and panic button locations 

  
Policy Review and Affirmation. Employees will be provided with either a physical or digital copy of all 
facility policies and relevant operating procedures – upon hire or during the initial training process as 
appropriate – and will be required to read all policies and procedures and sign an affirmation that the 
employee has reviewed and understands all policies and procedures. All employee affirmations will be 
kept in licensee business records. Employees will be required to re-review policies and procedures any 
time there is a material change to such a policy or procedure, and will also be required to re-review 
policies and procedures at intervals determined by the nature of the policy (i.e., quarterly, annually, 
etc.). 
  
Age and Criminal History. All employees must be 21 years of age or older at the time of hire, which will 
be verified by licensee prior to hire. Additionally, employees will be required to verify that they have not 
been convicted of a felony. 
 
Employee Identification. While on duty and at the facility, employees will be required to have on their 
person at all times: valid photo identification, and licensee-issued clothing or badge that easily identifies 
the individual as an employee of licensee. 
 
No Intoxication on Duty. Licensee will not permit any employee, licensee representative, or authorized 
personnel to be under the influence of intoxicants. No cannabis consumption is allowed onsite or on the 
premise even if the employee has a medical cannabis card. 
 
 

LML-D-82



LML-D-83



 

 

 

Community benefits 
Longitude distribution 

LML-D-84



Community Benefits 
 
Longitude Management and its affiliate business, Elevation 2477’, are proud of being a 
community centric enterprise. Since customer care and positive impact is at the ethos of our 
organization, we place priority on community engagement and benefit. The success of our 
business is reliant on the community we serve and partners we are able to attract.  
 
Our values and principles will serve the neighborhood, and show that we are part of Nevada 
City.  
 

● Volunteer Time Off: As with Elevation 2477’ employees, we encourage involvement 
and participation in our neighborhood. Longitude Distribution provides every employee 
with two days of Volunteer Time Off (VTO) to volunteer at an organization of their choice 
in the community. The VTO policy results in additional money and manpower being 
donated to our local communities. The Longitude Distribution team will grow to up to 4 
employees, this equates to 64 VTO hours.  

 
● Community support/improvements - we will coordinate with Nevada City's local 

nonprofits to offer financial assistance and our staff for assistance with programs such 
as: 

 
○ SYRCL’s “Growing Green” Educational Programs: Continued financial 

support for SYRCL’s educational programs  through the Nevada County 
Cannabis Alliance to encourage sustainable cultivation practices.  

○ Adopt a Highway /Street - we will adopt a local street and highway and provide 
our Community Crew to help maintain a clean and orderly environment for all to 
enjoy. 

○ SYRCL’s River Cleanup: Provide our team for SYRCL’s annual river cleanup. 
○ Nevada City Spring Cleanup: As part of the Volunteer Time Off program, 

Longitude Distribution will provide 8 volunteers for the city’s annual spring 
cleanup. 

○ Neighborhood Cleanup: Longitude Distribution employees will perform a two-
block perimeter neighborhood clean up, where-by the staff walk the 
neighborhood streets with trash bags and trash pickers. Additionally, our 
employees will perform daily sweeps of surrounding vicinity and parking lots to 
ensure a litter-free zone. Longitude Distribution is committed to keeping the 
neighborhood clean and safe.   

○ Local food bank - Because these types of organizations serve many local 
children, we thought it best to anonymously donate to an unnamed local food 
bank. We will offer collection hubs at the dispensary and participating businesses 
year round, including at our educational programs and workshops. 

○ Sponsorship of Nevada City Film Festival 
○ Sponsorship of Nevada County Grown Activities and Events 
○ Sponsorship of Paw and Order Dinner for the Rudiger Foundation 

LML-D-85



○ Sponsorship  
○ Nevada City Chamber of Commerce Membership 

 
 

Economic Incentives 
 

● Local Employment: Longitude Distribution will strive to secure qualified local applicants 
to fill all positions available, adhering to heightened pay and benefits outlined in our 
Labor & Employment plan. 

● Locally Grown, Locally Sourced: Longitude Distribution will favor local purveyors, 
licensed and in compliance with local laws in an effort to fuel the local economy and the 
local cannabis industry. 

 
 

Addressing Community Concerns 
 
Longitude Distribution will establish and maintain procedures for working to support our 
community and to resolve community concerns/complaints about our operations. We are 
committed to keeping open communication between our customers and our staff, and neighbors 
and management. It is important for us to educate our neighbors and customers about the 
procedure for expressing concerns or dealing with complaints about our operations so that 
requests, questions, concerns and ideas are addressed in a positive manner and timely fashion. 
 
A summary outline of the procedure is included for handling all issues described above: 
 

● The information sent to all residents and businesses prior to opening will include a 
procedure of how to express concerns or file a complaint. This information will also be 
available in the store and all staff will be trained on how to proceed when a complaint or 
concern is expressed.  

● The Community Outreach Manager's contact information will be provided to all 
businesses and residents within 100 feet of the facility. It shall also be posted at the 
store and on our website. All inquiries or complaints will be responded to within one 
working day, and a log will be kept by the Community Outreach Manager of all 
correspondence with the community. Community Outreach Contact: Christina 
Rosemarin, Nevada City Resident and Longitude Distribution Board Member. 

● Longitude Distribution recognizes the importance of fully understanding a complainant's 
issues. Our team will take reasonable steps to understand the nature of the complaint by 
clarifying and seeking any additional information from the complainant.  

● The Community Outreach Manager will respond via email, seek a face-to-face meeting, 
or an informal discussion over the phone. Complaints which raise particularly 
challenging issues or are otherwise especially complex will be investigated. 

● Follow-up: After resolution of complaints, the Community Outreach Manager should 
follow-up with the complainant within one week to determine their level of satisfaction 

LML-D-86



with how their complaint was handled. These responses will be part of the records and 
reporting. 

● Anonymous Complaints: These matters are assessed against the same criteria as any 
other complaints. When assessing complaints, particular considerations include the 
nature and complexity of the complaint, the quantity and quality of information and the 
capability of a productive outcome. 

 
 
 
 
 

LML-D-87



 

 

 

EnhancEd product safEty 
LongitudE distribution 

LML-D-88



Enhanced Product Safety 

General Safety 

Longitude Distribution is committed to being a role model business in the  cannabis industry and has 
implemented standard operating procedures and practices that will exceed local Nevada City and state 
regulations in terms of product safety. 

As a policy, we will only distribute cannabis products that are labeled and placed in a resealable, tamper-
evident, child-resistant packaging and includes a unique Metrc identifier for the purposes of identifying 
and tracking cannabis and cannabis products. 

In addition, we will only distribute cannabis products that are packaged and labeled in a way that is not 
attractive to children and in accordance with all state laws. All products must properly carry warning labels 
as required by state regulations as noted below: 

● For packages containing only dried flower, the net weight of cannabis in the package. 

● Identification of the source and date of cultivation, the type of cannabis or cannabis product and 
the date of manufacturing and packaging. 

● The appellation of origin, if any. 

● List of pharmacologically active ingredients, including, but not limited to, tetrahydrocannabinol 
(THC), cannabidiol (CBD), and other cannabinoid content, the THC and other cannabinoid amount 
in milligrams per serving, servings per package, and the THC and other cannabinoid amount in 
milligrams for the package total. 

● A warning if nuts or other known allergens are used. 

● Information associated with the unique identifier issued by the Department of Food and 
Agriculture. 

● For a  cannabis product sold at a retailer, the following statement must appear in bold: For 
flowers: “GOVERNMENT WARNING: THIS PACKAGE CONTAINS CANNABIS, A SCHEDULE I 
CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE. KEEP OUT OF REACH OF CHILDREN AND ANIMALS. CANNABIS MAY 
ONLY BE POSSESSED OR CONSUMED BY PERSONS 21 YEARS OF AGE OR OLDER UNLESS THE 
PERSON IS A QUALIFIED client. CANNABIS USE WHILE PREGNANT OR BREASTFEEDING MAY BE 
HARMFUL. CONSUMPTION OF CANNABIS IMPAIRS YOUR ABILITY TO DRIVE AND OPERATE 
MACHINERY. PLEASE USE EXTREME CAUTION.” 

     For Cannabis products: “GOVERNMENT WARNING: THIS PRODUCT CONTAINS CANNABIS, A SCHEDULE 
I CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE. KEEP OUT OF REACH OF CHILDREN AND ANIMALS. CANNABIS PRODUCTS MAY 
ONLY BE POSSESSED OR CONSUMED BY PERSONS 21 YEARS OF AGE OR OLDER UNLESS THE PERSON IS A 
QUALIFIED client. THE INTOXICATING EFFECTS OF CANNABIS PRODUCTS MAY BE DELAYED UP TO TWO 

LML-D-89



HOURS. CANNABIS USE WHILE PREGNANT OR BREASTFEEDING MAY BE HARMFUL. CONSUMPTION OF 
CANNABIS PRODUCTS IMPAIRS YOUR ABILITY TO DRIVE AND OPERATE MACHINERY. PLEASE USE EXTREME 
CAUTION.” 

● Any other requirement set by the bureau or the State Department of Public Health. 

● Only generic food names may be used to describe the ingredients in edible cannabis products. 

● In the event the Attorney General determines that cannabis is no longer a Schedule I controlled 
substance under federal law, the label prescribed in subdivision shall no longer require a 
statement that cannabis is a Schedule I controlled substance. 

Included in our employee handbook is also a policy that requires all inventory managers and employees 
to remind clients to store their products safely in a place unreachable by children and pets prior to every 
checkout. 
 

Exhibit 1: Sample of Bag Which All cannabis Bought Leaves The Store In (all products) 

 
>>> Trent to get this rendered with our logo on it and proper government disclosures and callouts.  
 
Exhibit 2: Please just add a photo of the child resistant bags with Longitude Distribution Logo On it. 
 
 
Products on the Floor and Online 
 
We believe product safety extends beyond the packaging our clients leave the store with, and is also a 
critical element of the ongoing operations. Therefore, we have devised a stringent product safety plan for 
our distribution.  

LML-D-90



 
1. Display of Product  

All cannabis products will be stored behind an enclosure and not readily accessible for clients to freely 
grab. This will ensure that each client must interact with an inventory manager prior to checking out and 
allows for an interactive discussion to make sure the client understands the effects of each particular 
cannabis, its benefits and what effects to expect, so they may pass that information onto their retail 
customers.  
 
2. Showcasing Product 
Purchasing  cannabis is an interactive experience. clients have a wide variety of cannabis to choose from 
and want to see, smell and usually understand the components of dried flower prior to purchasing it. 
Since all of our bulk flowers will be behind the shelves, Longitude Distribution will use engineered Aroma 
E-POD (trademarked) which allows for clients to pull back the black tab to smell cannabis, has a built in 
magnifier to showcase the cannabis flowers, a tamper evident seal holds the top piece and the bottom 
piece to evade theft and the E-Pod is tethered to the display table with electric tether that has an audible 
alarm if someone tries to pull it off.   Online sales will also be a portion of our distribution process and 
we’ll work with qualified product placement photographers for clean, crisp, clear and accurate 
representations of the product for retail purchasers who are out of town. 
  
 

 
 
Procurement of Product 
All cannabis products offered in our distribution will be sourced from California state licensed farmers 
and manufacturers with a heavy emphasis on Nevada County local businesses. All cannabis flower, 
edibles, concentrates and ancillary products such as tinctures and salves will be tested and approved by 
a state licensed cannabis testing facility prior to distribution. All cannabis infused products will be 

LML-D-91



sourced from manufacturers whose products are regularly tested for compliance with state and local 
requirements. 
 
Longitude Distribution is committed to ethical business practices and will not source or sell any product 
that is in violation of any state or local laws. All of our inventory will only ever come from legal sources 
within the state of California.  
 
Testing Standards 
 
According to state regulations all  cannabis products must go through quality assurance, inspection and 
testing for the following items:  
 
(A)  Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) 
(B)  Tetrahydrocannabinolic Acid (THCA) 
(C)  Cannabidiol (CBD) 
(D)  Cannabidiolic Acid (CBDA) 
(E)  The terpenes required by the bureau in regulation  
(F)  Cannabigerol (CBG).  
(G)  Cannabinol (CBN)  
(H)  Any other compounds or contaminants required by the bureau. 
(I) Pesticides, That the presence of contaminants does not exceed the levels established by the bureau.  
(J) Mold Spores  
(K) Microbiological Impurities identified by the bureau  
 
Longitude Distribution will verify and only source and sell products that have met or exceeded the 
state’s stringent guidelines. We are aware that there will be a major imbalance of properly tested 
products available as the state licensing system is launched and retailers may suffer product shortages. 
Longitude Distribution anticipate this challenge and will properly regulate the amount of inventory on 
hand as the testing deadline approaches so we can ensure properly serving our clients.  
 
INSERT CHILD RESISTANT PDF WITH COLOR CHANGE: 
https://drive.google.com/drive/u/0/folders/0B2Mn3c-t3UF8NjMtSzZlRE5TUGs 
 
 
 

LML-D-92

https://drive.google.com/drive/u/0/folders/0B2Mn3c-t3UF8NjMtSzZlRE5TUGs


 

 

 

EnvironmEntal bEnEfits 
longitudE distribution 

LML-D-93



Environmental Benefits 
 
Longitude Distribution is committed to working with the building owners and their neighbors in 
retrofitting its facility at 569 Searls Avenue with sustainable energy systems, using green 
building practices and natural resources efficiently, that can help the city achieve its goal of 
becoming a low-carbon community reliant on the efficient use of renewable energy resources. 
We plan to work with local contractors and providers to achieve this goal. 
 
Our plan is to lower the impact on the environment by implementing the following practices: 
 

● Solar energy system: Longitude Distribution in partnership with the property owners will 
install a solar energy system in three phases. This will result in a fully self-sufficient 
powered facility. 

 
● Retrofitting the facility with water-efficient fixtures. Retrofitting one out of every 100 

American homes with water-efficient fixtures could avoid about 80,000 tons of 
greenhouse gas emissions, which is the equivalent of removing 15,000 cars from the 
road for one year. 

● LED lighting and motion sensing lights where applicable. 
● Use of reclaimed materials in renovations. 
● All appliances, including refrigerators, HVAC systems and any other electronic device 

will be energy efficient. 
● Use of zero-VOC, or paints and finishes with low level toxic emissions for use on walls. 

Milk Paint, or zero-VOC paint, is environmentally safe and non-toxic. 
● Reuse and Recycle programs: 

○ Use of recycled paper and soy-based inks in marketing materials. 
○ Use of recycled and recyclable disposable products for use by employees during 

their shifts. 
○ Use of reusable child resistant bags for products. 

● Native landscaping and drip irrigation system for outdoor environments. 

LML-D-94



● Zero ozone emissions odor mitigation system. 
● We will abundantly use Solar Tubes which use the sun’s natural light to power indoor 

environments with absolutely no electricity required 
 

LML-D-95



 

 

 

Labor - empLoyment 
Longitude distribution 

LML-D-96



Employee Hiring Guidelines 

Longitude Distribution strives to hire local, qualified residents. We provide a work 
environment that is safe for the employees, clients and the community by requiring all 
appropriate background checks and references and complying with local and state 
requirements.   

All potential employees will undergo a background check and a vetting process that includes 
checking references before commencing work. 

All potential employees are required to be legally authorized to do so under applicable state 
law. All employees will also have to obtain a work permit from the City prior to being trained 
and performing any tasks.  

As part of the application process, all applicants will be required, but not limited, to provide 
the following information: 

● Name, address, and phone number 
● Age and verification: Copy of driver’s license, birth certificate or other proof that the 

applicant is at least twenty-one (21) years of age. 
● Previous employment references: Name, address, and contact person for at least 

three previous previous employers. If the applicant has been previously fired, 
resigned, or asked to leave, he or she must provide reasons for dismissal or firing. 

● Three character references. 
● A signed statement under penalty of perjury that the information provided is true 

and correct. 
● Proof or verification that the applicant is a qualified patient or primary caregiver. 
● Submit to two interviews with employers or site managers. 

2. Employee Training Guidelines 

Training of new employees will happen under the strict supervision of qualified managers 
and owners. Employees will be trained on their specific job responsibilities and 
corresponding procedures by the site Manager. All training must be completed before an 
employee can perform any task independently. 

New employees are required to shadow a more experienced employee or manager for a period 
determined by the onsite Manager or their designee. Some tasks may require a longer 
shadowing period than others. The onsite Manager or their designee will determine whether 
additional training and shadowing is required for an employee. 

At a minimum, all employees will receive training to include; safety and security, product and 
cannabis research knowledge, safe handling practices. 

Upon completion of training, all employees are required to complete the Employee 
Acknowledgement page affirming that they received training and are comfortable performing 

LML-D-97



their assigned task. 

A copy of the employee’s signed acknowledgement will be maintained in the personnel files 
for accurate and current record keeping. 

All employees must maintain the utmost ethical behavior and display good moral character.  

In the event an employee is accused or convicted of a crime, he or she will be placed on 
leave until the outcome of such criminal procedures is final. Employees found to be 
convicted of a crime would be terminated immediately from employment. 

LML-D-98



4. Employee Security Staff 

 As part of the employee pool, Longitude Distribution will hire local security employees to 
assist the Security Manager with the performance and implementation of the Security Plan. 
Security staff will wear a distinct badge, act and address individuals in a formal manner, and 
continuously patrol when not on a fixed duty assignment. 

 5. Employee Log 

For the safety and security of the premises surrounding the building, the building, its 
occupants, and products, the Security Manager will keep a current and accessible roster of 
all employees and ensure that all employees are aware of terminations or duty 
reassignments as they occur. All terminated employees or those not having valid agent cards 
shall be prohibited from being in, on or about the distribution facility. 

 6. Employee Termination 

Upon termination of any employee, whether it be voluntary or involuntary, Longitude 
Distribution shall ensure that terminated employee’s keys, tools and access codes and cards 
are returned, and ensure that such codes and access points are altered so as to prevent the 
terminated employees’ access. Longitude Distribution shall notify the city and local law 
enforcement within ten (10) days after a  cannabis establishment agent ceases to be 
employed by the facility. 

 6. The Team 

● Packagers (2 positions) 
○ Job Summary: Packagers will possess strong-to-excellent knowledge of 

cannabis products, and be able to create shipping manifests and orders while 
maintaining compliance with all state regulatory guidelines.  

○ Salary: $15.00 to $25.00 /hour, depending on experience. 
○ Duties/Responsibilities:  

■ Adhere to strict distribution processes and maintain a professional and 
safe environment for clients and coworkers. 

■ Gather and process required documents and information, and perform 
detailed verification while maintaining client confidentiality. 

■ Continue to enhance knowledge of  cannabis, and continually hone 
ability to explain and recommend products 

■ Unpack, sort, count and label merchandise as directed, including items 
requiring special handling or refrigeration. 

■ Maintain the professional appearance of the collective by restocking 

LML-D-99



merchandise on the sales floor and participating in basic store clean-
up. 

■ Perform clerical tasks including accurate filing, compiling, and 
maintaining inventory and records. 

○ Skills & Qualifications: 
■ Proper licenses, if necessary. 
■ Experiences in stocking and inventory control preferred. 
■ Knowledge of marijuana strains, (indicas, sativas, hybrids), edibles, 

extracts, and current products on the market. 
■ distribution-related experience a plus. 
■ Must be friendly, outgoing, trustworthy, dependable, and 

hardworking. 
■ Must be able to provide exemplary customer service, and represent 

the business with pride; 
■ Must be at least 21 years of age; 
■ Must have no felony convictions; 
■ Must comply with an extensive background check. 

 
● Distribution Manager (1 position) 

○ Job Summary: The distribution Manager ensures that all transactions and the 
implementation of other facility processes comply with state and local laws 
and regulations and that service exceeds customer expectations. The 
distribution Manager collaborates to develop and implement practices, 
policies, and strategies that support a performance and results-driven culture. 
The distribution Manager reports to the Corporate officers and board of 
directors. 

○ Salary: $42k-$62k per year. 
○ Duties/Responsibilities:  

■ Ensures accuracy and compliance in all transactions 
■ Performs the required duties to record all sales and inventory 

transactions in accordance with state and local laws and regulations. 
■ Maintains established standards of presentation, customer service, 

and compliance. 
■ Coordinates with the Executive Management Team to ensure all 

employees have accurate, up-to-date knowledge and materials related 
to their position. 

■ Communicates the details of daily operations to the Executive 
Management Team 

■ Implements and oversees procedures related to opening and closing of 
the retail store. 

■ Participates in the recruiting, training, development and success of 
employees. 

■ Stays informed and knowledgeable about state and local laws, 
regulations and industry news. 

LML-D-100



■ Facilitates ordering of cannabis infused products (concentrates, 
vaporizer, topicals and edibles), clothing and accessories. 

■ Performs inventory reconciliations daily, weekly and as needed 
■ Additional duties as requested. 

○ Skills & Qualifications: 
■ Proper licenses, if necessary 
■ Three years in progressively responsible retail experience, including at 

least one year in a management position; 
■ Ability to manage a team of staff members at a time during normal 

business hours in a fast paced, heavily regulated environment; 
■ Experience in inventory management and reconciliation; 
■ Excellent oral and written communication skills; 
■ Proficient computing skills 
■ Innate desire to achieve success and a work ethic to match 
■ High level of integrity; 
■ Degree in business, management, or related areas, preferred; 
■ Experience working in a heavily regulated industry, preferred. 

○ Working Conditions/Physical Requirements:  
■ The distribution Manager regularly works evenings, weekends, and 

holidays to meet the needs of our retail setting; 
■ Successful performance of this role requires that the incumbent is 

physically able to move freely between different parts of the store, lift 
up to 30 pounds; 

■ Spend several hours a day viewing a computer screen. 
 

● Driver (2 positions) 
○ Job Description: The position of driver is to deliver inventory to licensed 

retailers per Nevada City and State of CA requirements, and generally assisting 
where needed. The Driver is the front line and first to greet clients, and 
therefore a friendly and welcoming personality is key. 

○ Salary: $25.00 to $35.00 /hour 
○ Requirements: 

■ Must be highly organized 
■ Excellent telephone skills 
■ Understanding of Delivery methods and Manifest recording 
■ A high degree of initiative and self-motivation 
■ Have knowledge of social media (Weed Maps and Leafly a plus) 
■ Excellent Communication 
■ Attention to Detail 
■ Multi-task Oriented 
■ Stress Management/Composure 
■ Some college education, 4-year degree (or beyond) preferred 
■ Must submit and pass a Department of Criminal Justice criminal 

background check 

LML-D-101



■ Must be 21 years or older  
■ Must Have a valid California  Drivers License 
■ Must have no felony convictions; 

○  Cannabis distribution or other cannabis industry related: 1 year 
 

LML-D-102



 

 

 

LocaL enterprise 
Longitude distribution 

LML-D-103



Local Enterprise 
 

The Longitude Distribution team has deep roots in Nevada County and a prove track record of 
running compliant cannabis businesses. 
 
Founder and CEO Daniel Batchelor has seen Nevada County change and grow in the over two 
decades he has resided here. He attended Nevada City School of the Arts, Bear River High 
School and Sierra College. For Daniel, Nevada City represents the county seat and the 
epicenter of social, cultural and entrepreneurial life in Nevada County. 
 
Jonathan Hogander is a former Portland resident who couldn’t resist the allure of the Sierra 
Foothills. He moved his wife and three kids to Nevada County in 2013, when they found local 
Waldorf Schools for their daughters and fell in love with the Nevada City/Grass valley area. Lack 
of local regulations has sent Jonathan on the road to advice and seek business opportunities in 
regulated counties and states. So when the opportunity of opening a permitted and regulated 
cannabis business in his hometown, he immediately became involved.  
 
Daniel and Jonathan, whose families have been friends for 10 years, were fatigued with 
traveling and consulting businesses in other areas. So it was with a deep desire to bring their 
expertise home, fuel the local economy and developed a future for the cannabis industry in 
Nevada County that the concept for Elevation 2477’, the existing licensed dispensary, was 
formed.  A year later and clogs in the distribution avenues for locals has spawned the proposal 
of Longitude Distribution. 
 
In addition to these principals, Longitude Distribution will draw exclusively from the cities of 
Nevada City, Grass Valley, Unincorporated Nevada County, and Truckee for the remainder of 
its managers. Also, to the extent practicable, we will also draw the remainder of 
the staff locally, with a goal of a majority of hires coming from Nevada County.  
 
Since Longitude Distribution was just an idea, the team has considered how many small 
businesses surround our everyday lives. It was with that in mind, and impressed with the 
amount of time, commitment and labor these hard working businesses contribute to our local 
economy, that our team began engaging local professionals to bring our vision to life. For us, 
this is the opportunity for local success stories to become role models for others.  
 
Here is some of the local professionals who have helped bring this project to you: 
 

● Laurel Durland: Interior Designer, Grass Valley, CA 
● Juniper Lindquist: Graphic Designer, Nevada City, CA 
● Richard Baker: Siteline Architecture, Grass Valley, CA 
● Maria Herrera: Branding and Communications Strategist, Nevada City, CA 

 
 
 

LML-D-104



Longitude Distribution has already used the services of local businesses such as locksmiths, 
cleaners and plumbers.  
 
Longitude Distribution will continue to support the efforts of local advocacy organizations to 
establish a licensed and regulated cannabis industry in Nevada County that will allow us to 
source all of our cannabis products locally from licensed local farmers and manufacturers.  
 
 
 

LML-D-105



 

 

 

Qualifications of principals 
longitude distribution 

LML-D-106



Qualifications of Principals 
 
 

Corporate Officers/Board of Directors:  
 
The Board of Directors will be heavily involved in the day-to-day operations of Longitude 
Distribution ensuring the highest excellence in services, regulatory compliance, and safety and 
security. They will be in charge of implementing all standard operating procedures, periodically 
reviewing and updating plans and examining financial projections and reports. Both board 
directors are well-versed in different aspects of the cannabis industry and together comprise 
the ideal leadership team for the first distribution facility in Nevada City. 
 
Daniel Batchelor, Chief Executive Officer, Grass Valley, CA : With a background in business 
development and consulting, and a successful track record as CEO of Elevation 2477’, Daniel is 
positioned to expand into his own distribution facility. Daniel has been a local resident since 
1991, when his family moved to the area from Santa Cruz. Since attending San Diego State 
University, Daniel has gained extensive knowledge of the  cannabis industry in California, first 
by opening his own dispensary in the San Diego area in 2009, and then successfully winning 
the only dispensary license in Nevada City. Since opening the doors of Elevation 2477’ in 
August 2018, Daniel has been able to build important relationships with statewide product 
makers, farmers and distribution companies, gaining him the unique knowledge to successfully 
broker relationships between consumers and cannabis product providers that benefit both 
parties. He continues to be involved in the development of local cannabis policy as Executive 
Board member of the Nevada County Cannabis Alliance and actively participates in the local 
philanthropic community. His love for Nevada County led him to get involved with local 
organizations such as the Nevada City Chamber of Commerce. 
 
 
Jonathan Hogander, Chief Financial Officer/Chief Operating Officer, Auburn, CA : 
Jonathan Hogander will be acting as CFO/COO for Longitude Management LLC as well as CFO 
for Elevation 2477. Jonathan has long been apart of the  cannabis community, as a client since 
2002, and as an activist and advocate for  cannabis rights. Jonathan has resided in Nevada 
County since 2013, when he was in search of a school for his daughters that was in alignment 
with his idea of a balanced early childhood education. After finding the Live Oak Waldorf School 
in Meadow Vista he discovered Grass Valley and made it his home with his wife and three 
daughters. Jonathan has extensive  and recreational dispensary knowledge and experience. 
Currently his companies hold 10 Oregon Liquor Control Commission (OLCC) Licensed 
Marijuana Retail Licenses; four (4) OLCC Licensed Marijuana Producer Licenses, and a 
Wholesale license. Additionally, Jonathan recently received the first Type 7 Volatile 
Manufacturer license in the City of Davis, California and is acting CEO/President for Blessed 
Extracts along with a Type 11 Distribution license. As a current cannabis business operator, 
Jonathan has gained extensive knowledge of Franwell Metrc Cannabis Tracking System (CTS), 
which is used for seed-to-sale tracking of cannabis products in Oregon and is currently using 

LML-D-107



metrc in California at both Blessed Extracts and Elevation 2477. His educational background 
includes a degree from Cal Poly – San Luis Obispo in mechanical engineering in 2008 (magna 
cum laude). Before Jonathan’s cannabis business career he had experience working as a 
senior mechanical design engineer and product manager in several companies including 
Microsoft and Sony Electronics. 
 
 

LML-D-108



LML-D-109



LML-D-110



LML-D-111





 

 

 

Financials 
longitude distribution 

LML-D-113



-114



LML-D-115



LML-D-116



LML-D-117



     

 1  4

                                                       

Page of



 2  4Page of



10
03

47
90

20
20

00
00

00
62

 3  4Page of

LML-D-120



 4  4Page of

1



 

 

 

ProPerty lease 
longitude distribution 

LML-D-122



 
1 

LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (this “Lease”) is made _______________________, between NC 
ACQUISITION 569, LLC, a California limited liability company (“Landlord”), and Longitude Management, 
LLC, a [California] limited liability company (“Tenant”). 

BASIC LEASE TERMS 

1. Address of Premises:  569 Searls Avenue, Suite B, Nevada City, CA 95959 

2. Premises:  Those certain premises located in the building (the “Building”) having an address of 
569 Searls Avenue, Nevada City, CA 95959; the Premises are depicted on the Floor Plan set forth on 
Exhibit A. 

3. Project:  The real property on which the Building in which the Premises are located, together with 
parking areas, landscaped areas and all other improvements thereon and appurtenances thereto as 
depicted on Exhibit B. 

4. Base Rent:  Monthly installments of Base Rent will be in the amounts set forth below: 
 

Period Monthly Base Rent 

10.1.19 - 7.31.20 $3,600 

8.1.20 - 7.31.21 $3,708 

8.1.21 – 7.31.22 $3,819.24 

8.1.22 – 7.31.23 $3,933.82 

  

 
* For purposes of this Lease, a “Lease Year” shall be defined as that twelve (12) month period during 
the initial three (3) year and ten (10) month term (the “Original Term”) commencing on the Rent 
Commencement Date or the annual anniversary thereof, as may be applicable. 
 
** See Section 5 of this Lease regarding application of Security Deposit to Base Rent upon issuance of 
the Certificate of Occupancy (or its equivalent) to Tenant. 
 
5. Square Footage of Premises: Approximately 1,800 square feet. 

6. Square Footage of Project:  Approximately 8,100 sq. ft. 

7. Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses: 22.22% (see Section 3(b) and Section 4(b)) 

8. Delivery Date:  This shall be the same date as the Rent Commencement Date, subject to the 
terms of Item 9 below.  

9. Rent Commencement Date: October 1st, 2019 
 
10. Security Deposit: $3,600 (see Section 5) 
 
11. Tenant’s Initial Estimated Monthly Operating Expenses for Lease Year 1: $1,116, subject to 
adjustment and reconciliation. 
 
12. Term:  Beginning on the Rent Commencement Date and ending three (3) years and ten (10) 
months from the first day of the first full month following the Rent Commencement Date, subject to 
Tenant’s right to extend pursuant to Section 40. The Original Term and any Option Terms are collectively 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1

9/30/2019

LML-D-123



 
1 

LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (this “Lease”) is made _______________________, between NC 
ACQUISITION 569, LLC, a California limited liability company (“Landlord”), and Longitude Management, 
LLC, a [California] limited liability company (“Tenant”). 

BASIC LEASE TERMS 

1. Address of Premises:  569 Searls Avenue, Suite B, Nevada City, CA 95959 

2. Premises:  Those certain premises located in the building (the “Building”) having an address of 
569 Searls Avenue, Nevada City, CA 95959; the Premises are depicted on the Floor Plan set forth on 
Exhibit A. 

3. Project:  The real property on which the Building in which the Premises are located, together with 
parking areas, landscaped areas and all other improvements thereon and appurtenances thereto as 
depicted on Exhibit B. 

4. Base Rent:  Monthly installments of Base Rent will be in the amounts set forth below: 
 

Period Monthly Base Rent 

10.1.19 - 7.31.20 $3,600 

8.1.20 - 7.31.21 $3,708 

8.1.21 – 7.31.22 $3,819.24 

8.1.22 – 7.31.23 $3,933.82 

  

 
* For purposes of this Lease, a “Lease Year” shall be defined as that twelve (12) month period during 
the initial three (3) year and ten (10) month term (the “Original Term”) commencing on the Rent 
Commencement Date or the annual anniversary thereof, as may be applicable. 
 
** See Section 5 of this Lease regarding application of Security Deposit to Base Rent upon issuance of 
the Certificate of Occupancy (or its equivalent) to Tenant. 
 
5. Square Footage of Premises: Approximately 1,800 square feet. 

6. Square Footage of Project:  Approximately 8,100 sq. ft. 

7. Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses: 22.22% (see Section 3(b) and Section 4(b)) 

8. Delivery Date:  This shall be the same date as the Rent Commencement Date, subject to the 
terms of Item 9 below.  

9. Rent Commencement Date: October 1st, 2019 
 
10. Security Deposit: $3,600 (see Section 5) 
 
11. Tenant’s Initial Estimated Monthly Operating Expenses for Lease Year 1: $1,116, subject to 
adjustment and reconciliation. 
 
12. Term:  Beginning on the Rent Commencement Date and ending three (3) years and ten (10) 
months from the first day of the first full month following the Rent Commencement Date, subject to 
Tenant’s right to extend pursuant to Section 40. The Original Term and any Option Terms are collectively 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1

9/30/2019

LML-D-124



 

 
2 

referred to herein as the “Term.” 

13. Permitted Use: Tenant shall use the Premises for Type 11 Distribution, as deemed a lawful 
purpose pursuant to Nevada City Medical Cannabis Business Ordinance No. 2017-06, and in accordance 
with applicable rules, regulations and any other applicable laws, ordinances and governmental 
requirements.  Tenant shall otherwise use the Premises in compliance with the provisions of Section 6 
hereof. Tenant shall only have the right to use and occupy the Premises for the Agreed Use only.  Tenant 
may not use the Premises for any other purpose without Landlord’s prior written consent, which may be 
withheld in Landlord’s sole discretion.   

14. Addresses: 

Landlord’s Address: Address for Landlord’s Attorney: 
c/o SBMI Group  
1253 University Avenue, Suite 1002 
San Diego, CA 92103 
Telephone: (858) 332-2480 
Email: quincy@sbmigroup.com 
Attn: Quincy Hilla 

Susan E. Lamson, Esq. 
Kimball, Tirey and St. John 
7676 Hazard Center Drive, Suite 900-B 
San Diego, CA 92108 
Phone (Direct) 619.881.4893 
Susan.Lamson@kts-law.com 

 
Tenant’s Notice Address: 

 

LONGITUDE MANAGEMENT, LLC 
569 Searls Avenue, Suite B 
Nevada City, CA 95959 

 

 
15. Amount Due on Tenant's Execution of Lease: $3,600 (one monthly installment of Base Rent), 
to be used for the Security Deposit. 

 
 
16. Exhibits: The following Exhibits and Addenda are attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
this reference: 

[ X ]  EXHIBIT A – FLOOR PLAN [ 
[ X ]  EXHIBIT B – WORK LETTER [ [X ]  EXHIBIT C – RENT COMMENCEMENT DATE 
[ X ]  EXHIBIT D - RULES AND REGULATIONS [ [X ]  EXHIBIT E – GUARANTY 
 
 

1. Lease of Premises.  Upon and subject to all of the terms and conditions hereof, 
Landlord hereby leases the Premises to Tenant and Tenant hereby leases the Premises from Landlord.  
The portions of the Project which are for the non-exclusive use of tenants of the Project are collectively 
referred to herein as the “Common Areas.”  Landlord reserves the right to modify Common Areas, 
provided that such modifications do not materially adversely affect Tenant’s use of the Premises for the 
Permitted Use. 

2. Delivery; Acceptance of Premises.  

(a) Tenant shall have the right to non-exclusive early possession of the Premises (“Early 
Possession”) from the date of the mutual execution of the Lease until the Delivery Date, for the purpose 
of preparing the space plans, obtaining required governmental approvals and building permits, and, to the 
extent permitted by Landlord, constructing the initial tenant improvements (“Tenant’s Work”) in the 
Premises and installing Tenant’s fixtures, furniture and equipment, if Landlord determines, in its sole and 
absolute discretion, that Early Possession is feasible and will not interfere with Landlord’s Work or delay 
the Delivery Date. Tenant shall provide proof of insurance coverage as required under the Lease prior to 
such Early Possession. Tenant shall not interfere with Landlord’s construction activities and shall abide by 
all terms of the Lease (except for the payment of Rent, unless Tenant commences business operations) 
during such period of Early Possession. If Landlord fails to timely Deliver the Premises, Landlord shall not 
be liable to Tenant for any loss or damage resulting therefrom, and this Lease shall not be void or 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-125



 

 
3 

voidable. As used herein, the terms “Landlord’s Work,” “Tenants’ Work,” “Tenant Delays” and 
“Substantially Completed” or substantially complete shall have the meanings set forth for such terms in 
this Lease and the Work Letter.   

(b) Upon request of Landlord, Tenant shall execute and deliver a written acknowledgment of 
the Delivery Date, the Rent Commencement Date and the expiration date of the Term when such are 
established, in the form of the “Acknowledgement of Delivery Date” attached to this Lease as Exhibit D; 
provided, however, Tenant’s failure to execute and deliver such acknowledgment shall not affect 
Landlord’s rights hereunder.   

(c) Except as may be expressly set forth in the Work Letter:  (i) Tenant shall, as of the 
Delivery Date, accept the Premises in their cold shell condition, (ii) Landlord shall have no obligation for 
any defects in the Premises except with respect to the foundation, the roof and the exterior walls; and (iii) 
Tenant’s taking possession of the Premises shall be conclusive evidence that Tenant accepts the 
Premises and that the Premises were in good condition at the time possession was taken. Any 
occupancy of the Premises by Tenant before the Delivery Date shall be subject to all of the terms and 
conditions of this Lease. 

(d) Except as expressly set forth in this Lease, Tenant agrees and acknowledges that neither 
Landlord nor any agent of Landlord has made any representation or warranty with respect to the condition 
of all or any portion of the Premises or the Project, and/or the suitability of the Premises or the Project for 
the conduct of Tenant’s business, and Tenant waives any implied warranty that the Premises or the 
Project are suitable for the Permitted Use.  This Lease constitutes the complete agreement of Landlord 
and Tenant with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes any and all prior representations, 
inducements, promises, agreements, understandings and negotiations which are not contained herein.  
Landlord in executing this Lease does so in reliance upon Tenant’s representations, warranties, 
acknowledgments and agreements contained herein. 

(e) All work to be done in the Premises shall be provided by Tenant at Tenant sole cost and 
expense (the “Tenant’s Work”).  Tenant’s Work shall include, but shall not be limited to, all leasehold 
improvements, fixtures, equipment and personal property necessary for Tenant to open from the 
Premises for the Permitted Use.  The plans for Tenant’s Work shall be subject to Landlord’s prior written 
approval, not to be unreasonably withheld. 

(f) Applicable laws, covenants or restrictions of record, regulations and ordinances will be 
referred to hereafter as “Applicable Requirements.”  Landlord makes no representations or warranties 
regarding the compliance or noncompliance of the Premises to Applicable Requirements as of the Start 
Date; Tenant is responsible for investigating this and has been advised to complete this investigation 
before signing this Lease.   

(g) Landlord shall have the right to terminate this Lease, upon delivery of thirty (30) days’ 
written notice to Tenant, if (i) Tenant’s use of the Premises results in legal action, or a code, zoning or 
similar violation notice, or if any civil, administrative, or criminal prosecution, is initiated against Tenant or 
Landlord because of Tenant’s use of the Premises; or (ii) any federal, state, or local forfeiture proceeding 
against the Premises has been initiated or is pending. 

3. Rent. 

(a) Base Rent.  The Security Deposit shall be due and payable on delivery of an executed 
copy of this Lease to Landlord.  Commencing on the Rent Commencement Date and on the first day of 
each calendar month thereafter during the Term, Tenant shall pay to Landlord in advance, without 
demand, abatement, deduction or set-off, monthly installments of Base Rent in lawful money of the 
United States of America, at the office of Landlord for payment of Rent set forth above, or to such other 
person or at such other place as Landlord may from time to time designate in writing.  Payments of Base 
Rent for any fractional calendar month shall be prorated.  The obligation of Tenant to pay Base Rent and 
other sums to Landlord and the obligations of Landlord under this Lease are independent obligations.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-126



 

 
4 

Tenant shall have no right at any time to abate, reduce, or set-off any Rent (as defined in Section 4(h) 
below) due hereunder except for any abatement as may be expressly provided in this Lease.   

(b) Additional Rent. In addition to Base Rent, Tenant agrees to pay to Landlord as 
additional rent (“Additional Rent”):  (i) Tenant’s Share of “Operating Expenses” (as defined in Section 
4(b)), and (ii) any and all other amounts Tenant assumes or agrees to pay under the provisions of this 
Lease, including, without limitation, any and all other sums that may become due by reason of any default 
of Tenant or failure to comply with the agreements, terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease to be 
performed by Tenant, after any applicable notice and cure period.  As used in this Lease, the term 
“Tenant’s Share” shall be equal to a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of square feet 
of floor area in the Premises and the denominator of which shall be the number of square feet of floor 
area in the Project.  It is the intention of Landlord and Tenant that the Base Rent and Additional Rent to 
be paid hereunder shall be paid to Landlord absolutely net without deduction of any amount of any nature 
whatsoever, and that all expenses incurred by Landlord shall be subject to the obligation by Tenant of 
reimbursement to Landlord, except as otherwise expressly and specifically provided in this Lease. 

4. Operating Expense Payments.   

(a) Landlord shall deliver to Tenant a written estimate of Operating Expenses for each 
calendar year during the Term (the “Annual Estimate”), which may be revised by Landlord from time to 
time during such calendar year.  During each month of the Term, on the same date that Base Rent is due, 
Tenant shall pay Landlord an amount equal to 1/12th of Tenant’s Share of the Annual Estimate.  
Payments for any fractional calendar month shall be prorated. 

(b) The term “Operating Expenses” means all costs and expenses incurred by Landlord in 
operating, managing, insuring, repairing, replacing and maintaining the Common Areas, the exterior 
walls, the roofs of the buildings, the utility facilities and systems not exclusively serving the premises of 
any tenant, insuring the Project as required hereunder, Common Area lighting fixtures, Project sign 
monuments or pylons and directional signage, the costs of complying with local, state and federal laws 
relating to the Common Areas, and such related costs of any kind or description whatsoever incurred or 
accrued each calendar year by Landlord with respect to the Project including but not limited to the 
following: 

(i) The operation, repair and maintenance, in neat, clean, good order and condition , 
and if necessary the replacement, of the following: 

(A) The Common Areas and Common Area improvements, including parking 
areas, loading and unloading areas, trash areas, roadways, parkways, walkways, driveways, landscaped 
areas, bumpers, irrigation systems, Common Area lighting facilities, fences and gates, stairs, roofs, 
exterior walls of the buildings and roof drainage systems. 

(B) Exterior signs and any tenant directories. 

(C) Any fire sprinkler systems. 

(D) All other areas and improvements that are within the exterior boundaries of 
the Project but outside of the Premises and/or any other space occupied by a tenant. 

(ii) The cost of water, gas, electricity and telephone to service the Common Areas 
and any utilities not separately metered. 

(iii) The cost of trash disposal, pest control services, property management, security 
services, owners' association dues and fees, the cost to repaint the exterior of any structures and the cost 
of any environmental inspections. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-127



 

 
5 

(iv) Reserves set aside for maintenance, repair and/or replacement of Common Area 
improvements and equipment. 

(v) Taxes (as defined in Section 8). 

(vi) The cost of the premiums for the insurance maintained by Landlord pursuant to 
Section 16. 

(vii) Any deductible portion of an insured loss concerning the Building or the Common 
Areas. 

(viii) Auditors', accountants' and attorneys' fees and costs related to the operation, 
maintenance, repair and replacement of the Project. 

(ix) The cost of any capital expenditure to the Building or the Project, provided; 
however, that Landlord shall allocate the cost of any such capital expenditure over a 12 year period and 
Tenant shall not be required to pay more than Tenant's Share of 1/144th of the cost of such capital 
expenditure in any given month. In no event, however, shall Tenant be responsible for the cost, as part of 
Tenant’s Share of Common Area Operating Expenses, of initial construction or restoration performed by 
Landlord prior to the Rent Commencement Date of the Buildings or the Common Areas. As used herein, 
the term “capital expenditures” means expenditures which, in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, are not fully chargeable to current expense in the year the expenditure is incurred.   

(x) The cost of any other services to be provided by Landlord that are stated 
elsewhere in this Lease to be a Common Area Operating Expense. 

(c) Any Common Area Operating Expenses and Taxes that are specifically attributable to the 
Unit, the Building or to any other building in the Project or to the operation, repair and maintenance 
thereof, shall be allocated entirely to such Unit, Building, or other building. However, any Common Area 
Operating Expenses and Taxes that are not specifically attributable to the Building or to any other building 
or to the operation, repair and maintenance thereof, shall be equitably allocated by Landlord to all 
buildings in the Project. 

(d) The inclusion of the improvements, facilities and services set forth in Section 4(b) shall 
not be deemed to impose an obligation upon Landlord to either have said improvements or facilities or to 
provide those services unless the Project already has the same, Landlord already provides the services, 
or Landlord has agreed elsewhere in this Lease to provide the same or some of them. 

(e) Tenant's Share of Common Area Operating Expenses is payable monthly on the same 
day as the Base Rent is due hereunder. The amount of such payments shall be based on Landlord's 
estimate of the annual Common Area Operating Expenses. Within 60 days after written request (but not 
more than once each year) Landlord shall deliver to Tenant a reasonably detailed statement showing 
Tenant's Share of the actual Common Area Operating Expenses for the preceding year. If Tenant's 
payments during such year exceed Tenant's Share, Landlord shall credit the amount of such over-
payment against Tenant's future payments. If Tenant's payments during such year were less than 
Tenant's Share, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the amount of the deficiency within 10 days after delivery by 
Landlord to Tenant of the statement. 

(f) Common Area Operating Expenses shall not include any expenses paid by any tenant 
directly to third parties, or as to which Landlord is otherwise reimbursed by any third party, other tenant, 
or insurance proceeds. 

(g) Within 90 days after the end of each calendar year (or such longer period as may be 
reasonably required), Landlord shall furnish to Tenant a statement (an “Annual Statement”) showing in 
reasonable detail:  (a) the total and Tenant’s Share of actual Operating Expenses for the previous 
calendar year, and (b) the total of Tenant’s payments in respect of Operating Expenses for such year.  If 
Tenant’s Share of actual Operating Expenses for such year exceeds Tenant’s payments of Operating 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-128



 

 
6 

Expenses for such year, the excess shall be due and payable by Tenant as Rent within 30 days after 
delivery of such Annual Statement to Tenant.  If Tenant’s payments of Operating Expenses for such year 
exceed Tenant’s Share of actual Operating Expenses for such year Landlord shall pay the excess to 
Tenant within 30 days after delivery of such Annual Statement, except that after the expiration, or earlier 
termination of the Term or if Tenant is delinquent in its obligation to pay Rent, Landlord shall pay the 
excess to Tenant after deducting all other amounts due Landlord. 

(g) The Annual Statement shall be final and binding upon Tenant unless Tenant, within 60 
days after Tenant’s receipt thereof, shall contest any item therein by giving written notice to Landlord, 
specifying each item contested and the reason therefor. Operating Expenses for the calendar years in 
which Tenant’s obligation to share therein begins and ends shall be prorated.  Notwithstanding anything 
set forth herein to the contrary, if the Project is not at least 95% occupied on average during any year of 
the Term, Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses for such year shall be computed as though the Project 
had been 95% occupied on average during such year. 

(h) Any square footage information provided in this Lease or stated elsewhere for the 
Premises is an approximate square footage and not necessarily an accurate or exact square footage 
calculation for the Premises.  Base Rent is determined by the premises in the Project, and not by square 
footage.  Base Rent will not be adjusted in the event Tenant determines that the square footage 
calculation for the Premises was incorrect. The measurement provided for in this Lease shall conclusively 
be deemed to be the square footage of the Premises and shall not be subject to further re-measurement, 
either by Landlord or Tenant.  Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses shall be subject to adjustment only 
for changes in the physical size of the Premises or the Project occurring thereafter. Landlord may 
equitably increase Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses for any item of expense or cost reimbursable 
by Tenant that relates to a repair, replacement, or service that benefits only the Premises or only a 
portion of the Project that includes the Premises or that varies with occupancy or use.  Base Rent, 
Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses and all other amounts payable by Tenant to Landlord hereunder 
are collectively referred to herein as “Rent.” 

5. Security Deposit. Tenant shall deposit with Landlord, upon delivery of an executed copy 
of this Lease to Landlord, a security deposit (the “Security Deposit”) for the performance of all of 
Tenant’s obligations hereunder in the amount set forth on page 1 of this Lease.  The Security Deposit 
shall be held by Landlord as security for the performance of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease.  The 
Security Deposit is not an advance rental deposit (except as set forth in the last sentence of this Section 
5) or a measure of Landlord’s damages in case of Tenant’s default.  Upon each occurrence of a Default 
(as defined in Section 19), Landlord may use all or any part of the Security Deposit to pay delinquent 
payments due under this Lease, future rent damages under California Civil Code Section 1950.2, and the 
cost of any damage, injury, expense or liability caused by such Default, without prejudice to any other 
remedy provided herein or provided by law.  Landlord's right to use the Security Deposit under this 
Section 5 includes the right to use the Security Deposit to pay future rent damages following the 
termination of this Lease pursuant to Section 20(c) below.  Upon any use of all or any portion of the 
Security Deposit, Tenant shall pay Landlord on demand the amount that will restore the Security Deposit 
to the amount set forth on Page 1 of this Lease.  Tenant hereby waives the provisions of any law, now or 
hereafter in force, including, without limitation, California Civil Code Section 1951.7, which provide that 
Landlord may claim from a security deposit only those sums reasonably necessary to remedy defaults in 
the payment of Rent, to repair damage caused by Tenant or to clean the Premises, it being agreed that 
Landlord may, in addition, claim those sums reasonably necessary to compensate Landlord for any other 
loss or damage, foreseeable or unforeseeable, caused by the act or omission of Tenant or any officer, 
employee, agent or invitee of Tenant, and further waives any protections afforded by California Civil Code 
§1950.7 (1) prohibiting application of the Security Deposit to future damages and (2) establishing 
deadlines of less than 90 days for return of the security deposit. It is the intention of the parties that 
Landlord can apply the security deposit to future damages (or any other amount due from Tenant to 
Landlord), and to provide Landlord with an adequate time period to determine those damages.  The 
Security Deposit shall be deemed to be applied first to the payment of Rent and other charges due 
Landlord for periods prior to the filing of such proceedings.  Upon any such use of all or any portion of the 
Security Deposit, Tenant shall, within 5 days after demand from Landlord, restore the Security Deposit to 
its original amount.  If Tenant shall fully perform every provision of this Lease to be performed by Tenant, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-129



 

 
7 

the Security Deposit, or any balance thereof (i.e., after deducting therefrom all amounts to which Landlord 
is entitled under the provisions of this Lease), shall be returned to Tenant (or, at Landlord’s option, to the 
last assignee of Tenant’s interest hereunder) within 90 days after the expiration or earlier termination of 
this Lease.  If Landlord transfers its interest in the Project or this Lease, Landlord shall either (a) transfer 
any Security Deposit then held by Landlord to a person or entity assuming Landlord’s obligations under 
this Section 5, or (b) return to Tenant any Security Deposit then held by Landlord and remaining after the 
deductions permitted herein.  Upon such transfer to such transferee or the return of the Security Deposit 
to Tenant, Landlord shall have no further obligation with respect to the Security Deposit, and Tenant’s 
right to the return of the Security Deposit shall apply solely against Landlord’s transferee.  The Security 
Deposit is not an advance rental deposit (except as set forth in the last sentence of this Section 5) or a 
measure of Landlord’s damages in case of Tenant’s default.  Landlord’s obligation respecting the Security 
Deposit is that of a debtor, not a trustee, and no interest shall accrue thereon.  Notwithstanding anything 
herein to the contrary, upon the issuance by the City of the Certificate of Occupancy (or its equivalent) to 
Tenant, and upon Tenant delivering a copy thereof to Landlord, Tenant shall not be required to pay the 
next two (2) monthly installments of Base Rent otherwise due under this Lease, and Landlord shall 
deduct the amount of such two (2) monthly installments of Base Rent from the Security Deposit. 

6. Use.   

(a) The Premises shall be used solely for the Permitted Use set forth in the basic lease 
provisions on page 1 of this Lease, and in compliance with all laws, orders, judgments, ordinances, 
regulations, codes, directives, permits, licenses, covenants and restrictions now or hereafter applicable to 
the Premises, and to the use and occupancy thereof, including, without limitation, the Americans With 
Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. (together with the regulations promulgated pursuant thereto, 
“ADA”) (collectively, “Legal Requirements” and each, a “Legal Requirement”).  Correction of any non-
compliance will be the obligation of Tenant at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.  Tenant is responsible for 
determining whether or not the Applicable Requirements and especially the zoning are appropriate for 
Tenant’s intended use, and acknowledges that past uses of the Premises may no longer be allowed.  
Tenant will not use or permit the Premises to be used for any purpose or in any manner that would void 
Tenant’s or Landlord’s insurance, increase the insurance risk, or cause the disallowance of any sprinkler 
or other credits.  Tenant shall not permit any part of the Premises to be used as a “place of public 
accommodation”, as defined in the ADA or any similar legal requirement.  Tenant shall reimburse 
Landlord promptly upon demand for any additional premium charged for any such insurance policy by 
reason of Tenant’s failure to comply with the provisions of this Section or otherwise caused by Tenant’s 
use and/or occupancy of the Premises.  Tenant will use the Premises in a careful, safe and proper 
manner and will not commit or permit waste, overload the floor or structure of the Premises, subject the 
Premises to use that would damage the Premises or obstruct or interfere with the rights of Landlord or 
other tenants or occupants of the Project, including conducting or giving notice of any auction, liquidation, 
or going out of business sale on the Premises, or using or allowing the Premises to be used for any 
unlawful purpose.  Tenant shall cause any equipment or machinery to be installed in the Premises so as 
to reasonably prevent sounds or vibrations from the Premises from extending into Common Areas, or 
other space in the Project.  Tenant shall not use the Premises in any manner which will require electricity, 
ventilation, heating, cooling, gas, steam or water beyond the existing capacity of the Premises unless 
Tenant installs upgrades to such utility facilities, which shall be done at Tenant’s sole cost and expense. 

(b) Tenant, at its sole expense, shall make any alterations or modifications to the interior or 
the exterior of the Premises or the Project that are required by Legal Requirements (including, without 
limitation, compliance of the Premises with the ADA) related to Tenant’s use or occupancy of the 
Premises; provided, however, Tenant shall not make any alterations or modifications to the exterior of the 
Premises or to the Project without Landlord’s prior written approval.  Notwithstanding any other provision 
herein to the contrary, Tenant shall be responsible for any and all demands, claims, liabilities, losses, 
costs, expenses, actions, causes of action, damages or judgments, and all reasonable expenses incurred 
in investigating or resisting the same (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, charges 
and disbursements and costs of suit) (collectively, “Claims”) arising out of or in connection with Legal 
Requirements, and Tenant shall indemnify, defend, hold and save Landlord harmless from and against 
any and all Claims arising out of or in connection with any failure of the Premises to comply with any 
Legal Requirement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything herein to the contrary, Landlord, at its sole 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-130



 

 
8 

expense, shall cause, in connection with Landlord’s initial construction and restoration of the Building 
shell and Common Areas, to be in compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements by the Delivery 
Date, and thereafter, Landlord shall cause the Common Areas to be in compliance with all applicable 
Legal Requirements, subject to reimbursement by Tenant for Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses.   

7. Holding Over.  If, with Landlord’s express written consent, Tenant retains possession of 
the Premises after the termination of the Term, (i) unless otherwise agreed in such written consent, such 
possession shall be subject to immediate termination by Landlord at any time, (ii) all of the other terms 
and provisions of this Lease (including, without limitation, the percentage increase in Base Rent pursuant 
to the Base Rent schedule set forth in the Basic Lease Terms hereof) shall remain in full force and effect 
(excluding any expansion or renewal option or other similar right or option) during such holdover period, 
(iii) Tenant shall continue to pay Base Rent in the amount payable upon the date of the expiration or 
earlier termination of this Lease or such other amount as Landlord may indicate, in Landlord’s sole and 
absolute discretion, in such written consent, and (iv) all other payments shall continue under the terms of 
this Lease.  If Tenant remains in possession of the Premises after the expiration or earlier termination of 
the Term without the express written consent of Landlord, (A) Tenant shall become a tenant at sufferance 
upon the terms of this Lease except that the monthly rental shall be equal to 150% of Rent in effect during 
the last 30 days of the Term, and (B) Tenant shall be responsible for all damages suffered by Landlord 
resulting from or occasioned by Tenant’s holding over, including consequential damages.  No holding 
over by Tenant, whether with or without consent of Landlord, shall operate to extend this Lease except as 
otherwise expressly provided, and this Section 7 shall not be construed as consent for Tenant to retain 
possession of the Premises.  Acceptance by Landlord of Rent after the expiration of the Term or earlier 
termination of this Lease shall not result in a renewal or reinstatement of this Lease. 

8. Taxes.  Landlord shall pay, as part of Operating Expenses, all taxes, levies, assessments 
and governmental charges of any kind (collectively referred to as “Taxes”) imposed by any federal, state, 
regional, municipal, local or other governmental authority or agency, including, without limitation, quasi-
public agencies (collectively, “Governmental Authority”) during the Term, including, without limitation, all 
Taxes:  (i) imposed on or measured by or based, in whole or in part, on rent payable to Landlord under 
this Lease and/or from the rental by Landlord of the Project or any portion thereof, or (ii) based on the 
square footage, assessed value or other measure or evaluation of any kind of the Premises or the 
Project, or (iii) assessed or imposed by or on the operation or maintenance of any portion of the Premises 
or the Project, including parking, or (iv) assessed or imposed by, or at the direction of, or resulting from 
statutes or regulations, or interpretations thereof, promulgated by, any Governmental Authority, or (v) 
imposed as a license or other fee on Landlord’s business of leasing space in the Project.  Landlord may 
contest by appropriate legal proceedings the amount, validity, or application of any Taxes or liens 
securing Taxes.  Taxes shall not include any net income taxes imposed on Landlord unless such net 
income taxes are in substitution for any Taxes payable hereunder.  If any such Tax is levied or assessed 
directly against Tenant, then Tenant shall be responsible for and shall pay the same at such times and in 
such manner as the taxing authority shall require.  Tenant shall pay, prior to delinquency, any and all 
Taxes levied or assessed against any personal property or trade fixtures placed by Tenant in the 
Premises, whether levied or assessed against Landlord or Tenant.  If any Taxes on Tenant’s personal 
property or trade fixtures are levied against Landlord or Landlord’s property, or if the assessed valuation 
of the Project is increased by a value attributable to improvements in or alterations to the Premises, 
whether owned by Landlord or Tenant and whether or not affixed to the real property so as to become a 
part thereof, higher than the base valuation on which Landlord from time-to-time allocates Taxes to all 
tenants in the Project, Landlord shall have the right, but not the obligation, to pay such Taxes.  Landlord’s 
determination of any excess assessed valuation shall be binding and conclusive, absent manifest error.  
The amount of any such payment by Landlord shall constitute Additional Rent due from Tenant to 
Landlord immediately upon demand. 

9. Parking.  Subject to all matters of record, Force Majeure, a Taking (as defined in Section 
18 below) and the exercise by Landlord of its rights hereunder, Tenant shall have the right, in common 
with other tenants of the Project pro rata in accordance with the square footage of the Premises and the 
square footage of the Project occupied by such other tenants, to park in those areas designated for non-
reserved parking, subject in each case to (a) governmental requirements and (b) Landlord’s rules and 
regulations. Landlord may allocate parking spaces among Tenant and other tenants in the Project pro 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-131



 

 
9 

rata as described above or to designate specific parking spaces for Tenant’s and the other tenants’ 
exclusive use if required by the City or if Landlord determines that such parking facilities are becoming 
crowded. Landlord shall not be responsible for enforcing Tenant’s parking rights against any third parties, 
including other tenants of the Project. During the Base Term, Tenant shall not be required to pay any 
additional fees for the parking rights provided to Tenant under this Section 9. 

10. Utilities. Landlord shall provide utility facilities (collectively, “Utilities”) as set forth in 
Section 3(a) of the Work Letter (which is Exhibit C of this Lease). Tenant shall otherwise be fully 
responsible for all other aspects of the Utilities and utility services provided to the Premises, including but 
not limited to paying for any hook-up, tax and any related fees and charges in connection with the 
Utilities.  Tenant shall pay directly to the appropriate utility company all charges for utility services 
supplied to Tenant for which there is a separate meter and/or submeter to the Premises.  Tenant agrees 
to pay to Landlord its share of all charges for utility services supplied to the Premises for which there is no 
separate meter or submeter, if any, upon billing by Landlord of Tenant’s share, as reasonably determined 
by Landlord based upon estimated usage.  No interruption or failure of Utilities, from any cause 
whatsoever, shall result in eviction or constructive eviction of Tenant, termination of this Lease or the 
abatement of Rent.  Tenant agrees to limit use of water and sewer with respect to Common Areas to 
normal restroom use.  

11. Alterations and Tenant’s Property.   

(a) Any alterations, additions, or improvements made to the Premises by or on behalf of 
Tenant, including additional locks or bolts of any kind or nature upon any doors or windows in the 
Premises, but excluding installation, removal or realignment of furniture systems (other than removal of 
furniture systems owned or paid for by Landlord) not involving any modifications to the structure or 
connections (other then by ordinary plugs or jacks) to building systems (“Alterations”) shall be subject to 
Landlord’s prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed; 
provided, however, such consent may be given or withheld in Landlord’s sole discretion if any such 
Alteration affects the structure or building systems.  If Landlord approves any Alterations, Landlord may 
impose such conditions on Tenant in connection with the commencement, performance and completion 
of such Alterations as Landlord may deem appropriate in Landlord’s sole and absolute discretion.  Any 
request for approval shall be in writing, delivered not less than 15 business days in advance of any 
proposed construction, and accompanied by plans, specifications, bid proposals, work contracts and such 
other information concerning the nature and cost of the alterations as may be reasonably requested by 
Landlord, including the identities and mailing addresses of all persons performing work or supplying 
materials.  Landlord’s right to review plans and specifications and to monitor construction shall be solely 
for its own benefit, and Landlord shall have no duty to ensure that such plans and specifications or 
construction comply with applicable Legal Requirements.  Tenant shall cause, at its sole cost and 
expense, all Alterations to comply with insurance requirements and with Legal Requirements and shall 
implement at its sole cost and expense any alteration or modification required by Legal Requirements as 
a result of any Alterations.  Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent, on demand an amount equal 
to 0.00% of all charges incurred by Tenant or its contractors or agents in connection with any Alteration to 
cover Landlord’s overhead and expenses for plan review, coordination, scheduling and supervision.  
Before Tenant begins any Alteration, Landlord may post on and about the Premises notices of non-
responsibility pursuant to applicable law.  Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for, and indemnify and hold 
Landlord harmless from, any expense incurred by Landlord by reason of faulty work done by Tenant or its 
contractors, delays caused by such work, or inadequate cleanup. 

(b) Tenant shall cause all Alterations to be completed free and clear of liens, and shall 
provide (and cause each contractor or subcontractor to provide) certificates of insurance for workers’ 
compensation and other coverage in amounts and from an insurance company satisfactory to Landlord 
protecting Landlord against liability for personal injury or property damage during construction.  If any 
Alteration costs more than $50,000, Landlord shall have the right to require Tenant to furnish security or 
make other arrangements reasonably satisfactory to Landlord to assure payment for the completion of 
such Alteration free and clear of liens.  Upon completion of any Alterations, Tenant shall deliver to 
Landlord:  (i) sworn statements setting forth the names of all contractors and subcontractors who did the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-132



 

 
10 

work and final lien waivers from all such contractors and subcontractors; and (ii) “as built” plans for any 
such Alteration. 

(c) Except for Removable Installations (as hereinafter defined), all Installations (as 
hereinafter defined) shall be and shall remain the property of Landlord during the Term and following the 
expiration or earlier termination of the Term, shall not be removed by Tenant at any time during the Term, 
and shall remain upon and be surrendered with the Premises as a part thereof.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, Landlord may, at the time its approval of any such Installation is requested, notify Tenant that 
Landlord requires that Tenant remove such Installation upon the expiration or earlier termination of the 
Term, in which event Tenant shall remove such Installation in accordance with the immediately 
succeeding sentence.  Upon the expiration or earlier termination of the Term, Tenant shall remove (i) all 
wires, cables or similar equipment which Tenant has installed in the Premises or in the risers or plenums 
of the Building, (ii) any Installations for which Landlord has given Tenant notice of removal in accordance 
with the immediately preceding sentence, and (iii) all of Tenant’s Property (as hereinafter defined), and 
Tenant shall restore and repair any damage caused by or occasioned as a result of such removal, 
including, without limitation, capping off all such connections behind the walls of the Premises and 
repairing any holes.  During any restoration period beyond the expiration or earlier termination of the 
Term, Tenant shall pay Rent to Landlord as provided herein as if said space were otherwise occupied by 
Tenant.  If Landlord is requested by Tenant or any lender, Landlord or other person or entity claiming an 
interest in any of Tenant' Property to waive any lien Landlord may have against any of Tenant's Property, 
and Landlord consents to such waiver, then Landlord shall be entitled to be paid as administrative rent a 
fee of $1,000 per occurrence for its time and effort in preparing and negotiating such a waiver of lien.   

(d) For purposes of this Lease, (w) “Removable Installations” means any items listed on 
Exhibit F attached hereto and any items agreed by Landlord in writing to be included on Exhibit F in the 
future, (x) “Tenant’s Property” means Removable Installations and, other than Installations, any personal 
property or equipment of Tenant that may be removed without material damage to the Premises, and (z) 
“Installations” means all Alterations, all fixtures, and all partitions, hardware, built-in machinery, built-in 
casework and cabinets and other similar additions, equipment, property and improvements built into the 
Premises so as to become an integral part of the Premises, including, without limitation, water systems, 
chillers, HVAC systems and components thereof, built-in plumbing, electrical and mechanical equipment 
and systems, and any power generator and transfer switch. 

12. Landlord’s Repairs.  Landlord, as an Operating Expense, shall maintain all of the 
structural and exterior elements of the buildings in the Project (including the roofs, foundations and 
exterior walls), parking and other Common Areas of the Project, in good repair, reasonable wear and tear 
and losses and damages caused by Tenant, or by any of Tenant’s agents, servants, employees, invitees 
and contractors (collectively, “Tenant Parties”) excluded.  Landlord shall have the right to repair any 
losses and damages caused by Tenant or any Tenant Party, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.  
Landlord shall not be liable for any failure to make any repairs or to perform any maintenance unless such 
failure shall persist for an unreasonable time after Tenant’s written notice of the need for such repairs or 
maintenance.  Tenant waives its rights under any state or local law to terminate this Lease or to make 
such repairs at Landlord’s expense (and specifically, Tenant waives any rights California Civil Code 
Sections 1941 and 1942 or any other applicable law which may provide any right to Tenant to make any 
repairs at Landlord's expense and to offset such expenses against Rent) and agrees that the parties’ 
respective rights with respect to such matters shall be solely as set forth herein.  Repairs required as the 
result of fire, earthquake, flood, vandalism, war, or similar cause of damage or destruction shall be 
controlled by Section 17. 

13. Tenant’s Repairs.  Subject to Section 12 hereof, Tenant, at its expense, shall repair, 
replace and maintain in good condition all portions of the Premises, including, without limitation, entries, 
doors, ceilings, interior windows, interior walls, and the interior side of demising walls.  Such repair and 
replacement may include capital expenditures and repairs whose benefit may extend beyond the Term.  
Should Tenant fail to make any such repair or replacement or fail to maintain the Premises, Landlord shall 
give Tenant notice of such failure.  If Tenant fails to commence cure of such failure within 10 days of 
Landlord’s notice, and thereafter diligently prosecute such cure to completion, Landlord may perform such 
work and shall be reimbursed by Tenant within 10 days after demand therefor; provided, however, that if 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-133



 

 
11 

such failure by Tenant creates or could create an emergency, Landlord may immediately commence cure 
of such failure and shall thereafter be entitled to recover the costs of such cure from Tenant.  Subject to 
Sections 16 and 17, Tenant shall bear the full uninsured cost of any repair or replacement to any part of 
the Project which results from damage caused by Tenant or any Tenant Party and any repair that benefits 
only the Premises. 

14. Mechanic’s Liens.  Tenant shall discharge, by bond or otherwise, any mechanic’s lien 
filed against the Premises or against the Project for work claimed to have been done for, or materials 
claimed to have been furnished to, Tenant within 10 days after the filing thereof, at Tenant’s sole cost and 
shall otherwise keep the Premises and the Project free from any liens arising out of work performed, 
materials furnished or obligations incurred by Tenant.  Should Tenant fail to discharge any lien described 
herein, Landlord shall have the right, but not the obligation, to pay such claim or post a bond or otherwise 
provide security to eliminate the lien as a claim against title to the Project and the cost thereof shall be 
immediately due from Tenant as Additional Rent.  If Tenant shall lease or finance the acquisition of office 
equipment, furnishings, or other personal property of a removable nature utilized by Tenant in the 
operation of Tenant’s business, Tenant warrants that any Uniform Commercial Code Financing Statement 
filed as a matter of public record by any Landlord or creditor of Tenant will upon its face or by exhibit 
thereto indicate that such Financing Statement is applicable only to removable personal property of 
Tenant located within the Premises.  In no event shall the address of the Project be furnished on the 
statement without qualifying language as to applicability of the lien only to removable personal property, 
located in an identified suite held by Tenant. 

15. Indemnification.  Tenant hereby indemnifies and agrees to defend, save and hold 
Landlord harmless from and against any and all Claims for injury or death to persons or damage to 
property occurring within or about the Premises, arising directly or indirectly out of use or occupancy of 
the Premises or a breach or default by Tenant in the performance of any of its obligations hereunder, 
except to the extent caused by the willful misconduct or gross negligence of Landlord.  Landlord shall not 
be liable to Tenant for, and Tenant assumes all risk of damage to, personal property (including, without 
limitation, loss of records kept within the Premises).  Tenant further waives any and all Claims for injury to 
Tenant’s business or loss of income relating to any such damage or destruction of personal property 
(including, without limitation, any loss of records).  Landlord shall not be liable for any damages arising 
from any act, omission or neglect of any tenant in the Project or of any other third party. 

16. Insurance.   

(a) Landlord shall maintain all risk property and, if applicable, sprinkler damage insurance 
covering the full replacement cost of the Project or such lesser coverage amount as Landlord may elect 
provided such coverage amount is not less than 90% of such full replacement cost.  Landlord shall further 
procure and maintain commercial general liability insurance with a single loss limit of not less than 
$2,000,000 for bodily injury and property damage with respect to the Project.  Landlord may, but is not 
obligated to, maintain such other insurance and additional coverages as it may deem necessary, 
including, but not limited to, flood, environmental hazard and earthquake, loss or failure of building 
equipment, errors and omissions, rental loss during the period of repair or rebuilding, workers’ 
compensation insurance and fidelity bonds for employees employed to perform services and insurance 
for any improvements installed by Tenant or which are in addition to the standard improvements 
customarily furnished by Landlord without regard to whether or not such are made a part of the Project.  
All such insurance shall be included as part of the Operating Expenses.  The Project may be included in a 
blanket policy (in which case the cost of such insurance allocable to the Project will be determined by 
Landlord based upon the insurer’s cost calculations).   

(b) Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall maintain during the Term:  all risk property 
insurance with business interruption and extra expense coverage, covering the full replacement cost of all 
property and improvements installed or placed in the Premises by Tenant at Tenant’s expense; workers’ 
compensation insurance with no less than the minimum limits required by law; employer’s liability 
insurance with such limits as required by law; and commercial general liability insurance, with a minimum 
limit of not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage with respect to the 
Premises.  The commercial general liability insurance policy shall name Landlord, its officers, directors, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-134



 

 
12 

employees, managers, agents, invitees and contractors (collectively, “Landlord Parties”), as additional 
insureds; insure on an occurrence and not a claims-made basis; be issued by insurance companies 
which have a rating of not less than policyholder rating of A and financial category rating of at least Class 
VII in “Best’s Insurance Guide”; shall not be cancelable for nonpayment of premium unless 30 days prior 
written notice shall have been given to Landlord from the insurer; contain a hostile fire endorsement and a 
contractual liability endorsement; and provide primary coverage to Landlord (any policy issued to 
Landlord providing duplicate or similar coverage shall be deemed excess over Tenant’s policies). Copies 
of such policies (if requested  by Landlord), or certificates of insurance showing the limits of coverage 
required hereunder and showing Landlord as an additional insured, along with reasonable evidence of the 
payment of premiums for the applicable period, shall be delivered to Landlord by Tenant upon 
commencement of the Term and upon each renewal of said insurance.  Tenant’s policy may be a “blanket 
policy” with an aggregate per location endorsement which specifically provides that the amount of 
insurance shall not be prejudiced by other losses covered by the policy.  Tenant shall, at least 5 days 
prior to the expiration of such policies, furnish Landlord with renewal certificates.    

(c) In each instance where insurance is to name Landlord as an additional insured, Tenant 
shall upon written request of Landlord also designate and furnish certificates so evidencing Landlord as 
additional insured to:  (i) any lender of Landlord holding a security interest in the Project or any portion 
thereof, (ii) the landlord under any lease wherein Landlord is tenant of the real property on which the 
Project is located, if the interest of Landlord is or shall become that of a tenant under a ground or other 
underlying lease rather than that of a fee owner, and/or (iii) any management company retained by 
Landlord to manage the Project. 

(d) The property insurance obtained by Landlord and Tenant shall include a waiver of 
subrogation by the insurers and all rights based upon an assignment from its insured, against Landlord or 
Tenant, and their respective officers, directors, employees, managers, agents, invitees and contractors 
(“Related Parties”), in connection with any loss or damage thereby insured against.  Neither party nor its 
respective Related Parties shall be liable to the other for loss or damage caused by any risk insured 
against under property insurance required to be maintained hereunder, and each party waives any claims 
against the other party, and its respective Related Parties, for such loss or damage.  The failure of a party 
to insure its property shall not void this waiver.  Landlord and its respective Related Parties shall not be 
liable for, and Tenant hereby waives all claims against such parties for, business interruption and losses 
occasioned thereby sustained by Tenant or any person claiming through Tenant resulting from any 
accident or occurrence in or upon the Premises or the Project from any cause whatsoever.  If the 
foregoing waivers shall contravene any law with respect to exculpatory agreements, the liability of 
Landlord or Tenant shall be deemed not released but shall be secondary to the other’s insurer. 

(e) Landlord may require insurance policy limits to be raised to conform with requirements of 
Landlord’s lender and/or to bring coverage limits to levels then being generally required of new tenants 
within the Project. 

(f) Landlord shall have the right to terminate the Lease, upon delivery of thirty (30) days’ 
written notice to Tenant, if any insurance which Landlord is required to obtain and maintain under the 
Lease is canceled or if Landlord is unable to obtain insurance due to Tenant’s use of the Premises 
(alternatively, Tenant shall have the right to override such termination by Landlord if Tenant ceases that 
activity within 10 days' after the notice of termination is delivered to Tenant in order to allow Landlord to 
obtain insurance). 

17. Restoration.  If, at any time during the Term, the Project or the Premises are damaged 
or destroyed by a fire or other insured casualty, Landlord shall notify Tenant within 60 days after 
discovery of such damage as to the amount of time Landlord reasonably estimates it will take to restore 
the Project or the Premises, as applicable (the “Restoration Period”).  If the Restoration Period is 
estimated to exceed 9 months (the “Maximum Restoration Period”), Landlord may, in such notice, elect 
to terminate this Lease as of the date that is 75 days after the date of discovery of such damage or 
destruction; provided, however, that notwithstanding Landlord’s election to restore, Tenant may elect to 
terminate this Lease by written notice to Landlord delivered within 10 business days of receipt of a notice 
from Landlord estimating a Restoration Period for the Premises longer than the Maximum Restoration 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-135



 

 
13 

Period.  Unless Landlord or Tenant so elect to terminate this Lease, Landlord shall, subject to receipt of 
sufficient insurance proceeds (with any deductible to be treated as a current Operating Expense), 
promptly restore the Premises (excluding the improvements installed by Tenant or by Landlord and paid 
for by Tenant), subject to delays arising from the collection of insurance proceeds, from Force Majeure 
events or as needed to obtain any license, clearance or other authorization of any kind required to enter 
into and restore the Premises issued by any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the use, 
storage, handling, treatment, generation, release, disposal, removal or remediation of Hazardous 
Materials (as defined in Section 29) in, on or about the Premises (collectively referred to herein as 
“Hazardous Materials Clearances”); provided, however, that if repair or restoration of the Premises is 
not substantially complete as of the end of the Maximum Restoration Period or, if longer, the Restoration 
Period, Landlord may, in its sole and absolute discretion, elect not to proceed with such repair and 
restoration, or Tenant may by written notice to Landlord delivered within 10 business days of the 
expiration of the Maximum Restoration Period or, if longer, the Restoration Period, elect to terminate this 
Lease at no cost to Tenant, in which event Landlord shall be relieved of its obligation to make such 
repairs or restoration and this Lease shall terminate as of the date that is 75 days after the later of:  (i) 
discovery of such damage or destruction, or (ii) the date all required Hazardous Materials Clearances are 
obtained, but Landlord shall retain any Rent paid and the right to any Rent payable by Tenant prior to 
such election by Landlord or Tenant. 

Tenant, at its expense, shall promptly perform, subject to delays arising from the collection of 
insurance proceeds, from Force Majeure (as defined in Section 33) events or to obtain Hazardous 
Material Clearances, all repairs or restoration not required to be done by Landlord and shall promptly re-
enter the Premises and commence doing business in accordance with this Lease.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, either Landlord or Tenant may terminate this Lease upon written notice to the other if the 
Premises are damaged during the last year of the Term and Landlord reasonably estimates that it will 
take more than 2 months to repair such damage; provided, however, that such notice is delivered within 
10 business days after the date that Landlord provides Tenant with written notice of the estimated 
Restoration Period.  Landlord shall also have the right to terminate this Lease if insurance proceeds are 
not available for such restoration.  Rent shall be abated from the date all required Hazardous Material 
Clearances are obtained until the Premises are repaired and restored, in the proportion which the area of 
the Premises, if any, which is not usable by Tenant bears to the total area of the Premises, unless 
Landlord provides Tenant with other space during the period of repair that is suitable for the temporary 
conduct of Tenant’s business.  Such abatement shall be the sole remedy of Tenant, and except as 
provided in this Section 17, Tenant waives any right to terminate the Lease by reason of damage or 
casualty loss. 

The provisions of this Lease, including this Section 17, constitute an express agreement between 
Landlord and Tenant with respect to any and all damage to, or destruction of, all or any part of the 
Premises, or any other portion of the Project, and any statute or regulation which is now or may hereafter 
be in effect shall have no application to this Lease or any damage or destruction to all or any part of the 
Premises or any other portion of the Project, the parties hereto expressly agreeing that this Section 17 
sets forth their entire understanding and agreement with respect to such matters. 

18. Condemnation.  If the whole or any material part of the Premises or the Project is taken 
for any public or quasi-public use under governmental law, ordinance, or regulation, or by right of eminent 
domain, or by private purchase in lieu thereof (a “Taking” or “Taken”), and the Taking would, as 
determined by a mutually acceptable arbitrator (or, if the parties cannot agree on an arbitrator, a court 
appointed arbitrator following petition by the parties for the immediate appointment of an arbitrator), either 
prevent or materially interfere with Tenant’s use of the Premises or, in Landlord’s reasonable judgment, 
materially interfere with or impair Landlord’s ownership or operation of the Project, then, upon written 
notice to the other party within 15 days of such Taking, either party shall have the right to terminate this 
Lease and Rent shall be apportioned as of the date of the Taking.  If part of the Premises shall be Taken, 
and this Lease is not terminated as provided above, Landlord shall promptly restore the Premises and the 
Project as nearly as is commercially reasonable under the circumstances to their condition prior to such 
partial Taking and the square footage of the Building, the square footage of the Premises, Tenant’s Share 
of Operating Expenses and the Rent payable hereunder during the unexpired Term shall be reduced to 
such extent as may be fair and reasonable under the circumstances.  Upon any such Taking, Landlord 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-136



 

 
14 

shall be entitled to receive the entire price or award from any such Taking without any payment to Tenant, 
and Tenant hereby assigns to Landlord Tenant’s interest, if any, in such award.  Tenant shall have the 
right, to the extent that same shall not diminish Landlord’s award, to make a separate claim against the 
condemning authority (but not Landlord) for such compensation as may be separately awarded or 
recoverable by Tenant for moving expenses and damage to Tenant’s trade fixtures, if a separate award 
for such items is made to Tenant.  Tenant hereby waives any and all rights it might otherwise have 
pursuant to any provision of state law to terminate this Lease upon a partial Taking of the Premises or the 
Project. 

19. Events of Default.  Each of the following events shall be a default (“Default”) by Tenant 
under this Lease: 

(a) Payment Defaults.  Tenant shall fail to pay any installment of Rent or any other payment 
hereunder when due; provided, however, that Landlord will give Tenant written notice and an opportunity 
to cure any failure to pay Rent within 5 days of any such written notice not more than once in any 12 
month period and Tenant agrees that such written notice shall be in lieu of and not in addition to, or shall 
be deemed to be, any notice required by law. 

(b) Insurance.  Any insurance required to be maintained by Tenant pursuant to this Lease 
shall be canceled or terminated or shall expire or shall be reduced or materially changed, or Landlord 
shall receive a notice of nonrenewal of any such insurance and Tenant shall fail to obtain replacement 
insurance at least 20 days before the expiration of the current coverage. 

(c) Abandonment.  Tenant shall abandon the Premises.   

(d) Improper Transfer.  Tenant shall assign, sublease or otherwise transfer or attempt to 
transfer all or any portion of Tenant’s interest in this Lease or the Premises except as expressly permitted 
herein, or Tenant’s interest in this Lease shall be attached, executed upon, or otherwise judicially seized 
and such action is not released within 90 days of the action. 

(e) Liens.  Tenant shall fail to discharge or otherwise obtain the release of any lien placed 
upon the Premises in violation of this Lease within 10 days after any such lien is filed against the 
Premises. 

(f) Insolvency Events.  Tenant or any guarantor or surety of Tenant’s obligations hereunder 
shall:  (A) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (B) commence any case, proceeding or 
other action seeking to have an order for relief entered on its behalf as a debtor or to adjudicate it a 
bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, liquidation, dissolution or 
composition of it or its debts or seeking appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar 
official for it or for all or of any substantial part of its property (collectively a “Proceeding for Relief”); (C) 
become the subject of any Proceeding for Relief which is not dismissed within 90 days of its filing or 
entry; or (D) die or suffer a legal disability (if Tenant, guarantor, or surety is an individual) or be dissolved 
or otherwise fail to maintain its legal existence (if Tenant, guarantor or surety is a corporation, partnership 
or other entity). 

(g) Estoppel Certificate or Subordination Agreement.  Tenant fails to execute any 
document required from Tenant under Sections 22 or 26 within 5 days after a second notice requesting 
such document. 

(h) Other Defaults.  Tenant shall fail to comply with any provision of this Lease other than 
those specifically referred to in this Section 19, and, except as otherwise expressly provided herein, such 
failure shall continue for a period of 10 days after written notice thereof from Landlord to Tenant.  Any 
notice given under this Section 19(h) hereof shall:  (i) specify the alleged default, (ii) demand that Tenant 
cure such default, (iii) be in lieu of, and not in addition to, or shall be deemed to be, any notice required 
under any provision of applicable law, and (iv) not be deemed a forfeiture or a termination of this Lease 
unless Landlord elects otherwise in such notice; provided that if the nature of Tenant’s default pursuant to 
this Section 19(h) is such that it cannot be cured by the payment of money and reasonably requires more 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-137



 

 
15 

than 10 days to cure, then Tenant shall not be deemed to be in default if Tenant commences such cure 
within said 10 day period and thereafter diligently prosecutes the same to completion; provided, however, 
that such cure shall be completed no later than 30 days from the date of Landlord’s notice. 

(i) Abandoned Property.  If any personal property or Trade Fixtures remain on the 
Premises after Landlord has regained possession of the Premises, they will be deemed abandoned. 
Landlord may elect to become the owner of all or any portion of the abandoned property at any time. 
Irrespective of whether Landlord elects to become the owner of the abandoned property, Landlord may 
dispose of the abandoned property in any manner chosen by Landlord, in Landlord’s sole discretion, 
(whether by retaining it, selling it, giving it away, or any other manner).  Tenant waives the provisions of 
Civil Code §1980-1991 and 1993-1993.09, and any other law regarding the disposition of abandoned 
personal property. If Landlord does not elect to become the owner of the abandoned property, Landlord 
will retain all rights that Landlord has under applicable law relating to abandoned personal property.  
Before Tenant surrenders the Premises to Landlord, Tenant must remove all signage and repair all 
damage caused by the signage at Tenant’s sole expense.  If Landlord elects to assume ownership of the 
property, Tenant agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Landlord harmless from any third party claiming 
the right to possess, own or encumber the abandoned property. 

20. Landlord’s Remedies. 

(a) Payment By Landlord; Interest.  Upon a Default by Tenant hereunder, Landlord may, 
without waiving or releasing any obligation of Tenant hereunder, make such payment or perform such act.  
All sums so paid or incurred by Landlord, together with interest thereon, from the date such sums were 
paid or incurred, at the annual rate equal to 12% per annum or the highest rate permitted by law (the 
“Default Rate”), whichever is less, shall be payable to Landlord on demand as Additional Rent.  Nothing 
herein shall be construed to create or impose a duty on Landlord to mitigate any damages resulting from 
Tenant’s Default hereunder. 

(b) Late Payment Rent.  Late payment by Tenant to Landlord of Rent and other sums due 
will cause Landlord to incur costs not contemplated by this Lease, the exact amount of which will be 
extremely difficult and impracticable to ascertain.  Such costs include, but are not limited to, processing 
and accounting charges and late charges which may be imposed on Landlord under any Mortgage 
covering the Premises.  Therefore, if any installment of Rent due from Tenant is not received by Landlord 
within 5 days after the date such payment is due, Tenant shall pay to Landlord an additional sum equal to 
6% of the overdue Rent as a late charge.  The parties agree that this late charge represents a fair and 
reasonable estimate of the costs Landlord will incur by reason of late payment by Tenant.  In addition to 
the late charge, Rent not paid when due shall bear interest at the Default Rate from the 5th day after the 
date due until paid. 

(c) Remedies.  Upon the occurrence of a Default, Landlord, at its option, without further 
notice or demand to Tenant, shall have in addition to all other rights and remedies provided in this Lease, 
at law or in equity, the option to pursue any one or more of the following remedies, each and all of which 
shall be cumulative and nonexclusive, without any notice or demand whatsoever. 

(i) Terminate this Lease, or at Landlord’s option, Tenant’s right to possession only, 
in which event Tenant shall immediately surrender the Premises to Landlord, and if Tenant fails to do so, 
Landlord may, without prejudice to any other remedy which it may have for possession or arrearages in 
rent, enter upon and take possession of the Premises and expel or remove Tenant and any other person 
who may be occupying the Premises or any part thereof, without being liable for prosecution or any claim 
or damages therefor; 

(ii) Upon any termination of this Lease, whether pursuant to the foregoing Section 
20(c)(i) or otherwise, Landlord may recover from Tenant the following: 

(A) The worth at the time of award of any unpaid rent which has been 
earned at the time of such termination; plus 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-138



 

 
16 

(B) The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent 
which would have been earned after termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of such 
rental loss that Tenant proves could have been reasonably avoided; plus 

(C) The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent 
for the balance of the Term after the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that Tenant 
proves could have been reasonably avoided; plus 

(D) Any other amount necessary to compensate Landlord for all the 
detriment proximately caused by Tenant’s failure to perform its obligations under this Lease or which in 
the ordinary course of things would be likely to result therefrom, specifically including, but not limited to, 
brokerage commissions and advertising expenses incurred, expenses of remodeling the Premises or any 
portion thereof for a new tenant, whether for the same or a different use, and any special concessions 
made to obtain a new tenant; and 

(E) At Landlord’s election, such other amounts in addition to or in lieu of the 
foregoing as may be permitted from time to time by applicable law. 

The term “rent” as used in this Section 20 shall be deemed to be and to mean all sums of every nature 
required to be paid by Tenant pursuant to the terms of this Lease, whether to Landlord or to others.  As 
used in Sections 20(c)(ii) (A) and (B), above, the “worth at the time of award” shall be computed by 
allowing interest at the Default Rate.  As used in Section 20(c)(ii)(C) above, the “worth at the time of 
award” shall be computed by discounting such amount at the discount rate of the Federal Reserve Bank 
of San Francisco at the time of award plus 1%. 

(iii) Landlord may continue this Lease in effect after Tenant’s Default and recover 
rent as it becomes due (Landlord and Tenant hereby agreeing that Tenant has the right to sublet or 
assign hereunder, subject only to reasonable limitations).  Accordingly, if Landlord does not elect to 
terminate this Lease following a Default by Tenant, Landlord may, from time to time, without terminating 
this Lease, enforce all of its rights and remedies hereunder, including the right to recover all Rent as it 
becomes due. 

(iv) Whether or not Landlord elects to terminate this Lease following a Default by 
Tenant, Landlord shall have the right to terminate any and all subleases, licenses, concessions or other 
consensual arrangements for possession entered into by Tenant and affecting the Premises or may, in 
Landlord’s sole discretion, succeed to Tenant’s interest in such subleases, licenses, concessions or 
arrangements.  Upon Landlord’s election to succeed to Tenant’s interest in any such subleases, licenses, 
concessions or arrangements, Tenant shall, as of the date of notice by Landlord of such election, have no 
further right to or interest in the rent or other consideration receivable thereunder. 

(v) Independent of the exercise of any other remedy of Landlord hereunder or under 
applicable law, Landlord may conduct an environmental test of the Premises as generally described in 
Section 29(d) hereof, at Tenant’s expense. 

(d) Effect of Exercise.  Exercise by Landlord of any remedies hereunder or otherwise 
available shall not be deemed to be an acceptance of surrender of the Premises and/or a termination of 
this Lease by Landlord, it being understood that such surrender and/or termination can be effected only 
by the express written agreement of Landlord and Tenant.  Any law, usage, or custom to the contrary 
notwithstanding, Landlord shall have the right at all times to enforce the provisions of this Lease in strict 
accordance with the terms hereof; and the failure of Landlord at any time to enforce its rights under this 
Lease strictly in accordance with same shall not be construed as having created a custom in any way or 
manner contrary to the specific terms, provisions, and covenants of this Lease or as having modified the 
same and shall not be deemed a waiver of Landlord’s right to enforce one or more of its rights in 
connection with any subsequent default.  A receipt by Landlord of Rent or other payment with knowledge 
of the breach of any covenant hereof shall not be deemed a waiver of such breach, and no waiver by 
Landlord of any provision of this Lease shall be deemed to have been made unless expressed in writing 
and signed by Landlord.  To the greatest extent permitted by law, Tenant waives the service of notice of 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-139



 

 
17 

Landlord’s intention to re-enter, re-take or otherwise obtain possession of the Premises as provided in 
any statute, or to institute legal proceedings to that end, and also waives all right of redemption in case 
Tenant shall be dispossessed by a judgment or by warrant of any court or judge.  Any reletting of the 
Premises or any portion thereof shall be on such terms and conditions as Landlord in its sole discretion 
may determine.  Landlord shall not be liable for, nor shall Tenant’s obligations hereunder be diminished 
because of, Landlord’s failure to relet the Premises or collect rent due in respect of such reletting or 
otherwise to mitigate any damages arising by reason of Tenant’s Default. 

21. Assignment and Subletting. 

(a) General Prohibition.  Without Landlord’s prior written consent subject to and on the 
conditions described in this Section 21, Tenant shall not, directly or indirectly, voluntarily or by operation 
of law, assign this Lease or sublease the Premises or any part thereof or mortgage, pledge, or 
hypothecate its leasehold interest or grant any concession or license within the Premises, and any 
attempt to do any of the foregoing shall be void and of no effect; provided, however, Landlord shall not 
unreasonably withhold its consent in connection with a Permitted Transfer (defined below).  If Tenant is a 
corporation, partnership or limited liability company, the shares or other ownership interests thereof which 
are not actively traded upon a stock exchange or in the over-the-counter market, a transfer or series of 
transfers whereby 51% or more of the issued and outstanding shares or other ownership interests of such 
corporation are, or voting control is, transferred (but excepting transfers upon deaths of individual owners) 
from a person or persons or entity or entities which were owners thereof at time of execution of this Lease 
to persons or entities who were not owners of shares or other ownership interests of the corporation, 
partnership or limited liability company at time of execution of this Lease, shall be deemed an assignment 
of this Lease requiring the consent of Landlord as provided in this Section 21, subject, however, to 
Section 21(f) below.  

(b) Grounds for Refusal.  Without in any way limiting Landlord's right to refuse to give 
consent for any other reason(s), Landlord reserves the right to deny consent, and Tenant agrees that it 
would not be commercially unreasonable to deny consent, if in Landlord's reasonable business judgment 
(a) the Net Worth (as adjusted for inflation) of the proposed transferee is less than the greater of the 
amount of Tenant's and Guarantor's Net Worth as of (i) the execution of this Lease or (ii) as of the date of 
request for Landlord's consent; (b) the transferee has been required by any prior landlord, lender or 
Governmental Authority to take remedial action in connection with Hazardous Materials or is subject to an 
enforcement order; (c) the proposed transferee’s use is incompatible with the then existing or desired 
Tenant mix within the Project, is in violation of the Lease or other requirements of the Project, or the 
operation of the transferee's business will interfere with or be contrary to any lease or use of any other 
Tenant or occupant in the Project; or (d) Tenant is in Breach or Default of the Lease at the time consent is 
requested. 
 

(c) Additional Conditions.  As a condition to any such assignment or subletting, whether or 
not Landlord’s consent is required, Landlord may require: 

(i) That any assignee or subtenant agree, in writing at the time of such assignment 
or subletting, that if Landlord gives such party notice that Tenant is in default under this Lease, such party 
shall thereafter make all payments otherwise due Tenant directly to Landlord, which payments will be 
received by Landlord without any liability except to credit such payment against those due under the 
Lease, and any such third party shall agree to attorn to Landlord or its successors and assigns should this 
Lease be terminated for any reason; provided, however, in no event shall Landlord or its successors or 
assigns be obligated to accept such attornment; and 

(ii) A list of Hazardous Materials, certified by the proposed assignee or subtenant to 
be true and correct, which the proposed assignee or subtenant intends to use, store, handle, treat, 
generate in or release or dispose of from the Premises, together with copies of all documents relating to 
such use, storage, handling, treatment, generation, release or disposal of Hazardous Materials by the 
proposed assignee or subtenant in the Premises or on the Project, prior to the proposed assignment or 
subletting, including, without limitation:  permits; approvals; reports and correspondence; storage and 
management plans. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-140



 

 
18 

(d) No Release of Tenant, Sharing of Excess Rents.  Notwithstanding any assignment or 
subletting, Tenant and any guarantor or surety of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease shall at all times 
remain fully and primarily responsible and liable for the payment of Rent and for compliance with all of 
Tenant’s other obligations under this Lease.  If the Rent due and payable by a subtenant or assignee (or 
a combination of the rental payable under such sublease or assignment plus any bonus or other 
consideration therefor or incident thereto in any form) exceeds the sum of the rental payable under this 
Lease, (excluding however, any Rent payable under this Section) and actual and reasonable brokerage 
fees, legal costs and any design or construction fees directly related to and required pursuant to the terms 
of any such sublease) (“Excess Rent”), then Tenant shall be bound and obligated to pay Landlord as 
Additional Rent hereunder 50% of such Excess Rent within 10 days following receipt thereof by Tenant.  
If Tenant shall sublet the Premises or any part thereof, Tenant hereby immediately and irrevocably 
assigns to Landlord, as security for Tenant’s obligations under this Lease, all rent from any such 
subletting, and Landlord as assignee and as attorney-in-fact for Tenant, or a receiver for Tenant 
appointed on Landlord’s application, may collect such rent and apply it toward Tenant’s obligations under 
this Lease. In no event shall Tenant be required to pay Landlord any such Excess Rent in connection with 
Tenant’s use of the Premises as a co-op, sharing or type S licensing model.  

(e) No Waiver.  The consent by Landlord to an assignment or subletting shall not relieve 
Tenant or any assignees of this Lease or any subtenants of the Premises from obtaining the consent of 
Landlord to any further assignment or subletting nor shall it release Tenant or any assignee or subtenant 
of Tenant from full and primary liability under the Lease.  The acceptance of Rent hereunder, or the 
acceptance of performance of any other term, covenant, or condition thereof, from any other person or 
entity shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any of the provisions of this Lease or a consent to any 
subletting, assignment or other transfer of the Premises. 

(f) Permitted Transfers.  Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, upon 
obtaining Landlord’s prior written consent, Tenant may sublet all or any portion of the Premises or assign 
this Lease to (i) a parent, subsidiary, affiliate, division or corporation controlling, controlled by or under 
common control with Tenant; (ii) a successor corporation related to Tenant by merger, consolidation, non-
bankruptcy reorganization or government action; or (iii) a party that acquires 50% or more of Tenant’s 
stock or assets, provided such subtenant, assignee or new Tenant entity, as the case may be, has a net 
worth of at least the same or greater than Tenant’s tangible net worth, and further provided the original 
Tenant (if such entity remains in existence after, for example, a merger) under the Lease shall remain 
liable under the Lease. 

22. Estoppel Certificate.  Tenant shall, within five (5) days after written notice from 
Landlord, execute, acknowledge and deliver a statement in writing in any form reasonably requested by a 
proposed lender or purchaser, (i) certifying that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or, if 
modified, stating the nature of such modification and certifying that this Lease as so modified is in full 
force and effect) and the dates to which the rental and other charges are paid in advance, if any, (ii) 
acknowledging that there are not any uncured defaults on the part of Landlord hereunder, or specifying 
such defaults if any are claimed, and (iii) setting forth such further information with respect to the status of 
this Lease or the Premises as may be requested thereon.  Any such statement may be relied upon by any 
prospective purchaser or encumbrancer of all or any portion of the real property of which the Premises 
are a part.  Tenant’s failure to deliver such statement within such time shall, at the option of Landlord, 
constitute a Default under this Lease, and, in any event, shall be conclusive upon Tenant that the Lease 
is in full force and effect and without modification except as may be represented by Landlord in any 
certificate prepared by Landlord and delivered to Tenant for execution.   

23. Quiet Enjoyment.  So long as Tenant shall perform all of the covenants and agreements 
herein required to be performed by Tenant, Tenant shall, subject to the terms of this Lease, at all times 
during the Term, have peaceful and quiet enjoyment of the Premises against any person claiming by, 
through or under Landlord. 

24. Prorations.  All prorations required or permitted to be made hereunder shall be made on 
the basis of a 360 day year and 30 day months. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-141



 

 
19 

25. Rules and Regulations.  Tenant shall, at all times during the Term and any extension 
thereof, comply with all reasonable rules and regulations at any time or from time to time established by 
Landlord covering use of the Premises and the Project.  The current rules and regulations are attached 
hereto as Exhibit E.  If there is any conflict between said rules and regulations and other provisions of 
this Lease, the terms and provisions of this Lease shall control.  Landlord shall not have any liability or 
obligation for the breach of any rules or regulations by other tenants in the Project and shall not enforce 
such rules and regulations in a discriminatory manner. 

26. Subordination.  This Lease and Tenant’s interest and rights hereunder are hereby made 
and shall be subject and subordinate at all times to the lien of any Mortgage now existing or hereafter 
created on or against the Project or the Premises, and all amendments, restatements, renewals, 
modifications, consolidations, refinancing, assignments and extensions thereof, without the necessity of 
any further instrument or act on the part of Tenant; provided, however that so long as there is no Default 
hereunder, Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises and Tenant’s rights under this Lease shall not be 
disturbed by the Holder of any such Mortgage.  Tenant agrees, at the election of the Holder of any such 
Mortgage, to attorn to any such Holder; provided, however that so long as there is no Default hereunder, 
Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises and Tenant’s rights under this Lease shall not be disturbed 
by the Holder of any such Mortgage.  Tenant agrees upon demand to execute, acknowledge and deliver 
such instruments, confirming such subordination, and such instruments of attornment as shall be 
requested by any such Holder, provided any such instruments contain appropriate non-disturbance 
provisions assuring Tenant’s quiet enjoyment of the Premises as set forth in Section 23 hereof. Tenant 
hereby appoints Landlord attorney-in-fact for Tenant irrevocably (such power of attorney being coupled 
with an interest) to execute, acknowledge and deliver any such instrument and instruments for and in the 
name of Tenant and to cause any such instrument to be recorded. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any 
such Holder may at any time subordinate its Mortgage to this Lease, without Tenant’s consent, by notice 
in writing to Tenant, and thereupon this Lease shall be deemed prior to such Mortgage without regard to 
their respective dates of execution, delivery or recording and in that event such Holder shall have the 
same rights with respect to this Lease as though this Lease had been executed prior to the execution, 
delivery and recording of such Mortgage and had been assigned to such Holder.  The term “Mortgage” 
whenever used in this Lease shall be deemed to include deeds of trust, security assignments and any 
other encumbrances, and any reference to the “Holder” of a Mortgage shall be deemed to include the 
beneficiary under a deed of trust.   

27. Surrender.  Upon the expiration of the Term or earlier termination of Tenant’s right of 
possession, Tenant shall surrender the Premises to Landlord in the same condition as received, subject 
to any Alterations or Installations permitted by Landlord to remain in the Premises, free of Hazardous 
Materials brought upon, kept, used, stored, handled, treated, generated in, or released or disposed of 
from, the Premises by any person other than a Landlord Party, broom clean, ordinary wear and tear and 
casualty loss and condemnation covered by Sections 17 and 18 excepted.   

Tenant shall immediately return to Landlord all keys and/or access cards to parking, the Project, 
restrooms or all or any portion of the Premises furnished to or otherwise procured by Tenant.  If any such 
access card or key is lost, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, at Landlord’s election, either the cost of replacing 
such lost access card or key or the cost of reprogramming the access security system in which such 
access card was used or changing the lock or locks opened by such lost key.  Any Tenant’s Property, 
Alterations and property not so removed by Tenant as permitted or required herein shall be deemed 
abandoned and may be stored, removed, and disposed of by Landlord at Tenant’s expense, and Tenant 
waives all claims against Landlord for any damages resulting from Landlord’s retention and/or disposition 
of such property.  All obligations of Tenant hereunder not fully performed as of the termination of the 
Term, including the obligations of Tenant under Section 29 hereof, shall survive the expiration or earlier 
termination of the Term, including, without limitation, indemnity obligations, payment obligations with 
respect to Rent and obligations concerning the condition and repair of the Premises. 

28. Intentionally deleted.   

29. Environmental Requirements. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-142



 

 
20 

(a) Prohibition/Compliance/Indemnity.  Tenant shall not cause or permit any Hazardous 
Materials (as hereinafter defined) to be brought upon, kept, used, stored, handled, treated, generated  in 
or about, or released or disposed of from, the Premises or the Project in violation of applicable 
Environmental Requirements (as hereinafter defined) by Tenant or any Tenant Party.  If Tenant breaches 
the obligation stated in the preceding sentence, or if the presence of Hazardous Materials in the Premises 
during the Term or any holding over results in contamination of the Premises, the Project or any adjacent 
property or if contamination of the Premises, the Project or any adjacent property by Hazardous Materials 
brought into, kept, used, stored, handled, treated, generated in or about, or released or disposed of from, 
the Premises by anyone other than Landlord and Landlord’s employees, agents and contractors 
otherwise occurs during the Term or any holding over, Tenant hereby indemnifies and shall defend and 
hold Landlord, its officers, directors, employees, agents and contractors harmless from any and all 
actions (including, without limitation, remedial or enforcement actions of any kind, administrative or 
judicial proceedings, and orders or judgments arising out of or resulting therefrom), costs, claims, 
damages (including, without limitation, punitive damages and damages based upon diminution in value of 
the Premises or the Project, or the loss of, or restriction on, use of the Premises or any portion of the 
Project), expenses (including, without limitation, attorneys’, consultants’ and experts’ fees, court costs and 
amounts paid in settlement of any claims or actions), fines, forfeitures or other civil, administrative or 
criminal penalties, injunctive or other relief (whether or not based upon personal injury, property damage, 
or contamination of, or adverse effects upon, the environment, water tables or natural resources), 
liabilities or losses (collectively, “Environmental Claims”) which arise during or after the Term as a result 
of such contamination.  This indemnification of Landlord by Tenant includes, without limitation, costs 
incurred in connection with any investigation of site conditions or any cleanup, treatment, remedial, 
removal, or restoration work required by any federal, state or local Governmental Authority because of 
Hazardous Materials present in the air, soil or ground water above, on, or under the Premises.  Without 
limiting the foregoing, if the presence of any Hazardous Materials on the Premises, the Project or any 
adjacent property caused or permitted by Tenant or any Tenant Party results in any contamination of the 
Premises, the Project or any adjacent property, Tenant shall promptly take all actions at its sole expense 
and in accordance with applicable Environmental Requirements as are necessary to return the Premises, 
the Project or any adjacent property to the condition existing prior to the time of such contamination, 
provided that Landlord’s approval of such action shall first be obtained, which approval shall not 
unreasonably be withheld so long as such actions would not potentially have any material adverse long-
term or short-term effect on the Premises or the Project. 

(b) Tenant Representation and Warranty.  Tenant hereby represents and warrants to 
Landlord that (i) neither Tenant nor any of its legal predecessors has been required by any prior landlord, 
lender or Governmental Authority at any time to take remedial action in connection with Hazardous 
Materials contaminating a property which contamination was permitted by Tenant of such predecessor or 
resulted from Tenant’s or such predecessor’s action or use of the property in question, and (ii) Tenant is 
not subject to any enforcement order issued by any Governmental Authority in connection with the use, 
storage, handling, treatment, generation, release or disposal of Hazardous Materials (including, without 
limitation, any order related to the failure to make a required reporting to any Governmental Authority).  If 
Landlord determines that this representation and warranty was not true as of the date of this lease, 
Landlord shall have the right to terminate this Lease in Landlord’s sole and absolute discretion. 

(c) Testing.  Landlord shall, upon not less than 15 days prior written notice to Tenant, have 
the right to conduct annual tests of the Premises to determine whether any contamination of the Premises 
or the Project by Hazardous Materials has occurred as a result of Tenant’s use.  Tenant shall be required 
to pay the cost of such annual test of the Premises only if such test discloses that Tenant is in violation of 
the terms and requirements of this Section 29.  If contamination has occurred for which Tenant is liable 
under this Section 29, Tenant shall pay all costs to conduct such tests, in an amount not to exceed 
$2,000.  If no such contamination is found, Landlord shall pay the costs of such tests (which shall not 
constitute an Operating Expense).  Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, promptly and satisfactorily 
remediate any environmental conditions identified by such testing in accordance with all Environmental 
Requirements.  Landlord’s receipt of or satisfaction with any environmental assessment in no way waives 
any rights which Landlord may have against Tenant.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-143



 

 
21 

(d) Tenant’s Obligations.  Tenant’s obligations under this Section 29 shall survive the 
expiration or earlier termination of the Lease.  During any period of time after the expiration or earlier 
termination of this Lease required by Tenant or Landlord to complete the removal from the Premises of 
any Hazardous Materials (including, without limitation, the release and termination of any licenses or 
permits restricting the use of the Premises and the completion of the approved Surrender Plan), Tenant 
shall continue to pay the full Rent in accordance with this Lease for any portion of the Premises not relet 
by Landlord in Landlord’s sole discretion, which Rent shall be prorated daily. 

(e) Definitions.  As used herein, the term “Environmental Requirements” means all 
applicable present and future statutes, regulations, ordinances, rules, codes, judgments, orders or other 
similar enactments of any Governmental Authority regulating or relating to health, safety, or 
environmental conditions on, under, or about the Premises or the Project, or the environment, including 
without limitation, the following:  the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and 
Liability Act; the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act; and all state and local counterparts thereto, 
and any regulations or policies promulgated or issued thereunder.  As used herein, the term “Hazardous 
Materials” means and includes any substance, material, waste, pollutant, or contaminant listed or defined 
as hazardous or toxic, or regulated by reason of its impact or potential impact on humans, animals and/or 
the environment under any Environmental Requirements, asbestos and petroleum, including crude oil or 
any fraction thereof, natural gas liquids, liquefied natural gas, or synthetic gas usable for fuel (or mixtures 
of natural gas and such synthetic gas).  As defined in Environmental Requirements, Tenant is and shall 
be deemed to be the “operator” of Tenant’s “facility” and the “owner” of all Hazardous Materials brought 
on the Premises by Tenant or any Tenant Party, and the wastes, by-products, or residues generated, 
resulting, or produced therefrom. 

30. Tenant’s Remedies/Limitation of Liability.  Landlord shall not be in default hereunder 
unless Landlord fails to perform any of its obligations hereunder within 30 days after written notice from 
Tenant specifying such failure (unless such performance will, due to the nature of the obligation, require a 
period of time in excess of 30 days, then after such period of time as is reasonably necessary).  Nothing 
contained in the preceding sentence is intended to obligate Tenant to conduct inspections solely for the 
purpose of notifying Landlord of the need for any repairs.  All obligations of Landlord hereunder shall be 
construed as covenants, not conditions; and, except as may be otherwise expressly provided in this 
Lease, Tenant may not terminate this Lease for breach of Landlord’s obligations hereunder. 

31. Inspection and Access.  Landlord and its agents, representatives, and contractors may 
enter the Premises at any reasonable time to inspect the Premises and to make such repairs as may be 
required or permitted pursuant to this Lease and for any other business purpose.  Landlord and 
Landlord’s representatives may enter the Premises during business hours on not less than 48 hours 
advance written notice (except in the case of emergencies in which case no such notice shall be required 
and such entry may be at any time) for the purpose of effecting any such repairs, inspecting the 
Premises, showing the Premises to prospective purchasers and, during the last year of the Term, to 
prospective tenants or for any other business purpose.  Landlord may erect a suitable sign on the 
Premises stating the Premises are available to let or that the Project is available for sale.  Landlord may 
grant easements, make public dedications, designate Common Areas and create restrictions on or about 
the Premises, provided that no such easement, dedication, designation or restriction materially, adversely 
affects Tenant’s use or occupancy of the Premises for the Permitted Use.  At Landlord’s request, Tenant 
shall execute such instruments as may be necessary for such easements, dedications or restrictions.  
Tenant shall at all times, except in the case of emergencies, have the right to escort Landlord or its 
agents, representatives, contractors or guests while the same are in the Premises, provided such escort 
does not materially and adversely affect Landlord’s access rights hereunder.   

32. Security.  Tenant acknowledges and agrees that security devices and services, if any, 
while intended to deter crime may not in given instances prevent theft or other criminal acts and that 
Landlord is not providing any security services with respect to the Premises.  Tenant agrees that Landlord 
shall not be liable to Tenant for, and Tenant waives any claim against Landlord with respect to, any loss 
by theft or any other damage suffered or incurred by Tenant in connection with any unauthorized entry 
into the Premises or any other breach of security with respect to the Premises.  Tenant shall be solely 
responsible for the personal safety of Tenant’s officers, employees, agents, contractors, guests and 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-144



 

 
22 

invitees while any such person is in, on or about the Premises and/or the Project.  Tenant shall at 
Tenant’s cost obtain insurance coverage to the extent Tenant desires protection against such criminal 
acts. 

33. Force Majeure.  Landlord shall not responsible or liable for delays in the performance of 
its obligations hereunder when caused by, related to, or arising out of acts of God, strikes, lockouts, or 
other labor disputes, embargoes, quarantines, weather, national, regional, or local disasters, calamities, 
or catastrophes, inability to obtain labor or materials (or reasonable substitutes therefor) at reasonable 
costs or failure of, or inability to obtain, utilities necessary for performance, governmental restrictions, 
orders, limitations, regulations, or controls, national emergencies, delay in issuance or revocation of 
permits, enemy or hostile governmental action, terrorism, insurrection, riots, civil disturbance or 
commotion, fire or other casualty, and other causes or events beyond the reasonable control of Landlord 
(“Force Majeure”).   

34. Brokers.  Landlord and Tenant each represents and warrants that it has not dealt with 
any broker, agent or other person (collectively, “Brokers") in connection with this transaction and that no 
Brokers brought about this transaction other than SBMI Group.  SBMI Group only represents the 
Landlord. Landlord and Tenant each hereby agrees to indemnify and hold the other harmless from and 
against any claims by any Broker, other than the brokers, if any named in this Section 34, claiming a 
commission or other form of compensation by virtue of having dealt with Tenant or Landlord, as 
applicable, with regard to this leasing transaction. Landlord shall pay SBMI Group the commission 
pursuant to a separate agreement. 

35. Limitation on Landlord’s Liability.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING SET FORTH 
HEREIN OR IN ANY OTHER AGREEMENT BETWEEN LANDLORD AND TENANT TO THE 
CONTRARY:  (A) LANDLORD SHALL NOT BE LIABLE TO TENANT OR ANY OTHER PERSON FOR 
(AND TENANT AND EACH SUCH OTHER PERSON ASSUME ALL RISK OF) LOSS, DAMAGE OR 
INJURY, WHETHER ACTUAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL TO:  TENANT’S PERSONAL PROPERTY OF 
EVERY KIND AND DESCRIPTION, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION TRADE FIXTURES, 
EQUIPMENT, INVENTORY, SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH, SCIENTIFIC EXPERIMENTS, LABORATORY 
ANIMALS, PRODUCT, SPECIMENS, SAMPLES, AND/OR SCIENTIFIC, BUSINESS, ACCOUNTING 
AND OTHER RECORDS OF EVERY KIND AND DESCRIPTION KEPT AT THE PREMISES AND ANY 
AND ALL INCOME DERIVED OR DERIVABLE THEREFROM; (B) THERE SHALL BE NO PERSONAL 
RECOURSE TO LANDLORD FOR ANY ACT OR OCCURRENCE IN, ON OR ABOUT THE PREMISES 
OR ARISING IN ANY WAY UNDER THIS LEASE OR ANY OTHER AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
LANDLORD AND TENANT WITH RESPECT TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF AND ANY 
LIABILITY OF LANDLORD HEREUNDER SHALL BE STRICTLY LIMITED SOLELY TO LANDLORD’S 
INTEREST IN THE PROJECT OR ANY PROCEEDS FROM SALE OR CONDEMNATION THEREOF 
AND ANY INSURANCE PROCEEDS PAYABLE IN RESPECT OF LANDLORD’S INTEREST IN THE 
PROJECT OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY SUCH LOSS; AND (C) IN NO EVENT SHALL ANY 
PERSONAL LIABILITY BE ASSERTED AGAINST LANDLORD IN CONNECTION WITH THIS LEASE 
NOR SHALL ANY RECOURSE BE HAD TO ANY OTHER PROPERTY OR ASSETS OF LANDLORD OR 
ANY OF LANDLORD’S OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS OR CONTRACTORS.  
UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL LANDLORD OR ANY OF LANDLORD’S OFFICERS, 
DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS OR CONTRACTORS BE LIABLE FOR INJURY TO TENANT’S 
BUSINESS OR FOR ANY LOSS OF INCOME OR PROFIT THEREFROM. 

36. Severability.  If any clause or provision of this Lease is illegal, invalid or unenforceable 
under present or future laws, then and in that event, it is the intention of the parties hereto that the 
remainder of this Lease shall not be affected thereby.  It is also the intention of the parties to this Lease 
that in lieu of each clause or provision of this Lease that is illegal, invalid or unenforceable, there be 
added, as a part of this Lease, a clause or provision as similar in effect to such illegal, invalid or 
unenforceable clause or provision as shall be legal, valid and enforceable. 

37. Signs; Exterior Appearance.  Tenant shall not, without the prior written consent of 
Landlord, which may be granted or withheld in Landlord’s sole discretion:  (i) attach any awnings, exterior 
lights, decorations, balloons, flags, pennants, banners, painting or other projection to any outside wall of 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-145



 

 
23 

the Project, (ii) use any curtains, blinds, shades or screens other than Landlord’s standard window 
coverings, (iii) coat or otherwise sunscreen the interior or exterior of any windows, (iv) place any bottles, 
parcels, or other articles on the window sills, (v) place any equipment, furniture or other items of personal 
property on any exterior balcony, or (vi) paint, affix or exhibit on any part of the Premises or the Project 
any signs, notices, window or door lettering, placards, decorations, or advertising media of any type which 
can be viewed from the exterior of the Premises.  The location and size of Tenant’s signage shall be 
subject to Landlord’s prior written consent. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that the signage rights 
granted to Tenant pursuant to this Section shall be subject to Tenant’s signs conforming to Landlord 
overall signage plan for the Project and all Legal Requirements applicable to the Project. Tenant shall 
remove all of Tenant’s signs at the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease and repair all damage 
resulting from such removal. 

38. Miscellaneous. 

(a) Notices.  All notices or other communications between the parties shall be in writing and 
shall be deemed duly given upon delivery or refusal to accept delivery by the addressee thereof if 
delivered in person, or upon actual receipt if delivered by reputable overnight guaranty courier, addressed 
and sent to the parties at their addresses set forth above.  Landlord and Tenant may from time to time by 
written notice to the other designate another address for receipt of future notices. 

(b) Joint and Several Liability.  If and when included within the term “Tenant,” as used in 
this instrument, there is more than one person or entity, each shall be jointly and severally liable for the 
obligations of Tenant. 

(c) Recordation.  Neither this Lease nor a memorandum of lease shall be filed by or on 
behalf of Tenant in any public record.  Landlord may prepare and file, and upon request by Landlord 
Tenant will execute, a memorandum of lease.    

(d) Interpretation.  The normal rule of construction to the effect that any ambiguities are to 
be resolved against the drafting party shall not be employed in the interpretation of this Lease or any 
exhibits or amendments hereto.  Words of any gender used in this Lease shall be held and construed to 
include any other gender, and words in the singular number shall be held to include the plural, unless the 
context otherwise requires.  The captions inserted in this Lease are for convenience only and in no way 
define, limit or otherwise describe the scope or intent of this Lease, or any provision hereof, or in any way 
affect the interpretation of this Lease. 

(e) Not Binding Until Executed.  The submission by Landlord to Tenant of this Lease shall 
have no binding force or effect, shall not constitute an option for the leasing of the Premises, nor confer 
any right or impose any obligations upon either party until execution of this Lease by both parties. 

(f) Limitations on Interest.  It is expressly the intent of Landlord and Tenant at all times to 
comply with applicable law governing the maximum rate or amount of any interest payable on or in 
connection with this Lease.  If applicable law is ever judicially interpreted so as to render usurious any 
interest called for under this Lease, or contracted for, charged, taken, reserved, or received with respect 
to this Lease, then it is Landlord’s and Tenant’s express intent that all excess amounts theretofore 
collected by Landlord be credited on the applicable obligation (or, if the obligation has been or would 
thereby be paid in full, refunded to Tenant), and the provisions of this Lease immediately shall be deemed 
reformed and the amounts thereafter collectible hereunder reduced, without the necessity of the 
execution of any new document, so as to comply with the applicable law, but so as to permit the recovery 
of the fullest amount otherwise called for hereunder. 

(g) Choice of Law.  Construction and interpretation of this Lease shall be governed by the 
internal laws of the State of California, excluding any principles of conflicts of laws. 

(h) Time. Time is of the essence as to the performance of Tenant’s obligations hereunder.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-146



 

 
24 

(i) Incorporation by Reference.  All exhibits and addenda attached hereto are hereby 
incorporated into this Lease and made a part hereof.  If there is any conflict between such exhibits or 
addenda and the terms of this Lease, such exhibits or addenda shall control. 

(j) Entire Agreement.  This Lease, including the exhibits attached hereto, constitutes the 
entire agreement between Landlord and Tenant pertaining to the subject matter hereof and supersedes 
all prior and contemporaneous agreements, understandings, letters of intent, negotiations and 
discussions, whether oral or written, of the parties, and there are no warranties, representations or other 
agreements, express or implied, made to either party by the other party in connection with the subject 
matter hereof except as specifically set forth herein. 

(k) Hazardous Activities.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Lease, Landlord, for 
itself and its employees, agents and contractors, reserves the right to refuse to perform any repairs or 
services in any portion of the Premises which, pursuant to Tenant’s routine safety guidelines, practices or 
custom or prudent industry practices, require any form of protective clothing or equipment other than 
safety glasses.  In any such case, Tenant shall contract with parties who are acceptable to Landlord, in 
Landlord’s reasonable discretion, for all such repairs and services, and Landlord shall, to the extent 
required, equitably adjust Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses in respect of such repairs or services to 
reflect that Landlord is not providing such repairs or services to Tenant.  

(l) Guaranty.  If the original Tenant named hereunder is an entity, then Daniel Batchelor 
and Jonathan Hogander shall sign the Guaranty attached to this Lease as Exhibit F; however, if the 
original Tenant named hereunder is Daniel Batchelor and Jonathan Hogander, then he shall have the 
right to assign this Lease to an entity wholly owned by him, provided he signs such Guaranty in the same 
form as the Guaranty attached to this Lease as Exhibit F concurrently therewith, and in such event, the 
validity and effectiveness of this Lease is expressly conditioned upon the execution of such Guaranty by 
Daniel Batchelor and Jonathan Hogander, an individual, in the form attached to this Lease as Exhibit F.  If 
the Guaranty is not so executed, then this Lease shall be of no force or effect. 

39. Accessibility; Americans with Disabilities Act.  The Premises: 
 
    X     have not undergone an inspection by a Certified Access Specialist (CASp). A Certified Access 
Specialist (CASp) can inspect the subject premises and determine whether the subject premises comply 
with all of the applicable construction-related accessibility standards under state law. Although state law 
does not require a CASp inspection of the subject premises, the commercial property owner or lessor 
may not prohibit the lessee or tenant from obtaining a CASp inspection of the subject premises for the 
occupancy or potential occupancy of the lessee or tenant, if requested by the lessee or tenant. The 
parties shall mutually agree on the arrangements for the time and manner of the CASp inspection, the 
payment of the fee for the CASp inspection, and the cost of making any repairs necessary to correct 
violations of construction-related accessibility standards within the premises. 

 have undergone an inspection by a Certified Access Specialist (CASp) and it was determined that the 
Premises met all applicable construction-related accessibility standards pursuant to California Civil Code 
§55.51 et seq.  

 have undergone an inspection by a Certified Access Specialist (CASp) and it was determined that the 
Premises did not meet all applicable construction-related accessibility standards pursuant to California 
Civil Code §55.51 et seq. 
 
Because compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) is dependent upon Tenant's specific 
use of the Premises, Landlord makes no warranty or representation as to whether or not the Premises 
comply with ADA or any similar legislation. If Tenant's use of the Premises requires modifications or 
additions to the Premises in order to be in ADA compliance, Tenant agrees to make any necessary 
modifications and/or additions at Tenant's expense. Landlord shall be responsible for any modifications or 
additions to the Common Areas in order to be in ADA compliance pursuant to Section 6(b) above, 
provided, however, any modifications or additions to the Common Areas performed by Landlord prior to 
the Delivery Date shall be at Landlord’s sole cost and expense without reimbursement by Tenant.   
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-147



 

 
25 

40. Options to Extend.  Landlord grants Tenant the option to extend the Lease term for two 
(2) additional five (5) year periods (each, an "Option Term," or collectively, "Option Terms") beginning 
when each prior term expires on the following terms and conditions: 

(a) Method of Exercise.  To exercise an option to extend, Tenant shall give written notice of 
Tenant's election to exercise the option to Landlord at least six (6) months but not more than nine (9) 
months before the date the Option Term would commence, time being of the essence.  The notice must 
specifically state that Tenant is exercising Tenant's option to extend the Term; if a notice from Tenant to 
Landlord is ambiguous about whether an option is being exercised, or if proper notification of the exercise 
of an option is not given and/or received, the option will automatically expire.  The options may only be 
exercised consecutively during the Term. 

(b) Rent Adjustments.  Base Rent for the first year of each Option Term shall be the greater 
of (i) fair market rent or (ii) 103% of the Base Rent in effect for the last year of the Original Term or the 
prior Option Term, as applicable. Fair market rent shall be the rental rate agreed upon by Landlord and 
Tenant for the first year of the applicable Option Term. Landlord and Tenant shall exercise good faith 
efforts to agree upon fair market rent for the first year of the Option Term within thirty (30) days following 
the exercise of the option by Tenant for such Option Term. If, however, Base Rent for the first year of the 
Option Term has not been determined by Landlord and Tenant, acting in good faith, within sixty (60) days 
following Tenant's exercise of the option, then fair market rent shall be established as follows: Landlord 
shall select an appraiser of its choice and give Tenant written notice of such appraiser's name, address 
and telephone number. Within ten (10) days after receipt of such notice by Landlord, Tenant shall select 
an individual as an appraiser of its choice and give Landlord written notice of such appraiser's name, 
address and telephone number. The two appraisers so selected by Landlord and Tenant shall then select 
an individual as a third appraiser within ten (10) days after receipt by Tenant of Landlord's notification as 
to its selection of an appraiser, and furnish Landlord and Tenant written notice of such appraiser's name, 
address and telephone number. All appraisers selected pursuant to this paragraph shall be M.A.I. 
appraisers, unless Landlord and Tenant shall otherwise agree in writing, each having at least ten (10) 
years' experience with commercial property in Nevada County, California.  Each of the three (3) selected 
appraisers shall then determine the fair rental value of the Premises for the first year of the applicable 
Option Term and the Base Rent hereunder for the first year of the Option Term shall be determined to be 
the average of the three (3) appraisals for each such years; provided, however, that in no event shall the 
Base Rent for the first year of the Option Term be deemed to be less than 103% of the Base Rent for the 
last year of the immediately preceding Term. If Landlord fails to select its appraiser in the manner and 
within the time specified above, then the Base Rent for the first year of the Option Term shall be the fair 
market rent as determined by Tenant (but not less than 103% of the Base Rent for the last year of the 
immediately preceding Term). If Tenant fails to select its appraiser in the manner and within the time 
specified above, then the Base Rent for the first year of the Option Term shall be the fair market rent as 
determined by Landlord (but not less than 103% of the Base Rent for the last year of the immediately 
preceding Term). If the appraisers selected by Landlord and Tenant fail to appoint the third appraiser 
within the time and in the manner prescribed above, then Landlord and/or Tenant shall promptly apply to 
the local office of the American Arbitration Association for the appointment of the third appraiser. All fees, 
costs and expenses incurred in connection with obtaining the appraisals and the arbitration procedure set 
forth in this section shall be shared equally by Landlord and Tenant; however, Landlord and Tenant shall 
each bear their own attorneys' fees incurred with respect to this procedure. The Base Rent payable for 
each subsequent year of the Option Term shall increase on each anniversary thereof by three percent 
(3%) over the Base Rent payable for the immediately preceding year. 
// 
// 
// 
// 
// 
// 
// 
// 

[ Signatures on next page ] 
// 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-148



 

 
26 

// 
// 
// 
// 
// 
// 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have executed this Lease as of the day and year 
first above written. 

TENANT: 
 
LONGITUDE MANAGEMENT, LLC,  
a California limited liability company 
 
 
By:   
 
Name:   
 
Title:   
 
Date:   
 
 
 
By:   
 
Name:   
 
Title:   
 
Date:   
 
 
 
LANDLORD: 
 
NC ACQUISITION 569, LLC, 
a California limited liability company 
 
 
By:   
 
Name:   
 
Title:   
 
Date:   
 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1

Daniel Batchelor 

9/30/2019

Ceo

9/30/2019

CFO

Jonathan Hogander

Authorized Signer

9/30/2019

Authorized Signer

LML-D-149



 

 

EXHIBIT A TO LEASE  

FLOOR PLAN  
 

LOWER FLOOR PLAN 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-150



 

 
1 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-151



 

 
1 

 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-152



 

 
1 

EXHIBIT C TO LEASE 

WORK LETTER 

THIS WORK LETTER dated ________________, __________ (this "Work Letter") is made and 
entered into by and between NC ACQUISITION 569, LLC, a California limited liability company 
("Landlord"), and LONGITUDE MANAGEMENT, LLC, a California limited liability company ("Tenant"), 
and is attached to and made a part of the Lease dated __________________________, 2019 (the 
"Lease"), by and between Landlord and Tenant.  Any initially capitalized terms used but not defined 
herein shall have the meanings given them in the Lease. 

1. General Requirements. 

(a) Tenant's Authorized Representative.  Tenant designates ________________ and 
________________ (either such individual acting alone, "Tenant's Representative") as the only persons 
authorized to act for Tenant pursuant to this Work Letter.  Landlord shall not be obligated to respond to or 
act upon any request, approval, inquiry or other communication ("Communication") from or on behalf of 
Tenant in connection with this Work Letter unless such Communication is in writing from Tenant's 
Representative.  Tenant may change either Tenant's Representative at any time upon not less than 5 
business days advance written notice to Landlord.  Neither Tenant nor Tenant's Representative shall be 
authorized to direct Landlord's contractors in the performance of Landlord's Work (as hereinafter defined). 

(b) Landlord's Authorized Representative.  Landlord designates ________________ and 
_______________ (either such individual acting alone, "Landlord's Representative") as the only 
persons authorized to act for Landlord pursuant to this Work Letter.  Tenant shall not be obligated to 
respond to or act upon any request, approval, inquiry or other Communication from or on behalf of 
Landlord in connection with this Work Letter unless such Communication is in writing from Landlord's 
Representative.  Landlord may change either Landlord's Representative at any time upon advance written 
notice to Tenant (which may be through email). Landlord's Representative shall be the sole persons 
authorized to direct Landlord's contractors in the performance of Landlord's Work. 

(c) Architects, Consultants and Contractors.  Landlord and Tenant hereby acknowledge 
and agree that:  (i) the general contractor for Tenant’s Work shall be _______________________, and (ii) 
__________________________ shall be the architect (the "TI Architect") for Tenant’s Work.   

2. Tenant Improvements.  Other than Landlord's Work (as defined in Section 3(a) below), 
Landlord shall not have any obligation whatsoever with respect to the finishing of the Premises for 
Tenant's use and occupancy. 

3. Performance of Landlord's Work. 

(a) Definition of Landlord's Work.  Landlord shall deliver the Premises to Tenant in as is 
cold shell condition. 

4. Tenant’s Work. 

(a) Tenant's Plans and Drawings.  Tenant shall deliver to Landlord the construction plans, 
specifications and drawings for Tenant’s Work (the "TI Drawings") detailing Tenant's proposed Tenant’s 
Work.  Not more than 10 business days thereafter, Landlord shall deliver to Tenant the written objections, 
questions or comments of Landlord with regard to the TI Drawings.  Tenant shall cause the TI Drawings 
to be revised to address such written comments and shall resubmit said drawings to Landlord for 
approval within 5 business days thereafter.  Such process shall continue until Landlord has approved the 
TI Drawings. 

(b) Licensed Contractor; Compliance.  All of Tenant’s Work shall be performed and 
constructed by a licensed contractor and in accordance with all building codes and applicable City 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1

9/30/2019

LML-D-153



 

 
2 

ordinances, regulations, codes and governmental requirements and State laws, regulations and 
governmental requirements. The TI Drawings for Tenant’s Work shall be subject to Landlord’s prior 
written approval, not to be unreasonably withheld.  

(c) Tenant's Early Access Rights.  Tenant may have Early Possession of the Premises if 
permitted by Landlord pursuant to Section 2(a) of the Lease, at Tenant's sole risk and expense, and 
provided that such Tenant's Work is coordinated with Landlord and Landlord’s general contractor, and 
complies with the Lease and all other reasonable restrictions and conditions Landlord may impose.  All 
such access shall be during normal business hours or at such other times as are reasonably designated 
by Landlord.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have no right to enter onto the Premises or the 
Project unless and until Tenant shall deliver to Landlord evidence reasonably satisfactory to Landlord 
demonstrating that any insurance reasonably required by Landlord in connection with such pre-
commencement access (including, but not limited to, any insurance that Landlord may require pursuant to 
the Lease) is in full force and effect.  Any entry by Tenant shall comply with all established safety 
practices of Landlord's contractor and Landlord until completion of Landlord's Work and acceptance 
thereof by Tenant. 

(d) No Interference.  Neither Tenant nor any Tenant Party (as defined in the Lease) shall 
interfere with the performance of Landlord's Work, nor with any inspections or issuance of final approvals 
by applicable Governmental Authorities, and upon any such interference, Landlord shall have the right to 
exclude Tenant and any Tenant Party from the Premises and the Project until Substantial Completion of 
Landlord's Work. 

(e) No Acceptance of Premises.  The fact that Tenant may, with Landlord's consent, enter 
into the Project prior to the date Landlord's Work is Substantially Complete for the purpose of performing 
Tenant's Work shall not be deemed an acceptance by Tenant of possession of the Premises, but in such 
event Tenant shall defend with counsel reasonably acceptable by Landlord, indemnify and hold Landlord 
harmless from and against any loss of or damage to Tenant's property, completed work, fixtures, 
equipment, materials or merchandise, and from liability for death of, or injury to, any person, caused by 
the act or omission of Tenant or any Tenant Party. 

(f) Tenant to Provide Dumpster for Demolition. During installation of Tenant's 
improvements, Tenant shall provide at its own expense an adequate dumpster for removal of demolition 
and construction debris.  If Tenant fails to do so, Landlord may provide the dumpster and bill Tenant 1.5 
times the cost of the dumpster expenses service.  Further, Tenant shall be responsible for and shall 
indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from and against any losses and liabilities arising out of any 
activity or omission of Tenant’s contractors, subcontractors, or their agents and employees, including 
without limitation by reason of faulty work performed by Tenant or its contractors or subcontractors, 
damage to the Building or Project caused by Tenant’s contractors or subcontractors, delays in work 
performed in, on, or about the Building or Project caused by Tenant’s contractors or subcontractors, 
inadequate clean-up or failure to comply with the requirements of Landlord and Landlord’s general 
contractor and onsite construction manager, if any, with respect to protection of Landlord’s construction 
work and the work of other tenants in the Project which has been completed or is in progress, including 
paths of access within the Project for construction materials, equipment and labor, and coordination of 
sequencing of work. 

(g) Certificate of Occupancy. Tenant will furnish Landlord with a valid Certificate of 
Occupancy (or its equivalent) issued by the appropriate governmental agency, in addition to any local and 
state cannabis licenses or permits, within five (5) days after the issuance thereof. 

5. Miscellaneous.  No modification, waiver or amendment of this Work Letter or of any of 
its conditions or provisions shall be binding upon Landlord or Tenant unless in writing signed by Landlord 
and Tenant. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-154



 

 
3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have executed this Work Letter to be effective on 
the date first above written. 

TENANT: 
 
LONGITUDE MANAGEMENT, LLC,  
a California limited liability company 
 
By:   
 
Name:   
 
Title:   
 
Date:   
 
 
 
By:   
 
Name:   
 
Title:   
 
Date:   
 
 
LANDLORD: 
 
NC ACQUISITION 569, LLC, 
a California limited liability company 
 
 
By:   
 
Name:   
 
Title:   
 
Date:   
 

 

 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1

9/30/2019

Ceo

Daniel Batchelor 

9/30/2019

CFO

Jonathan Hogander

Authorized Signer

9/30/2019

Authorized Signer

LML-D-155



 

 
1 

EXHIBIT D TO LEASE 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF DELIVERY DATE 

This ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF DELIVERY DATE is made this _____ day of _____________, 
____________________________, between NC ACQUISITION 569, LLC, a California limited liability 
company (“Landlord”), and LONGITUDE MANAGEMENT, LLC, a California limited liability company 
(“Tenant”), and is attached to and made a part of the Lease dated ____________, 2007 (the “Lease”), by 
and between Landlord and Tenant.  Any initially capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have 
the meanings given them in the Lease. 

Landlord and Tenant hereby acknowledge and agree, for all purposes of the Lease, that the 
Delivery Date of the Base Term of the Lease is ____________, 20__, the Rent Commencement Date of 
the Base Term is ____________, 20__, and the termination date of the Base Term of the Lease shall be 
midnight on ____________, 20__. In case of a conflict between the terms of the Lease and the terms of 
this Acknowledgment of Delivery Date, this Acknowledgment of Delivery Date shall control for all 
purposes. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have executed this ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF 
DELIVERY DATE to be effective on the date first above written. 

TENANT: 
 
LONGITUDE MANAGEMENT, LLC,  
a California limited liability company  
 
By:   
 
Name:   
 
Title:   
 
Date:   
 
 
By:   
 
Name:   
 
Title:   
 
Date:   
 
 
LANDLORD: 
 
NC ACQUISITION 569, LLC, 
a California limited liability company 
 
 
By:   
 
Name:   
 
Title:   
 
Date:   

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-156



 

 
1 

EXHIBIT E TO LEASE 

Rules and Regulations 

1. The sidewalk, entries, and driveways of the Project shall not be obstructed by Tenant, or 
any Tenant Party, or used by them for any purpose other than ingress and egress to and from the 
Premises. 

2. Tenant shall not place any objects, including antennas, outdoor furniture, etc., in the 
parking areas, landscaped areas or other areas outside of its Premises, or on the roof of the Project. 

3. Except for animals assisting the disabled, no animals shall be allowed in the offices, 
halls, or corridors in the Project. 

4. Tenant shall not disturb the occupants of the Project or adjoining buildings by the use of 
any radio or musical instrument or by the making of loud or improper noises. 

5. If Tenant desires telegraphic, telephonic or other electric connections in the Premises, 
Landlord or its agent will direct the electrician as to where and how the wires may be introduced; and, 
without such direction, no boring or cutting of wires will be permitted.  Any such installation or connection 
shall be made at Tenant’s expense. 

6. Parking any type of recreational vehicles is specifically prohibited on or about the Project.  
Except for the overnight parking of operative vehicles, no vehicle of any type shall be stored in the 
parking areas at any time.  In the event that a vehicle is disabled, it shall be removed within 48 hours.  
There shall be no “For Sale” or other advertising signs on or about any parked vehicle.  All vehicles shall 
be parked in the designated parking areas in conformity with all signs and other markings.  All parking will 
be open parking, and no reserved parking, numbering or lettering of individual spaces will be permitted 
except as specified by Landlord. 

7. Tenant shall maintain the Premises free from rodents, insects and other pests. 

8. Landlord reserves the right to exclude or expel from the Project any person who, in the 
judgment of Landlord, is intoxicated or under the influence of liquor or drugs or who shall in any manner 
do any act in violation of the Rules and Regulations of the Project. 

9. Tenant shall not cause any unnecessary labor by reason of Tenant’s carelessness or 
indifference in the preservation of good order and cleanliness.  Landlord shall not be responsible to 
Tenant for any loss of property on the Premises, however occurring, or for any damage done to the 
effects of Tenant by the janitors or any other employee or person. 

10. Tenant shall give Landlord prompt notice of any repairs or maintenance required as to 
the Common Areas. 

11. Tenant shall not permit storage outside the Premises, including without limitation, outside 
storage of trucks and other vehicles, or dumping of waste or refuse or permit any harmful materials to be 
placed in any drainage system or sanitary system in or about the Premises. 

12. All moveable trash receptacles provided by the trash disposal firm for the Premises must 
be kept in the trash enclosure areas, if any, provided for that purpose. 

13. No auction, public or private, will be permitted on the Premises or the Project. 

14. No awnings shall be placed over the windows in the Premises except with the prior 
written consent of Landlord. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-157



 

 
2 

15. The Premises shall not be used for lodging, sleeping or cooking or for any immoral or 
illegal purposes or for any purpose other than that specified in the Lease.  No gaming devices shall be 
operated in the Premises. 

16. Tenant assumes full responsibility for protecting the Premises from theft, robbery and 
pilferage. 

 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-158



 

 
1 

EXHIBIT F TO LEASE 
 

GUARANTY 
 

[ATTACHED] 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-159



 

 
1 

GUARANTY 
 

This Guaranty (“Guaranty”) dated as of _______________________, 2019, is made by Daniel 
Batchelor and Jonathan Hogander, as individuals (“Guarantor”) in favor of NC ACQUISITION 569, LLC, a 
California limited liability company (“Landlord”). Landlord and LONGITUDE MANAGEMENT, LLC, a 
California limited liability company (“Tenant”) have entered into a Lease, dated ___________________, 
2019 (the “Lease”).  Under the Lease, Landlord leased to Tenant certain property located at 569 Searls 
Avenue, Suite B, Nevada City, CA 95959 (the “Premises”).  As a condition to entering into the Lease, 
Landlord has required that Guarantor execute and deliver to Landlord this Guaranty. 

 
As a material inducement to Landlord to enter into the Lease with Tenant, Guarantor agrees as 

follows: 
 
Guaranty.  Guarantor absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to Landlord the timely 

payment of all amounts that Tenant owes under the Agreement, or any Lease extensions, renewals, or 
modifications.  Guarantor further guarantees Tenant’s full, faithful, and timely performance of the 
Agreement, or any Lease extensions, renewals, or modifications.  If Tenant fails to pay amounts due 
(whether rent or other amounts) or fails to otherwise perform any covenant or obligation under the 
Agreement, Guarantor (at Guarantor's expense) will fully and promptly pay all amounts due and perform all 
of Tenant’s covenants and obligations under the Lease on demand by Landlord.  Amounts due may include 
(but are not limited to) rent, interest, costs advanced by Landlord, damages,  cleaning costs, repair  costs, 
or replacement costs for real or personal property, and all expenses including, (but not limited to) court 
costs and reasonable attorney fees that may arise because of Tenant’s default.  In addition, Guarantor 
agrees to pay reasonable attorney fees and all other costs and expenses incurred by Landlord in enforcing 
this Guaranty or in any action or proceeding arising out of, or relating to, this Guaranty.   

 
2. Term.  This Guaranty will become effective when it is signed and will continue until all of 

Tenant’s obligations have been fully and completely performed, notwithstanding any Lease termination, 
renewal, extension or holding over. 

 
(A) Tenant Definition.  For purposes of this Guaranty, and the obligations and liabilities of 

Guarantor, the term “Tenant” includes any and all occupants of the Premises, whether the original Tenant, 
subtenants, assignees, or others directly or indirectly leasing or occupying the Premises. 

 
(B) Continuing Guaranty.  This Guaranty will remain in full force notwithstanding the 

appointment of a receiver to take possession of all or substantially all of the assets of Tenant, or an 
assignment by Tenant for the benefit of creditors, or any action taken or suffered by Tenant under any 
insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization, moratorium, or other debtor relief act or statute, whether now 
existing or later amended or enacted, or the disaffirmance of the Lease in any action or otherwise. 

 
(C) No Guarantor Right of Possession, and No Obligation to Serve Notices.  This Guaranty 

does not confer a right to possession of the premises by Guarantor, and Landlord is not required to serve 
Guarantor with any notices to terminate or to perform covenants, including any demand for payment of rent, 
prior to Landlord proceedings against Guarantor for Guarantor’s obligations under this Guaranty. 

 
(D) Independent Obligations.  The obligations of Guarantor are independent of, and may 

exceed, the obligations of Tenant.  At Landlord’s option, a separate action may be brought and prosecuted 
against Guarantor, whether or not any action is first or subsequently brought against Tenant, or whether or 
not Tenant is joined in any action, and Guarantor may be joined in any action or proceeding initiated by 
Landlord against Tenant arising out of, in connection with, or based upon the Lease.   

 
(E) Guarantor Waivers.  Guarantor waives any right to (a) require Landlord to proceed against 

Tenant, other Guarantors, or any other person or entity liable to Landlord or pursue any other remedy in 
Landlord’s power, (b) complain of delay in the enforcement of Landlord’s rights under the Lease, and (c) 
require Landlord to proceed against or exhaust any security held from Tenant or Guarantor.  Guarantor 
waives any defense arising from any disability or other defense of Tenant.  Guarantor waives any right (1) 
of reimbursement, indemnification, contribution and any other rights and defenses available to a guarantor 
under California Civil Code §2787-2855; (2) to demands upon and notices to Tenant and to Guarantor, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1

9/30/2019

9/30/2019

LML-D-160



 

 
2 

including, without limitation, demands for performance, notices of nonperformance, notices of non-payment, 
and notices of acceptance of this Guaranty; and (3) to defenses Guarantor may have by reason of an 
election of remedies by Landlord under Civil Code §2856(a)(2).  Guarantor waives any defenses under 11 
USC §506(b). 

 
(F) Guarantor Subrogation.  Guarantor subrogates all existing or future indebtedness of Tenant 

to Guarantor to the obligations owed to Landlord under the Lease and this Guaranty. 
 
(G) No Reporting Duty.  Guarantor assumes full responsibility for keeping fully informed of the 

financial condition of Tenant and all other circumstances affecting Tenant’s ability to perform Tenant‘s 
obligations under the Lease. Guarantor agrees that Landlord will have no duty to report to Guarantor any 
information that Landlord receives about Tenant’s financial condition or any circumstances bearing on 
Tenant’s ability to perform any obligations. 

 
(H) Lease Amendments, Extensions, Renewals, Assignments and Subletting.  Guarantor 

agrees that the Lease may be amended, extended, renewed, assigned or sublet (by agreement or course of 
conduct) without consent or notice to Guarantor and this Guaranty will guaranty the performance of the 
Lease as amended, extended, renewed, modified, assigned or sublet.   

 
(I) Estoppel Certificates and Financial Statements.  If Tenant has any obligation to sign and 

deliver estoppel certificates and financial statements, Guarantor will have the same obligation to provide 
estoppel certificates signed by Guarantor and to provide Guarantor’s financial statements.   

 
(J) Joint and Several Obligations.  If the obligations of Tenant are guaranteed by more than 

one party, their obligations will be joint and several, and a release or liability limitation of any one or more of 
the guarantors will not release or limit the liability of any other guarantors. 

 
(K) Successors and Assigns.  This Guaranty will be binding upon Guarantor and Guarantor's 

heirs, administrators, personal and legal representatives, successors, and assigns, and will inure to the 
benefit of Landlord and Landlord's successors and assigns.  Landlord may, without notice to or consent of 
Guarantor, assign this Guaranty, the Lease, or the rents and other sums payable under the Lease, in whole 
or in part. 

 
(L) Governing Law.  This Guaranty will be governed by California law. This Guaranty may not 

be waived, altered, modified, or amended except in a writing signed by an authorized officer of Landlord 
and by Guarantor.  Any action arising out of this Guaranty may be brought in the county where the property 
is located. 

 
(M) Severance.  If any provision of this Guaranty is invalid under the laws of any jurisdiction, 

this Guaranty will be construed as if it did not contain that provision. 
 
(N) Counterparts and Fax Signatures.  This Guaranty may be executed in counterpart, each 

which will be a valid and binding original, but all together will constitute one and the same instrument.  
Landlord may rely on an electronic copy of this Guaranty as if it was the original. 
 
 

[ Signatures on next page ] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1
LML-D-161



 

 
3 

 
 
GUARANTOR: 
 
 
By:         
Name: Daniel Batchelor 
 
Date:     
 
SSN or Fed ID #:    

 
 

By:     
Name: Jonathan Hogander 
 
Date:     
 
SSN or Fed ID #:    
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C58985E6-7AAA-490E-B2A2-2CA978E878A1

9/30/2019

615308936

9/30/2019

518156373

LML-D-162



RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
Longitude Management, LLC, 569 Searls Avenue, Suite B 

 
A. PLANNING DEPARTMENT 
 
1. Provide proof of California State Licensing that verifies the license type issued. 
 
2. Prior to commencing operations, you are required to complete all tenant improvements as 

detailed in your application and as required by Fire and Building Code. A cannabis business 
shall be subject to a mandatory building inspection, and must obtain all required permits and 
approvals which would otherwise be required for any business of the same size and intensity 
operating in that zone. This includes but is not limited to obtaining any required building 
permit(s), fire department approvals, Environmental Health Department approvals and other 
zoning and land use permit(s) and approvals. 

 
3. Provide evidence of the right to occupy and to use the property for purposes of a cannabis 

distribution business. As a condition precedent to the City's issuance of a cannabis business 
permit pursuant to this Chapter, any person intending to open and to operate a cannabis 
business shall provide sufficient evidence of the legal right to occupy and to use the proposed 
location.  

 
4. Execute an agreement, in a form approved by the city attorney, agreeing to indemnify, defend 

(at applicant's sole cost and expense), and hold the City of Nevada City, and its officers, 
officials, employees, representatives, and agents, harmless, from any and all claims, losses, 
damages, injuries, liabilities or losses which arise out of, or which are in any way related to, 
the City's issuance of the cannabis business permit, the City's decision to approve the 
operation of the cannabis business or activity, to process used by the City in making its 
decision, or the alleged violation of any federal, state or local laws by the cannabis business 
or any of its officers, employees or agents. 

 
5. Provide proof of liability insurance and liability agreement. You are required to maintain 

insurance at coverage limits, and with conditions thereon determined necessary and 
appropriate from time to time by the city attorney. 

 
6. Operation of your business shall be consistent with the submitted application material or as 

otherwise presented at the public meeting and as approved by the planning commission.  

7. Off-street parking shall accommodate all employees, distribution vehicles, vendors, and 
visitors of the subject business. No on-street parking is permitted.  Justification of overflow 
parking shall be submitted to the Planning Department prior to leasing any off-site parking 
space and shall be re-justified with all annual renewals in order to evaluate any changes of use 
of the overflow parking property. Justification of the applicant’s ability to accommodate the 
business with off street parking shall be included with annual renewals. 

8. Prior to issuance of a cannabis business permit, provide a copy of your contract with a licensed 
cannabis waste disposal company 

9. Packaging and Labeling: 

a. Before a cannabis manufacturer delivers any edible cannabis or edible cannabis 
product to a dispensary, the same shall be labeled and placed in tamper-evident 



packaging which at least meets the requirements of California Business and 
Professions Code section 19347, as the same may be amended from time-to-
time or superseded or replaced by subsequent State legislation or by any 
department or division of the State of California 

b. All items to be sold or distributed shall be individually wrapped at the original 
point of preparation by the business permitted as a cannabis manufacturer 

c. Labeling must include a warning if nuts or other known allergens are used, and 
must include the total weight (in ounces or grams) of cannabis in the package 

d. A warning that the item is a medication and not a food must be clearly legible 
on the front of the package 

e. The package must have a label warning that the product is to be kept away from 
children 

f. The label must also state that the product contains cannabis and must specify the 
date of manufacture 

g. Any edible cannabis product that is made to resemble a typical food product 
must be in a properly labeled opaque (non-see-through) package before it leaves 
the marijuana manufacturing business 

h. Deliveries must be in a properly labeled opaque package when delivered 

i. The City Council may impose additional packaging and labeling requirements 
on cannabis or cannabis products by resolution, as permitted by law 

B. ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 

1 Unless  authorized by separate waste discharge requirements, the Cannabis General Order, or a 
CWA section 404 permit, the following discharges are prohibited: 
 

a. Any waste that could affect the quality of the waters of the state. 
 

b. Any wastewater discharge to City sewer that contains excessive nutrients (e.g., phosphate 
or nitrate), salinity constituents (e.g., sodium, chloride, potassium, calcium, sulfate, 
magnesium), constituents (e.g., iron, manganese, zinc, molybdenum, boron, and silver) or 
chemicals 

 
C. FIRE DEPARTMENT 

1. The occupancy classification shall be determined as a Group F (Factory Industrial).  Group F 
occupancies include those intended for the purpose of assembling, disassembling, fabricating, 
finishing, manufacturing, packaging, repair or processing operations that not classified as Group 
H or S. 

 
2. Note that NFPA 1 is not recognized by the California Building or Fire Codes.  However, it is 

recommended that NFPA 1 Chapter 38, Marijuana Growing, Processing or Extraction Facilities, 
be used to determine fire protection requirements not covered in the California Fire Code (CFC). 

 



3. Fire extinguishers with a minimum rating of 2-A: 10-B: C shall be provided such that no point in 
the building is further than 75-foot travel distance to an extinguisher. 

 
4. The design occupant load and floor area allowance shall be determined by the CBC Table 

1004.1.2.  For instance, maximum floor area allowed per occupant for a business area is 100. 
 

a. The occupant load shall be for the proposed tenant space shall be limited to a single (1) 
occupant in unit 235. 
 

b. The occupant load shall be for the proposed tenant space shall be limited to a single (1) 
occupant in unit 236. 

 
5. The existing fire sprinkler system shall be reviewed by a fire protection contractor or specialist for 

proper coverage. Sprinklers in the production, storage, shipping and receiving areas shall be spaced 
for Ordinary Hazard Occupancy per NFPA 13; 130 square feet per sprinkler maximum.  The existing 
usage of the space is offices which are considered Light Hazard Occupancy (225 square feet per 
sprinkler maximum).  Hydraulic calculations may be required. Fire sprinkler plans shall be submitted 
to the Fire Department by a licensed C-16. 

 
6. There appears to be no volatile extraction processes taking place with in this facility.  If any 

volatile extraction operations are to take place, details shall be submitted for review and approval 
prior to conducting any extraction processes. 

 
7. Keys shall be provided to access all spaces to be placed into the facility Knox box. 

 
D.  COUNTY ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH DEPARTMENT 

1. All hazardous materials stored, utilized and wastes generated from the manufacturing 
operations requires permitting through the Environmental Health Department CUPA program 
per California Health and Safety Code. 

2. The manufacturing operation must adhere to existing California Department of Public Health -
Manufactured Cannabis Safety Branch (MCSB) regulations governing the manufacture of 
cannabis-infused edibles for both medical and nonmedical use. 

3. Any retail cannabis operation, in conjunction with the manufacturing operation, shall be 
licensed with the Bureau of Cannabis Control. 

4. The applicant and/or facility operator must adhere to all applicable codes and regulations 
regarding the storage of hazardous materials and the generation of hazardous wastes set forth 
in California Health and Safety Code Section 25500-25519 and 25100- 25258.2 including the 
electronic reporting requirement to the California Environmental Reporting System (CERS). 

5. The applicant and/or facility operator must apply for and obtain a permit for the storage of 
hazardous materials and the generation of hazardous wastes from the Nevada County 
Department of Environmental Health (NCDEH), Certified Unified Program Agency (CUPA). 

6. The applicant and/or facility operator shall secure and annually renew the permit for this 
facility within 30 days of becoming subject to applicable regulations. Routine compliance 
inspections, conducted by NCDEH inspectors, will occur at the facility and compliance 
inspections are typically unannounced inspections during regular business hours: Monday -
Friday, 8:00am - 5:00pm. 



7. The applicant shall adhere to the County of Nevada Cannabis Ordinance, and any additional 
permitting, registration and reporting requirements. 

8. Addition of the sale of edible cannabis products through a Dispensary in conjunction with the 
manufacturing and distribution processes proposed requires a permit from the Nevada County 
Department of Environmental Health (NCDEH). 

E. POLICE DEPARTMENT 

1. The Chief of Police or designee, may conduct a facility inspection both prior to issuance of a 
tenant improvement permit and again prior to issuance of a cannabis business permit. Any 
recommended security features shall be implemented to the satisfaction of the Police Chief or 
designee prior to permit issuance. 

2. The City reserves the right to postpone  issuance of the Cannabis Business permit(s), in the event 
of any pending criminal investigations of any principal of the subject business, until such time 
that the investigation is closed. 

 

 
 



                                

             City of Nevada City 

 
City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

 

 
 
 
February 11, 2020 
 
Longitude Management, LLC 
ATTN: Daniel Batchelor 
Email: Daniel@latitudemanagement.com 
 
Subject:  Nevada City Cannabis Distribution Business Zoning Verification Letter; 569 Searls 

Avenue, Suite B 
 

Dear Mr. Batchelor: 
 
This letter shall serve as verification that property located at 569 Searls Avenue, Suite B Nevada City, CA 
meets local locational requirements in terms of zoning limits to operate a l Cannabis Distribution business. 
Pursuant to our local ordinance, Chapter 9.22 of the City Municipal Code, the “D” business category is 
defined as follows: 
 

“Distribution” means the procurement, sale, and transport, of medical cannabis or medical 
cannabis products between entities licensed pursuant to the MCRSA and any subsequent State of 
California legislation regarding the same. 

 
The subject property, located at 569 Searls Avenue is located within the “Light Industrial-Scenic Corridor” 
(LI-SC) zoning district. This determination will suffice for local verification purposes, this Zoning 
Verification letter does not constitute verification of compliance with State locational requirements.  
 

 
 

600-foot radius area Subject property boundary 



Page 2 of 2 
 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

Please note that the issuance of a “Zoning Verification Letter” does not constitute written evidence of 
any kind of permission being given by the City of Nevada City, and it does not convey any right to 
operate a Cannabis Business in the City.  The Planning Commission, following the approved 
application procedure process will make a final decision on the issuance of Cannabis Business permits.   
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Amy Wolfson 
City Planner 
(530) 265-2496 x130  



 
 
December 4, 2019 
 
Longitude Management, LLC 
ATTN: Daniel Bachelor 
 

Via email: daniel@latitudemanagement.com 

 
Re: Application Clarification Requests from Nevada City Planning Department:  
Longitude Management, LLC 
 

1. Based on the business category definitions outlined in the City’s Ordinance (below) and 
your operation involving a “pre-roll machine” and “bio-shredder,”  the business will fall 
under the cultivation category as well as the distribution category. Please indicate either 
that these activities will not take place, or update the application to reflect the cultivation 
operation and pay the additional category fee of $2,500? 

 
"Cultivation" means any activity, whether occurring indoors or outdoors, involving the propagation, 

planting, growing, harvesting, drying, curing, grading, and/or trimming of cannabis plants or any 
part thereof for any purpose, including medical marijuana. 

 
“Distribution” means the procurement, sale, and transport, of medical cannabis or medical cannabis 

products between entities licensed pursuant to the MCRSA and any subsequent State of 
California legislation regarding the same. 

 
Longitude Management will not engage in any cultivation activities. As allowed by state 
regulations our distribution license will allow us to package, re-package, label, and re-label 
cannabis for retail sale. As per state regulations,  a licensed distributor may not process 
(meaning trimming) cannabis but may roll pre-rolls that consist exclusively of any combination 
of flower, shake, leaf, or kief. Pre-rolls must be rolled prior to regulatory compliance testing.  
We have always advocated for the local license definitions to be in alignment with the state’s 
and if they are not in alignment we may need to bring this back to the council to ensure that 
they are. I’m also not understanding the $2500 fee without submitting an entire Cultivation 
application. 

 
2. Please provide a brief summary of your daily activity. How many daily trips do you 

anticipate? I just don’t have a good picture of what your daily operation looks like.  
 
As described in our business plan, Longitude Distribution will procure bulk flower, brand 
it, package it and label it for distribution to license retailers including our partner 
businesses such as Elevation 2477’ or Blessed Extracts, located in Davis CA. Through 
our distribution license we intend to launch local brands that place Nevada County on the 
map as an important producer of small batch, craft cannabis. 

Page 1 of 3 
 



Our day-to-day, will include procuring, packaging and labeling as permitted by state 
regulations and transportation of those products to licensed businesses including retailers 
and other manufacturers. 

 
3. How many distribution vehicles to you plan to run? Where will they be stored? 

 
Longitude Distribution will like to eventually have two sprinter vans to procure and 
transport product. These vehicles will be stored in the assigned parking spaces at 569 
Searls Avenue and its adjacent gravel lot through a parking-lease agreement with 
545-555 NC Acquisition LLC, owners of 545-555 Searls Avenue. 
 
In the immediate future and upon receiving the license, Longitude Distribution will rely 
on self-transport suppliers and other distribution partners to deliver and pick-up product 
from our facilities through a detailed standard operating procedure requiring the careful 
scheduling of deliveries during business hours. 

 
4. Do you have a contract with a cannabis waste disposal company? Do you transport 

cannabis waste to a legal facility or does the waste disposal company come to the site? 
How frequent are waste disposal trips? 
 
Upon receiving our licenses and building our facilities, Longitude Distribution plans on 
contracting with Gaiaca for cannabis waste management services. We are currently in 
talks with partner businesses at the Searls Campus so that Gaiaca may offer discounted 
services for picking up all cannabis waste at this location at the same time. 

 
5. Where is the referenced community room? Is this the community room that is in a 

separate facility space or is this a space that is only serving the distribution facility? 
 
Longitude Distribution will not have a community room. Our space at 569 Searls Ave, 
suite B is currently used as an interim community space for Elevation 2477’ when we 
have special events and while our application is being considered. In the future, and as a 
service to the community, we are partnering with the Nevada County Cannabis Alliance 
and other cannabis businesses to host educational events at places like the Nevada 
Theatre, Akashic Visions Gallery and The Foothills Event Center. 

 
6. Provide a site plan that shows the location of the future gated parking area. 

 
We are currently working with the campus in order to allocate all parking area to the 
north of the building facing Reibes, to business employees. The campus has not yet 
confirmed this area will be gated.  

 
7. What are the business operating hours?  

  
8 am to 8 pm 

Page 2 of 3 
 



 
8. Is there currently a loading bay door or is this a proposed feature? 

 
There is currently no loading bay door. However, we plan to allocate the door located on 
the same side as our neighbors loading door, as indicated in our site plan, for shipping 
and receiving. This side of the building will be heavily guarded by shared security with 
our business partner, Elevation 2477’, and as indicated by the Nevada City Police 
Department, provides better clearance and transparent view to the adjacents Argall Way 
and Searls Avenue. 

 
9. Please indicate what coordination efforts you have with other building tenants in terms of 

security, waste management, and other common facilities. 
 
As partners in Elevation 2477’, we continue to be pioneers in the campus and have 
proposed several initiatives for shared security, waste management and other services for 
all of the tenants in the campus. Elevation 2477’s security team will continue to guard the 
entire building and provide perimeter security to all tenants. As indicated above, we are 
in talks with Gaica to provide discounted services to the whole campus that includes a 
one-time waste pick-up per month or quarter depending on the needs of each individual 
business. 

Page 3 of 3 
 



From: Maria Herrera <maria@latitudemanagement.com>  
Sent: Friday, January 17, 2020 3:28 PM 
To: Amy Wolfson <Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov> 
Cc: Daniel Batchelor <daniel@latitudemanagement.com>; Jonathan Hogander 
<jonathan@latitudemanagement.com> 
Subject: Re: FW: Cannabis Business Clarification Questions 
 
Hi Amy, 
 
Thanks for sending this. 
 
I'm not sure how you want us to respond to this. 
 
But Longitude Management agrees to amend and bring into compliance the following items in 
SCI's Compliance checklist: 
 

• Record Keeping. Section 1: Longitude Management LLC will keep records for at least 7 
years in accordance with California and Nevada City Regulations. 

• Security Plan. Section 10: Longitude Management will keep surveillance records as 
required by local and state regulatory agencies for 90 days. 

• Required Supplemental Information. Section D1: Labor and Employment. Longitude 
Management's Labor and Employment Plan includes employee titles and heightened pay 
ranges in Section 6 of our Labor and Employment Plan. Our Labor and Employment Plan 
also includes employee expectations and security training under Section 3. Our employee 
training manual is still being developed and it will include strict guidelines for abiding by 
local and state regulations. Longitude Management will abide by all of California's labor 
laws in regards to benefits and required time off. 

• Required Supplemental Information. Section D2: Labor and Employment. Longitude 
Management does not expect to have more than 5 employees at any given time give the 
small space of our facility and the limited regional operations the company expects to 
perform. However, as required by all California regulations governing over cannabis 
activity, Longitude Management will enter into a Labor Peace Agreement with a union of 
our employees' preferences. 

 
Let me know if this is sufficient to answer SCI's questions regarding our application. 
 
Best, 
 
Maria Herrera 
 



Applicant: ___Longitude Management_____                                                                                                                                                  
Applicant name: _Daniel Batchelor_and Jonathan Hogander__                                                                        

Application Compliance Checklist Comments

A. Principal Background Information

1 Applicant name, title, phone #, address, signature Application C
2 Picture of Applicant Application C
3 Copy of S.S. Card Application C
4 Copy of Drivers License Application C
5 Proof of Address Application C
6 Principal/Partner History Application C
7 List any partners with criminal record Application C

B. Business Organization Status

1 Cannabis Business Organizational Status and proof Application C Limited Liability Corporation

C. Business Description and Location

1 Statement of Purpose Application C
2 Proposed Business Location Application C 569 Searls Ave, Suite B, Nevada City, CA 95959; APN: 005-280-018-00

3 Name and Address of Property Owner Application C NC Acquisitions 569

4 Name and address of school(s) and/or public park(s) closest to Proposed Location: Application C Deer Creek Elementary (1,234') and Pioneer Park (3,423')

5 Zoning Verification Letter Application C

6

Description of neighborhood around the proposed location surrounding uses, nearby 
sensitive uses (such as schools, churches, parks, daycares, or residents), transit access 
to site, etc. A Application C

7
Site Plan: dimensioned; entire parcel & parking; additional structures; elevations and 
photos; exterior alterations Application C

8 Floor Plans Application C
C. Signage Plan

1 Conforms to Nevada City Municipal Code 9.22.090(I)(1) C
2 Signage does not obstruct any entrance or exit to building or window 9.22.090(I)(2) C Signage will be discreet and give no indication about nature of business

D.  Business Plan: Conform to State and Local Law

1 Conform to State and Local Law Application C
2 Day-to-Day operations Application C

Cannabis shall not be consumed on the premises of any cannabis business. 9.22.090(D) C Security Plan: no cannabis consumption onsite or on premise

No outdoor storage of cannabis or cannabis products is permitted at any time. 9.22.090(E) C Day to Day Operations (Section i): three separate storage rooms located inside the facility

Employees at least 21 years of age or older 9.22.090(J 1) C Security Plan: Employees must be 21 or older and not convicted of a felony

A licensed distributor shall distribute only cannabis goods, cannabis accessories, and 
licensees’ branded merchandise or promotional materials. § 5300

C Day to Day Operations (Section e): engage in the procurement, sales and transportation of 
cannabis or cannabis products

Non-employees and contractors will be escorted at all times by licensee or at least 1 
employee when in limited-access areas of premises § 5342

C
Security Plan (4.2.3. Visitor Access): Visitors given escorted access by manager or employee

A licensed distributor may package, re-package, label, and re-label cannabis,
including pre- rolls, for retail sale. § 5303.

C Day to Day Operations (Section j.): Applicant will be assisting other farmers with packaging 
and branding, along with packaging in-house brands

The package shall be tamper-evident; If the package of cannabis or pre-rolls contains 
more than one serving, then the packaging shall be resealable; The package shall not 
imitate any package used for goods that are typically marketed to children. § 5303.

C Enhanced Product Safety: will only distribute cannabis products that are labeled and placed 
in resealable, tamper-evident, child-resistant packaging; will not be attractive to children

A licensed distributor shall ensure that all cannabis goods batches are stored separately 
and distinctly from other cannabis goods batches on the licensed distributor’s 
premises. § 5302 (a)

C Day to Day Operations (Section g.): all raw and unpackaged cannabis will be quarantined and 
tested prior to packaging

After taking physical possession of a cannabis goods batch, the licensed distributor 
shall contact a licensed testing laboratory § 5304. C

Day to Day Operations (Section h)

A licensed distributor or an employee of the licensed distributor shall be
physically present to observe the laboratory employee obtain the sample of cannabis § 5305 (b)

C
Day to Day Operations (Section h)

The sampling shall be video recorded § 5305 (c) C Day to Day Operations (Section h): sampling recorded by video camera

Prior to transporting any cannabis goods, the licensed distributor shall have a 
completed sales invoice or receipt § 5311(b)

C
Transportation of Product Policy 

Cannabis goods shall only be transported inside of a vehicle or trailer and shall not be 
visible or identifiable from outside of the vehicle or trailer. § 5311(e)

C
Day to Day Operations (Section g.): products  will not be visible from outside the vehicle.

Cannabis goods shall be locked in a fully enclosed box, container, or cage that is 
secured to the inside of the vehicle or trailer. No portion of the enclosed box, 
container, or cage shall be comprised of any part of the body of the vehicle or trailer. 
For the purposes of this section, the inside of the vehicle includes the trunk. § 5311(f)

C
Day to Day Operations (Section g.): Products will be transported inside a locked box or cage 
affixed securely to the frame of the vehicle, and will not be visible from outside the vehicle.

While left unattended, vehicles and trailers shall be locked and secured. § 5311(g)
C

Transportation of Product Policy: one delivery employee will remain in vehicle at all times

At a minimum, a licensed distributor shall have a vehicle alarm system on all transport 
vehicles and trailers.  § 5311(i)

C
Day to Day Operations (Section g.): vehicles will be equipped with alarm and GPS

1 Description of track and trace protocols adheres to 16 CCR §5048-5051 § 5048 -5051 C Track and Trace System

2 Inventory reconciling every 30 days § 5051(a) C Track and Trace System: monthly inventory audit

City of Nevada: Distribution Application Summary Report

Application Findings: Application is generally consistent with most local and state regulations, see items marked NI for any items with incomplete or missing information or procedures and 
items marked NC for non-compliance with local and State regulations

Code Section (California Code of 
Regulations CCR - CDFA Title 3 and  

NCM 9.22

C, NC, NI, N/A

Operational Requirements

Transportation

Testing

Packaging, Labeling, and Rolling

Inventory Control and Diversion

Waste management

C = Compliant NC = Non – Compliant NI = Not Included N/A = Not Applicable



1

(c) Cannabis goods intended for disposal shall remain on the licensed premises until 
rendered into cannabis waste. The licensee shall ensure that: (1) Access to the cannabis 
goods is restricted to the licensee, its employees or agents; and(2) Storage of the 
cannabis goods allocated for disposal is separate and distinct from other cannabis 
goods.

§ 5054 (c) C

Day to Day Operations (Section m.)

2 Cannabis waste at a minimum removed from packaging or container and rendering it 
unrecognizable an usable § 5054 (d)

C
Day to Day Operations (Section m.)

3 Cannabis waste on the licensed premises shall be secured in a receptacle or area that is 
restricted to the licensee, its employees, or an authorized waste hauler. § 5054 (e)

C
Day to Day Operations (Section m.)

4 A licensee shall report all cannabis waste activities, up to and including disposal, into 
the track and trace system. § 5054 (f)

C
Day to Day Operations (Section m.)

1
Maintain the following records related to commercial cannabis activity for at least 
seven years: financial, personnel, training, contracts, permits/licenses, security records, 
cannabis destruction, data/information entered into track and trace, § 5037 (a)

NC Record Keeping Policy: applicant states records will be kept for at least 4 years. State requires 
7 years

2
All required records shall be prepared and retained in accordance with the following 
conditions: legible; stored in secure area § 5037 (b) C Record Keeping Policy: records kept electronically and backed up to a secure offsite cloud-

based storage

D.  Business Plan: Financial Plan

1 Schedule for beginning operation, proposed construction and improvements, and 
timeline for completion Application

C Timeline (Section a.) - operational by March/April 2020 - dependent on issuance of City 
Permits

2
Budget for construction, operation, maintenance, payroll, equipment, ect. Application

C

3 Proof of capitalization Application C

4 Pro forma for 3 years of operation Application C
D. Required Supplemental Information: Neighborhood Compatibility Plan

1 Address how exterior areas and surrounding public areas, will be managed, to avoid 
nuisances or negative impacts on neighbors and surrounding community. Application

C
Neighborhood Compatibility Plan: Facility is well-lit and well-ventilated. Exterior areas will be 
managed as outlined in their Safety and Security Plan; share security personnel with their 
retail facility; all doors equipped with surveillance and alarms; discreet signage; odor 
mitigation

2 Conducted neighborhood outreach? Proof? Application C
Neighborhood Compatibility Plan: Sent letter to surrounding businesses within 300ft and 
included summarized concerns from each business

3
Plan to address concerns? Application C Addressing Community Concerns: information sent to surrounding businesses on procedures 

for filing a complaint; managers contact info provided

D. Required Supplemental Information: Safety and Security Plan

1
HVAC system Application

C
Neighborhood Compatibility Plan: applicant proposes a state-of-the-art HVAC system and 
filtration system; ventilation rate of 15 cfm/occupant based on occupancy of 30 persons; 
install 3 separate HVAC systems

2
Fire Suppression Application

C
Safety Plan: internal and external sprinklers; emergency response plans; Fire protection and 
flammable combustible material checklists; annual inspection by independent Fire 
Consultant; fire extinguishers

3
Ventilation systems shall meet the requirements of Health and Safety Code sections 
114149 and 114149.3 Application

C

4
Alarm system Application

C Safety Plan: professionally installed alarm system with 7 motion detectors, alarm contacts on 
exterior doors; and product safe room that detects owners when opened; window contacts

5
Professionally and centrally-monitored fire, robbery, and burglar alarm systems 
maintained by professional security company 9.22.090(P)(2c.)

C
Safety plan

6 Written and physical mechanisms to deal with issues/threats Application C

1

General security policies for facility Application
C Security Plan: written procedures for: physical security measures; facility access control, after-

hours security measures; product and cash storage plan; Product and Cash transportation 
plan; security alarm system; video surveillance system; network security; security personnel

2
Employee security policies Application

C Security Plan: Limited access for employees, key code entry; record recording room 
accessible by Upper Management only; employees will undergo safety and security training

3 Employee training Policies Application C Security Plan: all new employees receive training upon hiring. Training consist of security 
plan, premise orientation, emergency training and situational training

4
Transactional security Application

C Security Plan (4.5.4): cash removal will occur at the rear drive-in access to the receiving 
room; random cash pickups and delivery; $10k limit

5
Visitor Security Application

C
Security Plan (4.1.3): all visitors required to check in at lobby; Security Plan (4.2.3): licensed 
contractors may check out a facility key only during period of work; all contractors required 
to sign visitors log and given a visitors badge

6
3rd Party contractor security Application

C
Security Plan (4.1.3): all visitors required to check in at lobby; Security Plan (4.2.3): visitors 
will be escorted by manage or employee and will not be given access codes; all visitors 
required to sign visitors log and given a contractor badge

7

Delivery Security Application

C
Security Plan (Transportation of Product Policy): minimum of 2 employees; delivery 
personnel are required to check in at front desk; secured delivery dock and intake room at 
the back of bldg.; personnel will walk outside and around receiving door before opening; 
transportation vehicle will drive into loading bay and door will be secured

8

Security surveillance cameras and a video recording system must be installed to 
monitor all doors into the buildings on the business site, the parking lot, loading areas, 
and all exterior sides of the property adjacent to the public rights of way. The
cameras and recording system must be of adequate quality, color rendition, and 
resolution to allow the identification of any individual present on the business site. 9.22.090(P)(2a.)

C Security Plan (4.7)

9

Video surveillance system:
  a. Minimum 1280x720 pixel resolution; b. Able to effectively and clearly record images 
of area under surveillance; c. Each camera will be permanently mounted and in a fixed 
location allowing   for clear recordings of activity within 20 feet of all points of entry 
and exit, and allows for clear ID of any person and activities in all areas in subsection e: 
d. Areas to be recorded on video surveillance system include: 1. Areas where cannabis 
goods are weighed, packed, stored, loaded and unloaded for transportation, prepared, 
or moved within the premises;  2. Limited-access areas; 3. Security rooms; 4. Areas 
storing a surveillance-system storage device with at least one camera recording the 
access points to the secured surveillance recording area; 5. Entrances and exits to the 
premises, which shall be recorded from both indoor and outdoor vantage points; e. 
Point of sale areas and areas where cannabis goods are displayed for sale; f. 
Continuous 24/7 recording 15fps; g. Physical media or storage device for video 
protected from tampering; h. Recording kept for minimum 90 days; j. Recorded images 
will clearly and accurately display time and date;  k. Video surveillance system equipped 
with failure notification system notifying licensee of any interruption or failure of video 
surveillance system or storage device; j. Recorded images will clearly and accurately 
display time and date;

§5044 C Security Plan (4.7)

10  Surveillance recording kept for minimum 90 days §5044 NC Security Plan (4.7.4): surveillance recordings kept for a minimum of 45 days. State requires 
90 days

11 24/7 security recordings retained for 30 days 9.22.090(P)(2b.) C Security Plan (4.7): 24 hours a day

12

All agents, officers, or other persons acting for or employed by a licensee will display a 
laminated or plastic-coated identification badge issued by licensee at all times while 
engaging in commercial cannabis activity.  The ID badge will include business name and 
license #, employee's first name & ID #, color photo of employee at least 1 inch in 
width and 1.5 inches in height 16 CCR § 5043

C Security Plan (4.2.5)

13 Limited-access areas secured with commercial grade locks 16 CCR § 5046 C
Security Plan (4.1.1 & 4.1.4): ANSI/BHMA Commercial Grade 1 or Grade 2 locks for external 
doors and restricted access equipped with commercial grade electronic keypad locks

Records Keeping

Safety Plan

Security Plan

C = Compliant NC = Non – Compliant NI = Not Included N/A = Not Applicable



D. Required Supplemental Information: Environmental Benefits (Water/Energy Efficiency Measures)

1 Describes any proposed "green" business practices relating to energy and climate, 
water conservation, and materials and waste management Application

C Working to implement: solar energy system resulting in fully self-sufficient powered facility; 
water efficient fixtures; LED lighting; energy efficient appliances

D. Required Supplemental Information: Community Benefits

1 Describes benefits to local community - employment, community contributions, or 
economic incentives Application

C Community Benefits: 64 Volunteer Time off Hours; non-profit financial assistance; local 
employment; favor local cannabis businesses

D. Required Supplemental Information: Labor and Employment

1
Describes heightened pay and benefits standards and practices? Compensation for 
continuing education and training of employees Application NI Not included in application; applicant refers to heightened pay and benefits outlined in Labor 

and Employment plan, but is not included in application

2 Recognizes collective bargaining rights of employees? Application NI Not included in application

3 Wage scale provided for all employment levels? Application C Employee Hiring Guidelines: $15-$25 for packagers; $42-$62k for manager; $25-$35 for 
drivers

D. Required Supplemental Information: Local Enterprise

1
Application states the extent to which business is locally managed and principals reside 
in Nevada City/County Application C Both owners reside in Nevada County

D. Required Supplemental Information: Qualifications of Principals

1

Information provided concerning any special business or professional qualifications or 
licenses of principals that would add to the number or quality of services that the MCB 
would provide, especially in areas related to medical cannabis, such as scientific or 
health care fields. Application

C
Daniel: background in business development and consulting; opened dispensary in San Diego 
in 2009; extensive knowledge of cannabis industry // Jonathan: extensive dispensary 
knowledge and experience; holds 17 cannabis licenses across Oregon and California

C = Compliant NC = Non – Compliant NI = Not Included N/A = Not Applicable



DISTRIBUTOR: Is responsible for transporting 
cannabis goods between licensees, arranging for 
testing of cannabis goods, and conducting the 
quality assurance review of cannabis goods to 
ensure compliance with all packaging and labeling 
requirements. A licensed distributor may only 
distribute cannabis goods, cannabis accessories, 
and licensees’ branded merchandise or promotional 
materials.

DISTRIBUTOR REQUIREMENTS

• Transportation

- Only a distributor licensee, their employees, 
or security personnel may be in a vehicle 
transporting cannabis goods. All persons in  
a vehicle transporting cannabis goods shall  
be 21 years of age or older.

- All vehicles or trailers used for transportation 
shall be owned or leased by the licensee in 
accordance with the Vehicle Code.

- Other forms of transportation, such as aircraft, 
watercraft, drone, rail, human-powered vehicles, 
and unmanned vehicles are prohibited.

- Prior to transportation, the distributor must 
ensure that a shipping manifest has been 
generated and provided to the Bureau and the 
licensee receiving the cannabis goods, as well 
as verify that the cannabis goods are accurately 
reflected in the shipping manifest. 

- A distributor who has not yet obtained access 
to the California Cannabis Track-and-Trace 
(CCTT) system shall transmit shipping manifests 
by email to the Bureau at bcc@dca.ca.gov and 
to the receiving licensee. (More information on 
shipping manifests may be found in the Shipping 
Manifest Fact Sheet available on the Bureau’s 
website.)

- A licensed distributor shall only travel between 
licensees’ premises, except for necessary rest, 
fuel, or vehicle repair stops, while transporting 
cannabis goods. 

CANNABIS  
DISTRIBUTOR (TYPE 11)  

FACT SHEET

- If transportation of cannabis goods in a vehicle 
or trailer is not operationally feasible because 
transportation would occur between licensed 
premises that are within the same building 
or parcel of land, a licensed distributor may 
transport cannabis goods by foot, hand truck, 
fork lift, or other similar means, with the requisite 
shipping manifest.

• Packaging, Labeling, and Rolling

- A licensed distributor may package, re-package, 
label, and re-label cannabis for retail sale. 

- A licensed distributor may not process cannabis 
but may roll pre-rolls that consist exclusively 
of any combination of flower, shake, leaf, or 
kief. Pre-rolls must be rolled prior to regulatory 
compliance testing.

- A licensed distributor may not package, re-
package, label, or re-label manufactured 
cannabis goods, with the exception of labeling 
and re-labeling a manufactured cannabis goods 
package with the amount of cannabinoids and 
terpenoids based on regulatory compliance 
testing results.

- All packages of cannabis goods must:

º Protect the cannabis from contamination.

º Be tamper-evident.

º Be resealable if the package contains more 
than one serving.

º Not imitate any package used for goods that 
are typically marketed to children.

- Beginning January 1, 2020, all packages of 
cannabis goods must also:

º Be child-resistant until the package is first 
opened.

º Be labeled with the statement “This package 
is not child-resistant after opening.”

- Immature cannabis plants and seeds are not 
required to be packaged in child-resistant, 
tamper-evident, and resealable packaging.

(continued on next page)

mailto:bcc%40dca.ca.gov?subject=


REVISED: 08/19

Bureau of Cannabis Control
2920 Kilgore Road
Rancho Cordova, CA 95670
E bcc@dca.ca.gov  |  P (833) 768-5880

For the latest updates, follow  
the Bureau on social media

W W W . B C C . C A . G O V

PDE_19-256

• Testing

- After taking physical possession of a cannabis 
goods batch, the licensed distributor must 
arrange for laboratory testing and ensure the 
proper retrieval and documentation of batch 
samples. 

- Once a sample from a batch has been obtained 
for regulatory compliance testing, the distributor 
may not arrange for the re-sampling of the same 
batch without authorization from the Bureau. 

- Testing Results

º If the batch passes, the cannabis goods may 
be transported to one or more retailers or 
another licensed distributor as described 
below.  

º If the batch fails and cannot be remediated, 
the distributor must destroy the batch.

º If the batch can be remediated, the distributor 
may arrange for remediation by a licensed 
manufacturer as authorized by the Bureau 
and/or the California Department of 
Public Health (CDPH). (Information on the 
remediation process is available in section 
5727 of the Bureau’s regulations and section 
40330 of CDPH’s regulations.)

• Transfer of Cannabis Goods

- A distributor licensee may transport untested 
cannabis goods to one or more licensed 
distributors, licensed manufacturers, licensed 
cultivators, and/or licensed microbusinesses 
authorized to engage in distribution, 
manufacturing, or cultivation. 

- A distributor licensee may only transport 
untested immature cannabis plants and/or seeds 
to a licensed retailer or to the retailer portion of 
a licensed microbusiness.

CANNABIS  
DISTRIBUTOR (TYPE 11)  

FACT SHEET  
(continued) 

- Once testing has been completed, cannabis 
goods that have an accompanying COA and are 
packaged as they will be sold at retail may be 
transferred to one or more licensed distributors, 
licensed retailers, or licensed microbusinesses 
authorized to engage in distribution and/or retail. 

- Cannabis goods that have not been transported 
to retail within 12 months of the date on the COA 
must be destroyed or retested by the distributor 
in possession of the cannabis goods.

• Storage 

- A licensed distributor may provide storage-only 
services unrelated to the quality assurance and 
laboratory testing processes to other licensees.

- Storage-only services may only be provided for 
cannabis goods that are packaged as they will 
be sold at a retailer, cannabis accessories, and a 
licensees’ branded merchandise or promotional 
materials.

- A licensed distributor may not store immature 
cannabis plants, except for seeds.

- A licensed distributor who arranges for testing 
of batches shall ensure the batches are stored 
separately and distinctly from other cannabis 
goods batches and properly labeled so they can 
be easily identified.

• Other Requirements

- A licensed distributor must carry and maintain 
the required coverage for insurance and provide 
the Bureau with a certificate of insurance and 
notify the Bureau of any changes.

- A licensed distributor must be able to account for 
all inventory and be able to provide the Bureau 
with the status for each cannabis goods batch in 
the licensed distributor’s possession. 

- A licensed distributor must also ensure all proper 
records are maintained for at least seven years.

mailto:bcc%40dca.ca.gov?subject=
https://www.facebook.com/BCCinfo.dca/
https://www.instagram.com/bureauofcannabiscontrol
https://twitter.com/BCCinfo_dca
WWW.BCC.CA.GOV


City of Nevada City 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

TO:  Planning Commission 

FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

MEETING DATE:  February 20, 2020 

RE: AMENDED APPLICATION: Floracy, Inc – Phased Medical Cannabis Manufacturing and 
Distribution Business- Amendment to allow full-distribution, as opposed to only self-distribution 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Redacted Application with Amended Material Inserted
2. Amended Conditions of Approval

PROPOSED APPLICATION AMENDMENT: Floracy, Inc is managed by Harry Bennett, Patty 
Lawrence, and Phil Ritti. The subject application was originally approved by the planning commission at 
their January 18, 2018 meeting for the operation of an ethanol extraction manufacturing and self-distribution 
business at 138 New Mohawk in suite 2.  To date, Floracy has received a permit to operate the self-distribution 
component only. Floracy has submitted a request to update their operation to include full distribution, which 
will allow them to distribute licensed cannabis products for and between any licensed business, as opposed to 
only their own licensed product.   

Notification and an invitation to review and comment on the revised application was sent to the Fire Chief, the 
Police Chief, the City Attorney, the City Engineer, the City Manager, the Environmental Health Department, 
the Building Department,  and to the Planning Commissioners. A redacted version of the application, with 
amendment material inserted, is attached to the staff report. The amended changes did not result in any 
changes to the prior conditions of approval approved at the January18, 2018 meeting.  However, staff has 
amended Condition B.2 to reflect the City Engineer’s revised standard condition regarding waste 
discharge and added Condition A.8  to reflect a standard parking condition requiring that business parking 
be provided on-site.  
RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

Make a Motion to approve the amended application as presented to authorize the addition of full-distribution 
activity to their previously authorized application and business operation, subject to the updated Conditions of 
Approval, attached, as may be modified by the planning commission, making the following findings 

a) As presented and conditioned, there is no reasonable argument that approval of the amended
application is likely to be detrimental to the city, taking into account any health, safety, and welfare
impacts on the community.

b) Finding that the amended application is consistent with Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal
Code.



F」ORACY

315 Spring St「eet., Suite D

Nevada CitY, CA 95959

Nov. 21, 2017

Amy WoIfson
CityPlanner
City of Nevada City
317 Broad St.
Nevada City, CA 95959

DearAmy:

We are submitting our application for a medical cannabis manufactu「i=g Permit"

We have researched the new state cannabi§ 「eguIations regarding the application process fo「 a state

Ca…abis manufacturing license.

The state w川offertempora「y licenses as ofJan. 1′ 2018. The pre「equisite for applying for a state

睦nse is a Iocal pe「mit or othe「fo「m ofautho「ization. 1n 「明「ds the othe「 form of authori2ation, Our
interpretation ofthe state′s language is that a lette「 written bythe city wi= meet the state′s

requirements. We wouId g「eatIy appreciate your writing a Ietterto the state that wouId incIude the

fo=owing:
. Nevada City has received an appIication f「om FIo「acy fo「 a locaI permit to manufacture cannabis

PrOducts
●　The app=cation is currently underreview

●　Provided FIoracy meets a= the city′s permit requirements, the city intends to grant a cannabis

manufactu「ing pe「mit to Fio「acy.

We have no intentio= Ofci「cumventing Nevada City′s permit requirements・ We simply want to comply

With the state’s process and a tempora「γ =cense is the fi「st step in obtaining a fuI川cense. We

acknowledge that Fioracy wi= sti冊ave to meet a旧he city′s requirements before we w紺be issued

approvaIs to operate.

Please iet me know ifyou need any additionaI information.

Best「egards,

四墓園田園
Har「y Bennett

President

FLR-Mnv.Ds-1
JUMP TO AMENDMENT MATERIAL

ORIGINAL



City of Nevada City

Planning Depa血nent

317 Broad Street, Nevada City CA 95959

Phone: 530-265-2496
Email: A !印」 Wo博on高Ne¥′ada(‘itYCA.象OV

Sta鱒Use

Date Paid:

MEDICAL CANNA馴S BUS看NESS PERIVIIT APP」ICA¶ON FORM
(dispensary applicants, use O仙er spec胴c application fo「m〉

Please submit a minimum of伸ve (5) bound hard c〇〇ies and
one冊di鑓ital coDV (usb drive or CD) of all app"cation material.

Check business type being proposed. If muItip看e types are proposed, eaCh type
WiiI need to be distinctly addressed in the supplementaI dooumentation and on
師s form. A separate form may be subm肘ed師t will help provide cIarity.

_益Manufactu血g Testing

CuItivation　　　　　　　　　　」玉_ Tra nsportation

Testing Laboratory　　　　　　　"世仝Dispensa「y (use s印arate

同州)

蘭の㈱Na鵬‥　干しo解合こてと　エトC・

Bustnes師r。ryc。nt。。t Hα次Y Z3fなJ~圧T「-

c。ntact Titl。:　P化もs =¥巴rJ丁

Contact’s問a胴ng Address:

Phone#:

“三iよ‾　S 小壷∴ Sナ、 三…丁直江
両船帥こしてY′　Cへ　チェア∫ヲ

乙bl-●7S“曾て_ 管」調ll:日命尺に1 〈包FしJ忙今でlと{めけ

24H。u「 C。ntactlnfo叩。tl。n:　臼-3Cリzb3 -?3み7

Fo「 de館lI8 about廿Ie lnfomlat!on調quIred as p種rt of the appI!ca伽m proceco. pIoase 8ee tho ImpIomontatlon Procedu「ee
to Oporate a MedicaI Cannabis Busiれess in Nevada Cfty, Ordlnanc○ No. 2O17巾6 and additional roqui調men健in ord〇㌔ to

compIeto廿IO aPPIlcatIon procese. A‖ these documentB Can be lound on伽O Nevada crtywobpap; wWW. NevadaCitvCA.cov

FLR-Mnv.Ds-2ORIGINAL



Section A: Principal Background infomation (州ust be signed by aii P血cipaIs)
(Add more pages as necessary to accommodate signatures of all Med cal Cbnnabis Business Pri血Cipals.)

Underpenarty ofpe巾ury, Iacknowledge that I have pe「sonal knowledge ofthe information stated in仙s
appIication andthat the information contained herein ist田e・ I also unde「stand肌atthe information p「ovided
inthis ap印Cation, eXCePtthe Safety and Seourfty Plan in Section C and certain confidentia=nformation such
as(thve「s license andsociaI seou「fty numbe「,Whk丸Canberedacted, may be pu輔c information and subject to
discIosure underthe Califomia Public RecordsAct.

三二二岩苦塩紅めe虻　　　　○○
Principal Home orCe= Phone:

PrincipaI Home Add「e

PrincipaI Signature:

轟

(ララ○⊃えらろ-甲うら牛
帖(て三㍍尋八I色レ妻もし, CA?今千言CA?今千言で

Attach ments :
If business w冊OPerate aS a COliective/COOPerative provide p「OOf of status as a qua旧ed patient

O「 Ptyma「y Ca「egive「 (State ca「d o「 docto=eCOmmendation)

oof of add「ess (DMV-issued iD/d「ive「’s Iicense, and/o=eCent u輔ty bⅢ under P「incipaI’s

name)
Staff use onIy: Pass background chec　」　_

詰蒜詫言置露草請巧拙競肇薄青★胴闘剛★農具★農具棚
oNう柄A高食ら仁平○○Principai Title: O控酷T

P「incipaI Home o「CeII Phone:

P「incipaI Home Address:

P「incipal Signatureこ

Attachments :

伯の4卸一新07
山kえ糾A山S下.。俳鰐う、伯/しぜイ　∴∴

if business wi= ope「ate as a ∞ilective/COOPerative p「OVide p「OOf of status as a qua睡ed patient
Or P「ima「y ca「egiver (State card o「 docto「 「ecommendation)

喜
Receipt from Live Scan check
Picture of applicant (two passport quaiity photog「aphs 2X2)

Copy of Social Securjty Ca「d

Copy of D「ive「’s License, OMV issued lD Ca「d o「 Passport〈　_∠上「oof of add「ess (DMV-issued iD/d「ive「,s Iicense, and/O‥eCent ut岬y biII unde「 P・incipal-s

name)
Staff use oniy: Pass background check___

FLR-Mnv.Ds-3ORIGINAL



Section A: Principal Background information (Must be signed by alI Principals)
(Add more I)ageS aS neCeSSary tO aCCOmmOdate sigⅡatureS Of all Medical Cannabis Business Principals.)

Underpenaity ofpe巾ry, l acknowIedge tha冊ave personal knowledge ofthe information stated inthis
application and thatthe info「mation contained herein ist「ue. I aIso unde「stand that the infomation p「OVided
inthis app=cation, eXCePtthe Safety and Security Plan in Section C and certain confidentia=nformation such
asd「ive「-s iicense andsociai secu「ity numbe「,Whieh canbe redacted, may be public information and subject to
discIosu「e under the CaIifornia PubIic Records Act.

Principal Name:

Principal Title:

lししい　Y主

Principal Home orCeil Phone:

P「incipal Home Add「ess:

Principal Signature:

へ萎

1.㌻ 3しIこし五三三

Da晦: l十㌦上1「

国語四国

Attach ments :
lf business w帥OPe「ate aS a CO=ective/COOPe「ative p「OVide proof of status as a qua圃ed patient

O「 Primary caregive「 (State card or doctor recommendation)

藷藷繋楽器‡ )
of of add「ess (DMV-issued iD/d「ive「.s Iicense, and/o‥eCent u輔ty biII under P「incipaI’s

name)

Staff use only: Pass backg「Ound chec　　」

FLR-Mnv.Ds-4ORIGINAL



ロしN9062鳩2

EXP O2I28I2018
し母馴…動議各1「
削り▲京騨YしEo

“「ヱ加増 護宝器親ら

拒聖亘車載,
00う-卵「2,櫛

…●・録U映⊂…・、い詰・ i 、「朽-.ISI-組I

珊瑚油もB孤聞間接

FLR-Mnv.Ds-5 
ORIGINAL



XfInIty
Harry日enne競

Account number
8155 60 012 0102317

For service at:
211 MILLST
NEVADA CITY CA 95959-241 8

Thanks for choosing XFINITY
一　什Om Comcast

βalance lon〃ard

New charges due Sep O8, 2017

Totai amount due

FLR-Mnv.Ds-6ORIGINAL



競AしⅢO鼠N重患、理部畢

単レレ一一・

。しB8236229　　∵中一　守

蘭03I1712020　∴親
しNしAWR巨NC且
FN PATRICIA JANET丁E
211録I」し8丁
討日仏oAロ「nl cA e㈱
Doβ 03I17I1981
購T照∴動o唯　　　　　　　　　O3 1 71○○ 1

8EX戸　　　物置評議　眺8馴,∪

精霊」‡霊器… ‰棚。

刈n看ty
Patric!aしaw「ence

Account numbe「
8155 00 oll O3酌朋卿

Fo「 seNice a青:
423 MARSHALしST
GRASS VALLEY CA 95g45-7526

Thanks fo「 choosing XFINlrv
什om Comcast

$○○51

$60.75
1ト○○　′ヽ重さ

FLR-Mnv.Ds-7

 

ORIGINAL



鍾旦坦Q題蛙咽唯堕帥壁
「リ　泣964く賂補

cI八〇♭ c
しヽI,む3i鍾常吉仁一　　　樹葛山間糊旧
しN RI丁丁I
叩PHルIP議IcHAEL

端緒端
D〇億し高教i,謹皇
脚f! ∞紬し馴8　　　　　03夏41951
二二二一

千万粥か‾　露盤“磐黒蒜.

I刷s sfuE} With you叫er§O圃I.eCOr(覆s. The other s重de co面oins !n甲・油11

的note: The軸e we iss‘led輔s ca即6 S置10Wn he!ow個噂ynatuI.e撮.

Ⅲ・出回刷IIII回冊III剛I剛出陣Il冊I
PHILIP M R賞TTI
1乍ら　SUccESS　材量か推　しOOP
GrtASS VALLEY CA　9S94S-9764

田8脚脚l

1「旧一Tも; S同的軸ぐd in諏in皿e(剛ぐll・.
〔手i」脈朕: Do面のl§曲り刷蹄180富!o町請§時b.
1ヽ !I晶母野書らぐ露r聴ぐ.

短叩、肌=●ぐこ面白寄、血pi咽叫)…聞出、(,同一的.
【)0ヽ0’iて」1購l間門で欄了)単打うう1侶.
Dl用(I=捕証し血.

FLR-Mnv.Ds-8

 

ORIGINAL



ふrincipalIPartne「 History:

l. 」ist whether, the app=cant(S) has other licenses and/Or Pe「mits issued to and/0「 「eVOked from the
app=can自n the th「ee yea「S Prio「 to the year of the permit appiication, SuCh other licenses and o「

Pe「mits reIating to simila「 business activities as in the pemit application" lf yes, PIease ljst the
type, Cu「「ent StatuS, issuing/denying for each license/pe「mit. (Piease attach a sepa「ate document
expIanation if necessary)

2. List any and alI partners who have been found guiity of a vioient felony, a feiony o「 misdemeano「
invoIving f「aud, deceit, embezziement, O「 mOra=u「pitude, O「 the　‖egaI use, POSSeSSion,
t「ansportation, dist「ibution o「 similar activities related to controIied substances, aS defined in the
Fede「aI Cont「oIled Substance Act, With the exception of medical cannabis 「eiated offenses fo「which
the conviction occu「red afte「 the passage of the Compassionate Use Act of 1996. (Please attach a
SePa「ate document expIanation if necessary)

SectioれB: Business O喝anization Stafus

l. Describe肌e Medicai Cannabis Business organ軸Onai status:

干しO恥十二千c・ころ∴合の耳千時′画　C-C択軸的O」
≦巳を　しまい曳けI　千〇に　御Iこしじ二　〇ぐ　エ」こo鋤も住へ丁IeJ

鴎出自も-「雁導　千芝川　N〇・

Attach proof of status, SuCh as a巾CIes of incorpo「atio=, by-iaws, PartnerShip ag「eements, and
Other documentation as may be approp「iate or requi「ed bythe City.

Section C: Medical Cannabis Business Description and Location

l , Statement of Pu「pose of Medical Cannabis Business (a sepa「ate sheet may be attached, labeIed
SectionC.1):/二蓋霊轟室
山、てい㍉　巾に　前官卸珠丁C心　のしl千〇位卜へへ　汁や会し∽レ
a江中崎尾lj　エ二心us丁/そ、ブ.

FLR-Mnv.Ds-9ORIGINAL



‾`　2. ProposedLocationofBusiness:

甘Bc⊃丁陣中、丁子中軸頭C巾- αク∫ラ巧・i
3, Name and add「ess of p「operty owner:

伏立位「 (予、両日A卜、

s擬盈藩閥霊‡霊・・簿㌢
日立もl Jてらく

4, Name and add「ess ofschooI(S) and/O「 Public park(S) cIosestto P「OPOSed Location:

Scノ主や○し二　百フ暇′SてCし紺駁Sしい。○し 虫きてo巾△　Goも申

意鎧蒜を二
6嵩詰。豊霊∴書誌。言霊∴霊織豊㌔
uses (SuCh as schooIs, Churches, Parks, daycares, O「 「eSidents), t「anSit access to site, etC. A

SePa「ateSheet may be attached and iabeIed Section C.6"

「ポ縦俳沌ハム王帥∫仁「l硬　庇も⊆　u、丁心J　名〇〇千「

烹武士詮言霊0し。。仰。ん解も重工也。声心的を…
喜ぶ瑞,虹山河←辞軸時トOJつ717 C仙崎エ

7・ Site p-an must be dimensioned and show the enti「e pa「Ce=ncludi=g Pa「king and additionaI
st「uctu「es pecommended scaIe of l′,= 2O′寒. in addition, PIease attach elevations and photos of

p「oposed location. If any exte「ior alterations a「e proposed fo「 the existing bu脚ng, aiso attach a
D′ODOSed sife plan that is accu「ate’dime=Sioned and to-SCaie for each potentia=ocation and
inciude eIevation detaiIs. The scale shouId accommodate an accu「ate site pian on a sheet of

pape「noIargerthan =X17. S授　E*"思Wr二も

8. FIoor Plans shail be a請ached and sha= be accurate, dimensioned and to-SCaIe [「ecommended
scaie of lI4,,雪1’] fo「 each potentia=ocation. 1fany interio「 alterations a「e p「OPO§ed fo「 the
existing building, aIso attach oroDOSedfloo「 PIans. The scaIe shouid accommodate an accurate
fioo「pianon a sheet of paperno la「gerthan =X17. :式事　F*u¥C3昔で∴4/

9, Signage Plan, - S直Z. C来吋、rSIT’

10.Vi。inftyMap.一　SqJ巳　軟臣事質

11. Photos ofthesiteand building(S).一〇SEJZ 軟博してす

FLR-Mnv.Ds-10ORIGINAL



壬も掴印しlC阿Q再心臥むしも郎l峰
一-Section D: Required supplemental information

「his info「mation is 「equj「ed fo「 this app=cation to be conside「ed compIete. Attach the foiIowing 「eports to

the app=cation.

□ Business and Parking PIan

□ Neighborhood Compatibility Plan

□ safety and Security PIan

□ Envir。nm。n,al 。。n。fi.s (W。,。個。喝, Effi。i。n。y M。。su,e。)

□ 。。mmunit, B。n。fit。

□ 」。b。「。nd Em。一。,m。nt

□ L。。a- Ent。巾s。

□ Qu。,i闘。n。 。叩.in。i。。,。

FLR-Mnv.Ds-11ORIGINAL



FLR-Mnv.Ds-12ORIGINAL



E区信も十l
i　　き. ARTS-GS  載艶 

IMPoRTAN了-RoadInsくれuCtlonsbefo調compIe伽g伽lsfom. 

戸刷れ9戸〇〇　〇110o.00 

CopyF○○8-Fir§tPa9e$1.00:eachat血chmenlpage$0`50: 　　　Ce"胴ca-ionFee-$5.OO 

棚072017や 博to:CorporatiohsmayhaVelopayminimum$800taxtotheCaI請miaFranchise TaxBoardeachyea「.Formoli自nfomation,gOto相加s:偽〃W肌#b・〇〇・gOV' 

¥トr　ThieSpaceForO簡coueeOnly 

1. Corp〇億to N種me (Go to www.きos-ca・gO胸ushe将meのe剖a/納期fy fo「 9Pne調l ∞rPO調to name requirements and噂的k袖o購,)

a.lnitlalS巾鵜tAddles8ofCoIPo調Uon-nOtnoIli競'P.〇・tぬu  C請y(n○○bb調所81めれさ)  Sl〃1e  オpcode 

315SpringSt「eet,SuiteD  NevadaCity  瞳  9与9与9 
b.inmaiMa肋oA劇res8OfCorporalron.1Id蘭調競tl鴫nltom2'  Cfty(れo的b調via脚i鴫)  S膜e  樋pCode 

8.CaIlfomぬAaen職F確lNamealaoenl15m職aO○巾Ora的n)   M調印eNa請e  しさSI調き爪e    Su筒賀 

Robe鷹   D  戸旧約e 
b.S蘭鵜1Add鴫8●〈  ape競18nctaCOrPO鴫tkm)-○○noto軸けaP〇〇・B偶  c議y(i調的巾蹴れ8〉   S耽  ZipCode 

11501Dub  nBIvd,Suite200  Dub皿   cA  94与68 

c.c調omぬReo宙teredCoJPO喝leAen8Name(請8ge111‖socopo巾Ion)-Donolcompk九〇Ilern3ao'3b 

霊認諾諾意霊蕊霊霊こ言霊霊誌s　lO,000,000 

Thepurpo5eOfthecorporatonistoengageinanylawfulacto「ac   ivftyforwhicha∞「PO調tonmaybeorganized 
…de「theGeneralCorpo噌tionLawofCalifom  Othe「thanthebank  9business,thet叫st∞mPanybusinesso「the 
practiceofaprofessionpemittedtobein∞rPOratedbytheCalifemiaCo「peratiensCode. 

Robert D. Finkle
Type or Print Name

FLR-Mnv.Ds-13ORIGINAL



「112「I2。17　E小言申 帽

https:〃sa.www4.irs.gov/mod iei n/i ndivid u aL/∞nfi「mation ・jsp

FLR-Mnv.Ds-14ORIGINAL



COVERAeE3　　　　　　　　　　CE   帥Flc▲1盲   M鵬旧さ慮;　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　則三周slo議NU軸髄陣 
了    o戸I  NSU照ANcきし!8¶…DβらしoW農相I各e且王   NISSUさロでo  丁HEINSuR∈DNAMEDABOVEFORTHEPOしIcYPE則OD   

THgPOl.IC帳  6DEScRIBEo11EREINISSUBJEcT丁O∧ししTHETERMS.   
き×    PoしicI蹴.     碓oUc重りさY  pAI○○U強調s. 

蒋「　‾　‾　　‾‾一‾解語翻評‾‾‾　則ふよ脚嶋言‾‾　「醗: 　　　　調中電○○I動sui則、蘭cg       ,揺臨÷‾‾‾’　　　田隔 
l復調各章u山田劇u冊    Y  章CA書351020-57  l　　　　甘心C録°CcU電照e鳩e　　音$　　1.000.00    

!  塾‡芋茎霊  Y    11佃1I2017  　撥琵認翌聾唖二!_」〇〇・00 11榊驚‾‾一議 
阜岩下響愚甲嵩     !　　　　啓即cせ盟嬰埋草----← …M同朋肌烏uI蛸しI廿 ヽっ 」蕊記離 ) )        雪 ー! 　　(l 

中細鵬⊥▲山鳩　」、o∞防       l　　　帥剛eCC隔腫脹　　′3　__臆- 
I鍬c槌8山鳩　・c型壁二畦 理　削●    i　　　童叩-「÷ 

脚c(地的はすa鼻¶o調           ▲鱒o電場P山間山▲田山丁▼ 鰯撥轍撥c醗避 鰯絹獄舐め∈剛00機同  竃 恒l▲      巨警警圭二二二 

」 1 　　　l)l 

しeoaIC種m8的Ope調tio爪的同oolm8nulbctwh調W柵po88肌)dI蘭ibu舶m) 

c各刷れ円c▲1モ軸○○o駅 　柵anY劇mne=Owne「)  cA置lc割。しき了lo討 

珊暖　国聞鵬寄o持　議了を　丁馴α.鱒o調cさ1動t○○　馴室　馴;山肌婆惟D　調 
75BoetAvenue.uれl(B   
Ne融c櫨Y.CA 鼻÷謬・-// 
脚的寄 ( 

Aco議案劃暮(榔1αoき)　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　01●関脇olOÅ○○鼠pco鼠po鼠具すIO岬・相川9h種物〃●岬●d・ 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-15ORIGINAL



最高片十重乙

Kurt Pinkham
Pinkham and Rossovich
995 Golden Gate Terrace
Grass V訓ey, CA 95945
与30-913-1601

上垣野は韮連理亜主上ユ圭些事

Nov 21, 2017

Re: 75 BostAve., Unit2
Nevada City, CA 959与9

To Whom lt May Concern:
PIeased by advised, aS OWner Ofthe referenced p「OPerty′ i have agreed to Lease Unit 2 at 75 Bost Ave.

to FIoracy, inc. fo「 the purpose of manufacturing cannabis p「Oducts.

ifyou have any questions regarding this matter, Piease contact me.

Best Regards,

FLR-Mnv.Ds-16ORIGINAL



ふ†e Pんn動子bi十3

卜
き
乙
÷
乙
○
○
q
童
の
>
O
之

∽○○㊨
S
一
〇
う
う
○
○
の
罵
>
…
乏

∈エ〇〇〇

C
e
.
〇
∴
∴
∴
…
学
e
.
○
　
　
　
　
○

<
○
{
寺
号
、
J
e
p
e
>
①
Z

FLR-Mnv.Ds-17ORIGINAL



ま高畠十年

秤叩狂勃戸I。諦肩

FLR-Mnv.Ds-18

 

ORIGINAL



FL
R

-M
nv

.D
s-

19
ORIGINAL



図

〇°一

露
∽

く
○○○○

1」

之

孟

FL
R

-M
nv

.D
s-

20
ORIGINAL



FL
R

-M
nv

.D
s-

21
ORIGINAL



に料¥る主「∴8

FIoracy Business Plan

丁able: Sales Forecast

i32.う0　　　弁う.00　　　53う.00　　　;3う.00　　　;うう"00

;0.00　　　;22.う0　　　;22.50　　　;22.う0　　　i22.50

§0.00　　　　§0.00　　　　的.00　　　;0.00　　　;0.00

§1 6おら08∴∴∴紡23,000　il ,400,000　;2,1 00,000　;う, 1与0,000

8uしk O il　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　~0　　　簿99,627　　釣タ%2,う00　　§1 ,800,000　　§2,1 93,7う0

Row 3　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　iO　　　　　帥∴∴∴∴ ;0　　　　　§0　　　　　§0
S1 63,608　;1 ,222,627　;2,862,500　;3,900,000　　§う,343,7う0

;1 7.60　　　;12.う0　　　　§12.00

;0.00　　　　釣1.50　　　　釣1.00

約.00　　　iO.00　　　　帥.00

ill.う0　　　　糾1.00

§10.う0　　　;10.00

00.00　　　　$0.00

B「anded Ojし　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　i88,621　　;222,う00 細80,000　　;690,000　　;990,000

Bulk O iし　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　;0　　算06,477　　;71 5,000　　細0,000　　§975,000

Row 3　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　$0　　　　　印　　　　　的　　　　iO　　　　　印

;ubtotal Di「ect Cost of Saしe§　　　　　　　　i88,621 押8,977　　釣,19う,000　　§ら与う0,000　　れ96う,000

FLR-Mnv.Ds-22ORIGINAL



FIoracy Business Plan

Table: Per§Onnel

People O　　　　1　　　　2　　　　　2　　　　　2

Ave「a塁e per Persoれ　　　　　　　　　　　　　;0　;48,000　　沖,000　　;52,000　　$1 ,000

;0　　;48,000　　il O8,000 il O4,000　　§1 02,000

People O O l l l

Ave「age per Person　　　　　　　　　　　　　$0　　　;0　;60,000　　紡O,000　　紡O,000

50　　　　　的　　　5 60 ,000 iう0,000　　iう0,000

Ave「age pe「 Person twOOO　;48,000　　%O,000 i60,000　　　$60,000

;8,000　　　$%,000　　$1 20,000 $1 20,000　　§1 20,000

Average pe「 Pe「§On　　　　　　　　　　　　%l ,500　　"0,500　　印O,000 ;54タ000　　　紡う,000

Subtotaし　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　き初,う00 紳1 ,000　;1 20,000　　$1 62,000　　糾う9,000

Tota¥ Payroll Expenditu「es　　　　　　　　　　細9,500 i22う,000　;408,000　　$436,000　;431 ,000

FLR-Mnv.Ds-23

 

ORIGINAL



FIoracy B usiness Plan

Table: Profit and Lo;S
P「o Forma P「ofit andしOSS

201 7　　　　　201 8　　　　　201 9　　　　　2020　　　　　2021

Sale5　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　釣eら608　　釣,222,627　i2,862,500　　$3,900,000　;与,343,7う0

的8,621　iうま8,977　　れ1 9う,000　　れう30,000　　れ96う,000

;0　　　$48,000　　;1 08,000　　　§1 04,000　　;1 02,000

掴,210　　　　　50　　　　;O SO　　　　　約

$1 04,831　　簿76,977　;1 ,30ら000　il ,6う4,000　;2,067,000

紡8,n7　　i645,6う0　　§1 ,559,う00　i2,2鈴,000　　$き,276,7う0

3う.93%　　　　52.81%∴∴∴∴ 54.48%　　　　58.10%∴∴∴∴ 61.32%

;0　　　　　$0　　　%0,000　　i§0,000　　iう0,000

Adve rtisin g/ P「omotion i6,000　　;24,000　　;48,000　　;60,000　　;72,000

Other Sales and Ma「keting Expenses∴∴∴∴SlO,500　　　　;0　　　　;0　　　　;0　　　　;0

TotaしSaしes and Ma「keting Expenses ft6,500　　;24,000　　;108,000 飢10,000　　;122,000

%,000　　;%,000　　$1 20,000　　§1 20,000　　釣20,000

SO　　　　　§0　　　　　;0　　　　　$0　　　　　;0

i7, 1 40　　　弘2,840　　　$4Z,840　　;42,840　　;42,840

S1 9,800　　;23,760　　　努0,000　　;7う,000　　;7う,000

;ら300　　　;9,7与0　　;1 2,000　　i1 8,000　　　鎗4,000

;1 ,200　　　;4,800　　　幻,800　　　;6,000　　　簿,000

汀00　　　;9,000　　　紳2,000　　i1 8,000　　　§24,000

;1う,600　　　§鵜,7う0　　　§61 ,200　　;6与,400　　　564,650

;2,000　　　51 8,000　　　臼8,000　　　弁8,000　　　簿1 ,000

iO iO　　　$1 2,000　　　$1 2,000　　　$1 2,000

簿7,740　　　S237,900　　　$う2,840

35.29舘　　　　19.46%　　　　12.鵜%

;39う,240　　i421 ,490

10.13%　　　　　7.89%

§41 ,う00　　　i81 ,000　　　$1 20,000

SO　　　;1与,000　　　　　;0

;0　　　　　$O SO

;1 e2,000　　　糾う9,000

§0　　　　　　$0

;0　　　　　§0

FLR-Mnv.Ds-24

 

ORIGINAL



FIoracy Business Plan

:剛,う00　　　;9ら000　　;1 20,000

2う.37%　　　　　7.85%　　　　　4.19%

TotaしOpe「ating Expen;e;　　　　　　t1 15,740　　;357,900　　紡80,840

P「ofit Befo「e Intere§t and Taxes　　　(簿6,963)　　釣61 ,841　;698,660

恥I丁DA　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　(録9,82う)　;200,681 ∴∴∴ i741 ,う00

lnterest Expense　　　　　　　　　　　;O SO　　　　;O

Taxes in⊂u「「ed　　　　　　　　　　　　　　;0　　　　　;0　　　　　;0

$O SO　　　　　;0

;O i1 2う,909　　;280,000

$O iO　　　　　§0

00　　　　　　$0

i38う,000　　;うらら,000

$0　　　　　;0

iO　　　糾2う,909　　　韓80,000　　　鎗8う,000　　　舞う6,000

iO　　鮎2う,909)　6280,000)　(弁8う,000)　(s5うら,000)

(簿6,96う)　　釣61 ,841　　鈴98,660　　§1 ,21 3,760　　$2,018,260

仰調
うo′　《∠

′
ヽ
γ000朋

6
2
,
4
●

′
ヽ
′

049702{ヽ_・ま107′0′h)
{
ヽ
▼

0
　
0

′
ヽ
▼
∴
▲
ヽ
}

0
　
0

く
J
l
　
′
ヽ
}

約
二
的

0
0
　
0
0
　
S
O
　
的

2
　
一
〇
“

8
　
　
1

1
　
′
0

0
　
0

鎗
5
2

7
6
0
6
0
0
如
‥
的

ヽ
ヽ
)
　
ノ
o

l
　
-
.
-
」

2
　
2

・〃ヽ
.・　′ヽ
▼

的
二
的

約
二
的

FLR-Mnv.Ds-25

 

ORIGINAL



FIoracy Business Plan

Table: Cash FIow

Caih f「om Operations

Cash Saしe§　　　　　　　　　　　　　　　釦63,608　　釣,222,627　　§2,862,500　　§3,900,000　;う,343,7う0

Subtotal Cash f「om Ope「ations

Additjonal Cash Received
Non Ope「ating (Other) lncome

Sa¥es Tax, VAT, HSTIGST Received
New Cu「「ent Bo「rowing

New Othe「しiab冊ies (jnte「est.free)

New Long-te「m Liab冊ies

Sales of Othe「 Cur「ent Assets

Saしes ofしong-te「m Asset;

New lnYeStment Received

埴3,608　　Sl ,222,627　　S2,862,500　;ら900,000　;5,343,750

iO

;O

S70,000

避

50　　　　　iO　　　　　;0　　　　　的

;783,608　　れ222,627　　$2,862,う00　;3,900,000　　簿,事4ら7う0

;230,4う7　　;648,1 28　　れ7%,000　;2,与00,000　　S3,300,000

鍾0,8う0　　鎗65,うう2　　Sl OO,000　　紳58,000　　封00,000

Subtotal ipent on Operations

Additional Cash Spent

Non Operatlng (Othe「) Expense

Sales Tax, VAT, HST/GST Paid Out
P「incipal Repayment of Cu「「ent

Bo「「OWjn塁

Othe「しfab航je; P「incipal Repayment

Long-te「m Liabilities P両Cjpa¥

Repayment

Pu「chase Othe「 Cu「rent A;§etS

Purchase Long-term Assets

D子vうdend;

紳1串07　　;91ら680　;1 ,846,000　　$2,658,000　i3,400,000

印∴∴∴ i12う,909　　;Z80,000

$0　　　　　;0　　　　　$O

S50,000　　　鍵1 ,う00　　　　　的

;0　　　　　;0　　　　　$0

§0　　　　　;0　　　　　;0

;0　　　　　$0　　　　　;0

$200,000　　紳00,000　　　　;0

iO　　$1 50,000　　$700,000

i38う,000　　;ううe,000

;0　　　　　;0

$0　　　　　;0

;0　　　　　;0

;0　　　　　　§0

iO　　　　　　的
iO　　　　　　§0

§900,000　　51 ,うう0,000

Sうら1 ,307　;1 ,31 1 ,089　;之,82ら000　;き,943,000　　Sう,306,000

Net Cash Flow S222,301　(;88,462) $6,500　　($43,000)　i37,7う0

Cash 8aしahCe　　　　　　　　　　　　　　;222,301 釣33,839　　;170,339　　釣27タ339　　S16与,089

0
　
0
　
0

亡
ブ
ー
_
ゝ
「
　
▲
ヽ
}

如
‥
0
0
s
O
約
的
約
的

約
二
的
0
5
0
　
的
的
約
的

約
的
0
0
印
的
約
的

S
O
 
O
O
%
約
的
的
的

FLR-Mnv.Ds-26

 

ORIGINAL



FLR-Mnv.Ds-27ORIGINAL



FLR-Mnv.Ds-28ORIGINAL



Floracy Business Plan

Table: Balance ;heet

;222,301　　封鵜,839　　　$1 70,339　　i127,339　　　S165,089

i2う2,91 6　　　郎ら9う9　　;238,9う9　　;208,939　　　$343,939

§O iO　　　　　　$O iO　　　　　　的

紳7う,21 7　　　$467,778

;200,000　　;300,000

;7,1 40　　　$49,980

§409,278　　i336,Z78　　;う09,028

$00,000　　i300,000　　　$事00,000

i92,820　　;1 3う,6eO　　;1 78,う00

Tota=ong・term Assets　　　　　　　　　;192,860　　;250,020　　;207,1 80　　;164,340　　　S121 ,500

TotaしAsset§　　　　　　　　　　　　　S668,077　　　"1 7,798　　;61 6,458　　　$00,61 8　　;630,528

」jab消亡je5 and Cap圧a1　　　　　　　　　　　　201 7　　　　　2018　　　　　2019　　　　　2020　　　　　2021

;1 55,040　　!21 4,420　　　釣1 4,420

i20,000　　(Sl ,与00)　(il ,500)

iO　　　　　　紳　　　　　;0

(紳1う,180)

(il ,500)

;0

($8う3,う30〉

(i自ら00)

;0
;ubtotal Current Liab冊tfes　　　　　　　;1 75,040　　;212,920　　st 12,920　(;316,680)　6855,030)

しOng-term Liab嗣es　　　　　　　　　　　　!O SO　　　　　$0　　　　　;0　　　　　;0

;1 7さ,040　　　§21 2タ920

$550,000　　;550,000

約∴∴ 6206,%3)
(細,963)　　釣61 ,841

i= 2,920　(531 `,680)　($855,030)

簿50,000　　;与与0,000　　;うう0,000

6745,122)　(;946,462)　鮎,082,702)

約98,660　il ,213,760　i2,018,260
TotaしCapjtal　　　　　　　　　　　　　;493,037　　;504,878　　　簿O3,538　　　的1 7,298　　糾,485,558

Tota川abilities and Capitaし　　　　　　　　鉢68,077　　　卵1 7,798　　　%16,458　　　簿OO,618　　　S630,528

Net Wo「th　　　　　　　　　　　　　　;493,037　　　簿O4,878　　　紡O3,538　　　so1 7,298　;1 485,558

FLR-Mnv.Ds-29

 

ORIGINAL



11/21/2017 

 

 

  

Floracy Cannabis 

Manufacturing 

&Distribution Permit 

Application 
Nevada City, California 

 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-30ORIGINAL



Page 1 of 13 
 

Table of Contents 
Medical Cannabis Business Permit Application Form ................................................................................... 3 

Scope of Application ..................................................................................................................................... 3 

Cannabis manufacturing permit ............................................................................................................... 3 

Distribution Permit ................................................................................................................................... 3 

Business and Parking Plan ............................................................................................................................. 3 

Description of day-to-day operations ....................................................................................................... 3 

How Floracy will conform to local and state law ...................................................................................... 3 

How medical cannabis will be tracked and monitored to prevent diversion ........................................... 4 

Parking Plan............................................................................................................................................... 4 

A schedule for beginning operation.......................................................................................................... 4 

Budget ....................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Neighborhood Compatibility Plan ................................................................................................................. 5 

Safety and Security Plan................................................................................................................................ 5 

Safety Plan ................................................................................................................................................ 5 

General statements: ............................................................................................................................. 5 

Fire Suppression: ................................................................................................................................... 5 

Employee Safety: .................................................................................................................................. 5 

Security Plan.............................................................................................................................................. 6 

Environmental Benefits................................................................................................................................. 8 

Community Benefits ..................................................................................................................................... 8 

Tax Revenue .............................................................................................................................................. 8 

Local Employment ..................................................................................................................................... 8 

Charitable Donations ................................................................................................................................ 8 

Local commerce ........................................................................................................................................ 8 

Labor and Employment ................................................................................................................................. 9 

General Considerations ............................................................................................................................. 9 

Workplace Environment and Culture ....................................................................................................... 9 

Hiring and Background Checks ................................................................................................................. 9 

Compensation ........................................................................................................................................... 9 

Employee Benefits .................................................................................................................................. 10 

CONTINUING EDUCATION ...................................................................................................................... 10 

Employee Communications .................................................................................................................... 10 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-31ORIGINAL



Page 2 of 13 
 

ANTI-DISCRIMINATION POLICY ............................................................................................................... 10 

SEXUAL HARASSMENT POLICY ................................................................................................................ 11 

DRUG FREE WORKPLACE......................................................................................................................... 11 

SAFETY & SECURITY: STANDARDS AND EXPECTATIONS ......................................................................... 11 

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING RIGHTS .......................................................................................................... 11 

Local Enterprise ........................................................................................................................................... 11 

Local Employment Strategy .................................................................................................................... 11 

Supporting Local Business ....................................................................................................................... 12 

PROMISE TO PROCURE LOCAL PRODUCTS ............................................................................................. 12 

Qualification of Principals ........................................................................................................................... 13 

 

 

  

FLR-Mnv.Ds-32ORIGINAL



Page 3 of 13 
 

 

Floracy Cannabis Manufacturing Permit Application 
 

Medical Cannabis Business Permit Application Form 
See application form in application binder.  

Scope of Application 

Cannabis manufacturing permit 

Floracy is applying for a permit to manufacture concentrated cannabis oil and derivative products. 

Distribution Permit 

Floracy is also applying for a distribution permit.  We will choose the self-distribution option from the 
state.  This ill allo ̀ Flora .  to tra� sport produ�t  �et �e e� �ul ti ators, testi g la s a�d  Flora� ’s 
facilities.  The self-distribution option does not allow Floracy to distribute products for other companies.   

Therefore, our application does not include a separate distribution business plan.  We will only use the 
self-distri utio  li�e�se  to tra� sport Flora� ’s produ�ts  and that impact is in the manufacturing business 
plan. 

Business and Parking Plan 

Description of day-to-day operations 

Floracy manufactures and provides high CBD cannabis oil to permitted dispensaries in Sacramento, 
Oakland, Berkeley and San Francisco.  We plan to add more dispensaries to our customer base over the 
next few years.   

Floracy procures dried cannabis flower as raw material and converts the cannabis flower to a 
concentrated oil through an extraction process that uses ethanol.  The concentrated oil is then packaged 
into individual oral applicator containing 1 gram of concentrated oil.  

The specific strains of high CBD cannabis are grown under contract by permitted cultivators in Calaveras 
and Yolo counties using seeds, seedlings and/or clones recommended by Floracy.   

Cannabis products to be manufactured include the following: 
 Concentrated oils, tinctures, suppositories, capsules, creams, salves and dry hash.   

 
How Floracy will conform to local and state law 

Floracy will comply fully with local and state laws.  Flora��’s legal � ou sel, Ro ert Fi kle & Asso�i ates 
specializes in California cannabis law, and his services included detailed knowledge of state and local 
regulator  � odes.  Flora� ’s staff �ur re�tl  follo�s  the e� ergi g � a� a� is regulatio s er�  thoroughl� 
and monitors changes made to California law.  We have had to wait to submit our application until the 
latest state regulations were issued on Nov 16. 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-33ORIGINAL



Page 4 of 13 
 

Floracy will first obtain a permit from Nevada City and then apply for a state license.  The permitting 
process and the startup activities will cost over $500K giving the entire Floracy team the added incentive 
to be 100% compliant with state law. 

How medical cannabis will be tracked and monitored to prevent diversion 

Floracy will purchase and utilize soft� are that �i ll i terfa�e �i th the State of Califor� ia’s METRC track 
and trace system to ensure compliance and prevent diversion.  Physical security will be aided by a video 
surveillance system to satisfy the monitoring requirements of state law. 

Parking Plan 

There are 3 parking spaces available for Floracy employees and visitors.  In addition, there are a pool of 
spaces in the back of the building that are available on a first-come, first-served basis.  We believe that 
exceeds our requirements for daily parking needs. 

A schedule for beginning operation 

Floracy is proposing a two-phased approval process for our cannabis operations.   
 Phase I: Storage and packaging  

o These operations have no significant safety issues and, therefore, can be started prior to 
the approval of our extraction process. 

 Phase II: Extraction  
o Floracy uses an ethanol based manufacturing process. Although the new state 

regulations have classified ethanol as a non-volatile solvent, the manufacturing system 
will require additional engineering and time to complete due to its complexity and 
Flora��’ s � o it� e�t t o o erall safet   

 
October (Accomplished) 

 Complete business plan 
 Order long lead equipment components 
 Secure a site in required LI zoning 

 
November 

 Submit application to Nevada City Planning Department. 
 
December 

 Obtain permit from Planning Commission 
 Complete architectural plans 
 Make leasehold improvements 
 Complete local inspections 
 Obtain local permit 

 
January 

 Obtain temporary state license 
 Install manufacturing equipment 
 Pass required inspections 
 Begin using new manufacturing process 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-34ORIGINAL



Page 5 of 13 
 

February 
 Obtain full (annual) state license 

 
 
Budget 

See Exhibit 8 for detailed proforma financial statements 

Neighborhood Compatibility Plan 
The building complex in which Floracy is located contains two service businesses and one wholesale 
manufacturer.  The building is bordered by Highway 49, two warehouse lots and an empty lot.  Our 
visible activity and traffic levels will be minimal and similar to existing neighboring businesses.  

Categorically, we will practice an open-door policy with our neighbors making our plans transparent.  
We plan to contact each of our immediate business neighbors to inform them of our plans and identify 
any concerns they may have.  

Safety and Security Plan 

Safety Plan 

General statements: 

Floracy has enlisted the help of technical professionals in designing our approach to safety including: 
 Al McKensie  Senior Partner, Process Safety Associates 
 Ray Van Lenten  CEO, TruSteel 
 Tom Christy  Founder, T. Christy Enterprises (large manufacturer of adhesives, 
 solvents and sealants) 
 Mark Hermes  Licensed California Histocompatibility Scientist (CHS) -  
 Ray Darby  CEO, Sustainable Energy Group 
 Michael C Melas Principal, Melas Engineering 

 
Fire Suppression:  

Floracy will develop a fire suppression plan in conjunction with a certified fire suppression company and 
Ne� ada Cit ’s fire � hief.  This pla�  � ill � o pl� �i th the Natio al Fire Prote�t io  Asso�i atio  � NFPA�.   
There is a new section, Chapter 38 in the 2018 regulations that specifically covers cannabis 
manufacturing.  A fire suppression plan cannot be formulized.  It needs to be designed for the specific 
equipment we will use in a specific location.   

We need a locally approved fire suppression plan that meets NFPA regulations in order to obtain a state 
license. 

Employee Safety:  

Flora��’ s top � o pa�  priorit� is to pro ide a safe, se ure a� d health�  � ork e iro e�t.  
 
Flora��’ s safet  pla  is uilt arou d the follo�i �g  principle: 

 Prevention 
 Mitigation 
 Response 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-35ORIGINAL



Page 6 of 13 
 

 
Floracy has engaged safety, fire and systems engineering experts for the design and construction of 
manufacturing systems and the facility in order to develop a thorough and effective safety plan.   
 
The core of Flora� ’s safet  pla  is trai i g and adherence to the following: 

 Equipment operation and safety procedures 
 Emergency procedures  
 Security plan 

 
Floracy will develop a written Injury and Illness Prevention (IIP) plan using CAL-OSHA guidelines.  The IIP 
will contain the following elements: 

 Responsibility - the e plo er’s �ri tte�  IIP Progra�  � ust pro ide the a e a� d/or jo  title of 
the person(s) with the authority and responsibility for its implementation. Employees must be 
able to give the name of the individual whose title is designated as responsible for the IIP 
Program.  

 Compliance - a system must be set forth in writing to ensure that employees comply with safe 
and healthful work practices. Communication - a system for communicating with employees 
about safety and health matters in a form easily understood such as meetings, training 
progra� s, posted or �ri tte  �o tifi�ati o  ust �e part of the e plo er’s � ritte� II P Progra . 
Employees must be encouraged to inform their employer of hazards at the work site without 
fear of reprisal. Hazard assessment - procedures for identifying and evaluating workplace 
hazards - such as periodic inspections performed by a competent observer - must be provided in 
the IIP Program.  In addition, we will have written Standard Operating Procedures (SOPS) for all 
major manufacturing processes.   

 Accident/exposure investigation - a procedure to investigate workplace injuries or illnesses will 
be provided in the IIP. Hazard correction - methods and procedures for correcting all existing 
workplace hazards, and unsafe or unhealthful work conditions or work practices in a timely 
manner must be provided in the IIP, and specific abatement methods must also be included.  

 Training and instruction - an effective program of instructing employees on general safe work 
practices and hazards specific to each job assignment must be provided in the IIP, and the 
required training must be given.  

 Keeping records - there must be adequate written documentation of the steps taken to establish 
and maintain the e plo er’s IIP Progra� .  For the IIP Program to be effective, you need to make 
the progra  to �e spe�i fi� to our � orkpla� e a� d: • i ol e all e plo ees, super isors, a�d  

a� age e�t  • ide� tif�  all of the � orkpla� e hazards • �o rre�t the ide�ti fied hazards in a timely 
a� er • pro ide effe� ti e trai i g • regularl  re ie� a� d update the IIP progra  Re� e er, 

how well you actually put into practice your 

Security Plan 

Flora��’ s se�ur it�  pla  first e� phasizes pre� e�ti g a�� ess to the a� ufa�turi g pre� ises y 
unauthorized personnel to protect the physical safety of our employees and the protection of our 
asserts through the use of physical barriers.  All doors and locks shall be commercial grade and windows 
will be secured against intrusion by unauthorized personnel.  Floracy will employ an employee badge 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-36ORIGINAL



Page 7 of 13 
 

system whereby employees will be able to access areas of the manufacturing premises for which they 
have authorization. 

Floracy will install a security alarm system to notify and record incidents where physical barriers have 
been breached.  The video surveillance system will feature cameras with a minimum resolution of 
1280x720 pixels and be able to effectively and clearly record images of the area under surveillance.  The 
video surveillance system will be capable of supporting remote access by Floracy.  To the extent 
reasonably possible, all video surveillance cameras will be installed in a manner that prevents 
intentional obstruction, tampering with, and/or disabling.  Areas that will be recorded on the video 
surveillance system include, but are not limited to the following: 

Areas where cannabis or cannabis products are weighed, packed, stored, quarantined, loaded and/or 
unloaded for transportation, prepared or moved within the premises: 

 Limited-access areas 
 Security rooms 
 Areas containing surveillance-system storage devices, in which case, at least one camera will 

record the access points to such areas 
 The interior and exterior of all entrances and exits to the premises 

The surveillance systems will record continuously 24 hours per day and at a minimum rate of 15 frames 
per second 

All recording and monitoring equipment will be located in secure rooms or areas of the premises in an 
access-controlled environment. 

All sur eilla� e re�o rdi gs �i ll � e kept o  the li�e�s ee’s re ordi g de� i�e for a � i i u  of 9  da�s  

All � ideo sur� eilla� �e  re ordi gs are su� je� t to i�sp e� tio  �� the state’s � a� a� is ureau a�d  � ill �e 
copied and sent, or otherwise provided, to the bureau upon request. 

The video recordings will display the current date and time of recorded events and their display will not 
specifically obstruct the view of the recorded images 

Floracy will secure and backup electronic records in a manner that prevents unauthorized access while 
ensuring the integrity of the records maintained.  Floracy will have on-site and Cloud backups of the 
recorded data. 

 

Floracy will implement an identification and sign-in/sign-out procedure for authorized personnel 
including vendors, visitors and customers.  The outside area of the manufacturing premises will be 
maintained to ensure visibility for security monitoring.  Floracy will also establish procedures for the 
investigation of suspicious activities. 

 

To prevent theft or loss of cannabis and cannabis products, Floracy will establish an inventory system to 
track cannabis material and the personnel responsible for processing it throughout the manufacturing 
process that is o pati le �i th the state’s tra�k  a�d  tra�e s ste , METRC.  Personnel access will be 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-37ORIGINAL



Page 8 of 13 
 

limited within the premises to those areas necessary to complete job duties, and to those time-frames 
specifically scheduled for completion of job duties.  Tasks with high potential for diversion (including the 
loadi g a�d  u� loadi g of � a� a� is tra�sp ortatio  ehi�l es � ill �e super ised �� Flora�� ’s a� age e�t  
team. 

Employees will be provided an area where they can store and access personal items.   

 

Environmental Benefits 
Floracy uses organic materials throughout its process, beginning with its cultivators who use organic 
materials and methods and grow outdoors.  The plant material is processed using organic cane alcohol 
which is generally recognized as safe and effective by the American Food and Drug Administration.  With 
the closed loop system Floracy will use, over 95% of the ethanol will be reclaimed and reused.  The 
spent materials from the extraction process will be combined with coffee grounds and recycled as 
garden mulch. 

Flora��  � ill �ho ose PG&E’s alter�a ti e for % re e a� le e erg  sour�es.  The manufacturing process 
uses modern equipment with high energy efficiency and the process uses no water. 

We also plan a to implement a green program within the facility that includes recycling and power 
conservation to reduce our carbon footprint.  

Community Benefits 

Tax Revenue 

Nevada City is in the process of establishing local sales tax structure for permitted cannabis businesses.  
Flora��  full� supports the � it� ’s �ur re�t ta�  pla  proposal for �a� a� is �u si esses.  A two percent 
cannabis business tax levied on our net revenue would contribute approximately $300K to city coffers 
from Floracy over a five-year period.   

Local Employment 

All the founders of Floracy live in Nevada City, Grass Valley or Nevada County.  We have a fundamental 
commitment to hiring locally.  Because of the existing pool of cannabis expertise and other required skill 
sets , we expect no problems filling our open positions locally.   

Charitable Donations 

Floracy has established a track record over the past five years of giving generously and volunteering to 
local charitable organizations.  It is our intent to continue this practice increasing our donations in line 
with profit growth. 

Local commerce 

Floracy will invest over $300,000 in a new production facility and pay more than $25,000 per year in 
licensing local and state license fees.  There are many small local cannabis businesses that will not be 
able to afford such facilities.  Our bulk oil production capacity will enable licensed manufacturers to 
obtain the cannabis oil they need to combine with their other ingredients such as baking mixes, salves 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-38ORIGINAL



Page 9 of 13 
 

and tinctures.  A supply of oil to local producers will help build an overall licensed cannabis industry in 
Nevada City and contribute to the overall economy. 

In addition, there will be major investment made to grow the Floracy brand of cannabis products.  As 
Floracy grows its brand, not only will the city receive tax revenue, the community will benefit from the 
positive, healing image reflected on Floracy. 

Labor and Employment 

General Considerations 

Our employees are instrumental to the success of the business and providing a healthy and satisfying 
environment is a high priority.  Most of the jobs we create will be skilled.  Our goal is to hire locally, and 
we believe we can accomplish this because of the talented cannabis labor pool in Nevada County.   

Floracy will employ four people initially and grow that base as the business develops.  In 2019 we expect 
to hire 2 to 4 additional employees. 

 Floracy is an equal opportunity employer.  
 Employees must be 21 years of age, California resident and a verifiable medical cannabis patient 

to work at Floracy. 
 All employees are required to comply with the City of Nevada City Ordinance regulating Medical 

Cannabis Businesses, the regulations from Bureau of Cannabis Control and all applicable federal 
laws.  

 Employment candidates residing in Nevada County will receive preferential treatment in line 
with Flora ’s policy on supporting local businesses.  

 Floracy will comply with all employment and labor laws.  
Workplace Environment and Culture 

Floracy will cultivate a positive, high energy and challenging work environment.  We will encourage open 
communications and transparency in our business activities.  In protecting a safe and healthy working 
environment where everyone feels secure and supported, Floracy prohibits violence of any kind. Any 
threats or acts of violence are not allowed. Acts of violence include but are not limited to threats, 
carrying and/or displaying any weapon, fighting or harassing.  Any employee found threatening or 
participating in any violence toward themselves or another person will be disciplined and possibly 
terminated 

Hiring and Background Checks 

Floracy is dedicated to hiring competent, detail-oriented local residents that can comply with the strict 
regulations that govern cannabis businesses.  When reviewing background check results, the hiring 
manager will verify that applicants have not been convicted of any crimes listed in Business and 
Professions Code section 19323.  

Compensation 

Flora��’ s hourly employees will earn, at a minimum, a wage of $15 per hour.  Employees with 
specialized skill sets will start at $20/hr.  Raises will be granted on an annual basis or when performance 
merits a raise, whichever is sooner.  All employees will receive an annual performance review from their 
manager to assess their performance and development needs.  

FLR-Mnv.Ds-39ORIGINAL



Page 10 of 13 
 

Floracy will retain a payroll service company to administer all payroll related activities including the 
withholding of taxes.  Time cards will be collected on the 1st and the 15th of each month. Pay dates are 
the 10th and 26th of each month. Pay advances are available on an emergency basis if approved by the 
manager. 

Employee Benefits 

Floracy will provide a group health insurance policy option to its employees. The company will cover 
5 % of the ost of ea h e plo ee’s i sura� e pre iu s.  

Full Time employees can earn up to 10 days per year of Paid Time Off (PTO). PTO hours accrue at 
the rate of 8 hours for every 160 hours.  

Employees of Floracy shall receive appropriate training for their intended duties to ensure 
understanding of rules and procedures related to the cannabis industry in compliance with state and 
local law. Floracy will conduct initial training for our staff to include general policies and procedures, as 
well as training on the laws and science of medical cannabis.  
All employees will receive initial hire and ongoing training in Flora��’s  products, policies and compliance 
practices.  Initial hire training will include:  
• Company Policies and Standard Operating Procedures  
• Specialized safety and security training 
• Certification and safety training for equipment operation and safety procedures 
• Proper product handling & storage  
• Proper sanitation  
 
CONTINUING EDUCATION  

Floracy will cover up to 50% of the cost of employees’ continuing education that is relevant to 
Flora�� ’s usi ess a� d appro ed �  the e� plo ee’s a� ager. 

Employee Communications 

Floracy will conduct weekly a� agers’ eeti g a� d a o thl  all-employee team meeting. These 
meetings are a time to receive updates on new policies, brainstorm on ways to improve the 
business operations and conduct team building exercises.  
 
ANTI-DISCRIMINATION POLICY  

Floracy is committed to providing a workplace where all individuals are treated with respect and 
professionalism. The policy of Floracy is to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
employees and applicants without consideration to race, ethnicity, religion, sex, age, national 
origin, marital status, physical or mental disability, as pertaining to the extent of the law.  
Consistent with this commitment is to give employees the right to work in an environment free 
from discrimination, harassment or retaliation based on the factors stated above as well as 
pregnancy, non-work affecting medical conditions, ancestry, political affiliations, sexual orientation, 
veteran status and gender identity. Floracy prohibits any form of discrimination; treating a person 
less favorably than others have been treated based on the previously stated characteristics 
protected by law.  

FLR-Mnv.Ds-40ORIGINAL



Page 11 of 13 
 

SEXUAL HARASSMENT POLICY  

Sexual harassment is a violation of the law and Flora ’s anti-discrimination policy.  Sexual 
harassment will not be tolerated by any employee in the workplace. Any conduct of a sexual nature 
including words and/or physical acts that interferes with a  e� plo ee’s ork perfor a� e, or 
creates an intimidating, hostile, uncomfortable or offensive work environment is prohibited.  
If any form of sexual harassment takes place within the workplace of Floracy then a manager needs 
to be notified as soon as possible, preferably within twenty-four hours.  
DRUG FREE WORKPLACE  

The use and presence of illegal drugs at Floracy is prohibited. Employees may not work when impaired 
by any drug that is prescribed or recommended by a doctor including medical cannabis. The distribution, 
possession, use or sale of controlled substances such as drugs or alcohol is strictly against the law and 
Flora��’ s drug free policy.  
All employees are restricted from unlawfully distributing, dispensing, manufacturing, possessing and/or 
using controlled substances in the workplace.  
Any employee convicted of violating a criminal drug law or policy within or outside of the workplace 
must notify the Manager within seven days of conviction.  Floracy supports employee rehabilitation 
through education and/or counseling services. Rehabilitation may be given or made mandatory to those 
who violate any of the drug policies to continue employment at Floracy. Rehabilitation is not guaranteed 
as a stipulation of preserving employment.  
 
SAFETY & SECURITY: STANDARDS AND EXPECTATIONS  

Flora�� ’s top priority is to provide a safe and healthy work environment. Supporting secure working 
conditions where positive communication, clear business practices and overall employee safety and 
wellness is important. We expect employees to be aware of any unsafe working conditions or 
circumstances that may interfere with the health and safety of others.  It is a�  e� plo ee’s  
responsibility to confront or report any situation that is in any way harmful or disruptive to the flow 
of business.   
COLLECTIVE BARGAINING RIGHTS  

Floracy will comply with the National Labor Relations Act and will not interfere with, restrain, or 
coerce employees in the exercise of rights relating to organizing, forming, joining or assisting a labor 
organization for collective bargaining purposes, or from working together to improve terms and 
conditions of employment, or refraining from any such activity. 

Local Enterprise 

Local Employment Strategy 

Flora��’ s three fou ders reside i  Ne� ada Cit  a�d  Grass Valle�  a�d  are the �o pa� ’s a� agers a� d 
shareholders.  We will seek out and hire our personnel needs form Nevada County.  By hiring locally, we 
�a�  lesse�  the e�� iro e� tal i pa�t of � o uti g, dire�t  ta� re� e�u e a�k  i�to  Ne� ada Cit ’s e o o  
and cultivate community involvement. 

Floracy intends to provide high CBD oil products to the newly approved dispensary in Nevada City, 
Elevation 2477. 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-41ORIGINAL



Page 12 of 13 
 

Hiring locally is a major priority for Floracy. We intend to hire all employees from Nevada City and 
Nevada County, and we expect to find sufficient talent and experience from this local labor pool. 
We have already received expressions of interest from prospective employees.  
Supporting Local Business 

Floracy has already been consciously supporting our local businesses by buying supplies for our 
business and food and services in the nearby area.  We have already used the services of or 
received bids from the following Nevada County businesses: 

Sustainable Energy Group 

TruSteel 

Siteline Architects 

David Franco, CPA 

Melas Engineering 

Josh Moore Construction 

Gold Country Security 

Plaza Tire 

Bo�’s Dis ou t Carpet 

Walkers Office Supply 

Hills Flat Lumber 

House of Print & Copy 

California Organics 

SPD Markets 

B&C Hardware 

PROMISE TO PROCURE LOCAL PRODUCTS  

O e of Flora� ’s ore alues is contribute to its local economy.  Floracy will pledge to prioritize the 
purchasing of cannabis products from locally permitted businesses.  As Nevada City, Nevada County 
and Grass Valley issue cannabis business permits, Floracy will give the local businesses preference 
when selecting its product vendors.  This means more local jobs and added revenue for the City and 
the County. 
At this time, Nevada City is the only local jurisdiction that has a cannabis ordinance allowing commercial 
activities.  We expect this to change over the next few years. 

 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-42ORIGINAL



Page 13 of 13 
 

Qualification of Principals 
Harry Bennett, a resident of Nevada City for over 35 years, is a serial entrepreneur who has been 
providing medical cannabis products to dispensaries for the past 12 years.  Floracy was founded 4 years 
ago and Harry has been providing cannabis products to dispensaries in Sacramento, Oakland, Berkeley 
and San Francisco.  His reputation for knowledge and ethics in the cannabis industry creates positive 
awareness of the Floracy brand and adds credibility to the Floracy enterprise. 

Patty Lawrence joined Floracy from the start, four years ago.  Patty manages finished goods packaging 
a� d leads the � o pa� ’s produ�t development efforts.  Patty has experience managing people.  Her 
knowledge of the manufacturing processes �i ll � e i stru�e tal i  s� ali g up the �o pa� ’s � e�  
production equipment. 

Phil Ritti has a degree in civil engineering and an MBA.  Phil has deep general management experience, 
directing the functions of finance, engineering, manufacturing, marketing and sales.  He ran successful 
business for large companies such as Symantec, Quantum and Ampex, and co-founded and served as 
CEO of a startup, Cache-A Corporation. 

 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-43ORIGINAL



Page 1 of 5 
 

 
Dec. 11, 2017 
 
Hi Amy, 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to provide additional details.  I have copied your questions over to this 
document and our answers are interleaved below. 
 
Please p o. ide i fo atio  o  the soft� a�e you pla  o  usi g that �i ll � e o pati le � ith the “tate’s 
track and trace system 

 We plan to use Viridian Sciences software designed specifically for cannabis seed-to-sale 
applications including manufacturing and distribution.  Their software directly connects with the 
state’s t�a� k a� d t�a �e syste�  METRC.  Vi�i dia�  is � e�y  fa� ilia�  �i th Califo ia’s compliance 
requirements.  Viridian uses SAP as their software platform which is used extensively in Fortune 
1000 companies throughout the world. 

 I have included some literature on the product and its compatibility with METRC 
 

Elaborate on the fire suppression system. 
 Background: 

o The only area in the Floracy facility that needs an automatic fire suppression system is 
the Extraction Room which is marked Phase II on our Floorplan in the application.  The 
most hazardous material we use in our processing is organic ethanol, 190 proof.  Our 
ethanol extraction process will be a closed loop system which is much safer than an 
open-air system.  The extraction room will be built with 2-hour firewall materials.  The 
closed loop system is opened for recharging of ethanol and the loading of dry plant 
material prior to extraction.  In those areas, Floracy will provide fume hoods with 
automatic fire suppression capabilities.   

 Fire Suppression 
o The fire suppression system within the fume hood features detection tubing that that is 

designed to burst when it detects the radiant heat of a fire.  When the tubing bursts, the 
drop in pressure opens a valve that triggers the release of a fire extinguishing agent 
through nozzles located in the hood.  Placing the tubing in the path of a fire results in 
quick detection and suppression.  We will use either ABC dry chemical fire 
extinguishment of carbon dioxide depending on the recommendations of our safety 
expert and the local fire chief. 

 
Provide a security system floor plan. 

 The floor plan with cameras identified is attached. 
 We will refine this plan as a function of the work with are conducting with our security and 

safety consultants. 
  

  

FLR-Mnv.Ds-44ORIGINAL



Page 2 of 5 
 

 
Indicate the image resolution of recorded surveillance footage and how long it will be backed up in 
event of a power outage. 
 The section of California cannabis regulations that cover video surveillance is DPH-17-010E, Section 

40205 and it specifies the following minimum requirements: 
 1280 x 720 pixels minimum 
 24 hours/day at min. 15 frames/second 
 All recordings kept for min. 90 days 
 Capable of supporting remote access 
 Installed in a manner that prevents obstruction, tampering, and disabling 
 Cover anywhere cannabis is weighed, packed, stored, quarantined, loaded, unloaded, 

prepared, or moved within the premises 
o Security rooms 
o Limited-access areas 
o Inside & outside building 

 Display time and date 
 

 There are many systems to choose from that � ill � eet the state’s e�u i�e� e�ts, e.g. iVideo , 
Honeywell, ADT, Samsung and others.  We have not made our final determination of the type 
of system or brand we will purchase, but we can commit that our selection will meet all of the 
requirements listed above.  We are currently assessing our options in conjunction with our 
security consultants including on-premise solutions, cloud solutions and hybrid solutions.   

Provide an odor mitigation plan. 

 There are three rooms that have the potential for odor: 
1. Extraction room 
2. Flower drying, dehumidification, milling room 
3. Packaging Room 

 
 We will use activated carbon odor control systems in any area that has an odor content.  Based on 

our experience in the cannabis industry, these carbon filters are very effective for odor mitigation.   
 

Please describe the final form of packaging and your plan for tamper-evident packaging. 
 

 In general, Floracy will comply with Section 40415 of the California Cannabis Licensing Regulations 
covering packaging.   

o We are actively working with Sungrown Packaging out of Oakland to design compliant 
packaging. 

o We will bring prototype packing to the Planning Commission Meeting 
 

 Floracy branded products 
o The final form of our current Floracy branded products are individually packaged oral 

applicators.  Future products currently under consideration include suppositories, capsules 
and topicals and the final packaging final form has not yet been determined. 

o The tamper evident plans for our oral applicators include the following: 
o Tamper evident seals on each individual package 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-45ORIGINAL



Page 3 of 5 
 

o Individual Child Resistant packaging that can be re-used for products that have more than 
one serving. 

 Bulk oil products will be sold to other licensed manufacturers in sturdy, air-tight, tamper-sealed 
metal containers.   

o These containers will not require child resistant packaging. 
 
 All products will contain a unique identification number for track and trace and a batch number for 

lot control in the case of a product recall. 
 
 We do �o t pla�  to a� ufa� tu�e p�odu ts that fall u de� the state’s defi itio  of edi les. 

  
 
Indicate what form both the incoming and outgoing product being supplied/processed in Phase I is in. 

 
 Background 

o In Phase I, no new extraction will be performed.   
 We will be essentially living off inventory produced before the end of 2017 until 

�e  get the � ity’s app o al fo� Phase II.   
o Phase I does not involve the use of any hazardous materials or processes.  The oil has 

already been processed through the extraction process  
 Phase I Operations: 

o The first operation in Phase I will be the storage of raw material, work in process and 
finished goods inventory that has been produced prior to 1/1/18. 

o The second operation in Phase I will be to ship finished goods products to licensed 
retailers 

o The third operation in Phase I will be the packaging of the existing inventory of oil into 
individual packages of finished products. 

 
 We will comply with the requirements for selling products during the state-defined transition 

period described in Subchapter 7, Section 40600 of the cannabis regulations. 
 
Explain the difference between branded oil vs bulk oil? 

 Branded oil is the Floracy product line and is the heart of the company. 
o Cultivation of specific strains is key to the Floracy brand model as well as stringent 

quality standards.   
 Bulk oil is not individually packaged and will be sold to other licensed manufacturers who do not 

have primary extraction capabilities.   
 Examples may include bakers, infusers and packagers.   
 The bulk oil products carry no brand and are sometimes referred to as white label goods.  These 

likely will allow greater flexibility of strains sources and other process options compared to 
Floracy brand products.  This type of business can utilize our available manufacturing capacity 
while we build the volume of the Floracy brand. 
 

Ela� o�at e o  the g�e e� p� og�a�  you pla  o  i ple e�ti g. 
 In our application we listed the following Environmental Benefits: 

o Use of organic materials throughout our processes 
o The PG&E option for 100% renewable energy sourcing 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-46ORIGINAL



Page 4 of 5 
 

 Other components of our green program include: 
o Internal recycling program to minimize land waste 
o Internal goal to reduce paper consumption including 
o Printing on both sides 
o Re-use of paper 
o Electronic storage of records 
o Choosing energy efficient equipment in our manufacturing buildout 
o Installation of low water flow faucets and toilets 

 We have also engaged a sustainability consulting firm, Sustridge to review our plans 
 
Please elaborate on the Distribution component of your application. 
Indicate security measures for receiving/ sending product? 

1. What form of product will you be distributing (i.e. oil, flower, etc) and how will it be 
packaged? 

2. Do you have access to a secure loading bay? 
3. What volume of product do you anticipate distributing? 
4. What type of vehicle(s) will be used for distribution? 
5. What will the distribution routes look like and what type of facilities will be visited? 

 
 Background 

o Because of the newness of the regulated cannabis industry in California and the 
uncertainty of finding a local, qualified, licensed distributor, Floracy plans to apply 
for a distribution license.  We will take this step solely to ensure we are able to get 
our products delivered to licensed dispensaries.  We do not plan to use the 
distribution license to develop a distribution business.  

 Answers: 
1. We have engaged Gold Country Security as a consultant for our physical security plans.  

See attached document.  One example of their security measures for receiving and 
sending products is random behavior.  We will not schedule deliveries or schedule 
shipments according to any set schedule.  We will intentionally mix things up so that no 
one can lock into any pattern. 
The distribution license will also enable us to pick up raw materials such as cannabis 
flower form our vendors.  This will eliminate an extra layer of costs for both our vendors 
and Floracy. 
Gold Country Security will also advise us on required physical security measures 
including doors, windows, locks, vault design and an employee badge system. 

2. We will distribute only Floracy branded products and bulk oil.  We do not plan to 
develop distribution as a separate business. 

3. The volume of products we will be distributing is the same volume planned in our 
business plan submitted with the application. 

4. The cannabis regulations do not specify the type of vehicle used for the transportation 
function within a distributor license.  Vehicles must have a motor carrier permit 
pursuant to Chapter 2 of Division 14.85 of the Vehicle Code. 

 Essentially this means we need to register our vehicle(s) as commercial vehicles. 
 Other vehicle requirements listed in Section 5311 of the Cannabis regulations 

include: 
 Cannabis can not be visible from the outside 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-47ORIGINAL



Page 5 of 5 
 

 Cannabis shall be locked in a box, container or cage that is secured to 
the inside of the vehicle 

 When left unattended, vehicle shall be locked and secured 
 A distributor shall not leave a vehicle containing cannabis in a 
residential area or parked overnight in a residential area 

 Vehicle shall have a vehicle alarm system 
 Packages or containers holding cannabis goods shall not be tampered 
with, or opened during transport 

 A distributor transporting cannabis goods shall only travel between 
licensees shipping or receiving goods 

 No person under the age of 21 shall be in a commercial vehicle  
 Only a licensee or an employee of the distributor shall be in a vehicle 
while transporting cannabis goods 

 
Can you confirm that you will not use hydrocarbon extraction practices in the manufacturing process? 

 We can unequivocally confirm that we will not be using hydrocarbons in any part of our 
manufacturing process.   

 We prefer the use of ethanol, an organic product, because we preserve more of the 
pla t’s edi�i al � ualities.   

 For the purposes of cannabis regulations, the state has categorized ethanol as a non-
volatile solvent and Floracy will apply for a Type 6 (non-volatile) manufacturing license 
from the state.   

 We have fire codes that we need to meet, but ethanol is much less hazardous than 
hydrocarbons. 

 
Please list all the products you will be manufacturing (oils, edibles, topicals, etc). 
 Current: 

o Concentrated oil packaged in individual oral applicators  
 Planned  

o Suppositories  
o Capsules 
o Topicals that blend concentrated oil with other skin care ingredients. 

 We do not plan to manufacture any edible products 
 
Ca�  you p�o ide a� ufa�t u�e�’s spe� s fo� a�y  spe�i alized e uip e�t  you � ill �e usi g a�d  i��l ude the 

a� ufa�tu�e ’s ai te a� e s�hed ule?  
 There are 2 pieces of specialized equipment we plan to use: 

o Delta Separation Centrifuge Utility Platform (Specifications attached) 
o TruSteel Falling Film Evaporator (Will provide specifications separately) 

 
Provide a statement of commitment to the a� ufa� tu�e�’s ai te a� e s�hed ule fo  a�y spe�i alized 
equipment. 

 Flo�a�y  � ill adhe� e to the a� ufa�tu�e� s’ ai te a� �e s�h edules fo� al l spe�i alized 
equipment we operate. 

 

FLR-Mnv.Ds-48ORIGINAL



FLORACY CANNABIS BUSINESS PLAN 
AMENDMENT PROPOSAL 

 

 

 

Summary of Amendment Proposal 

Floracy would like to amend its distribution cannabis business permit to remove the “self-distribution 
only” stipulation from our Nevada City cannabis business permit. 

 

Background and New Plans 

Floracy has a California Bureau of Cannabis Control type 11 distributor license.  This license allows us to 
store and transport cannabis and cannabis products, to buy cannabis from and sell cannabis to other 
licensees, and to arrange for laboratory testing of cannabis and cannabis products. 

We would like our Nevada City permit to allow us to conduct the same activities as our state distribution 
license allows.  This would mean that we could distribute and conduct related activities for Floracy and 
for other licensees. 

Floracy’s Nevada City self-distribution permit implies that we may conduct these activities for products 
which Floracy itself owns.  This stipulation is unnecessarily limiting and makes certain transactions more 
complex. 

 

  

FLR.Mn.D.f.A-1
AMENDMENT



Changes from Floracy’s application to Nevada City 

 

Scope of Application  

Floracy seeks to amend the Distribution Permit so that it is not limited to self-distribution only. 

All activities we will conduct were part of our original business plan, but logistically will be simplified if we 
are not required to take title of all cannabis that we transport, store, and test.  

 

No Changes to These Categories of Our Cannabis Business Permit Application: 

• Neighborhood Compatibility Plan 
• Safety and Security Plan 
• Environmental Benefits 
• Labor and Employment 
• Local Enterprise 
• Parking 
• Community Benefits 

 

FLR.Mn.D.f.A-2
AMENDMENT



 
City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

 

 
RECOMMEDED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

Floracy, Inc.  75 Bost Avenue, Suite 2 
 

A. PLANNING DEPARTMENT 
 
1. Provide proof of California State Licensing that verifies the license type issued. 
 
2. Prior to commencing operations, you are required to complete all tenant improvements as 

detailed in your application. A medical cannabis business shall be subject to a mandatory 
building inspection, and must obtain all required permits and approvals which would 
otherwise be required for any business of the same size and intensity operating in that zone. 
This includes but is not limited to obtaining any required building permit(s), fire department 
approvals, Environmental Health Department approvals and other zoning and land use 
permit(s) and approvals. 

 
3. Provide evidence of the right to occupy and to use the property for purposes of a medical 

cannabis manufacturing business. As a condition precedent to the City's issuance of a 
medical cannabis business permit pursuant to this Chapter, any person intending to open and 
to operate a medical cannabis business shall provide sufficient evidence of the legal right to 
occupy and to use the proposed location.  

 
4. Execute an agreement, in a form approved by the city attorney, agreeing to indemnify, 

defend (at applicant's sole cost and expense), and hold the City of Nevada City, and its 
officers, officials, employees, representatives, and agents, harmless, from any and all claims, 
losses, damages, injuries, liabilities or losses which arise out of, or which are in any way 
related to, the City's issuance of the medical cannabis business permit, the City's decision to 
approve the operation of the medical cannabis business or activity, to process used by the 
City in making its decision, or the alleged violation of any federal, state or local laws by the 
medical cannabis business or any of its officers, employees or agents. 

 
5. Provide proof of liability insurance and liability agreement. You are required to maintain 

insurance at coverage limits, and with conditions thereon determined necessary and 
appropriate from time to time by the city attorney. 

 
6. Operation of your business shall be consistent with the submitted application material or as 

otherwise presented at the public meeting and as approved by the planning commission.  

 
7. Off-street parking shall accommodate all employees, distribution vehicles, vendors, and 

visitors of the subject business. No on-street parking is permitted.  Justification of the 
applicant’s ability to accommodate the business with off street parking shall be included with 
annual renewals. 

B. ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 

1 Unless  authorized by separate waste discharge requirements, the Cannabis General Order, or a 
CWA section 404 permit, the following discharges are prohibited: 

a. Any waste that could affect the quality of the waters of the state. 



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

b. Any wastewater discharge to City sewer that contains excessive nutrients (e.g., phosphate 
or nitrate), salinity constituents (e.g., sodium, chloride, potassium, calcium, sulfate, 
magnesium), constituents (e.g., iron, manganese, zinc, molybdenum, boron, and silver) or 
chemicals 

C. FIRE DEPARTMENT 

1. Maximum aggregate quantity of ethanol stored and used allowed is 120 gallons. This amount may 
be increased by 100% if stored in approved storage cabinets (CBC Table 307.1(1)). 

 
2. Fire suppression system plans for the fume hood and exhaust system in the Extraction Room 

shall be submitted to the Fire Department for review prior to installation a licensed C-16 
contractor or a California registered engineer (NFPA 91, 9.1). 

 
3. Note that NFPA 1 is not recognized by the California Building or Fire Codes.  However, it is 

recommended that NFPA 1 Chapter 38, Marijuana Growing, Processing or Extraction Facilities, 
be used to determine fire protection requirements not covered in the CFC.  

 
4. The Extraction Room door shall swing in the direction of egress travel, shall be self-closing and 

shall have panic or fire-exit hardware (NFPA 1, 38.6.1.1.4). 
 

5. A hazard rating diamond sign and no smoking sign shall be posted on the exterior of the 
Extraction Room door (NFPA 1, 38.6.1.4.2) 

 
6. If air-moving systems supplying air in excess of 2000 cubic feet per minute to enclosed spaces 

within the building are installed, these systems shall be equipped with an automatic shut off.    
 

7. Portable fire extinguishers shall be located as directed by the Nevada City Fire Department and 
installed in accordance with CFC Section 906 for Class B fire hazards. 

 
8. Walls separating the adjacent tenants and within the facility shall be constructed to the required 

fire-safety rating per CBC Tables 508.4. It is stated in the proposal the Extraction Room will be 
built with a 2-hour fire rating.  

 
 
D. COUNTY ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH DEPARTMENT 

1. The Nevada County Environmental Health Department does not have any opposition to the 
proposed applications. All hazardous materials stored, utilized and wastes generated as a result 
of the manufacturing operations will require permitting through the Environmental Health 
Department CUPA program per California Health and Safety Code. Retail sales of edible food 
product requirements will be determined upon the approval of the County of Nevada Cannabis 
Ordinance. 

2. The manufacturing operation must adhere to existing California Department of Public Health - 
Manufactured Cannabis Safety Branch (MCSB) regulations governing the manufacture of 
cannabis-infused edibles for both medical and nonmedical use. The regulations released on 
November 16, 2017. 

3. Any retail medical cannabis operation, in conjunction with the manufacturing operation, must 
be licensed with the Bureau of Cannabis Control. 



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

4. The applicant andlor facility operator must adhere to all applicable codes and regulations 
regarding the storage of hazardous materials and the generation of hazardous wastes set forth 
in California Health and Safety Code Section 25500-25519 and 25100- 25258.2 including the 
electronic reporting requirement to the California Environmental Reporting System (CERS). 

5. The applicant and/or facility operator must apply for and obtain a permit for the storage of 
hazardous materials and the generation of hazardous wastes from the Nevada County 
Department of Environmental Health (NCDEH), Certified Unified Program Agency (CUPA). 

6. The applicant and/or facility operator shall secure and annually renew the permit for this 
facility within 30 days of becoming subject to applicable regulations. Routine compliance 
inspections, conducted by NCDEH inspectors, will occur at the facility and compliance 
inspections are typically unannounced inspections during regular business hours: Monday -
Friday, 8:00am -5:00pm. 

7. The County of Nevada Cannabis Ordinance, once codified, may require additional permitting, 
registration and reporting to the Environmental Health Department. 

E. POLICE DEPARTMENT 

1 A security reinforced wall shall be placed in front of the metal roll up door to cover the entire 
door area. 

 
2 Vault plans shall be provided and reviewed prior to permit issuance.  

 
3 Additional motion detectors shall be installed in the projected dead area between the roof and 

dropped ceiling area. 
 

4 Security housing shall be installed around the ventilation system. 



City of Nevada City 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

TO:  Planning Commission 

FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

MEETING DATE:  February 20, 2020 

RE: AMENDED APPLICATION: Thrive Society, LLC - Medical Cannabis Manufacturing and 
Distribution Business, amended to add/remove principals and change the business name to R&R 
Goods, Inc 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Redacted Application with Amended Material Inserted
2. Previously authorized Conditions of Approval updated with name change

PROPOSED APPLICATION AMENDMENT: Thrive Society, LLC was previously approved under 
the management of Basil McMahon, Danielle Dao, and Ella Alpina. Their application was approved by 
the Planning Commission at their April 19, 2018 meeting for mechanical extraction manufacturing and 
distribution; Subsequently the Planning Commission approved  an amendment on February 21, 2019 for 
small-scale ethanol extraction activity; The current amendment request is to change their business name to 
R&R Goods, Inc.  and also to remove two principals (Dao and Alpina) and add two others to the 
management structure, Hezekiah Allen and Graham Burke. McMahon remains a principal under the new 
management structure. Allen previously passed a Live Scan background screening as he is a principal for 
an existing authorized Nevada City cannabis businesses.   Burke has undergone a Live Scan background 
screening and no disqualifying information has been reported pursuant to Section 9.22.090 (M) of the 
City Municipal Code.  Attached is the amendment request, noted as “Amendment 2,” and attached to the 
previously authorized application and amendment.  

Notification and an invitation to review and comment on the amended application was distributed on 
January 28, 2020 to the Fire Chief, the Police Chief, the City Attorney, the City Engineer, the City 
Manager, the Environmental Health Department, the Building Department,  and to the Planning 
Commissioners. A redacted version of the application, with the inserted amendment material (the current 
amendment request is noted as “Amendment 2,”)  is attached to the staff report. The amended changes did 
not result in any changes to the conditions of approval as approved at the February 21, 2019 meeting, 
though they have been updated to reflect the business’s name change.  

Regulatory Consideration: Section 9.22.070 (B) of the City Municipal Code prohibits the transfer of 
ownership or control of a cannabis business or transfer any cannabis business permit issued under this 
Chapter.  The Municipal Code does not provide parameters for circumstances that constitute a “transfer.” 
Staff is working with Consulting Attorney Hodgson to develop policies and procedures from a legal 
perspective so that staff has a more defined process for directing applicants proposing these types of 
business changes in the future.   

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

1) Make a Motion to find the project exempt pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15301 (existing
facilities) because the building is already existing and the proposed manufacturing and distribution use
is consistent with the principal permitted uses allowed in the Light Industrial Zoning District pursuant



Cannabis Businesses –Revive Organics (AMENDED) 
138 New Mohawk 
November 21, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 
 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

to Section 17.48.020, and there is no expansion of use  beyond what is already considered a  permitted 
use.  
  

2) Make a Motion to approve the amended application as presented to authorize the name change and 
principal management structure change of Thrive Society, LLC, changing  to R&R Goods, Inc, for a  
medical cannabis manufacturing and distribution operation at 138 New Mohawk, as previously 
authorized and as described in the amended application, subject to the previously approved Conditions 
of Approval, attached, making the findings a & b. 

 
a) As presented and conditioned, there is no reasonable argument that approval of the amended 

application is likely to be detrimental to the city, taking into account any health, safety, and 
welfare impacts on the community.    
 

b) Finding that the amended application is consistent with Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City 
Municipal Code.   
 

OR 
 
Make a Motion to reject the amended application for a medical cannabis business permit to Thrive 
Society, LLC that the application is not consistent with Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal 
Code.   
 
OR 
 
Make a Motion to continue the decision for authorization of a medical cannabis business permit to 
Thrive Society, LLC with direction to the applicant regarding any inadequacies of their amended 
application that must be addressed.   

 



City of Nevada City TSL-M.nv.C.pOf-1 

Planning Department 

Staff Use 

Fee:$ 
----

317 Broad Street, Nevada City CA 95959 
Date Paid: 

---

Phone: 530-265-2496 
Email: Amy.Wolfson@NevadaCityCA.gov 

MEDICAL CANNABIS BUSINESS PERMIT APPLICATION FORM 

(dispensary applicants, use other specific application form) 

Please submit a minimum of five (5) bound hard copies and 
one (1) digital copy (usb drive or CD) of all application material. 

Check business type being proposed. If multiple types are proposed, each type 
will need to be distinctly addressed in the supplemental documentation and on 
this form. A separate form may be submitted if it will help provide clarity. 

� Manufacturing 

Cultivation 

_ Testing Laboratory 

Business Name: Th rive So c i et y 

__ Testing 

x Transportation (Dis tri b uti on) 

N/A Dispensary (use separate 

form) 

Business Primary Contact: LY I e ( B as i I) M c M a h o n 

ContactTitle: Vice Presid ent/ Treasurer 

Contact's Mailing Address: _2_0_3_6_N_e_v_a_d_a_C_ i _ty_H_w_y _P _M_B_5 _6_4 ________ _

Grass Valley, CA 9 5949 

Phone#: 541-602-8812 E-mail: C onnect@Thrive-Society.com

24-Hour Contact Information: Lyle (Basil) Mc Mahon 541-602-8812 

For details about the information required as part of the application process, please see the Implementation Procedures 

to Operate a Medical Cannabis Business in Nevada City, Ordinance No. 2017-06 and additional requirements in order to 

complete the application process. All  these documents can be found on the Nevada Citywebpage: www.NevadaCityCA.gov 

Jump to Amendment 2

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-1ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-2ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-3ORIGINAL



REDACTION JUSTIFICATION INSERT 

(To be inserted for every instance of redaction) 

Nevada City Medical Cannabis Business Name:_T_h_r _iv_e __ S_o_c_ i e_t_y _____________ _

The following page(s): _____________________________ _ TSL-M.nv.C.pOf-2- TSL-M.nv.C.pOf-3

has (have) been redacted or withheld from public disclosure, as determined by 

Basil McMa h on ,  Vice-President, T hr iv e S oc iet y 

<insert name, professional title, affiliation with applicant> 

because the information contained therein is exempt from disclosure under the following Government Code 
provisions: 

Mark with "X" 

where applicable 

Government 

Code provision: 

Section 6254, 
subd. (c) 

Section 6254, 
subd. (f) 

Section 6254, 
subd. (n) 

Section 6255, 
subd. (a) 

Section 6254 

Other 

Explanation for redaction: 

Examples of information that may be withheld pursuant to 

each government code section: 

Personal, medical, or similar files, the disclosure of which 
would constitute an unwarranted invasion of privacy 

Investigatory or security files compiled by a local agency for 
licensing purposes 

Licensee's personal financial data 

Personal contact information (business contacts should not be 
redacted) 

General public interest exemption (provide explanation below) 

(Provide explanation below) 

***Please note that if objection is made for the redactions on a public document 

request, you may be called upon to more thoroughly justify the reason for redaction. 

Any costs incurred by the city attorney to determine whether items marked for 

redaction are in compliance with Government Code Sections 6254 and 6255 may be 

passed on to the applicant.*** 

X

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-4ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-5ORIGINAL



TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-5---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-6ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-7ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-8ORIGINAL



TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-8---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-9ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-10ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-11ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-12ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-13ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-14ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-15ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-16ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-17ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-18ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-19ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-20ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-21ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-22ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-23ORIGINAL



REDACTION JUSTIFICATION INSERT 

(To be inserted for every instance of redaction) 

Nevada City Medical Cannabis Business Name:_T_h_r _iv_e __ S_o_c_ i e_t_y _____________ _

The following page(s): _____________________________ _ TSL-M.nv.C.pOf-9   -     TSL-M.nv.C.pOf-22

has (have) been redacted or withheld from public disclosure, as determined by 

Basil McMa h on ,  Vice-President, T hr iv e S oc iet y 

<insert name, professional title, affiliation with applicant> 

because the information contained therein is exempt from disclosure under the following Government Code 
provisions: 

Mark with "X" 

where applicable 

Government 

Code provision: 

Section 6254, 
subd. (c) 

Section 6254, 
subd. (f) 

Section 6254, 
subd. (n) 

Section 6255, 
subd. (a) 

Section 6254 

Other 

Explanation for redaction: 

Examples of information that may be withheld pursuant to 

each government code section: 

Personal, medical, or similar files, the disclosure of which 
would constitute an unwarranted invasion of privacy 

Investigatory or security files compiled by a local agency for 
licensing purposes 

Licensee's personal financial data 

Personal contact information (business contacts should not be 
redacted) 

General public interest exemption (provide explanation below) 

(Provide explanation below) 

***Please note that if objection is made for the redactions on a public document 

request, you may be called upon to more thoroughly justify the reason for redaction. 

Any costs incurred by the city attorney to determine whether items marked for 

redaction are in compliance with Government Code Sections 6254 and 6255 may be 

passed on to the applicant.*** 

X

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-24ORIGINAL



TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-23---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-25ORIGINAL



February 12th, 2018 
L. Basil McMahon 
Thrive Society LLC 
138 New Mohawk Rd.  
Nevada City CA 95949 

 
Dear Ms. Wolfson and the Nevada City Planning Commission, 
 
Included in this document you will find our completed MCB permit application and 
supporting documentation.  Our application is organized to follow the sequence and 
structure of the “Implementation Procedures & Description of Evaluation Criteria” 
document published on the Nevada City Medical Cannabis Businesses  webpage. 
 
We thank you for your consideration, and if we have omitted any necessary information, 
we welcome any questions or requests for additional clarification. In areas where we are 
still actively developing our protocols and/or community engagement efforts, we have 
noted so, and will continue to keep the Commission apprised of our progress leading up 
to our hearing, when it is scheduled. 
 
We understand that the granting of medical cannabis business permits is a new and 
lengthy process, and that a great deal of review is required of city staff. Without the 
necessary staff support, this can exact a cost. 
 
It has become apparent, through the publication of the agenda for the upcoming Nevada 
CIty Council meeting scheduled Wednesday, Feb. 14th, that this cost is an active 
conversation within City Hall.  
 
We support finding a solution to the multiple concerns expressed by Ms. Wolfson in her 
staff report dated February 14th.  The permit fees assessed on MCB applicants should 
accurately account for the real costs of processing these applications. While it is true that 
we are very eager to have our application reviewed, It is not right that the City’s staff 
must be overburdened, in order for us to be considered for the privilege of being granted 
an MCB permit. 
 
It is an unfortunate situation to find ourselves in, to spend months diligently preparing our 
application, and submit right as City Council is entertaining a moratorium on the 
processing of pending MCB permits. We have attempted to be as complete in our 
application as possible, in order to reduce the amount of labor required by city staff to 
review our submission.  
 

1 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-24---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-26ORIGINAL



 
We absolutely understand the need to consider solutions to resolving the current 
application backlog and unsustainable work-load. We also appreciate the duty of city 
officials to ensure that all potential impacts of the presence of new regulated cannabis 
businesses are thoroughly considered before permitting. That said, If City Council 
decides to enact a 3-6 month moratorium on processing applications, it could cause us a 
significant financial challenge maintaining our application standing while we await 
resolution.  
 
Please take into consideration that as tenants of the space we have leased at 138 New 
Mohawk, every month of waiting could cost us $10,000 in rent. The rental amounts paid 
monthly in the interim by our prospective MCB alone, if paid to the city rather than to our 
landlord, would be sufficient to hire a handsomely-paid full-time staffer or two. To have to 
be prepared to spend upwards of $60,000 to reserve our place in the queue of 
applicants, without generating revenue in the meantime, would simply be too costly for 
us to afford. 
 
I, and my fellow principals of Thrive Society, would like to respectfully encourage City 
Hall to respond proactively to the concerns expressed by their staff, but to also take into 
consideration the financial hardship that a 3-6 month moratorium could have on our 
prospective business, and that of the other MCB applicants. 
 
Lastly, we wish to reiterate our gratitude for the Nevada City Administration, for 
demonstrating leadership and being willing to navigate this new and complicated task of 
regulating well-meaning local cannabis businesses. We look to be a cooperative partner 
through this process. If hiring additional staff could help facilitate the processing of 
permits and help to resolve this matter to the satisfaction of City staff and Administrators, 
that is a cost that, as an applicant, we would be happy to support. 
 
Regards, 
 
 
L. Basil McMahon 
For Danielle Dao and Ella Alpina 
Thrive Society 
   

2 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-25---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-27ORIGINAL



Table of Contents 
0.  Executive Summary 12 

1. Proposed Location Statement 17 

2.  Business Plan 20 

Day to Day Operations for Distribution 33 

Day to Day Operations For Manufacturing 42 

Joint Operational Standards 62 

Local and State Law Compliance 71 

Track and Trace System 73 

Timeline 74 

Marketing Plan 78 

Financial Projections 7 

Parking Plan 81 

3. Neighborhood Compatibility Plan 84 

4. Safety and Security 94 

Facility Security Plan (4A) 94 

Operational Security Plan (4B) 105 

Fire Prevention & Safety Plan (4C) 113 

5. Community Benefits 121 

6. Enhanced Product Safety 124 

7. Environmental Benefits 137 

8. Labor and Employment Plan 140 

9. Local Enterprise 145 

10. Qualifications of Principals 146 

Appendix 

Site Plans 

Proof of Capitalization 

3 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-26---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-28ORIGINAL



Executive Summary 

Our Mission  
Thrive Society is on a mission to elevate the culture of craft cannabis. We hope to 
become a nexus in the California cannabis supply chain. We will source exceptional 
flower varietals from the region and manufacture/distribute artisan medicinal extracts and 
infused products for sale to dispensaries in the state. Our team will propagate the rich 
cultural heritage of craft cannabis in a booming industry where large players are entering 
and consolidation has begun. Amidst a historic opportunity to establish a foothold and 
capture early market share, Thrive Society is stepping up to meet growing consumer 
demand for authentic connection to the farmers and herbalists.  

Our Team 
Our founders, Danielle Dao, Basil McMahon and Ella Alpina, are industry mavens with 
extensive experience in operations and management. They are all Nevada County locals 
and homeowners who are passionate about the medicinal properties of the cannabis 
plant and wish to see a healthy regulated industry emerge. All three partners will be 
taking hands-on management roles. The team is also supported by advisors and partners 
who will empower Thrive Society to grow into a successful and sustainable business. 

Our Business Model 

Thrive Society seeks to obtain permits for Distribution and Manufacturing in Nevada City. 
We believe that by holding both licenses, we will be able to operate synergistically. With 
access to cannabis material and close relationships to retail, we will also be able to 
manufacture value-added goods, in turn providing a comprehensive offering of products 
to licensed retailers across the state. 

Our primary customers are cannabis dispensaries and delivery services, with 
specific needs for cannabis strains and product variety. Customer needs and consumer 
trends change seasonally. Through data analysis and relationship-building, it is our goal 
to anticipate demand and provide products that cannabis consumers seek.  
 
Thrive Society plans to distribute the following goods: 
 
● Self-branded, pre-packaged flower 
● Standard pre-rolls and infused pre-rolls (with rosin/kief) 
● In-house manufactured goods like concentrates, tinctures, topicals, edibles, etc 

4 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-27---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-29ORIGINAL



● 3rd party products from highly respected brands in the industry that share our core 
values 

Entity Structure 

Thrive Society, LLC is the parent company of two wholly-owned subsidiaries, Thrive 
Migration LLC (Distribution) and Thrive Lab LLC (Manufacturing). The two entities (and 
their respective licenses) are held separately, to reduce cross-liability risk and provide 
increased flexibility in the future strategic direction of both operations. Currently, the 
owners and directors of the parent company retain full ownership and operational control 
of both subsidiary companies. 

For the purposes of this application, when referring to Thrive Migration LLC (“Thrive 
Migration”), we will be speaking of the activities of our distribution division (the entity 
seeking a Type 11 Distribution License from the BCC); when referring to Thrive Lab LLC 
(“Thrive Lab”), we will be speaking of the activities of our Manufacturing division (the 
entity seeking a Type 6 Non-volatile Manufacturing License from the CDPH); and when 
referring to Thrive Society (“Thrive Society”) we will be speaking of the activities of the 
company as a whole. 

 

Management Services 

In addition to the entities above, the founders have also established Cannexus Solutions 
Inc., which will act as a management company for the two licensed subsidiaries. 
Cannexus Solutions will provide management services like bookkeeping, marketing and 
advertising, and will hold the lease, equipment, intellectual property and brand assets for 
Thrive Society.  Cannexus Solutions, Inc. will not be seeking state licenses for cannabis 
business, and will not be actively involved in “touching-the-plant”-type regulated 

5 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-28---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-30ORIGINAL



activities. Holding assets in an arms-length management company is a risk-mitigation 
measure advised by our legal counsel.  

Summary 

Our team is grateful for the opportunity to apply to operate a compliant, thriving small 
business close to home. We have positioned our prospective business to play a key 
partnership role in the regional industry and believe we can make a positive contribution 
to the community economy, while keeping our impact to the neighborhood a minimum. 

We have worked diligently to develop comprehensive plans to ensure full compliance 
with state regulations. We have consulted with countless advisors and experts to 
develop protocol and standard operating procedures. Included you will find ten chapters, 
with a detailed overview of our proposed operations. If any additional information is 
requested by the Commission, we would be happy to provide it in a timely fashion. 

 

Thank you sincerely for your time and consideration, 

 

Basil McMahon, Danielle Dao and Ella Alpina 

Thrive Society, LLC 

   

6 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-29---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-31ORIGINAL



1.PROPOSED LOCATION (C.6) 

Proposed Location Statement  
 
Thrive Society LLC seeks a Medical Cannabis Business Permit from the city of Nevada 
City to operate a legal, permitted medical cannabis distribution and manufacturing facility 
at: 138 New Mohawk Rd., Nevada City, CA 95959. 
  
Our proposed facility occupies approximately 4900 square feet of the 35,000 
square-foot, multi-tenant building on a Light Industrial zoned parcel with a Planned 
Development combining district, LI- PD (APN: 05-280-18-00). The proposed facility is 
situated on the second floor, and on the east side of the building. 
 

 

 
 

7 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-30---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-32ORIGINAL



Lease Terms 

Thrive Society has signed a commercial tenancy agreement for the proposed facility with 
Terra Alta Development, the legal owners of the property.  The lease is for a 5 1/2-year 
term, ending December 31, 2023. A notarized letter from the landlord verifying the lease 
is included in this application. 

Photography of the Proposed Location 

 
Building Frontage,  showing the front entrance (left) and loading bay door (right). 
 

 
North side of Building,  showing the front entrance (center left) and accessible parking. 

8 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-31---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-33ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-34ORIGINAL



 

oor signage materials will consist of adhesive decals, metal 
plate, or wood. None of the following will be used in our building signage: neon or backlit 
illuminated signage; the words “cannabis”, “marijuana”, “distribution” or “manufacturing”; 
and no iconography will be used that is popularly associated with medical cannabis, such 
as a pot leaf or green cross. 

Description of the Vicinity 

 
There are but a few businesses and organizations nearby 138 New Mohawk rd. To the 
north, there is the Nevada County Narrow Gauge Railroad Museum, and the Inn Town 
Campground. To the immediate west, there are a couple of vacant lots, and beyond that 
a few residences and small businesses. To the south is located the building’s ample 
parking lot, with good visibility and lighting. The parking lot is bordered with a brush 
thicket that lines Pine Creek. There are no businesses or residences immediately across 
the street, or visible from either the front door or the loading bay door, benefiting the 
discretion of our operations. 
 

10 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-33---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-35ORIGINAL



To the immediate east, there is the Pine Creek Veterinary Clinic, and beyond that, there 
is Kelly Bike Company, and Anew Day (a religious-affiliated counselling organization). In 
the same building as Anew Day, there is John Muir Charter School (conservation corps). 
Out front from Anew Day, approximately 320 feet to the east of our proposed facility, is a 
public bus stop. As noted in our Zoning Verification Letter, our proposed location is 
approximately 490 feet from a home study program- the Twin Ridges Home Study 
Charter, to the east, further down New Mohawk as the road bends. 

The proposed location is in close proximity- 0.3 miles- to the Highway 49 Gold Flat Rd. 
on-ramp, making transportation vehicle access efficient and minimizing the impact on 
vehicles in the neighborhood. It is also only 4 minutes driving distance from the Nevada 
City Police Station via the same on-ramp, facilitating rapid response and interception. 

For more information regarding our commitment to being an exemplary neighbor, please 
see Section 3: Neighborhood Compatibility Plan,  and the Cover Letter provided with this 
application. 

Suitability 

The proposed location is excellently suited to host the business activities of a licensed 
medical cannabis distribution and manufacturing facility. 

 The building is free-standing, 
with good visibility on every side of the building’s perimeter.  On the east and north sides 
of the building, there are dispersed a variety of trees and shrubs, but they have been 
maintained, and do not encroach very much upon the exterior of the building.  

The building frontage is close to and visible from New Mohawk Rd., making patrols and 
access easier for law enforcement and other security personnel. 

For the Site Map & proposed Site Plan, please see Appendix . 

11 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-34---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-36ORIGINAL



REDACTION JUSTIFICATION INSERT 

(To be inserted for every instance of redaction) 

Nevada City Medical Cannabis Business Name:_T_h_r _iv_e __ S_o_c_ i e_t_y _____________ _

The following page(s): _____________________________ _ TSL-M.nv.C.pOf-32  - TSL-M.nv.C.pOf-34

has (have) been redacted or withheld from public disclosure, as determined by 

Basil McMa h on ,  Vice-President, T hr iv e S oc iet y 

<insert name, professional title, affiliation with applicant> 

because the information contained therein is exempt from disclosure under the following Government Code 
provisions: 

Mark with "X" 

where applicable 

Government 

Code provision: 

Section 6254, 
subd. (c) 

Section 6254, 
subd. (f) 

Section 6254, 
subd. (n) 

Section 6255, 
subd. (a) 

Section 6254 

Other 

Explanation for redaction: 

Examples of information that may be withheld pursuant to 

each government code section: 

Personal, medical, or similar files, the disclosure of which 
would constitute an unwarranted invasion of privacy 

Investigatory or security files compiled by a local agency for 
licensing purposes 

Licensee's personal financial data 

Personal contact information (business contacts should not be 
redacted) 

General public interest exemption (provide explanation below) 

(Provide explanation below) 

***Please note that if objection is made for the redactions on a public document 

request, you may be called upon to more thoroughly justify the reason for redaction. 

Any costs incurred by the city attorney to determine whether items marked for 

redaction are in compliance with Government Code Sections 6254 and 6255 may be 

passed on to the applicant.*** 

X

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-37ORIGINAL



12 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-35---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-38ORIGINAL



13 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-36---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-39ORIGINAL



14 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-37---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-40ORIGINAL



2. Business Plan

Overview 
Organized in the state of California on February 5, 2018, Thrive Society seeks to operate 
A Medical Cannabis Business in compliance with California State and local Nevada City 
laws, as a limited liability company. Our objective is to obtain a medical cannabis 
business permit pursuant to Nevada City Ordinance 2017-10 , adopted by City Council on 
June 28, 2017 and Section 26070.5  of the California Senate Bill 94 , most commonly 
known as the Medical and Adult Use Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act  (“MAUCRSA”). 
Subsequent to the issuance of our municipal permit, Thrive Society will seek a Type 11 
Distribution license as defined in MAUCRSA and the California Code of Regulations, Title 
16 Division 42- Bureau of Cannabis Control . In addition, Thrive Society will seek a second 
license, for Type 6 Non-Volatile Manufacturing, as defined in MAUCRSA and the 
California Code of Regulations, Title 17 Division 1 Chapter 13, Manufactured Cannabis 
Safety. The application period for the acquisition of these state licenses will be 
open-ended, beginning January 1, 2018.  

Objective 

Thrive Society seeks a license to operate a legal medical cannabis Distribution and 
Non-Volatile Manufacturing facility in Nevada City, CA. Our driving objective is to source 
medical cannabis flower & products from permitted suppliers, and manufacture in-house 
cannabis extracts and infused products, for distribution to licensed medical cannabis 
dispensaries throughout California. Operating in continuous compliance with state and 
local regulations, Thrive Society looks to utilize existing relationships to permitted 
cannabis businesses, to help regional independent permitted suppliers get their products 
onto shelves, and elevate the professional standard by which the medical cannabis 
industry operates in our community.  

The core business functions to take place within our proposed licensed facility include:  

Distribution: transportation, quality assurance, tax remittance, supply-chain management, 
packaging, labeling, inventory control, order fulfillment, and then distribution to licensed 
retailers. 

Manufacturing: Extraction of cannabis biomass using mechanical (non-solvent, 
non-volatile) techniques, infusion, product development, packaging, labelling, inventory 
control, and then transfer to a licensed distributor. 

15 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-38---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-41ORIGINAL



Application Principals (Board of Managers) 

● Danielle Dao : President
● Basil McMahon : Treasurer/ Vice President
● Ella Alpina:  Secretary

Entity Structure 

Thrive Society, LLC is the parent company of two wholly-owned subsidiaries, Thrive 
Migration, LLC (Distribution) and Thrive Lab, LLC (Manufacturing). The two entities (and 
their respective licenses) are held separately, to reduce cross-liability risk and provide 
increased flexibility in the future strategic direction of both operations. Currently, the 
owners and directors of the parent company retain full ownership and operational control 
of both subsidiary companies. 

For the purposes of this application, when referring to Thrive Migration LLC (“Thrive 
Migration”), we will be speaking of the activities of our distribution division (the entity 
seeking a Type 11 Distribution License from the BCC); when referring to Thrive Lab LLC 
(“Thrive Lab”), we will be speaking of the activities of our Manufacturing division (the 
entity seeking a Type 6 Non-volatile Manufacturing License from the CDPH); and when 
referring to Thrive Society (“Thrive Society”) we will be speaking of the activities of the 
company as a whole. 

16 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-39---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-42ORIGINAL



State Organized: California 

State Filing Numbers:  

Thrive Society (Parent Company): 201803610667 

Thrive Migration LLC (Distribution): 201803610672 

Thrive Lab LLC (Manufacturing): 201803610679 

Entity Type: LLC 

Federal Tax ID Numbers (EINs): Provided upon request 

State License Type (seeking):  

Type 11 = Distribution & Type 6: Manufacturing, Non-volatile Extraction 

Objectives

Mission 

Thrive Society will act as a nexus in the regulated medical cannabis supply chain. We aim 
to connect dots and facilitate the distribution of premium, locally-sourced cannabis flower 
and products to retail outlets throughout the California marketplace. In compliment, we 
will manufacture cannabis goods that honor and promote local, sustainable cannabis 
agriculture. 

Thrive Society will engage permitted suppliers and retailers whose values align with ours. 
We will support the regional small-ag economy, promote sustainable agriculture, build 
good relations with community leaders, local government and law enforcement and drive 
demand in the marketplace for sustainably-produced, small-batch, artisanal cannabis. 

Vision 

We are driven to elevate the culture of craft cannabis. As big industry and consolidation 
sets in, we will work to carve a meaningful and long-lasting place for the communities 
that have mastered the art and science of cultivation and whose livelihood depends on it. 

Our dream is that as the California cannabis industry matures, the heritage of craft 
cannabis culture that has thrived in our community for generations persists. 

17 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-40---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-43ORIGINAL



Legacy of Stewardship 

For decades, Californians have pioneered sustainable agriculture. In the 60s-70s, the 
Back-to-the-Land movement brought an influx of agrarian idealists and down-to-earth 
young families to the Sierra Foothills region, seeking a closer connection to the earth and 
the means to feed their families from the bounty of a backyard garden. This generation 
established many successful independent businesses that still characterize the local 
economy today- enterprises that seek to find a balance between profits, people and the 
planet. One example is UNFI (Mountain People’s Warehouse), the largest natural foods 
distributor in the Western US. A second examples, Peaceful Valley, est. 1976, started out 
as a small business selling organic garden supplies and now distributes across the 
country.  

There is a legacy of stewardship in local agricultural startups here that carries through to 
the pioneers of today’s craft cannabis producers. In small town communities across the 
region, the economic importance of the informal cannabis economy has become so 
substantial these days, that it's hard to ignore anymore. In this new era of regulatory 
oversight and increasing social acceptance, permitted cannabis business operators who 
aspire to comply with state and local law have an opportunity to carry on in the tradition 
of sustainable enterprise that our community has honored for generations. 

Thrive Society is a homegrown company that seeks to follow in these footsteps. We 
believe that a well-regulated local cannabis industry can provide social good and bring 
resiliency to the Nevada City economy. Permitted distributors are a crucial part of the 
cannabis supply chain. Many of the problems that have arisen in the absence of effective 
regulations can now be curtailed and managed more easily when the distinction between 
regulated and non-regulated is set. 

If granted permits to operate our facility and operations plan, we vow to maintain a 
professional, secure and discreet business that operates sustainably, generates local 
jobs and expands the tax base of Nevada City.  

As an invested community partner, we will help mentor regional suppliers in compliance 
and sustainability and encourage good actors as they navigate finding their way in this 
new, welcoming era of fair and effective regulation. As longtime residents of Nevada 
County, our team has a sincere commitment to support the well-being of our community.  

18 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-41---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-44ORIGINAL



Management Team  

Board of Managers 

Thrive Society’s Board of Managers comes prepared to navigate the dynamic challenges 
of the regulated marketplace, and fulfill important role in the regulated medical cannabis 
supply chain. Drawing from years of experience in the medical cannabis industry, We 
aspire to demonstrate leadership in the region and will position our organization to 
encourage compliance and best practices from our supplier partners. Leveraging existing 
key strategic relationships will enable us to remain agile and compliant as the market 
matures.  

Our Board of Managers will supervise operational development, execute business 
strategy, oversee the implementation of the business plan and bring a level of 
professionalism to the daily operations of both the distribution and manufacturing 
aspects of our business. 

President Danielle Dao 

Ms. Dao brings 16 years of operations, management, and distribution experience in the 
cannabis industry.  Her background expands across indoor, outdoor, and greenhouse 
cultivation, with 14 years of sustainable design, consulting, planning, and implementation 
with best management practices in farming.  

Treasurer/Vice President- Lyle (Basil) McMahon 

Mr. McMahon is a small business owner and cannabis policy advocate based in Grass 
Valley for the last 7 years. He is a founding board member of the California Growers 
Association (CGA), an industry trade group that has been instrumental in the 
development of cannabis regulations in California. 

Secretary/CMO: Ella Alpina 

Ms. Alpina is an established sales and marketing professional and entrepreneur. She is 
Founder and Creative Director of 7 Rays, a branding and marketing agency serving the 
cannabis industry, and is Co-chair of the Women Grow- Gold Country chapter.  

For More info on Thrive Society’s principals, see Section 10, Qualification of Principals. 

19 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-42---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-45ORIGINAL



Advisors

Legal - Harris Bricken 

Since 2010, Harris Bricken’s cannabis law practice has advised cannabis startups on 
compliance, licensing, corporate formation, investment agreements, real estate, 
employment law, tax policy, mergers, acquisitions, and banking issues. Firm partner 
Hilary Bricken has won widespread industry recognition for her work representing 
emerging businesses in state-regulated cannabis markets. 

CPA Advisor- Sonia Luna 

Sonia is the founder and President at Aviva Spectrum. She has more than 18 years of 
compliance, internal and external audit experience. She was recently appointed by 
then-SEC Chair Mary Jo White to the Advisory Committee on Smaller & Emerging Growth 
Companies in Oct. 2014. She has a firm grasp of cannabis-industry accounting matters 
and well-versed in regulatory policy. 

CFO Advisor- Dan Shapiro 

After earning his CPA in New York, Dan dedicated his early career to education, building 
eight schools across two continents. He is also a recurring guest lecturer at Harvard 
Graduate School of Education. 

Industry Advisor- Lauren Fraser 

Lauren Fraser is the Director for the Cannabis Distribution Association, which was 
co-founded in June 2016 and today has over 120 members across California. In 2015, she 
co-founded RVR Distribution which became the first and largest permitted cannabis 
distributor in the State. Now, she supports all operators seeking distribution licenses and 
partnerships through her work with the Association and as an independent consultant. 
Prior to working in the cannabis industry, Lauren worked in venture financing across 
various industries. Lauren holds a Degree in Finance and MBA, both from San Diego 
State. 

Partnerships & Resources 

Marketing Partner- 7 Rays Marketing 

7 Rays Marketing is a leading branding and marketing firm serving the cannabis industry. 
The agency has worked with many industry leaders like Sweet ReLeaf, Lola Lola, Dark 

20 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-43---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-46ORIGINAL



Heart Nursery, Treatibles  and Auntie Dolores . They provide full service marketing and 
strategy to companies vying for market share. 7 Rays will provide support to Thrive 
Society with branding and packaging to start and full marketing activation as the efforts 
develop. 

Lab Testing Partner- Pure Analytics  

Located in Sonoma County, Pure Analytics has extensive experience supporting the 
needs of cultivators, manufacturers, dispensaries and small batch producers.  As a 
pioneering lab, Pure Analytics has brought expert analysis and reliable results to 
Northern CA and the Bay Area for over 7 years. Pure Analytics is prepared to partner with 
Thrive Society to handle the testing demands of a distribution and manufacturing facility 
of our size. 

Security Services- Gold Country Security 

For the past 10 years Gold Country Security has been providing security patrol services 
to businesses in Nevada City, Grass Valley and throughout the county. Gold Country 
Security will be providing security services for our facility, and has reviewed and provided 
feedback on our proposed Facility & Operational Security Plans. 

Controller- Complete Controller  

Complete Controller an online bookkeeping & controller service, routinely monitoring our 
books and records to make sure they meet our exacting standards. They include 
bookkeeping services and can deliver a complete financial report package upon close of 
each quarter.   

HR Agency- Ms Mary Staffing 

Ms Mary Staffing is a professional employer organization (PEO) which will  share the load 
of managing personnel responsibilities. Ms Mary Staffing will manage all the paperwork 
for employees, including dealing with various tax and insurance requirements, while 
Thrive Society will manage all the physical worksite requirements, including day-to-day 
management and workplace safety. This arrangement is particularly useful for the 
marijuana industry, because it allows PEO services to take care of payroll taxes, thereby 
avoiding the 10% penalty the IRS assesses to cash-only marijuana businesses. 

 

21 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-44---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-47ORIGINAL



Associations  

Thrive Society benefits from membership and close ties with the following industry 
associations and organizations: 
 
Cannabis Distribution Association 

www.distributeca.org 
 
California Growers Association 
www.calgrowersassociation.org 

 
Nevada County Cannabis Alliance  
www.nccannabisalliance.org 
 
Minority Cannabis Business Association 
https://www.minoritycannabis.org 
 
 

   

22 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-45---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-48ORIGINAL



Day to Day Operations for Distribution 

Operations Overview 

Consistent with the regulatory framework outlined by the Bureau of Cannabis Control 
(BCC), Thrive Migration will procure legal medical cannabis products from licensed 
medical cannabis producers, ensuring the contents are safe for consumption and meet 
strict testing criteria established by the state.  

Our day-to-day operations include:  

● Verifying that legal medical cannabis products pass laboratory testing standards 
● Verifying that legal medical cannabis products are packaged in compliance with 

regulations 
● Remitting taxes as they are assessed 
● Fulfilling insured, secure transportation of cannabis goods to and from legal medical 

cannabis retailers, other distributors, suppliers, and manufacturers throughout 
California 

Thrive Migration will build the supply-chain infrastructure for safe, secure, and affordable 
distribution of legal medical cannabis, operate in continuous compliance with state and 
local regulations, and take proactive measures to mitigate impacts to community, and the 
environment. 

Tax Remittance  

Taxes assessed on medical cannabis dispensaries and cultivators are remitted to the 
California Department of Tax and Fee Administration. All sellers of medical cannabis are 
required to hold a seller's permit, report sales and pay taxes. Distributors are required to 
obtain a Cannabis Tax Certificate, and are the sole licensed entity to remit state taxes to 
the CDTFA on behalf of other licensed cannabis businesses.  We will collect taxes when 
cannabis goods enter the commercial market. Taxes will be paid monthly in accordance 
with the tax schedule under existing law. The transportation of any cash payments will be 
held in our cash deposit vault and delivered via our transport vehicle accordingly. 

Cultivation Tax 

A cultivation tax of $9.25 per dry-weight ounce of cannabis flowers, $2.75 per dry-weight 
ounce of marijuana leaves. In our Distribution Division, Thrive Migration will serve to 
function as the remitter of cultivation tax amounts, before the cannabis or cannabis 
products ever reach a retailer. Cultivation tax amounts are due 30 days after the end of 

23 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-46---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-49ORIGINAL



the quarter in which the cannabis or cannabis products “enter the commercial 
marketplace”. The triggering event for this tax deadline is when cannabis goods 
complete and comply with quality assurance testing requirements set forth in regulations 
(i.e., when the cannabis goods pass lab testing). 

Excise Tax  

Cannabis will be subject to a 15% excise tax at point of sale to the consumer. Excise tax is 
assessed at the time of transaction from distributor to retailer, must be collected by the 
distributor from the retailer and remitted within 90 days. In an arms-length transaction 
(between a distributor and a retailer who do not share ownership affiliation), Excise tax 
amounts are due within 90 days whether the cannabis goods have sold already. The rate 
of excise tax on cannabis goods is based on “Average Market Price”, which is 
determined by the CDTFA quarterly. 

Sales and Use Tax  

As a distributor, Thrive Society is responsible for transporting cannabis and cannabis 
products between licensed cannabis businesses. When a distributor sells cannabis or 
cannabis products to a retailer, and the retailer provides a valid and timely resale 
certificate, the sale is not subject to sales tax. Regardless if all sales of cannabis goods 
are not subject to sales tax, it will be required to file a return and report all sales 
transactions to the CDTFA. 

Nevada City MCB Tax 

 The City of Nevada City has proposed a municipal tax rate of 4% on Dispensaries and 
2% on other Medical Cannabis Businesses. This proposed rate will need to be approved 
by the voters of Nevada City. We expect that this reasonable proposal will be approved 
in the upcoming election and we are anticipating a 2% tax rate assessed on the sales 
transactions of Medical Cannabis Distributors, such as our own. 

24 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-47---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-50ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-51ORIGINAL



REDACTION JUSTIFICATION INSERT 

(To be inserted for every instance of redaction) 

Nevada City Medical Cannabis Business Name:_T_h_r _iv_e __ S_o_c_ i e_t_y _____________ _

The following page(s): _____________________________ _ TSL-M.nv.C.pOf-48

has (have) been redacted or withheld from public disclosure, as determined by 

Basil McMa h on ,  Vice-President, T hr iv e S oc iet y 

<insert name, professional title, affiliation with applicant> 

because the information contained therein is exempt from disclosure under the following Government Code 
provisions: 

Mark with "X" 

where applicable 

Government 

Code provision: 

Section 6254, 
subd. (c) 

Section 6254, 
subd. (f) 

Section 6254, 
subd. (n) 

Section 6255, 
subd. (a) 

Section 6254 

Other 

Explanation for redaction: 

Examples of information that may be withheld pursuant to 

each government code section: 

Personal, medical, or similar files, the disclosure of which 
would constitute an unwarranted invasion of privacy 

Investigatory or security files compiled by a local agency for 
licensing purposes 

Licensee's personal financial data 

Personal contact information (business contacts should not be 
redacted) 

General public interest exemption (provide explanation below) 

(Provide explanation below) 

***Please note that if objection is made for the redactions on a public document 

request, you may be called upon to more thoroughly justify the reason for redaction. 

Any costs incurred by the city attorney to determine whether items marked for 

redaction are in compliance with Government Code Sections 6254 and 6255 may be 

passed on to the applicant.*** 

X

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-52ORIGINAL



● Strain or Product name
● Date of delivery, method and time
● Track and trace UID

If Thrive Society intakes a batch that it intends to sell to another distributor, the 
responsibility for lab testing and labeling would then be transferred to the final 
distributor.  

State Mandated Quality Assurance Lab Testing 

As per state regulations, after taking physical possession of a medical cannabis batch, 
Thrive Society will contact our licensed testing laboratory partner (Pure Analytics) to 
arrange for a laboratory agent to come select a random sample for laboratory testing.  

For state-mandated quality assurance lab testing, the following protocols will be 
followed: 

● Sample selection by the lab agent will be recorded by video camera. For harvest
batches, we will ensure that samples be taken from batches that do not exceed
50 pounds. The sampling will occur with the batch number stated at the beginning
of the video and a visible time and date indication on the video recording footage.

● After the sample has been selected, the laboratory agent and our operations
manager will sign and date a document, attesting to the sample selection having
occurred, as required by state regulations.

● A sample “passes” a laboratory test when the sample meets certain specifications
required by the state, namely no pesticides, mold or bacterial contaminants are
detected. Potency and cannabinoid analysis will also be recorded. Once product
“passes” laboratory tests the tested batch will be labeled as such and enter into
the packaging program when applicable.

● If a product fails to pass testing it will be labeled and quarantined. If the
contamination is of the type that can  be remediated, then arrangements with the
supplier will be made to send the batch out to a manufacturer or processor for
remediation. If the contamination is of the type that cannot  be remediated, the
batch will be destroyed and disposed of according to the protocols outlined in the
section Cannabis Waste Disposal (Page 44)

Certificate of Analysis Verification 

We will complete several quality assurance steps before distributing the batch for sale or 
transfer to another licensed business- checking that: 

● The certificate of analysis corresponds to the batch tested
● The label is accurate

26 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-49---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-53ORIGINAL



● The packaging meets required standards 
● The proper information is in the state’s track-and-trace database 

Once the certificate of analysis is acquired for trim material, loose flower, edibles, 
tinctures and/or extracts, the Batch is then moved into the prepackaged holding room.  

Product in Process 

Once batch is ready to package, it is put into final consumer-facing, child-proof, 
tamper-evident packaging on our operating packaging floor. Then each individual 
container is scanned into track-and-trace and recorded accordingly to quantity of 
repackaged containers. Containers are then boxed up into opaque shipping boxes and 
labeled on the outside. Boxes are then stored in the secure storage room, awaiting 
export. 

 

Distribution Equipment 

Some of the equipment in use in our distribution facility includes: 

Biomass Shredder/ Grinder 

A shredder or grinder is used to prepare biomass for the production of pre-rolls. The 110 
Cup stainless-steel shredder can process around 2 lbs of material in 3- 7 seconds 
depending on moisture levels. The grinder uses whips rather than blades so there is 
never any powder unless you desire it. The system is built in the USA. The Shredder will 
be installed in its own isolated room, to contain dust and particulate generated by its 
operation. This machine has a two year warranty and comes with product owner’s 
manual to specify periodic maintenance. 

Futurola Pre-roll Machine 

The Futurola machine fills 100 Pre-Rolled cones in 2 minutes through vibration 
techniques and is ready to package straight from the machine. This tabletop stainless 
steel machine is known for its accuracy and ease for processors. This machines voltage 
input is 110-240 volt, with a 2.5Amp current and a 6 amp motor. 

PacWrap Shrink tunnel 

Packaged cannabis goods may need to be shrink-wrapped for tamper evidence and 
preservation. This tabletop shrink tunnel features Teflon coated rollers, a re-circulating air 
chamber, digital temperature control, AC variable speed drive conveyor, and automatic 

27 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-50---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-54ORIGINAL



cool down with shut off. This machine has a two year warranty and comes with product 
owner’s manual to specify periodic maintenance. 

Weston Herb Mixer 
ThIs herb mixer assists in herb blending. This mixer has a 44 lb. tub capacity to mix large 
quantities consistently. This stainless steel machine is maintenance free, with the 
exception of wiping with alcohol.  

Labeling Machine 

A Semi-auto Label Applicator machine will take self-adhesive roll labels from 8" to 12" in 
diameter on a 3" core. Practical minimum container width is about a half inch, with a 
practical maximum width of about 12 inches depending on the label orientation. For 
applying labels to flat and tapered containers. This machine is maintenance free. 

Round Bottle Labeler 

Semi automatic round container labeler is a table top device that can apply any type of 
label accurately and efficiently on cylindrical bottles.This machine is maintenance free. 

PrimoCombi Hopper Weighing Filler 

A Hopper/Filler is a sophisticated machine that automates high-volume filling of 
containers with a consistent weight of product. This versatile stainless steel automatic 
weigh filler is perfect for dispensing dry flower into containers and bags. It can fill up to 
50 containers within a few minutes. This machine is custom built to suit our needs, and 
will require occasional maintenance or tooling.  

This machine may be implemented in Phase II or III of the company, when volume of 
flower sales justifies the investment. 

Equipment Maintenance 

We commit to the manufacturer’s maintenance schedule for all specialized equipment 
requiring maintenance in our facility. 

Transportation 

The Transportation section describes the methods that will be used to securely transport 
packaged or bulk medical cannabis products to and from other medical cannabis 
businesses. This includes permitted cultivators, manufacturers, retailers, and other 
distributors.  

28 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-51---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-55ORIGINAL



The distributor is the only licensed entity authorized by state regulations to conduct 
transport of cannabis or cannabis goods across the supply chain. Thrive Society will 
function as an intermediary, in between Suppliers (cultivators/ manufacturers) and Retail 
(dispensaries, delivery).  

●

29 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-52---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-56ORIGINAL



Partner Transportation-Only Distributors 

On occasion, Thrive Migration will find it advantageous to call upon the transport services 
of a licensed Transportation-Only Distributor. Transport-Only Distribution licenses are a 
limited type distribution license, allowing for the secure transport of cannabis goods 
in-between premises of various license-holding businesses, but does not allow for the full 
scope of responsibilities and privileges of a Distribution license. There are a number of 
such Transport-Only Distributors, who specialize in the secure freight transport of 
cannabis goods. 

Service Elevator 

 

Product Complaints  

Occasionally, product defects may occur. In the event of a complaint from a supplier 
(manufacturer, processor, cultivator or distributor) or a customer (a dispensary, delivery 
company or distributor) notifies Thrive Migration of a complaint, facility personnel will fill 
out the Product Complaint Form and submit to management for review.  

Complaint Policy 

If a product complaint is found to be valid, Thrive Migration will replace the defective 
product with a non-defective version of the same type of cannabis good, or exchange for 
a similar cannabis good of equal value, as allowed in state regulations. 

30 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-53---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-57ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

X

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-52  -  TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-53

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-58ORIGINAL



Product Complaint Form 

A Complaint Form will be developed that documents the name, contact information and 
license # of the customer submitting complaint, UID and description of the product, 
description of events, and photo documentation if available. 

Complaint Response 

Management will review the Complaint Form and determine the appropriate response. 
Response may include contacting the cultivator/manufacturer supplying the product, 
contacting dispensaries receiving the product, notifying public health authorities; and/or 
process for determining any other additional follow-up that may be needed. 

31 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-54---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-59ORIGINAL



 

Day to Day Operations For Manufacturing 

Operations Overview 

Consistent with the regulatory framework outlined by the Department of Public Health 
(DPH), Thrive Society will manufacture legal medical cannabis products using 
non-solvent, non-volatile extraction techniques; forumulate infused cannabis topicals, 
tinctures, concentrates, and a limited line of edibles. 

Our day-to-day operations include:  

● Procuring cannabis biomass and bulk extracts from permitted suppliers 
● Holding cultivation tax amounts for transfer to a permitted distributor 
● Extracting cannabis using mechanical extraction (kief, rosin) methods 
● Infusing topicals, edibles, tinctures and pre-rolls with cannabis extract 
● Packaging products and ensuring the contents are safe for consumption and meet 

strict testing criteria established by the state  

Thrive Lab will build the supply-chain infrastructure for safe, secure, and affordable 
distribution of legal medical cannabis, operate in continuous compliance with state and 
local regulations, and take proactive measures to mitigate impacts to community, and the 
environment. 

Tax Remittance  

Cannabis Manufacturers must comply with regulatory requirements pertaining to tax. 
Effective January 1, 2018, a cultivation tax on all harvested-cannabis (including medicinal 
cannabis and adult-use cannabis) that enters the commercial market is imposed on 
cultivators at a rate of: 

● $9.25 per dry-weight ounce of cannabis flowers, 
● $2.75 per dry-weight ounce of cannabis leaves, and 
● $1.29 per ounce of fresh cannabis plant. 

Cultivation Tax Amounts 

Cultivation tax amounts must follow the product through the chain of custody until the 
product reaches the hands of a distributor with a Cannabis Tax Certificate, who is able to 
remit the tax amounts to the CDTFA. As a cannabis manufacturer, we are required to 
collect the cannabis cultivation tax from cultivators when unprocessed cannabis is first 

32 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-55---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-60ORIGINAL



sold or transferred to our possession, if the tax amounts have not been first collected by 
the distributor at any intermediate point. Manufacturers must then take the cultivation tax 
amounts collected from the cultivator and transfer them to the distributor, who will then 
be responsible for quality assurance review and testing.  

If the cannabis product is sold or transferred to one or more manufacturer, prior to being 
sold or transferred to the distributor who arranges for testing and performs the quality 
assurance review, the cultivation tax must be passed to the next manufacturer who takes 
possession of the cannabis product until the tax is remitted to the distributor. 

When collecting the cultivation tax, we must provide an invoice, receipt, or other similar 
document to the cultivator that includes and identifies the following: 

● Our name, as the licensee receiving the product.  
● The cultivator from which the product originates, including the associated unique 

identifier.  
● The amount of cannabis cultivation tax. 
● The date of sale or transfer. 

State Sales Tax 

When we sell our product to a customer, such as a distributor or retailer, and the 
customer provides us with a valid and timely resale certificate, the sale is not subject to 
sales tax. It is important that we obtain timely valid resale certificates to validate that our 
wholesale transactions are exempt from sales tax. If no timely valid resale certificate is 
provided, it will be presumed that sales tax also applies to the sale and we must report 
and pay the sales tax to the CDTFA. Even if all our sales are not subject to sales tax and 
we collect the proper resale certificates, we are still required to file a return and report 
activities to the CDTFA. We simply indicate on the return that we made no taxable sales if 
this is the case. 

Nevada City MCB Tax 

The City of Nevada City has proposed a municipal tax rate of 4% on Dispensaries and 2% 
on other Medical Cannabis Businesses. This proposed rate will need to be approved by 
the voters of Nevada City. We expect that this reasonable proposal will be approved in 
the upcoming election and we are anticipating a 2% tax rate assessed on the sales 
transactions of Medical Cannabis Manufacturers, such as our own. 

33 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-56---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-61ORIGINAL



Facility 

Stainless Steel Sink 

The Thrive Lab manufacturing facility is equipped with a stainless steel 3 compartment 
commercial grade sink for washing and sanitizing tools, containers and instruments.  

We will be installing a Faucet Eyewash Station at the sink to ensure ANSI Z358.1-2014 
compliance. 

Kitchen 

California requirements for commercial kitchen facilities are related to safety of the 
building facility, safety of appliances, safety of food handling, and environmental 
regulations. The building in which our proposed kitchen is located conforms with local 
zoning requirements. The appliances and the plumbing system for a commercial kitchen 
will conform to the Uniform Mechanical Code, which is the international Standard for all 
mechanical devices, under the international Association of Plumbing and Mechanical 
Officials (ISPMO). These standards provide specifications for commercial kitchen 
appliances.  We will apply and register for food-handling licenses with the California 
Department of Public Health, Food Certificates, Licenses, and Registration. As owners of 
a commercial kitchen, we have the responsibility to provide safe manufactured goods to 
the public. We have reviewed food safety protocol, provided by the U.S. Food Safety and 
Inspection Services.  We expect and will comply with regular inspections from the 
California Department of Public Health.  

Flow Hood Heat Exhaust System  

For tabletop instruments in the kitchen which produce heat or steam (hot plates), our 
facility will be equipped with NFPA Certified NSF Listed Superior Stainless Steel Oven 
Heat hood for ventilation. We will also install Fire Suppression System inside the hood 
called Superior Hoods FIRESUPP-8. This system is for medium to high heat applications. 
Superior Hoods uses a highly effective liquid suppressing agent that fights fires three 
ways: 

● Breaks the Chemical Reaction by interrupting the chemical chain that causes fires 
to spread intensify. It stops fire cold. 

● Creates Steam and Cools, reducing damage and helps prevent re ignition. 
● Smothers the fire when discharged, a chemical chain reaction produces a soapy 

foam. 
● Oxygen is cut off The fire goes out. The thick layer of foam reduces the 

possibilities of re-ignition. 

34 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-57---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-62ORIGINAL



Products 

Products that will be extracted and manufactured in our facility include: 

● Rosin Concentrates, of various viscosity and quality (shatter, wax, crumble, 
budder, sugar, terp-sauce) 

● Kief 
● Rosin and Kief infused prerolls   
● Tinctures   
● Topicals  
● Capsules 
● Edibles (Mints and Hard Candies, infused honey) 

Products which will be manufactured in our facility, although not extracted in-house, will 
include: 

● Vape Pen Cartridges 
● Oil Syringes 

Equipment 

Some of the equipment utilized in our manufacturing facility will include: 

Dry-Sift (Kief) Extractor 

The GreenBroz Alchemist 420 is a dry-sift, solvent-free trichome extractor designed to 
tumble cannabis trim and flower material and collect the accumulation of trichome pollen 
that is knocked-off the material in the process. The extractor rotates a vessel, tumbling 
the material like a clothes dryer, and pollen falls through the base, where it collects on a 
stainless steel plate and can be scooped up with a card or spatula for use or further 
processing.  

The mechanical agitation is further facilitated by the introduction of pelletized dry ice into 
the extractor, lowering the temperature of the trim or flower material and causing the 
trichomes to become brittle and break off more easily. This reduces the amount of time 
needed for tumbling, and decreases the amount of undesirable leaf particulate that is 
extracted alongside the trichome pollen. This machine has a one year warranty and 
comes with product owner’s manual to specify periodic maintenance. 

Used for: Extracting Kief from cannabis trim and flower. 

35 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-58---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-63ORIGINAL



Ultra Quiet Air Compressor 

California Air Tools produces a line of ultra quiet & oil-free air compressors designed to 
be some of the quietest 2.0 Hp air compressors in the industry, emitting only 58 decibels 
of sound. Only PSI: 10 – 140 are required for the Rosin press. This machine has a one 
year warranty and comes with product owner’s manual to specify periodic maintenance 
for air filters.  

Used for: Pneumatic air handling for operating the Rosin Press (see below). 

Pikes Peak Rosin Press  

Rosin refers to an extraction process that utilizes a combination of heat and pressure to 
extract resinous sap from Kief, trim or flower material. No solvents are required. A Rosin 
Press is a pneumatic press device that performs this mechanical extraction. It is similar 
technology to that of a t-shirt press, albeit a little more sophisticated. 

The Pikes Peak model we have selected for commercial production Uses 8 tons of 
pressure (15,300 lbf @ 140 psi compressed air) output from our custom fabricated, 
oil-less, maintenance-free pneumatic cylinder. And includes even heat distribution from 
0°F - 300°F from machined aluminum plates, each with its own thermo-coupler for 
accuracy. The input voltage is  120/240VAC and the frame and plates are A36 Steel. This 
machine is insured by the company’s warranty and we commit to the manufacturer’s 
maintenance schedule for this machine. 

Used for: Press extraction of Rosin concentrate 

Homogenizer 

The Unidrive X1000D Homogenizer by CAT Scientific is a laboratory instrument used to 
blend a composite fluid to produce a solution, similar to a kitchen blender. It is typically 
affixed to a sturdy stand and the rotating head placed within a beaker or vial of fluid that 
requires blending. The rapid RPM of the drive shaft spins a mixing head at such a speed, 
and in a controlled manner, that it breaks down molecular bonds which otherwise resist 
homogenization. This machine has a one year warranty and comes with product owner’s 
manual to specify periodic maintenance. Voltage is 230V/50 Hz or 110V/60 Hz and the 
motor power intake is 1050 Watts. 

Used for: Blending tinctures, topicals  and oils 

Magnetic Hotplate Stirrer 

The MCS78 Programmable Hotplate Magnetic Stirrer by CAT Scientific is a laboratory 
instrument for precision heating and blending of fluid mixtures, solutions and emulsions. 

36 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-59---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-64ORIGINAL



Its base is a precision hot plate, upon which sits a vessel that holds the fluid that should 
be mixed. Inside the vessel is a magnetic device which spins like a top, or propeller, 
stirring the fluid.This machine has a two year warranty and comes with product owner’s 
manual to specify periodic maintenance. The power requirements are 120V, 50-60Hz 
500W. 

Used for: Decarboxylation, mixing, emulsification  

Lab Hot Plate & Double Boiler 

Thermo Scientific Cimarec Hot Plates are precision laboratory instruments for heating of 
fluid mixtures, solutions and emulsions.   

A Double Boiler is a set of two fitted saucepans or pots that are stacked together with 
space between them. The bottom saucepan is filled with water, then the second 
saucepan is stacked on top. The steam from the bottom pot rises and heats the upper 
pot, buffering the surface temperature and providing for more control.  

Used for: Topical mixtures, emulsification  

Vaporizer Cartridge/ Capsule Filling Machine 

The task of taking bulk oil formulations and filling vape pen cartridges or pill capsules by 
hand is tedious, time-consuming and requires exceeding levels of precision. An 
Automated Vaporizer Cartridge/ Capsule Filling Machine can rapidly fill a quantity of 
these small vessels with much greater accuracy and speed.  

The Thompson Duke MCF1 is a Semi-Automatic, foot pedal operated Vaporizer Cartridge 
Filling Machine. The machine is a table-top device, in which a solution is fed through a 
syringe tip, intermittently filling one vessel with a precise quantity before moving on to 
the next vessel. In preparation for filling, each individual vessel (whether a cart or a 
capsule) is loaded into in an array mould (10 x 10 units, or 25 x 25 individual vessels, for 
example), and then filled one at a time. This machine has a two year warranty and comes 
with product owner’s manual to specify periodic maintenance. 

Used for: Filling vape pen cartridges, capsules 

Labeling Machine 

A semi-automatic label applicator machine will take self-adhesive roll labels from 8" to 12" 
in diameter on a 3" core and apply the label to a bottle surface with precision. Practical 
minimum container width is about a half inch, with a practical maximum width of about 12 
inches depending on the label orientation. This machine is maintenance free. 

37 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-60---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-65ORIGINAL



Used for: labelling flat and tapered containers 

Round Bottle Labeler 

A semi-automatic round container labeler is a table top device that can apply any type of 
label to a cylindrical container accurately and efficiently. Similar practical maximum and 
minimum bottle sizes apply. This machine is maintenance free. 

Used for: labelling round containers 

Refrigerator 

While we will not be producing any manufactured cannabis goods that require 
refrigeration, a refrigerator will nonetheless be a useful tool in the production of kief and 
rosin concentrates.  

When extracting using the Dry-Sift Kief Extractor, it is beneficial to lower the temperature 
of the cannabis trim or flower input material, as explained above. Temporary storage of 
cannabis input material in a refrigerator, prior to kief extraction, can aid in the speed and 
efficacy of the extraction.  

And for rosin, occasionally, the extract produced in the Rosin Press will stick to the 
parchment or stainless steel surface it is collected on. When rosin products are produced 
for concentrate form and aesthetic qualities need to be preserved, cooling the rosin 
concentrate can help to free the bond to the surface of the paper or metal, and reduce 
the amount of scraping or agitating necessary to manipulate the extract for collection or 
packaging. 

Used for: Chilling trim or flower input material for Kief, ease of handling rosin 
concentrates  

Equipment Qualification 

Manufacturers guidelines and user manuals will be referenced in the development of 
written operating procedures to ensure that each piece of equipment and machinery is 
suitable, and in an acceptable state, for its intended use prior to operation. Included in 
these SOPs will be scheduled routine maintenance, contact information for the 
manufacturer, and all emergency plans for each process.  

Equipment Cleaning and Maintenance 

After completion of each manufacturing process outlined below, all machinery and 
equipment will be cleaned and sterilized to the standards of cleanliness set forth in our 
Operational Safety Plan. 

38 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-61---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-66ORIGINAL



We commit to keeping with the manufacturer’s maintenance schedule for any specialized 
equipment requiring maintenance in our facility.   

Processes 

Process Flowchart

General Overview 

Cannabis Biomass or Bulk Extracts will be ordered from a licensed cultivator, processor, 
manufacturer or distributor, and transported to the Thrive Lab facility by a licensed 
distributor (either Thrive Migration, or another distributor). 

When the product arrives to the facility, it will be accompanied by a manifest and will be 
tagged  with the appropriate track and trace UID and accompanying information, as well 
as a certificate of analysis for lab tests.  We will check that the certificate of analysis 
corresponds to the batch tested, the label is accurate, the packaging meets required 
standards, and the proper information is recorded in the state’s track-and-trace 
database.  

Once the certificate of analysis is verified for material, loose flower, and/or raw extract 
input batches, the batches are then moved into the prepackaged holding area of the 
Manufacturing Storage Room. Once a batch is ready for extract or re-package, it is 
brought out to the processing floor for our operators to process accordingly.  

If the product batch is destined to be extracted in the facility, it will be processed 
according to the protocols outlined in the corresponding Processes outlined for each 

39 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-62---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-67ORIGINAL



extraction method (listed below). Once the final product is manufactured according to 
these Processes, it will be assigned to packaging. 

If the product batch is destined to be assigned directly to packaging, it will be handled in 
accordance with the criteria set forth in the section Product Packaging (Page) 

Procurement of Input Materials  

Thrive Lab will source Cannabis Biomass (trim and flower) material for in-house extraction 
from licensed cultivators in the region. Thrive Lab may also procure Bulk Extract materials 
from other licensed manufacturers, for further manufacturing, processing, assembly or 
packaging. These materials will typically be  extracted oil (crude or distillate), but may 
also include: concentrates, topicals, edibles, tinctures, and any other unbranded bulk 
manufactured cannabis goods by licensed cannabis manufacturers.  

In either situation, Thrive Lab will utilize the distribution services of Thrive Migration, or, 
on occasion, work with another partner Distributor to procure Cannabis Biomass or Bulk 
Extract materials for further manufacture, processing, packaging or assembly. 

The transfer of title or custody of medical cannabis products is a track-and-trace 
reportable event, and every instance of transfer will be reported according to state 
guidelines, accompanied with a manifest and invoice- including transfer of products 
between Thrive Lab and Thrive Migration. 

Cannabis Extraction Processes 

Dry Sift Extraction Technique  

Kief refers to the accumulation of the tiny, sticky, white crystals covering the cannabis 
flower, otherwise known as the resin glands/trichomes. They contain the largest amount 
of the active terpenes and cannabinoids. Kief is extracted using a Dry Sift Kief extractor. 
The extractor will be installed in its own well-ventilated room, to isolate incidental dust 
and airborne particulate generated in the extraction process. Dry ice is used in the 
process of extracting Kief with the Dry Sift Extractor (See “Hazard Analysis” Section for 
more information about handling protocols for  Dry Ice). The process for Dry Sift 
Extraction is as follows:  

● First, alcohol is used to clean the collection area of the chassis of a machine and the 
inside of the inspection cover to remove dust and any contaminants.  

● Next, cannabis flower or trim material, which sometimes is pre-chilled by storing in a 
refrigerator ahead of time, is inserted into the sifter drum wearing rubber gloves so as 
to not contaminate the micron mesh of the sifter drum with skin oils. 

40 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-63---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-68ORIGINAL



● Using insulated gloves, dry ice is then inserted into the drum along with the cannabis 
flower or trim material, to assist in lowering the temperature of the input material and 
make brittle the trichomes, facilitating in their separation from the plant material. 

● Re-install the sifter drum on the chassis, slide the inspection cover into place and turn 
on the tumbler. 

● The time necessary for extraction depends on the amount and quality of the cannabis 
material being processed. One extraction can run from anywhere between 5 minutes 
to 1 hour.  

● Most of the kief will collect at the bottom of the chassis. Using a fresh kief collector 
(similar to a credit card) wipe the sides of the inspection cover and sifter drum. Then, 
carefully remove the sifter drum and place it upright on a clean surface.  

● Move the kief to storage in a transparent plastic or glass receptacle where it will be 
assigned a process UID and protected from airborne contaminants or exposure to 
excessive light or heat. 

To clean the Dry Sift Kief Extractor:  

● Use a BPA free plastic bag to cover the sifter drum and turn it upside down to 
expunge the spent and sifted material (this material can be used for a variety of 
purposes such as cooking, tinctures).  You can then clean the sifter drum while 
wearing rubber gloves using either a soft-bristled paint brush or an air compressor. 

● Spray the tumbler with a solution of 50% to 95% alcohol. The chassis and inspection 
cover should also be wiped with the alcohol solution. Once everything has dried, the 
tumbler can be reassembled. 

Applications: 

The extraction of kief will be done as a preliminary extraction technique, to accumulate 
Kief Material for the purposes of:  

● Further processing into rosin 
● For infusing into specialty pre-rolls. 

Rosin Extraction Technique  

Rosin is a solid form of resin that is obtained by adding pressure & heat to melt terpene 
sap off of the starting material (kief, trim or flower). Rosin extraction is extremely safe with 
absolutely no risks of explosion, ignition or serious bodily harm that are possible with 
flammable and/or pressurized solvents. Some consumers concerned with health issues 
are beginning to show a preference for concentrates made without potentially harmful 
solvents like butane and propane. Rosin is also significantly cheaper to produce 
compared to solvent-based extraction methods, often with comparable yields. Rosin is 
extracted using a Rosin Press in the following manner: 

41 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-64---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-69ORIGINAL



● The process we will typically use will involve a preliminary task of Dry Sift Extraction 
(outlined above), to produce Kief which, will in turn, be further extracted in the rosin 
press. 

● Kief (or occasionally trim/flower material) will be placed inside a small mesh bag (36 or 
72 micron bag for kief or hash, or 90 or 115 micron for trim or flower). The bag 
contains the input material, and helps to prevent particulate from being extracted 
along with the resin. 

● A surface is prepared, typically a small piece of parchment paper or stainless steel 
plate, for collection of the rosin extract that is produced by each pressing. 

● Temperature, duration, and pressure settings are calibrated on the Rosin Press. 
● The heating plates should be protected from direct exposure to the extract with a 

layer of parchment paper.  
● The bag of material is then placed in the press, and typically, the extract is heated to 

280’F degrees and pressed, typically only a brief moment is required, until a rosin is 
squeezed out.  

● The sheets are then covered stored in a protected local area, while cooling, to 
prevent debris and contaminants from settling onto the extracts. Once cooled, 
extracts will be kept in a marked receptacle. 

● From this form the rosin can be made into a variety of concentrate forms (shatter, 
budder, honey, sauce) and infused products (tinctures, topicals, capsules, syringes, 
edibles). 

● The raw extract is then placed into a labeled container, assigned a process UID and 
placed in storage until it is needed for rosin extraction, formulation, or infusion of 
pre-rolls.   

To clean the Rosin Press Extractor:  

● Typically the rosin press does not require regular cleaning as the equipment does not 
come into direct contact with cannabis material or extract. As long rosin is pressed 
within a layer of parchment paper, the heat plates will remain clean.  

● Isopropyl alcohol and a towel can be used to wipe clean any fingerprints or dust on 
the machine, or if rosin does incidentally come into contact with the hot plates. 

Applications: 

The extraction of rosin will be done as a primary as well as preliminary extraction 
technique, to product rosin for the purposes of:  

● Finished rosin concentrate (single) 
● As a cannabis extract that will be used in the production of infused products. 

42 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-65---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-70ORIGINAL



Topical Emulsifying Technique 

Topicals are cannabis-infused balm, salve, cream, lotion, or oils that are absorbed 
through the skin for the relief of pain, inflammation, skin conditions, and other ailments. 
Cannabinoids absorbed through the skin  work by binding to a network of receptors 
called CB2. These CB2 receptors are found throughout the body and are activated either 
by the body’s naturally-occurring endocannabinoid system, or by cannabis compounds 
known as phytocannabinoids (THC, CBD, etc). Ingredients, formulation and product 
viscosity can differ depending on the ingredients and end product, however, a typical 
manufacturing process involves the following: 

● Preparation of the carrier oil and/or wax base (dispersed phase). Depending on the 
composition of the base ingredients, the application of heat may be required to melt, 
dissolve, or mix the base ingredients. 

● Powdered ingredients, sometimes dry blended in advance, are dispersed into the 
oil/wax base.  

● Hydration of aqueous solution (continuous phase): Emulsifiers, thickeners and 
stabilizers are dispersed into water in a separate vessel. Heating is required by a hot 
plate instrument to accelerate hydration. 

● Forming the Emulsion: The two phases are blended using either a magnetic stirrer, or 
a homogenizer, to form the emulsion. 

● Dispersion of the Active Ingredient: The active cannabis ingredient- typically rosin- is 
oil-soluble, and would be blended into the oil base using a double-boiler, magnetic 
stirrer, or homogenizer, before the aqueous phase is introduced. Extracts makes up 
only a small proportion of the formulation, and must be efficiently dispersed to 
maximise efficacy. 

● Topicals are then bottled into sterilized containers and labeled with the required 
information and UID before being placed back in our storage vault for distribution.  

● A cannabis product that is not an edible product and that is manufactured for the 
medicinal market shall not contain more than 2,000 mg of THC per package .  

● Topical cannabis products shall only contain ingredients permitted for cosmetic 
manufacturing in accordance with Title 21, Code of Federal Regulations. 

To clean the equipment used in the Topical Emulsifying Technique: 

● Mixing equipment will be cleaned using isopropyl alcohol and a towel, and/or with a 
sponge and soapy water. 

Applications: 

The mixing/ emulsification of ingredients with cannabis extract will be performed to 
produce: 

43 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-66---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-71ORIGINAL



● Topical balms, salves, creams, lotions, or oils 

Tincture Formulation Technique  

A cannabis tincture is a solution of cannabis extract in either food-grade ethanol, or 
glycerin. Traditionally, ethanol would be used in a primary extraction (washing or soaking 
cannabis flower or leaf material for a period of time, then straining out the biomass)- but 
tinctures can also be made by introducing concentrated cannabis in oil.  

● First we extract cannabis flower into rosin or  we may use post rosin pressed flower to 
prevent waste 

● We then soak the cannabis extract by putting it in a stainless steel container to soak 
in glycerite or oil  or alcohol solvent. It will stay here until it reaches the desired 
potency.  

● We then strain out the plant material with stainless steel screens and keep our 
concentrated weed liquid using our winged chemical and solvent vapor fume 
extractors for ventilation and safety 

● We then can also evaporate out some of the alcohol to make it more potent 
according to your own preferences. 

● Our cannabis waste is then disposed of in accordance with regulations.  

To clean the equipment used in the Tincture Formulation Technique: 

● Mixing equipment will be cleaned using isopropyl alcohol and a towel, and/or with a 
sponge and soapy water. 

Applications: 

The Tincture Formulation Technique will be performed to produce: 

● Tinctures 

 

Decarboxylation Technique 

Decarboxylation is a chemical reaction that removes a carboxyl group and releases 
carbon dioxide (CO2). THCA in cannabis begins to decarboxylate at approximately 220 
degrees Fahrenheit after around 30-45 minutes of exposure. Full decarboxylation may 
require more time to occur.  THCA has a number of known benefits when consumed, 
including having anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective qualities, but THCA is not 
psychoactive, and must be converted into THC through decarboxylation before 
psychoactive effects can be felt.  

This is particularly important for preparing products for oral consumption that wouldn’t 
otherwise be exposed to heat, like edibles and tinctures. 

44 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-67---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-72ORIGINAL



● Pre-extracted cannabis concentrate (either procured from a licensed manufacturer, or 
Kief/Rosin solution produced in-house) will be measured out and placed into a 
tempered glass vessel. 

● The vessel of cannabis concentrate is placed on the magnetic hotplate stirrer and 
heated to 220 F for at least 30-45 mins, or longer, depending on the desired effect. 

● When finished, the heated vessel of cannabis concentrate will be removed from the 
magnetic hot plate using protective gloves and placed aside to cool to room 
temperature, or placed in the refrigerator to accelerate cooling. 

● The decarboxylated cannabis concentrate will then be placed in a marked storage 
vessel, assigned a process UID, and placed in storage until needed for further 
product formulation. 

To clean the equipment used in the Decarboxylation Technique: 

● Mixing equipment will be cleaned using isopropyl alcohol and a towel, and/or with a 
sponge and soapy water. 

Applications: 

The Cannabis Decarboxylation Technique will be performed as a secondary process to 
prepare cannabis concentrate for the production of: 

● Tinctures, Capsules, Edibles, Oil Syringes 

 

Hard Candy/ Mint Edibles Preparation Technique 

Once decarboxylated, THC, along with other Cannabinoids, can be consumed orally. 
Hard Candy and Mints are some of the most popular and straightforward edible 
formulations, requiring a minimal number of raw ingredients to produce. 

● The first step of production involves blending the ingredients together (sugar/ sugar 
alternatives, water, natural color and flavorings, and cannabis extract) in a stainless 
steel or tempered glass vessel, and placing it on top of a Magnetic Hotplate Stirrer. 

● Precise amounts of cannabis and food ingredients are measured, to provide dosage 
consistency. 

● The solution is heated sufficiently to facilitate the blending of ingredients, typically to 
300°F (141.5°C).  

● A hard candy or mint mould is used to contain the solution in a specific size and 
shape. 

● The hard candy or mints are then poured into molds and are covered and shelved for 
solidification.  

45 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-68---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-73ORIGINAL



● When the mints are set and finished by the processes described above, they are 
carried to packaging machines to be wrapped, packaged, and labelled, then held in 
the Storage Room to await transfer to a distributor.  

● Single-serving edibles may not exceed 10mg per serving. 
● Packages of edibles may not exceed 100mg per package. 

To clean the equipment used in the Hard Candy/ Mint Edibles Preparation Technique: 

● Mixing equipment will be cleaned using isopropyl alcohol and a towel, and/or with a 
sponge and soapy water. Moulds will be washed, sanitized and rinsed in the facility 
sink. 

Applications: 

The Hard Candy/ Mint Edibles Preparation Technique will be performed as a final 
process to produce: 

● Hard Candy, Mints 

Honey Infusion Technique 

Once decarboxylated, THC, along with other Cannabinoids, can be consumed orally. 
Infused Honey is a straightforward edible formulation, requiring a minimal number of raw 
ingredients to produce. 

● The first step of production involves slightly heating the honey in a stainless steel or 
tempered glass vessel, and placing it on top of a Magnetic Hotplate Stirrer. 

● Precise amounts of cannabis and food ingredients are measured, to ensure 
consistent dosage. 

● The ingredients are mixed, jarred, sealed and held in our cooled storage vault 

To clean the equipment used in the Honey Infusion Technique: 

● Mixing equipment will be cleaned using isopropyl alcohol and a towel, and/or with a 
sponge and soapy water.  

● Applications: 

The Honey Infusion Technique will be performed as a final process to produce: 

● Infused Honey 

Infused Pre-roll Assembly Technique 

A standard pre-roll is a cannabis cigarette that is produced by rolling cannabis flower in a 
smoking paper and affixing a “crutch”, or filter tip, to one end. An infused pre-roll is the 
same, with the addition of kief and/or rosin concentrate applied to the surface or inside of 
the cigarette. The Infused Pre-roll Assembly Technique is as follows: 

46 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-69---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-74ORIGINAL



● The necessary ingredients to perform this technique are kief, rosin and pre-rolls. 
In advance of beginning this technique, standard Pre-rolls assembled in the Thrive 
Migration distribution facility will be procured, and a working quantity of kief and 
rosin will be produced.  

● A quantity of rosin concentrate will be placed in a tempered glass dish, and placed 
on top of a Lab Hot Plate, then exposed to low heat, to increase rosin viscosity. 

● A precision weighing instrument capable of measuring fractional gram increments 
will then be used to measure out a specific and minute quantity of rosin, 
typically.3g.  

● Each increment will then be set aside on a sheet of parchment paper in a row. 
● A quantity of kief concentrate will be similarly portioned out in .2g increments on a 

separate parchment paper sheet, in preparation for assembly. 
● When the constituent parts are assembled for a batch, a single pre-roll will be 

selected from the batch, and one at a time, Rosin increments will be gently 
applied to the external surface of the pre-roll around the tip that gets consumed, 
taking care to cover a uniform surface of the pre-roll cylinder. Once rosin has been 
applied to a pre-roll, the pre-roll is set aside temporarily while the rest are applied. 

● Once rosin increments have been applied to all pre-rolls in the batch, 
pre-measured increments of kief will then be applied to the pre-rolls, taking care 
to spread a uniform layer of kief over the pre-applied layer of rosin around the tip 
that gets consumed. 

● Once kief and rosin have both been successfully applied to the external surface of 
the cylinder of the pre-roll, the pre-roll is set aside on a piece of parchment. 

● Once kief and rosin have been applied to all pre-rolls in the batch, each single 
infused pre-roll will then be placed in individual tube packaging, assigned a UID, 
and placed in storage for transfer to a distributor. 

To clean the equipment used in the Infused Pre-roll Assembly Technique: 

● Assembly tools and working surfaces will be cleaned using isopropyl alcohol and a 
towel. 

Applications: 

The Infused Pre-roll Assembly Technique will be performed as a final process to produce: 

● Infused Pre-rolls (single) 

 

47 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-70---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-75ORIGINAL



Procedures 

Standard Operating Procedures 

Thrive Lab will develop a comprehensive set of Standard Operating Procedures and 
make it a requisite that all facility personnel read, understand and follow all SOPs. 
Personnel will be trained in the use of SOPs and refresher trainings will be held at least 
once a year. SOPs will be kept accurate and revised whenever a change to any 
processes or improvement to a procedure is made. 

Our facility technicians will follow SOPs closely, for each manufacturing process to be 
carried out, taking strict and observant records on every step of the process. This will 
ensure quality, consistency, and organization as well as create a trackable record for any 
cases of irregularity or contamination. 

As per regulation, Thrive Lab SOPs will include, at a minimum, additional policies and 
procedures pertaining to security, emergency response, track-and-trace reporting and 
compliance, inventory control and reconciliation, and waste management. 

Master Manufacturing Protocol 

Thrive Lab LLC will establish and follow a written master manufacturing protocol for each 
unique formulation of cannabis product manufactured, and for each batch size, to ensure 
uniformity in finished batches and across all batches produced. It shall identify 
specifications for the points, steps, or stages in the manufacturing process where control 
is necessary to ensure the quality of the cannabis product and that the cannabis product 
is packaged and labeled as specified in the master manufacturing protocol. 

Our master manufacturing protocols include:  

● Specifications for each point, step, or stage in the manufacturing process where 
control is necessary to ensure the quality of the cannabis product and that the 
cannabis product is packaged and labeled as specified in the master manufacturing 
protocol. 

● Procedures for product and/or batch sampling, and a cross reference to procedures 
for product testing and examination, and/or batch precautions to be followed. 

● Written batch production record every time a batch of a cannabis product is 
manufactured.  

● UID and, if used, the Batch or lot Number of the finished batch of cannabis product 
and the UIDs of all cannabis products used in the batch. 

● Date and time of the maintenance, cleaning, and sanitizing of equipment. 
● Results obtained during any monitoring operation. 

48 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-71---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-76ORIGINAL



● Results of any testing or examination performed during the batch production.
● Date and initials of person processing each step in the batch.
● Implementation of controls and procedures to ensure that each batch of

manufactured cannabis product meets the specifications for random batch testing in
every phase of manufacturing processes, as well as a detailed log recording the
results.

Product Packaging 

Prior to transferring any product to the possession of a distributor, Thrive Lab will ensure 
that the product is in finished state and is labeled and packaged in its final form for retail 
sale. All Manufactured cannabis will be packed in child-proof, tamper evident packaging. 
The Universal Symbol will be placed on the primary panel of all manufactured cannabis 
goods produced in the facility. 

For more information about Packaging & Labelling, See Section 6: Enhanced Product 
Safety. 

Product Labelling 

All manufactured cannabis goods produced in the Thrive Lab facility will comply with the 
labelling requirements in Article 2, Section 40405-40408 of the Manufactured Cannabis 
Safety Regulations.  

Additional information can be found in Section 6: Enhanced Product Safety . 

Product Storage 

Transfer to Distributor 

49 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-72---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-77ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-72

X

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-78ORIGINAL



Every individual package of manufactured cannabis will be assigned its own UID, and 
batches, or boxes of individual manufactured cannabis units, will be assigned a UID of 
their own. Before transferring title or custody to a distributor, Thrive Lab will work with 
the partner distributor (either Thrive Migration, or a 3rd party distributor) to produce a 
shipping manifest and purchase order/ invoice to accompany the product in transit, as 
well as any applicable Certificate of Analysis, and Cultivation Tax amounts due. 

Hazard Analysis 

Thrive Society will conduct and prepare a written hazard analysis to identify and evaluate 
known or reasonably foreseeable hazards for each type of cannabis product produced in 
our facility in order to determine whether there exists any hazards requiring a preventive 
control. Materials Safety Data Sheets (MSDS) for all hazardous materials will be 
developed and posted within the facility.  

We have identified dry ice, 71% isopropyl alcohol, and food-grade ethanol as three 
hazardous materials that will be used in the production and cleaning processes of our 
facility. Proper MSDS and protocols will be developed and implemented for the handling 
of these items.  

Dry Ice 

Dry ice (frozen carbon dioxide) will be used in the Dry-Sift Kief extraction process. Dry ice 
that is stored in the facility will be kept in a secure, insulated container. The quantity of 
dry ice stored in the facility at any given time will not exceed the quantity needed for two 
days of continuous extraction in the Dry-Sift Kief extractor, or 50 pounds, whichever is 
lesser. When handling dry ice, protocols will require the wearing insulated gloves and 
protective eyewear.   

71% Isopropyl Alcohol 

Isopropyl alcohol will be used for the cleaning and sterilization of equipment, 
countertops, and exposed surfaces. The presence of water is a crucial factor in 
destroying or inhibiting the growth of pathogenic microorganisms with isopropyl alcohol. 
Water acts as a catalyst and plays a key role in denaturing the proteins of vegetative cell 
membranes. 70% IPA solutions penetrate the cell wall more completely which permeates 
the entire cell, coagulates all proteins, and therefore the microorganism dies. When 
cleaning with Isopropyl Alcohol, protocols will require the wearing of nitrile or latex 
gloves and protective eyewear. Air ventilation equipment will prevent the accumulation 
of hazardous Isopropyl Alcohol vapors during the regular course of work in the facility. 

50 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-73---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-79ORIGINAL



Food-Grade Ethanol 

Food-Grade Ethanol (200 Proof Ethyl Alcohol) will be used in the production of cannabis 
tinctures. When producing tinctures with Food-Grade Ethanol, protocols will require the 
wearing of nitrile or latex gloves and protective eyewear. When opened, containers of 
ethanol can produce hazardous vapors. Open containers of ethanol will only be 
permitted during the active formulation, production or bottling of tincture products and in 
areas serviced by the Flow Hood Exhaust System, to prevent exposure to or 
accumulation of hazardous vapors. 

51 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-74---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-80ORIGINAL



Joint Operational Standards 
The following sections outline protocols and procedures which are shared jointly 
between the Thrive Migration (distribution) and Thrive Lab (manufacturing) operations: 

Hours of Operation  

Safety and Security 

The Safety and Security Plan in our application is comprised of three main sections, will 
describe in detail our standard operating procedures for each of the following: 

A. Facility Security Plan: The purpose of the Facility Security Plan is to outline all the
protocols and measures Thrive Society will implement to ensure that our distribution

facility is secure and compliant with all state and local regulations governing security.
The standards and procedures outlined here are designed to prevent incidents of
theft, crime, or diversion of cannabis to the unregulated market, and to  provide a safe
working environment while protecting against diversion and access by minors.

B. Operational Security Plan: The purpose of the operational security plan is to ensure
security and compliance in all aspects of business operations and activities, including
personnel training, secure transportation, and procedures for security incident
response.

C. Fire Prevention & Safety Plan: The purpose of the Fire Prevention & Safety Plan is to
prevent a fire from occurring in or near the facility, and to proactively mitigate the risk
of fire by employing safety procedures and protocols.

For more on Safety and Security, see Section 4: Safety & Security . 

Record Keeping  

Licensed cannabis distributors are required to retain records relating to commercial 
cannabis activity for at least seven years. Records will be kept in such a manner as to 
allow the Bureau of Cannabis Control and any other authorized enforcement agency the 
ability to request a hard copy or electronic copy of any and all records to be produced at 

52 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-75---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-81ORIGINAL



the licensed premises. The business records that Thrive Society will keep and maintain 
include, but are not limited to: 

● Financial Records: sales receipts, bank statements, tax payments, and all related
records required by the CDTFA.

● Personnel Records:  employee records, contracts, SS, EIN/ taxpayer ID numbers.
● Training Records: The content of training resources, manuals, Standard Operating

Procedures (SOPs) and records of who participated in which trainings, and when.
● Contracts: business agreements with other licensed medical cannabis

businesses.
● Permits & Licenses: Records of the state and local authorizations obtained to

operate a medical cannabis business.
● Security Records: Security camera footage, visitor and incident logs, and security

training manuals
● Inventory Control Records: Transportation manifests, track-and-trace records, lab

test results, records of cannabis disposal and recall events

Product Storage 

Distribution Product Storage 

53 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-76---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-82ORIGINAL



Manufacturing Product Storage 

Informational Lab Testing 

Testing needs for informational and research & development purposes, for both 
manufacturing and distribution operations, will be routine and frequent. Thrive Society 
will prioritize business relationships with suppliers who can produce a verifiable 
Certificate of Analysis attesting to the compliance of the cannabis or cannabis products 
they offer for sale or transfer. 

To assist in meeting the internal analysis and verification needs that our manufacturing 
and distribution facilities will face, Thrive Society is considering the purchase of an 
in-house testing device, for testing flower material potency and purity. The Sage Beacon, 
the G by 908 Devices, and the Lightlab by Orange Photonics are all devices on the 
market that may be suitable for this purpose. The test results of these in-house devices 
cannot be utilized for state-mandated quality assurance testing, but can be helpful for 
informational purposes. 

In the interim, our laboratory partner, Pure Analytics, will be conducting informational 
testing on Thrive Society’s behalf. 

54 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-77---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-83ORIGINAL



Cash Management And Accounting 

Our primary Accounting System will have the capacity to integrate with METRC software, 
the California Track-and-Trace system (CCTT), which is a 'seed-to-sale' supply chain 
system for tracking and monitoring all commercial cannabis inventory and activity across 
the distribution chain allowing California to fulfill its statutory mandate per MAUCRSA. For 
more information, see the “Track and Trace” Section  (Page 49) 

We will also hire a 3rd party controller, such as Complete Controller, to keep a close eye 
on all of our record keeping and books. This will ensure we are audit ready, that all of our 
accounting is congruent with our books and records, and to assist in the creation of 
quarterly financial reports. 

55 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-78---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-84ORIGINAL



Workplace Accessibility 

We intend to operate a business which meets state and federal requirements for 
workplace accessibility and occupational health and safety, and employment law. 

Our building is equipped with an elevator and a ramp for ADA compliance. The building’s 
bathroom facilities are wheelchair accessible. Our proposed site plan building 
improvements follow local building codes and meet or exceed the ADA Standards for 
Accessible Design for new construction and alterations. All of our online services are 
available via electronic information technology that is accessible to people with 
disabilities.  

56 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-79---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-85ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-75  -  TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-79

X

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-86ORIGINAL



Occupational Health and Safety 

CAL/OSHA provides a free consultation service for businesses wishing to develop 
compliant workplace health and safety regimens. Areas of concern may include 
repetitive strain injury, MSDS, the proper fitting of respiratory equipment, and workers 
compensation. Thrive Society will engage the department’s free consultation service to 
ensure our business meets or exceeds these workplace safety standards. 

Odor Mitigation and Control 

Thrive Society will implement measures that will eliminate odor issues resulting from our 
operations. Thrive Society plans on installing an activated carbon filtration system and 
filters on the HVAC systems that will mitigate odor nuisances.  

Operational protocols will be upheld to limit the exposure of open cannabis containers to 
ambient air to mitigate odors at the source. Open containers of cannabis and cannabis 
products will be permitted only in authorized areas of the facility, and only for good 
reason.  

Odor Mitigation Equipment 

The odor control equipment used within the facility includes: 

Portable Room Air Cleaner 

The Model 300 Portable Room Air Cleaner is a highly efficient and portable ambient 
room air cleaner. This unit is equipped with a powerful fan and high-quality HEPA 
filtration media that is up to 99.97% efficient on particles 0.3 microns and larger. 
Activated Carbon filtration is also an option for the removal of organic chemicals and 
odors. This system features quiet operation, low power consumption, and variable speed 
control.  The small footprint of the Portable Room Air Cleaner makes it an ideal choice for 
smaller environments that require air purification. 

The Model 300 Portable Room Air Cleaner can provide an effective and economical 
solution for our laboratory and industrial ambient air cleaning applications. This machine 
has a two year warranty and comes with product owner’s manual to specify periodic 
maintenance. Electrical requirements:115/1/60, 2 amps - 220/1/50, .75 amps. 

CosaTron Air Purifiers 

One CosaTron Model LC2000 mounted on the HVAC system and at least two CosaTron 
Model RV750’s to be utilized in the occupied space. For efficient odor removal, the 
system will create an air recirculation rate of about 12-15 times per hour which equates to 

57 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-80---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-87ORIGINAL



4,500 – 5,625 CFM.  The combination of the LC2000 system on the return of a 5 ton unit 
(2,000 CFM) and two RV750 systems (1,000 CFM each) will get us to the appropriate air 
change rate. This equipment is for adequate control over air pressure, microorganisms, 
dust, humidity and temperature and appropriate for the manufacture, processing, 
packaging or holding of cannabis products. 

Horizontal Negative Pressure Fume Extractor 

The Model 300 Winged Sentry is a benchtop fume extraction unit that offers a unique 
design and horizontal airflow pattern. It features infinitely adjustable “wing flaps” to assist 
in directing contaminated air towards the unit’s inlet and into the filter chamber while the 
operator works between the wings. This system offers hood-like containment without the 
confinements of working within an actual hood. We can place these wings in the most 
effective position for the application, or they can be placed flat against the sides of the 
unit to conserve space. Typical applications performed in conjunction with the Winged 
Sentry are fume extraction, pharmaceutical applications like powder and capsule filling, 
R&D, and any other applications that involve VOC fumes and dusts. We will select 
appropriate filtration media for the Winged Sentry based on the application being 
performed by the operator for odor, and particulate control. HEPA [up to 99.97% efficient 
on particles 0.3 microns and larger], ASHRAE [up to 95% efficient on particles 0.5 
microns and larger], and Activated Carbon are the most common options for this unit. We 
will utilize this machine with our rosin press and extract fillers. Variable Speed Control 
Standard on 115V: 350 CFM High, Down to 50 CFM Low: 115/1/60, 2 amps  to 220/1/50, 
.75 amps. This machine has a two year warranty and comes with product owner’s manual 
to specify periodic maintenance. 

Air Handling System Standards 

In Addition, Thrive Society plans on installing an activated carbon filtration system and 
filters on the HVAC systems that will mitigate odor nuisances. The system installed 
include the following features: 

● A charcoal air filtration system, including pre -filters and particulate matter air 
filters, on air supplies to production areas, with the intakes placed in areas of 
highest anticipated contaminant concentration. The ambient air will be circulated 
through the activated carbon filters and discharged clean. Air handlers will 
maintain a ventilation rate of at least 15 cfm/occupant based on occupancy of 30 
persons at any given time.  

● Periodic testing shall be conducted to ensure that the odor control systems are 
operating appropriately. As the filters age, replacement will be required and will 
be conducted, as determined by the calibrated sensor on the test equipment. 

58 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-81---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-88ORIGINAL



We will utilize testing standards in accordance with Standardized Odor Measurement 
Practices for Air Quality Testing. Testing shall be done using a field Olifactometer, 
calibrated in accordance with ASTM E544-75 and AWMA odor control standards. We will 
plan scheduled odor monitoring walkabouts periodically around the exterior of the site 
and near the exhaust system.  

Weights and Measures 

Weighing devices used in the facility will be approved, tested and sealed in accordance 
with Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 12500) of Division 5 of the Business and 
Professions Code, and registered with the Nevada County Sealer of Weights and 
Measures. 

Approved and registered devices will be used whenever: 

● Cannabis or cannabis product is bought or sold by weight or count; 
● Cannabis or cannabis product is packaged for sale by weight or count; 
● Cannabis or cannabis product is weighed or counted for entry into the track-and-trace 

system 

Cannabis Waste Disposal 

All waste, including waste composed of or containing medical cannabis products, will be 
securely stored and disposed of in accordance with applicable state and local laws and 
regulations. No medical cannabis waste will ever be sold or distributed to a cultivator, 
manufacturer, dispensary or other licensed entity. All aspects of the cannabis and 
cannabis byproduct wastes, weights, ID numbers and associated data is stored in the 
system indefinitely. Destruction event information and explanations are also documented 
and stored within the track-and-trace software system. This data cannot be modified or 
deleted by the dispensary center employees or even by track-and-trace software. 
Track-and-trace software records manual inventory adjustments through a detailed notes 
section. The reason for disposal and, if applicable, disposal company are recorded and 
archived to the 16-digit barcode associated with the disposed cannabis.  

As with all transactions in the track-and-trace software system, the employee responsible 
for the transaction is required to enter a PIN number or biometric fingerprint recording 
the date, time, and reason for the transaction. 

Waste Disposal Procedures 

Cannabis waste products may occasionally be generated in the normal course of 
operations (cannabis by-products, spoiled goods, or cannabis flower or manufactured 

59 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-82---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-89ORIGINAL



cannabis which arrives to our facility but does not pass quality assurance (lab screening 
and is deemed to be un-remediatable).  

In compliance with state regulations, all cannabis waste will be quarantined and 
temporarily held in a secure locked receptacle. Prior to rendering the medical cannabis 
unusable and unrecognizable, authorized employees will enter date/time, UID/ batch 
number, weight, quantity, type of product or strain of flower, and disposal reason 
information about the medical cannabis into the track-and-trace system. At least two 
authorized personnel, including at least one supervising manager, must be present 
during the disposal process, and all parts of the disposal process must take place under 
video surveillance that has been confirmed by a supervising manager to be operational. 
The documentation of this event will be maintained for at least 5 years. All cannabis 
waste products will be removed from their packages and rendered unusable and 
unrecognizable by mixing with a minimum of 51% non-cannabis material prior to being 
sent to an authorized off-site composting or disposal facility.  

Prevention and Detection of Diversion and Theft 

Prevention of diversion and theft is of highest priority for our management team, for state 
and local regulators, and for law enforcement. In addition to assuring that the facility 
perimeter is secure, risk mitigation strategies shape all aspects of day-to-day operations 
in Thrive Society’s distribution facility. Our Security Plan is multi-faceted, and more details 
can be found in Section 4. Safety and Security . 

Zero tolerance for diversion 

Any person that is part of or aware of any theft or diversion of cannabis will result in 
immediate termination and reporting the incident to the proper authorities. Affirmative 
consent to this policy will be a precondition of employment.  

Inventory Reconciliation 

The Bureau of Cannabis Control’s distribution regulations require that a full inventory 
reconciliation occur at a minimum every 14 days. The Department of Public Health’s 
manufacturing regulations require a full reconciliation occur every 30 calendar days.  If 
any inventory discrepancies are discovered between the physical inventory and the 
track-and-trace system record, management will conduct an audit. 

60 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-83---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-90ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-83

X

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-91ORIGINAL



Local and State Law Compliance 

Compliance with Nevada City Ordinance 2017-06  

Thrive Society commits to compliance with the key requirements for Medical Cannabis 
Businesses, through the application and permit approval process contained in Title 9, 
Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal code, and resolutions adopted pursuant to 
this Chapter.  

We shall obtain a medical cannabis business permit from the City before commencing 
operations. We will maintain compliance with all applicable state laws pertaining to our 
operation including obtaining all necessary licenses from the state, and shall comply with 
all applicable operational and zoning requirements set forth in the Nevada City Municipal 
Code.  

We understand that within ten (10) calendar days after the date of a decision of the City 
Manager or his designee(s) may revoke, suspend or deny a permit, or to add conditions 
to a Permit, or within ten (10) calendar days after the Planning Commission has approved 
or denied an application for a medical cannabis business permit, an aggrieved party may 
appeal such action by filing a written appeal with the City Clerk setting forth the reasons 
why the decision was not proper. We understand the written request for an appeal and 
the appeal hearing process.  

We will work closely with the planning commission, engineers, architects, law 
enforcement, and Fire Marshall to establish a fully secure, discrete and compliant 
business in our facility. We shall comply with the security plan submitted, once is 
approved by the City Manager. which may include building specifications, lighting, 
alarms, and state licensed security personnel. In our business plan, we have 
implemented all security requirements for security surveillance cameras, security video 
recording and retention, the alarm system, and creating an emergency plan for report to 
the Nevada City Police Department for any criminal activity occurring on the cannabis 
business site.  

Our proposed facility meets the zoning requirements set forth for appropriate 
manufacturing zoning and cannabis business  districts set forth in Section 17.142 of the 
Nevada City Municipal Code. We will comply with all the packaging and labeling 
requirements set forth by the city and the state. Thrive Society will work together with the 
City and Planning Commission to modify or alter our proposed plan to address any 

61 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-84---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-92ORIGINAL



outstanding questions or concerns raised, and further commit to fostering a relationship 
of trust and open communication with our partners in City Hall. 

Compliance with California State Laws 

Thrive Society commits to compliance with all applicable state laws, including but not 
limited to, the MAUCRSA and regulations governing commercial cannabis businesses 
promulgated by the Bureau of Cannabis Control, the Department of Public Health, and 
the Department of Tax and Fee Administration: 

● California Code of Regulations, Title 17 Division 1 Chapter 13, Manufactured Cannabis 
Safety 

● California Code of Regulations, Title 16 Division 43, Bureau of Cannabis Control 
● California Code of Regulations, Title 18, Division 2, Chapter 8.7, and Title 18, Section 

3700, Cannabis Tax Regulations 

Designating a Compliance Officer 

Ongoing compliance needs will be extremely important. Lyle (Basil) McMahon, 
Vice-President of Thrive Society, will be our designated in-house Compliance Officer. He 
is proficient in cannabis regulations at large. He is a member in the policy committee of 
the California Growers Association, active with the Cannabis Distributors Association, and 
longtime member of the Nevada County Cannabis Alliance. 

Basil will help ensure good manufacturing practices are used concerning all aspects of 
cannabis product manufacturing, including disease control, cleanliness, personnel, 
proper storage, cleaning of equipment, sanitary operations, batch production, 
Track-and-Trace Program requirements, waste management, and facility construction 
and design. He will assure the care that must be taken in dealing with raw materials and 
ingredients. Our compliance officer will also oversee manufacturing operations including 
hazard analysis, preventive controls, inventory control, weights and measures, and 
machinery qualification. As part of our operational plans, our manufacturers must 
adequately train employees, handle product complaints, and manage recalls. We will also 
address significant regulatory concerns in the areas of product standards, safety and 
security, labeling and packaging, Track-and-Trace and many others. 

If areas of specific expertise arise that are beyond the knowledge base of our 
compliance officer, he has extensive contacts with lawyers, accountants, our controller, 
HR Company,  and respected industry advisers who are available to advise and assist in 
finding solutions to maintain compliance and model best practices. 

62 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-85---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-93ORIGINAL



Track and Trace System 

Track and Trace Overview 

 Thrive Society will utilize track-and-trace reporting software compatible with METRC 
Franwell, the vendor selected by the State of California. The METRC (which stands for 
Marijuana Enforcement, Tracking, Reporting and Compliance ) track-and-trace interface is 
a state-of-the-art inventory control system designed for the production and distribution of 
legal, regulated medical cannabis throughout the licensed cannabis supply chain in 
California. METRC has become the most widely used track-and-trace inventory control 
system in states which have implemented medical and adult-use cannabis regulatory 
regimens.  

General Track and Trace Guidelines for Diversion Prevention 

METRC’s track-and-trace system incorporates the use of RFID (Radio Frequency 
Identification) technology combined with serialized item tracking, the system creates an 
"end to end" surveillance system where the government oversight representative has 
real-time visibility at any given time into the inventory at all the locations (does not rely on 
audits for tracking).  The state regulatory agencies can decide whether to allow external 
systems the use of an API to pull data on a secure validated connection.  Finally, the 
regulatory body can use the reporting engine to build ad-hoc reports based on their 
individual needs. 

Track-and-trace inventory control and reporting flow diagram 

63 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-86---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-94ORIGINAL



Third Party System Integration 

We have identified BioTrackTHC, Viridian Sciences and Flowhub as leading 3rd-party 
vendors in Point of Sale systems for cannabis businesses and integrates state-mandated 
Seed-to-Sale traceability technology.  We will be selecting a 3rd party vendor to 
incorporate additional integration features between inventory control & reporting needs, 
as well as our accounting software system. 

Track and Trace Account Conduct 

As per state regulations, Thrive Society will establish an account in the state's 
track-and-trace system prior to engaging in any commercial cannabis activities and 
maintain an active account while licensed. Thrive Society will  designate at least one of 
the owners to be the track-and-trace system administrator. We will conduct training prior 
to accessing the system and participate in ongoing training as required by state 
regulations.  

Track and Trace Users 

Management will designate track-and-trace system users, as needed, and require the 
designated users to be trained by our track-and-trace system administrator in the proper 
and lawful use of the track-and-trace system before the designated users are permitted 
to access the system. We will maintain an accurate and complete list of all 
track-and-trace system administrators and users and update the list immediately when 
changes occur. We will cancel any track-and-trace system administrator or user from an 
associated track-and-trace system account if that individual is no longer a licensee 
representative or the administrator. As per state regulations, we will correct any data that 
is entered into the track-and-trace system in error within 24 hours of discovery of the 
error. 

Timeline 

Timeline Overview 

Our timeline includes a proposed multi-phased approach to develop and grow our 
business. Our goal is to establish a strong operational foundation in the core activities 
and internal management systems necessary to build a successful business in a highly 
regulated market, and then incorporate additional activities necessary for company 
growth upon meeting specified performance benchmarks. We are mindful of executing 

64 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-87---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-95ORIGINAL



on each step and not spreading ourselves too thin early on, and this approach guides us 
to structure the roll-out of our operations. 

 

February  

● Submit City application to the Planning Commission 
● Finalize proposals for construction build out 

March 

● (60 day waiting period) 

April 

● Presentation before planning commission for approval 
● On approval of Thrive Society’s permit, submit building plans to the planning 

commission for building approval 
● Finalize design for packaging 
● Buildout of interior upgrade, Hvac, and odor mitigation systems 

May 

● Submit State application for temporary licensing  
● Completion of interior upgrade, Hvac, and odor mitigation systems 
● Order equipment and packaging 
● Install all security measurements and alarm systems 
● Establish IT systems, track and trace, and SOP for all systems 
● Complete final inspections from the planning commission  
● Obtain approval from State for temporary licensing 
● Begin retrofit on transportation vehicles  

June 

● Begin Operations for Distribution Division 
● Phase I of Operating Plan   
● Launch In house brands 

July 

● Implementation of the track-and-trace program 

August 

● Open Manufacturing Division 
● Begin Phase II  of Operations Plan  

 

65 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-88---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-96ORIGINAL



October 

● Phase III of Operations Plan  

Build-out 

We have contracted Siteline Architecture to design our site plan and proposed tenant 
improvements. They will continue to complete the plans required for permitting for the 
buildout of our interior walls, doors and storage cooler vaults. We are working with 
Brewer Heating and Air Cooling for our odor Mitigation and HVAC buildout. These steps 
are priority in our buildout process as well as installing the alarm and security systems 
once the buildout is complete. We will use local contractors Beam Easy Living or Gold 
Country Security to install our surveillance systems once build-out is complete. 

Phase I 

Once final inspections have been completed of the facility-build out and our temporary 
state licenses have been secured, Thrive Society will first begin implementing Phase I of 
our Business Development Plan. Phase I is focused on distribution of 3rd party goods as 
well as in-house branded flower and pre-rolls. In this stage, we will be dialing in all our 
internal systems that will serve as the infrastructure for expansion of business activities. 
Examples of these internal systems and core activities include: 

● Personnel training and implementation of SOPs 
● Sourcing supply from permitted cultivators and manufacturers 
● Transportation protocols to/from facility, and shipping manifests 
● Protocols for product testing and sample selection 
● Launching of limited in-house brand campaigns 
● Establish sales accounts with permitted retailers 
● Packaging and labelling of in-house branded flower and pre-rolls 
● Distribution of established 3rd party products to permitted retailers 
● Implementation of the track-and-trace program (July 2018) 
● Implement procedures for the proper disposal of cannabis waste 
● Anticipatory preparations for Phase II of Business Development Plan 

 
Phase I will involve only a limited amount of activity pertaining to the manufacturing 
aspect of the facility. We expect that our quickest path to sustainable revenues is to 
focus on dialing in the distribution activities and internal systems to ensure an efficient 
and successful scaling of the business. 

66 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-89---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-97ORIGINAL



Phase II 

In Phase II, while continuing with a lean strategy, we increase the complexity of 
distribution activities and introduce activities in the manufacturing sides of the facility: 

● Build our base of retail customers, using CRM system and Sales Director 
● Increase the pool of suppliers we service, and establish variable service 

agreements 
● Integrate METRC with 3rd party inventory management & accounting software 

systems 
● Begin packaging and order fulfillment service for existing brands  
● Begin production of non-solvent extraction (Kief, Rosin) in manufacturing facility 
● Do market research in advance of launching full in-house product lines 
● Anticipatory preparations for Phase III of Business Development Plan 

In the manufacturing side of the facility, we propose starting with the simplest and most 
direct pathways to sustainable revenue, which we believe are:  

Packaging of manufactured products for other licensed manufacturers  

For example, one of our prospective licensed suppliers has expressed that they are quite 
busy doing the co2 extraction activities of their product production, and would like to find 
a partner manufacturer to assist in filling and packaging their vape pen cartridge 
products. As a manufacturer who is also a distributor, we could generate revenue by 
performing these manufacturing services, and then assisting in the distribution of the 
product to the retailer. 

Production of Rosin-based concentrate products  

Rosin concentrate products are relatively to produce compared to other more 
complicated process techniques, and command a respectable amount of market share. 

Phase III 

As we establish a base of production activity in the manufacturing side of the facility to 
complement the existing distribution operations, our management team will dedicate 
time to prepare for Phase III, the final phase of the Business Development Plan, in which 
we will: 

● Formulate additional value-added products like tinctures, topicals, and a limited 
edibles line 

67 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-90---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-98ORIGINAL



● Develop branded product lines that will be launched into the market with full PR, 
marketing and advertising 

● Market our distribution services for special service revenues, including: product 
recall, remediation, product transportation to permitted special cannabis events  

Organizational milestones will be the metric that we use to determine the As we enter 
Phase II, and then again in Phase III, we will dedicate the personnel and financial 
resources necessary to succeed as we expand to occupy the full premises of our facility, 
and the full scope of activities permitted by the distribution and manufacturing state 
licenses we are seeking.  

Marketing Plan 

Market Analysis 

Thrive Society seeks to establish a business providing licensed and secure product 
distribution services, and producing artisan medical extracts and infused products, with a 
specific emphasis on elevating emerging brands based in Nevada County and the Sierra 
Foothills region (in jurisdictions where, and when, medical cannabis business permitting 
becomes available).  

Thrive Society’s marketing strategy is to emphasize the social and ecological values of 
craft cannabis, and tell compelling origin stories about it’s heritage. As a distributor we 
will play an important role in driving demand, differentiating our product offering by 
developing brands consumers will authentically connect with, and conducting our 
business in a way that makes visible the values we uphold. Through maintaining 
enduring relationships with local trade organizations, advocating for cannabis appellation 
development and supporting co-operative farming efforts, we will work to proactively 
develop brand awareness of the unique qualities that make our region’s craft cannabis 
culture so special.  

Licensed cannabis cultivators and product makers who aim to establish reputable brands 
will depend on knowledgeable and trustworthy distribution and manufacturing partners 
to get their products on the shelves of dispensaries, and in the hands of patients and 
consumers. 

With a new regulatory framework now in effect, the cannabis industry in California is in 
the midst of transformation.  This presents an opportunity to position a home-grown 
cannabis distribution company with the right values and community ties to carry on in the 
tradition of sustainable start-up businesses that our hometown is known for. We feel that 
we are uniquely well-positioned to serve as a nexus that can provide leadership in the 

68 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-91---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-99ORIGINAL



region, differentiate our supply network in the market and step up to meet growing 
consumer demand for artisan cannabis.  

Marking Compliance 

 As a permitted cannabis Distributor and Manufacturer, the nature of our business is 
primarily “B2B”- both our suppliers and our customers will be other permitted cannabis 
companies. While it is important to foster a good reputation with the end consumer, 
ultimately the success of our business is contingent upon providing our customers 
(permitted dispensaries, delivery companies, and other distributors) good service and 
quality product. 

Thrive Society will produce branded cannabis products within the facility. Our marketing 
plan for our products will target adult consumers. Extensive marketing analysis will be 
conducted to identify opportunities and inform brand strategies. 

Advertisement 

Under no circumstances will marketing or advertising materials, or products/services be 
designed to appeal to children or minors. All of our marketing & advertising 
communications will comply with additional state regulations, including: 

● Ensuring that all advertisements are placed only in publications in which 71.6 
percent of the audience is reasonably expected to be 21 years of age or older, 
and verified by up-to-date market information. 

● In all of our own communications (including websites, direct marketing, mailing 
lists, and phone communications), verifying that the viewer/user is 21 years of age 
or older. 

Financial Projections 
Thrive Society, with the help of an experienced CFO, developed a financial model that is 
based on data, comparable businesses and our operational capacity. We have also 
consulted with other distributors in the industry to receive support and guidance in our 
data sets. We feel confident in our projections and believe they are conservative with a 
cushion included. 

69 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-92---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-100ORIGINAL



3-Month Pro Forma

Proof of Capitalization 

3-Year Pro Forma

70 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-93---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-101ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-102ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-93  -  TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-94  

X

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-103ORIGINAL



Thrive Society Facility 

Our proposed facility occupies approximately 4900 sq. ft., of which 600 sq. ft. will make 
up our management offices and employee break room, 2000 sq. ft. will be designated 
for manufacturing and 2600 sq. ft. for distribution. 

Personnel and Authorized Visitors 

Our facility will not be open to the public. Only Thrive Society personnel and authorized 
visitors will have access to our premises.

For more information about 
our policies pertaining to authorized visitors, please refer to Section 4 for our Safety and 
Security Plan. 

Allocated Parking Spaces  

Our Commercial Tenancy Agreement with the Landlord allocates a total of 16 parking 
spaces for Thrive Society.  We believe this allotment is more than sufficient for our needs 
as our team at its largest will be 12 people.  

Parking Amenities for the Building 

The building at 138 New Mohawk is serviced by two adjacent parking lots, amounting to 
an ample +/-110 spaces, plus a few disability-access parking spots in front of the building. 
This parking lot is designed for use by the multiple tenants of the building as well as 
visitors. At present and in the recent past, the parking lot is routinely only 20% full on 
average. This utilization rate may increase in the near future as new tenants move in to 
occupy vacant commercial space in the building. But in the estimation of the Landlord, it 
is very unlikely that the parking lot will be insufficient for the needs of the building’s 
occupants. The building owners have also informed us that they own an additional raw 
lot right adjacent to the building that they are willing to convert into an additional parking 
lot, if the need arises in the future.  

Thrive Society has reached out to make contact with the other proposed cannabis 
business tenants in the building. All of the proposed businesses in our building are also 
B2B (Business to Business) companies and their facilities will not be open to the general 
public. Like Thrive Society, our new neighbors in 138 New Mohawk have small teams of 
employees and do not expect any walk-ins or increased public traffic into the building. 

72 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-95---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-104ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-95

X

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-105ORIGINAL



Nevada City Code of Ordinances 

Nevada City Code 17.80.030  Section G.4 stipulates Off-Street Parking- General 
Requirements for “Manufacturing, R&D, Light Assembly, Warehouses and General 
Storage”. This category appears to be the most appropriate for the nature of our 
business, although the requirements are rather steep. In paraphrasing the Code, it states: 
8 spaces are required for the first 1000 sq. ft. of floor area, plus an additional 1 space per 
250 sq. ft. of floor area thereafter, plus 1 space for each 2000 sq. ft. of storage area; or 
0.85 spaces for each employee on duty at the same hours, whichever is greater. 

Interpretation of the Code Requirements 

If we apply the calculation of 0.85 spaces for each employee on duty, we would require 
10.2 total parking spaces. If, however, we perform the calculation based on total square 
footage, 4,900 sq. ft. (of which 1050 sq. ft. is storage space), we arrive at 20.4 spaces.  

Because the floor area of our facility will be taken up by machinery, counter space, 
equipment and perimeter walking paths, we don’t see the need for 1 space per every 
250 sq. ft. Due to the nature of our business, we do not foresee needing 20.4 spaces. 
The 16 spaces allocated by our lease will be more than sufficient for our team of 12. Note 
that our safety and security plan outlines our efforts to stagger authorized visitor 
appointments to avoid overlapping visitors. We anticipate additional 2 spaces max 
needed for visitors at any given time.  

Our lease in the 138 New Mohawk building is for 4900 sq. ft. out of a total 35,000 sq. ft. 
throughout the building (or about 14% of total). The ratio of space we have mirrors the 
portion of the building we would occupy.  

Redress and Impact Mitigation 

Personnel may arrange a carpool or use alternative transportation to commute to work. 
We will also ensure that all authorized visitor appointments will be scheduled with 
cushion to avoid any overlapping, reducing the need for additional visitor parking spaces. 

If it is requested by the Nevada City Planning Commission, Thrive Society will approach 
the Landlord to request that our lease be amended to allocate additional parking spaces, 
to meet Code requirements and/or meet any determination of requirements made by the 
Planning Commission.  

 

   

73 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-96---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-106ORIGINAL



3. Neighborhood Compatibility Plan 

Overview 

There are specific considerations for the location of any medical cannabis business, and 
Thrive Society’s proposed facility is no different. We take seriously our responsibility to 
effectively address any undue impacts that our proposed business may have on 
neighborhood businesses, organizations and residents, and outlined in this 
Neighborhood Compatibility Plan is our approach to doing just that. 
 
Community outreach is not a task that ends if and when our permit application is 
approved. Indeed, to the contrary, it is necessary to maintain a continual effort of 
engaging with neighbors, community stakeholders, law enforcement and city 
government to optimize our compatibility with the community we live and work in. In this 
preliminary period, the potential impacts of our business are just a topic of conversation 
about a project that may hopefully be realized soon. But in order to be awarded the 
privilege of obtaining a MCB permit to operate, we will need to demonstrate our 
commitment to continuing to uphold efforts to engage with neighbors in the community, 
answer questions, respond to concerns, and ultimately build bridges. 
 
Included here, we have provided some preliminary information about our business, our 
relationship to the neighborhood, and our outreach efforts to date. We will provide an 
update regarding our community outreach efforts for when our hearing with the Planning 
Commission is scheduled, if granted. 

Neighborhood Outreach 

For the principals of Thrive Society, our relationships with our neighbors are important. 
Answering questions, responding to concerns, and building rapport is important. We 
want our neighbors to trust that if they have a concern or an issue, that they can always 
approach us; that we will listen to their input, and that we will work to find a solution that 
all parties will find acceptable. If a conflict ever arises, we will commit to communicate 
respectfully, negotiate in good faith and endeavor to not let unresolved issues grow into 
unresolvable problems. 

74 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-97---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-107ORIGINAL



Neighborhood Outreach Letter 

We have taken measures to reach out and communicate directly with each 
business owner/manager or resident within a 300-foot radius of our facility. Included in 
this application packet is our Neighborhood Outreach Letter,  which is included with this 
application. We requested a list of the tenants in the building from the building manager, 
and hand-delivered the letter in person to neighbors and nearby businesses around 
midday on Monday, January 26, 2018. We made a follow-up visit on Thursday, February 
1st, 2018. To the few offices in the building that were unattended at the times we visited, 
we have left a copy of the letter, with our contact information. 

Neighbor Feedback & Concerns 

Neighbors within the 138 New Mohawk Building 

● Therapeutic Bodyworks, Body Wisdom, Miriam massage, and Rinehart Massage: 
are all tenants in small offices whose work is of a personal and private nature. In 
one case, a “In session- do not disturb” sign was posted, at another, a sign read 
“filming- do not disturb” and in the other two, it appeared as if no one was home. 
Letters delivered on Monday appeared to have been picked up or moved by 
thursday. 

● Advantage Academic Counselling: No one present. Left a letter 
● NC Democrats: No one present. Left a letter 
● Stewart Title: No one present. Left a letter. Recieved a text message response on 

February 5th from John, the “dynamic one-person Stewart Title team”. His 
message said “Thanks for handing the fact sheet. Very professional and 
appreciated.” 

● FiveFour Marketing: Online marketing firm owner and proprietor Angela was very 
interested and supportive. We had an inspiring conversation about marketing, the 
cannabis industry, interactive technology, and Nevada City’s “Cultural District” 
award and projects. Her office would be one of the closest in the building to our 
front entrance, and we made a point to tell her about our business and ask if she 
had any concerns. She asked about foot traffic, and we informed her that our 
business was not open to the public but would occasionally be receiving 
authorized visitors (suppliers or customers). She seemed to find our explanation 
satisfactory and did not express any other concerns. We hope that we may 
actually be able to develop a business relationship, utilizing her skills in our 
marketing efforts, and we are grateful to have such an interested and supportive 
immediate neighbor. 

75 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-98---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-108ORIGINAL



● Caltrans (DOT): We stopped in and introduced ourselves to the team at the
Caltrans office, in the basement of the building, adjacent to the bay door and
service elevator. We met 5 friendly staff, who were quite curious about our
business. They informed us that we were the first and only prospective cannabis
tenant party to come introduce ourselves, and thanked us for coming to visit. We
affirmed to them our intention to be mindful of the impact our proposed business
could have on their operations, and we asked for more information about how
they use the building, so as to be able to cater our activities to minimize negative
impacts. They had many questions, which we took time to answer to the best of
our abilities, and expressed a couple of concerns. Their concerns fell into three
general themes:

. 
2. Odor: Some of the Caltrans staff were concerned about odor. We

acknowledged the validity of their concern, explained some detail about the 
equipment and protocols that we propose implementing to mitigate odor, and 
made a commitment to addressing any future complaints regarding odor emitted 
from our facility that may inadvertently occur in the future. We confirmed with 
them that we would not be cultivating cannabis, that the entire premises would be 
equipped with air filtration systems, that open packages of cannabis flower would 
only be authorized in specific areas of the facility, and that we were not proposing 
to extract cannabis using solvents, either volatile or non-volatile. 

3. Security: We spoke to Caltrans staff about our intention to proactively
engage with law enforcement and security consultants to develop the best 
security policy we could.

76 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-99---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-109ORIGINAL



to raising the issue with the building 
manager to try to come up with a proactive solution, beyond just installing security 
lighting. 

We committed to returning to visit again soon to provide a complete copy 
of our security plan for their reference, once we had taken our working draft and 
received feedback on it from Jarrett at Gold Country Security. We will be 
delivering this information on Monday, Feburary 12th, the same day we submit this 
application, and will document any additional concerns or questions raised by 
Caltrans going forwards, and steps taken to address those concerns.  

 

Neighboring Businesses Within 300 Feet 

● Pine Creek Vet Clinic (128 New Mohawk): we stopped in to deliver our letter and 
spoke with a female Veterinary Assistant. She thanked us for our letter. We asked 
if she might have any concerns, and she said that she didn't expect our business 
to have much of an impact on them, as they had their own parking lot and 
driveway. She agreed to pass our letter on to the head Veterinarian. 

● Nevada County Narrow Gauge Railroad Museum (5 Kidder Ct): We stopped in at a 
perfect time, to meet twelve jolly, grey haired gentlemen while they were sitting 
around a meeting room table possibly just finishing up lunch. We informed them 
that we were looking to move in next door and wanted to introduce ourselves. 
They said “welcome!” And asked us what kind of business. We told them “medical 
cannabis distribution & manufacturing”, and they lit up with smiles, laughter, 
thumbs up, and words of encouragement. We delivered our letter and asked if 
they had any questions or concerns. One gentleman piped up with a question: 
“Could we be your official product ‘testers’?” That got some laughs. We explained 
that regulations strictly prohibited sale or transfer to anyone other than a licensed 
dispensary, and we absolutely intended to comply with the law. The curator, 
Grover Cleveland, provided us his card and welcomed us back to help them build 
narrow-gauge train tracks anytime. 

● Inn Town Campground (9 Kidder Ct) : The entrance gate was closed and a sign 
was posted stating that the campground was closed and that personnel were 
away for two weeks. We called them on the phone to see if anyone would pick up, 
and we left a message introducing ourselves, informing them of our business and 
inviting them to call back with any questions or concerns, or to meet in person to 
discuss. We also left a copy of our Neighborhood Outreach Letter  in their mailbox.  

 

77 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-100---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-110ORIGINAL



Discrete & Secure Operations 

Our facility will not be open to the general public, and only visitors who obtain prior 
authorization and provide identification will be allowed to enter. As we are not a retail 
storefront, but a “B2B” company with security considerations, we have an incentive to 
keep a low profile.  

 
 There will be 

no signage visible from any public right-of-way, save for potentially a small discreet sign 
on the front door, thereby limiting unwanted attention from the street, and helping 
mitigate the threat of crime.   

Only authorized visitors will be permitted in the building.  
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

Odor Mitigation 

To fulfill our obligation to be good neighbors and in keeping with our commitment to 
discretion, we will implement measures that will minimize or eliminate odor resulting from 

78 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-101---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-111ORIGINAL



our operations. Thrive Society will install sophisticated carbon filtration systems and 
filters on the HVAC systems that will mitigate odor nuisances. Carbon filtering is a 
method of filtering that uses a bed of activated carbon to remove contaminants, 
impurities and smell using chemical absorption. Carbon filters and fans come in sizes of 
CFM's (cubic feet per minute) which is an estimated measurement of the air each fan can 
move in a minutes time.  Our detailed plan addressing this common concern is included 
in Section 2. Business Plan (Odor Mitigation) . 

Security Concerns 

Security is, in our estimation, perhaps the most consequential consideration of our 
Neighborhood Compatibility Plan. When it comes to security, we intend to take no 
shortcuts. While securing the perimeter of our proposed premises inside the building at 
138 New Mohawk is of course necessary (and required by state regulations), we intend to 
go further, and have initiated an effort to coordinate security plans with the other 
prospective cannabis business tenants in the building. 

Community Relations 

Our commitment to community relations extends beyond the immediate vicinity. Even 
though our company only exists on paper yet, the presence of our proposed business 
has already had an indirect local impact that we intend to accept responsibility for and, to 
the best of our abilities, make right. 

 It came to our attention shortly after signing our lease, that it is the Friendship Club, a 
cherished local youth service organization, who currently occupies the space that we are 
scheduled to move in to in a few months. We understand that there are some other 
wonderful service organizations who are current tenants as well who will be having to 
relocate because of the landlord's interest in renting to medical cannabis businesses. 

79 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-102---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-112ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-99  -  TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-102

X

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-113ORIGINAL



We are mindful of the impact that having to relocate may have on the Friendship Club. 
While the decision to rent to medical cannabis companies was made before we made 
first contact with the property manager, we nonetheless take these concerns to heart, 
and accept some responsibility. 

In light of these matters, we have sent a letter to the Executive Director of the Friendship 
Club to extend an offer of support to their organization as they navigate their transition. 
The letter was received warmly, and we have agreed to meet in person soon to discuss 
how we may be of service. 

80 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-103---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-114ORIGINAL



Thrive Society LLC
138 New Mohawk Rd., Nevada City CA 95949 
Basil McMahon      connect@thrive-society.com     (541)-602-8812 

January 26, 2018 

Dear Neighbors, 

I wanted to reach out to send warm greetings and to introduce myself. My name is Basil 
McMahon, and along with my partners Ella Alpina and Danielle Dao, we are one of the parties 
who is planning to move in to 138 New Mohawk Rd., and will be applying for a Medical 
Cannabis Business Permit from the Nevada City Planning Commission. 

Our small business, Thrive Society LLC, will be locally owned and operated. We are Nevada 
County locals who cherish the uniquely vibrant character of Nevada City and are guided by a 
commitment to preserve the qualities that make this community such a special place to live. We 
own homes here, pay taxes and send our kids to area schools, and we care sincerely about the 
social and ecological well-being of our community. 

In the interest of addressing any questions or concerns you might have about the nature of our 
business or any possible impacts on the neighborhood, we thought it would be helpful to 
provide you with some background and information about our business and our intentions. 

Background 
As you may already know, the California Legislature recently passed a comprehensive 
framework for the regulation of the cannabis industry. As these regulations for a licensing 
system are set to affect shortly, communities across the state, including our beloved hometown 
of Nevada City, are adopting ordinances that permit medical cannabis businesses to operate- 
provided that they maintain strict compliance with the robust regulations set forth by state 
agencies, including taxation, laboratory testing, child-proof packaging, and the use of 
seed-to-sale “Track and Trace” inventory control systems to prevent diversion. We are fully 
committed to meeting, and hopefully exceeding, these operational standards. 

As these new regulations take effect, they will usher in sweeping changes to how cannabis is 
grown, distributed and dispensed legally in California. For our community, we feel these 
changes will bring about increased security, improved public safety, more professionalism from 
the cannabis industry, and will generate local jobs and expand the tax base of Nevada City. 

Our Facility 
As a licensed medical cannabis distributor/manufacturer, Thrive Society LLC  will be operating 
a secure and professional facility that meets or exceeds the strict compliance standards set forth 
in California state regulations and the Nevada City Code & Ordinances. The core activities of 
our proposed facility include:  

81 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-104---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-115ORIGINAL



● Intake of medical cannabis and cannabis products, strictly from compliant and licensed 
suppliers; 

● Ensure that the movement of all cannabis and cannabis products are reported through 
the state-mandated Track-and-Trace inventory control system; 

● The manufacturing of medical cannabis products using no solvents or artificial 
ingredients; 

● Assuring quality and public safety of cannabis and cannabis products through 
comprehensive testing by 3rd party licensed testing laboratories; 

● Confirm that all inventory is packaged and labelled according to regulations, including 
child-proof and tamper evident mechanisms; 

● Verifying that all applicable state and local taxes are collected and remitted; 
● Upon meeting these criteria, medical cannabis and cannabis products will be 

transported to licensed dispensaries utilizing secure, licensed and bonded commercial 
transport vehicles. 

 
Neighborhood Compatibility 
The Gold Flat business district of Nevada City is a tranquil, idyllic area characterized by 
thriving local businesses and a wonderful sense of community. We seek to maintain a discreet 
presence, preserving the character of the neighborhood and working proactively to minimize 
traffic impacts and neighborhood security risks. 
 
The landlord has informed us that the building at 138 New Mohawk may be host to at least two 
other proposed permitted medical cannabis businesses, in addition to our own, subject to 
approval. As members of the community, it is important to us that the arrival of the regulated 
medical cannabis businesses at 138 New Mohawk does not have an undue impact on the 
vicinity, or you, our neighbors. A few points worth touching on include: 
 
Operations 
Our proposed distribution & manufacturing facility is not a dispensary, and not open to the 
public. Thrive Society LLC. is a “Business-to-Business” enterprise, and we will only be servicing 
compliant, licensed cannabis operators. 
 

 
Parking 
138 New Mohawk is serviced by an ample, dedicated parking lot directly across the street that is 
more than sufficient for the needs of our facility. The impact of our business on street parking, 
or any neighboring parking lots, should be minimal.  
 
Diversion and Youth Access 
As longtime locals who cherish this community, take seriously the concern of youth access and 
the social and developmental risks of cannabis use in teens. We will be following strict protocols 

82 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-105---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-116ORIGINAL



to prevent diversion or advertising to minors, and complying with comprehensive state 
regulations, including the use of track-and-trace product controls.  

Odor Concerns 
As part of fulfilling our goal of being good neighbors, we will install a premises-wide climate 
control and air filtration system that will mitigate any cannabis odor resulting from our 
operations. No cultivation of cannabis flower will be occuring in our premises, and no on-site 
consumption will be permitted. 

Security 
Security is of paramount importance to Thrive Society LLC. A few important considerations 
worth noting: 

● The lack of public interface allows our facility to keep a low profile. There will be no
signage visible from the street, and no visitors permitted without prior authorization.

● Our Security Plan features

● We have reached out to Nevada City Police Chief Tim Foley to request a review of our
proposed security plan and protocols, and we will work hand-in-hand with local law
enforcement to respond to any security incidences.

We hope that this information has been helpful. Please let us know if you have any additional 
questions or concerns.  

Sincerely, 

Basil McMahon 
For: Danielle Dao and Ella Apina 
Thrive Society LLC 

Contact: 
Basil McMahon, Community Relations 
connect@thrive-society.com 
541-602-8812 (cell)

83 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-106---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-117ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-105  -  TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-106

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-118ORIGINAL



4. Safety and Security 

Overview 

Thrive Society has sought to develop a robust Safety and Security section, that meets all 
state and local requirements. We are partnered with Gold Country Security whom has 
thoroughly reviewed and approved our plan (See attached letter). We will continue to 
update and further security measures upon future recommendations from Jarrett Fink. 
We have also requested a meeting to review our security measures with Nevada City 
Police Chief towards the end of February, or whenever is most convenient for him and 
his department. 

Our Safety and Security section is comprised of three components: 

● Facility Security Plan 
● Operational Safety Plan 
● Fire Safety/ Emergency Response Plan   

Facility Security Plan (4A) 

Purpose  

The purpose of the Facility Security Plan is to outline all the protocols and measures 
Thrive Society will implement to ensure that our facility is secure and compliant with all 
state and local regulations governing security. The standards and procedures outlined 
here are designed to prevent incidents of theft, crime, or diversion of cannabis to the 
unregulated market, and to provide a safe working environment while protecting against 
diversion and access by minors.  

 
 

 

The Facility Security Plan will be in compliance with all requirements outlined in 
the Nevada City regulations. 

Physical Facility Security  

84 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-107---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-119ORIGINAL



 

 

   

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

85 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-108---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-120ORIGINAL



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

  
 

  
 

 
  

 

86 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-109---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-121ORIGINAL



  
 

   
   

 
 

 
 

 

   

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
. 

87 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-110---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-122ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-123ORIGINAL



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 

 

  

 
  

  

89 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-112---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-124ORIGINAL



 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 

  

 
 

 

   

 
 

 
 

 
  

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

90 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-113---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-125ORIGINAL



 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 Compliance 
with security protocols is a mandatory job requirement. 

Physical Copy of Security Plan and SOPs 

Thrive Society will maintain on-site at all times a physical copy of the most up-to-date 
version of the Security Plan and all related standard operating procedures. 

Emergency Contacts  

In strategic locations throughout our facility, emergency contact numbers will be posted 
for the following: 

● Type 11 Distribution License Principals 
● Type 6 Non-Volatile Manufacturing License Principals 

91 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-114---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-126ORIGINAL



● Track-and-Trace (METRC) System Administrators  
● Thrive Society Board of Directors 
● Bureau of Cannabis Control Inspectors 
● Department of Public Health Inspectors 
● Department of Tax and Fee Administration 
● Inventory Control Software Tech Support 
● Fire Department (both emergency and non-emergency) 
● Police Department 
● Nevada County Department of Environmental Health 
● Poison Control Center 

 

       

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

92 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-115---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-127ORIGINAL



 
 

 
 

 

 

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
  

 

 

93 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-116---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-128ORIGINAL



 
   

 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

   
 

 

 
 

 

Regulatory Compliance 

As per state regulations, Thrive Society will: 
● Ensure that all medical cannabis goods batches are stored separately and 

distinctly from other medical cannabis goods batches on the distributor’s 
premises. 

● Ensure a label with the following information is physically attached to each 
container of each batch: the manufacturer or cultivator’s name and license 
number; the date of entry into the distributor’s storage area; the unique identifiers 

94 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-117---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-129ORIGINAL



and batch number associated with the batch; and a description of the medical 
cannabis goods with enough detail to easily identify the batch and the weight of 
or quantity of units in the batch 

● Store medical cannabis goods in a building designed to permit control of 
temperature and humidity and shall prevent the entry of environmental 
contaminants such as smoke and dust. The area in which medical cannabis goods 
are stored shall not be exposed to direct sunlight.  

● Employee break rooms, eating areas, changing facilities, and bathrooms shall be 
completely separated from the storage areas. 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Operational Security Plan (4B) 

Overview  

The purpose of the operational security plan is to ensure all security and compliance 
aspects of business operations and activities, including personnel training, secure 
transportation and procedures for security incident response. 

In the plan that follows, we address issues related to operational security policies, 
personnel security and training protocols.  

95 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-118---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-130ORIGINAL



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

96 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-119---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-131ORIGINAL



 

  

 

   
 

 
   

Transactional Security 

All transactions that include cannabis or payments shall follow strict protocol to ensure 
safety and accountability.  

● Every sale or transport must be recorded on a sales invoice or receipt.  
● Sales invoices and receipts may be maintained electronically and must be filed in 

such manner as to be readily accessible for examination and shall not be 
commingled with invoices covering other commodities. 

● Each sales invoice shall include the name and address of the seller as well as the 
following information: 

○ Name and address of the purchaser. 
○ Date of sale and invoice number. 
○ Kind, quantity, size, and volume of cannabis products sold. 
○ The cost to the purchaser, together with any discount applied to the price 

as shown on the invoice. 
○ The place from which transport of the cannabis product was made unless 

transport was made from the premises of the licensee. 
○ Any other information specified by the licensing authority. 

97 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-120---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-132ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-133ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-134ORIGINAL



 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  

100 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-123---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-135ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-136ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-137ORIGINAL



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
. 

 
 
 

Fire Prevention & Safety Plan (4C) 

Overview  

The purpose of our Fire Prevention and Safety Plan is to prevent a fire from occurring in a 
workplace. It describes the fuel sources (hazardous or other materials) on site that could 
initiate or contribute both to the spread of a fire, as well as the building systems, such as 
fixed fire extinguishing systems and alarm systems, in place to control the ignition or 
spread of a fire. State regulations require that all licensed cannabis businesses ensure 
that their operations do not pose an unreasonable risk of fire or combustion.  
 

The Fire Prevention & Safety Plan covers the following: 

Employee Fire Prevention Training and Regular Drills 

In addition to training and periodic drills covered in the personnel training and drills 
section of the Operations Security Plan, all employees shall receive reference material, 
written in plain English and presented in an easy-to-use outline format, explaining all 
operational, safety, and security policies and protocols.

103 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-126---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-138ORIGINAL



Thrive Society will update this training program if required to meet state or local 
requirements. Other protocols include:  

● A strict no smoking policy in facility or within 50 feet of the building.
● Smoke Alarms located in all areas of the facility that is required by state
● Fixed Extinguisher Systems are located throughout the building as well
● Employees will know how to engage internal Alarm Systems
● Portable Fire Extinguishers located in all areas of the facility that is required by

state

Hazardous Materials 

Employees will have a full understanding of a Material Safety Data Sheets (MSDS) 
involved in all processes. (protocol on MSDS sheets in Storing hazardous materials 
section of the facility security plan) Potentially flammable materials such as alcohol-based 
or ethanol-based tinctures will be properly store in fireproof storage areas. 

Hazardous Material Storage 

All hazardous materials will be stored in locked storage areas designated solely for this 
purpose. All such areas will be spark proof with proper ventilation systems to ensure safe 
handling of any potential leaks or build-up of gas. We will maintain these areas so as to 
pose no threat of safety or quality to the facility, product, or employees. The temperature 
and humidity of the storage spaces shall be maintained at an appropriate level for the 
contents, and shall be monitored to ensure ranges are always within acceptable limits. All 
storage areas will be restricted to logged and identified products. A documented logging 
system will ensure all materials are accounted for and properly stored in designated 
areas. Thrive Society will ensure periodic inspections, at least monthly, to ensure all 
materials are properly stored. All such inspections shall be documented. All records 
pertaining to hazardous materials shall be maintained for at least five years. 
A separate designated area constructed to the same requirements will hold any rejected 
hazardous materials to ensure there will be no cross contamination or misuse. 

104 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-127---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-139ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-107  -  TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-127

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-140ORIGINAL



 
Each storage room shall be maintained with the materials safety data sheets (MSDS) 
appropriate to the contents of the room. All employees shall be trained for competency 
on how to read and understand these documents, which detail: 

● Name of chemical 
● Manufacturer’s information 
● Hazardous ingredients/identity information·   
● Physical/chemical characteristics 
● Fire and explosion hazard data 
● Reactivity data 
● Health hazard data 
● Precautions for safe handling and use 
● Control measures 

 

Hazardous Material Control 

Thrive Society distribution expects to store isopropyl alcohol and/or similar products such 
as Alconox or other resin removers for the purposes of cleaning and disinfecting surfaces 
such glass, metal, stainless steel, porcelain, ceramic, plastic, rubber and fiberglass. 

a. Cleaning products are expected to be stored separately from any cannabis 
products, and only used after all cannabis has been placed in appropriate storage 
facilities separate from packaging and labeling workspaces to avoid contamination. 
Excessive quantities of potentially hazardous cleaning products will not be kept on 
site. 

Chemical clean up 

Each employee involved in any chemical process will be specifically trained on handling 
practices, as well as required responses in the event of a spill or mishap. A designated 
supervisor will be responsible for ensuring any chemical cleanup follows protocol, and 
recording all steps taken. A log of any cleanup, scheduled or unscheduled, is kept at all 
times on record. The chemical cleanup procedure includes: 

● Use of hazard grade Personal Protection Equipment according to the specific 
requirements of the hazardous material including: 

○    Rubber gloves 
○    Rubber boots 
○    Glasses or eye protectant 
○    Ear protectant 
○    Apron or skin protector 

105 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-128---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-141ORIGINAL



○    Air filter face mask, chemical spill UL grade filter 
○    Proper wash and storage are of PPE materials 

 
Disposal of all chemical and cleanup material will be conducted in compliance with 
materials safety data sheets and local and state regulations. Chemical bins and storage 
will be separate from all other material and handled accordingly.   
 

Fire Suppression 
Our building is equipped with internal sprinklers for fire suppression and prevention. The 
building is also equipped with an internal intercom system so fire danger may be 
communicated quickly and efficiently. Our entire facility will be equipped with smoke 
alarms and fire extinguishers on hand. We will also utilize a Fike’s FAAST, an early 
warning fire detection featuring the latest in Fire Alarm Aspiration Sensing Technology. 
This technology uses an advanced, intelligent smoke detector that actively draws air into 
its sensor through a pipe network. FAAST combines dual source blue LED and infrared 
laser optical smoke detection with advanced algorithms to detect a wide range of fires 
while maintaining enhanced immunity to nuisance particulates. This enables FAAST to 
deliver highly accurate and discreet early warning fire detection for a our facility. 

Occupational Health and Safety 

Employer Responsibilities 

Under the OSHA law, employers have a responsibility to provide a safe workplace. 
This is a short summary of key employer responsibilities: 

● Provide a workplace free from serious recognized hazards and comply with 
standards, rules and regulations issued under the OSH Act. 

● Examine workplace conditions to make sure they conform to applicable OSHA 
standards. 

● Make sure employees have and use safe tools and equipment and properly 
maintain this equipment. 

● Use color codes, posters, labels or signs to warn employees of potential hazards. 
● Establish or update operating procedures and communicate them so that 

employees follow safety and health requirements. 
● Employers must provide safety training in a language and vocabulary workers can 

understand. 
● Employers with hazardous chemicals in the workplace must develop and 

implement a written hazard communication program and train employees on the 
hazards they are exposed to and proper precautions (and a copy of safety data 
sheets must be readily available) 

106 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-129---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-142ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-143ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-144ORIGINAL



●  Layout of access roads, parking areas, buildings on the property, building 
entrances 

●  Locations of emergency equipment and the locations of controls for building 
utility and protection systems.  

● Instructions for operating all systems and equipment will be accessible to 
emergency responders. 

● We will provide a copy of the plan to the public emergency services that would 
respond to our facility with responsibility for building management and security.  

Evacuation Plan 

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 
 

 
 

 

 
  

 
  

 
 

109 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-132---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-145ORIGINAL



 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Incident Management and Emergency Response  

 

 

 
 

Proactive Engagement with Emergency Services and Law 
Enforcement 

Our Security Team will develop and maintain appropriate lines of communication and 
ensure appropriate authorities are aware of substantive changes in security procedures. 

 
 

 
 

110 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-133---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-146ORIGINAL



Updating and Annual Review 

111 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-134---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-147ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-130  -  TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-134

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-148ORIGINAL



5. Community Benefits 
Thrive Society is a company founded on the belief that our success is built upon the 
investments we make in our community. Our values inspire us to work towards creating 
well-integrated cannabis industry that gives back to the community and preserves the 
quality of life in Nevada City that we all hold dear.  
 
Our Community Outreach Program aims to promote habits of healthy, sustainable living 
in the community, and a high standard of environmental practices amongst our regional 
network of suppliers. We hope that with time, humility, and dedication, we may engender 
support amongst skeptics and demonstrate a consistent commitment to improving the 
standards of living for the little town that we love so much. 
 
Thrive Society anticipates engaging with the following organizations in Nevada County: 

Environmental 

SYRCL 

SYRCL is the first Waterkeeper established in the Sierra Nevada and serves as the official 
Yuba River Waterkeeper. The program is dedicated to fostering regional and statewide 
coalitions to address complex issues related to water quality and watershed health 
including the restoration of wild salmon. Thrive Society is very sensitive to responsible 
water usage; the cultivation of cannabis, like other crops, can contribute to the depletion 
of surface and ground water resources, especially when it is unregulated. Preservation of 
the Yuba and Bear river watersheds are of particular importance. 

Thrive Society looks to donate to SYRCL in several ways. With an annual 
contribution, we will join the Emerald Circle, a group of passionate SYRCL members who 
have dedicated an annual leadership gift to help build and sustain core activities like 
river science and restoration, advocacy, and environmental education for all ages. Our 
team also plans to continue to volunteer for the Annual Yuba River Cleanup, which takes 
place at 30+ sites in the Bear & Yuba watersheds and removes trash and recyclables 
from 86.35 miles of river, creek and lake shoreline.  
 
Sierra Harvest  
Sierra Harvest provides nutrition education to over 9000 children annually, supports 
established farmers and builds markets for local food, and teaches people the joy of 
learning how to become self sufficient and healthier by growing their own food.  

112 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-135---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-149ORIGINAL



Thrive Society will join their Seed Circle and commit to a yearly contribution for 5 
years. Our donation will provide 5 children with scholarships to the Food Love Summer 
Camp, support the Nevada County food policy council for 6 months, cooking classes for 
60 Sierra Gardens scholarship recipients, sends 300 students on a farm field trip, and 
support Harvest of the month tastings for 2000 students. 

Health 

Caladrius Network 

Caladrius Network’s mission is to provide educational support services and cannabis 
based medicines to families of catastrophically ill children at no cost, ever. This local 
organization has been a tireless advocate for afflicted children and has worked to build 
community support for non-remunerated cannabis gardens in Nevada County. Thrive 
Society has been in communication with the Caladrius Network about how we can 
support their mandate, through donations, donation of services in-kind, and/or volunteer 
time. 

Homelessness 

Hospitality House  

Hospitality House is a nonprofit community shelter for the Homeless in Nevada County, 
funded primarily by individual donations. The year-round shelter is a no tolerance safe 
haven; those seeking shelter are offered three meals, along with laundry and shower 
facilities. Hospitality House is committed to ending homelessness by providing intensive 
case management services to all its guests.  

Thrive Society will stand behind the important work this organization is doing to 
create a healthy community for all. We plan to get involved with the nonprofit in several 
ways. First, our team will volunteer to set up and run 2 yearly events: The Empty Bowl 
and The Night of Giving. By showing up and physically supporting their activities, we 
hope to establish strong bonds and show solidarity. In addition, we will donate a 4-hr 
block of our organization’s time each quarter to volunteer at the organization’s thrift 
store, Bread and Roses. As a group, we will go through all the donations, steam, tag and 
hang clothing that will in turn be sold to support the organization at large.  
Harm Reduction 
 
 
 

113 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-136---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-150ORIGINAL



CoRR Foundation  
Community Recovery Resources serves our community with a full spectrum of 
wellness-focused programs to reduce the social, health and economic impact on families 
and children from all types of substance abuse and behavioral health issues. We 
recognize that cannabis brings a lot of medical benefits, but that it also can contribute to 
social ills- for example, youth access and diversion. Nevada County is fortunate to have 
organizations like CoRR supporting individuals and families in our community who are in 
recovery. Thrive Society would like to plan a monthly donation to the organization, based 
on our net revenues, as a gesture of support to an organization that helps foster 
empowerment and transformation in the lives of locals creating healthy new life habits for 
themselves and their families.  
 

Center of the Arts  
Center of the Arts is a non profit organization. Sixty percent of their revenue comes from 
ticket sales and venue rentals, the rest comes from individual and business support 
through membership, donations and sponsorships. Thrive Society’s management team 
all come from dance and art backgrounds, and we feel passionate about continuing the 
rich art culture in our County. We commit to a monthly donation for this center, to assist in 
continuing their programs and events.  

 
Sierra Commons 
Sierra Commons is where Nevada County entrepreneurs come together to get work 
done. Sierra Commons helps businesses grow. Offering coworking, educational 
programs and mentorship, it is a campus where entrepreneurs come together to learn 
and thrive. Along with participating in courses and consultation, Danielle Dao is a monthly 
member and will continue to donate and support this supportive business network.  
 

Nevada City Sustainability Team 
The vision of this organization is to create a vision for a community that values 
environmental quality, social equity, and economic vitality, and to develop strategies for 
its implementation, long-term management and economic viability. Thrive Society 
resonates and is aligned with all of the environmental, community,  and economic 
objectives of this team.  We hope to support  possible future projects towards fruition 
when projects come along that align with Nevada City’s Sustainability Vision. 
 
  

114 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-137---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-151ORIGINAL



6. Enhanced Product Safety  
California’s new cannabis regulatory framework assigns the responsibility of product 
safety to the distributor. Consistent with the regulatory framework outlined in the 
MAUCRSA, Thrive Society will procure legal medical cannabis products from licensed 
medical cannabis producers, ensuring the contents are safe for consumption and meet 
strict testing criteria established by the state.  

Our day-to-day operations include verifying that legal medical cannabis products 
are packaged suitably and in compliance with regulations, remitting taxes as they are 
assessed, and facilitating the insured and bonded secure transportation of cannabis 
goods to legal medical cannabis retailers throughout California. Thrive Society will build 
the supply-chain infrastructure for safe, secure, and affordable distribution of legal 
medical cannabis, operate in continuous compliance with state and local regulations, and 
take proactive measures to mitigate impacts to community, and the environment. 

As a distributor, we are entrusted with ensuring the integrity of the testing is 
maintained, arrange for an independent licensed testing laboratory to select a random 
sample, transport it to a laboratory, and test the product. 

Procurement 

Our Director of Purchasing will work hand-in-hand with suppliers to source the highest 
quality medicine for our retailers. These close business relationships with farmers, 
manufacturers and product makers will allow us to maintain accurate records and 
production schedules so we can get product to market in a timely manner, while 
maintaining the highest quality control management practices. 

The procurement and transit of products to our facility will be conducted in 
accordance with all applicable state regulations. These protocols are detailed in our 
Transportation and Security Plans. All cannabis products distributed through Thrive 
Society will be sourced from California state and local licensed cultivation and 
manufacturing facilities. All cannabis flower, edibles, concentrates and ancillary products 
such as tinctures and salves will be tested and approved by a state licensed cannabis 
testing facility under contract with Thrive Society. All cannabis infused products will be 
sourced from manufacturers whose products are regularly tested for compliance with 
state and local requirements. 
 

115 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-138---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-152ORIGINAL



Thrive Society is committed to ethical business practices and will not source or distribute 
any product that is in violation of any state or local laws. All of our inventory will come 
from legal sources within the state of California.  

Good Manufacturing Practices 

A Good Manufacturing Practices (GMP) certification program provides independent 
verification and certification that the basic manufacturing practices and prerequisites 
necessary for the implementation of an effective Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point 
(HACCP) food safety program are being followed. Compliance with GMP requirements 
entails minimum common sense sanitary and processing requirements applicable to all 
food processing (and similar) establishments. Thrive Lab will engage in a certification 
program for the development of a comprehensive set of SOPs and the design of the 
facility to meet GMP certification standards. 

Thrive Lab will take all necessary precautions to protect against allergen cross-contact 
and against contamination of cannabis products, cannabis product-contact surfaces, or 
cannabis product-packaging materials by microorganisms or foreign substances 
(including perspiration, hair, cosmetics, tobacco, chemicals, and skin-surface 
medications). 

Our product charting protocols will include:  

● Name and intended cannabinoid(s) concentration per serving of the cannabis product 
to be manufactured and the strength, concentration, weight, or measure of each 
ingredient for each batch size 

●  A complete list of components to be used, accurate statement of the weight or 
measure of each component to be used 

● Identity and weight or measure of each ingredient that will be declared on the 
ingredients list of the cannabis product 

● The theoretical yield of a manufactured cannabis product expected at each point, 
step, or stage of the manufacturing process where control is needed to ensure the 
quality of the cannabis product  

● The expected yield of the finished product. 

Quality Control Testing 

To achieve its mission of distributing only products that are safe and trusted Thrive 
Society will partner with Pure Analytics, California’s most trusted cannabis testing 
laboratory. As our partner in safety and accurate cannabis analytics, Pure Analytics 
provides fast, affordable cannabis potency testing and safety screening to the medicinal 
cannabis community with lab-validated results. Located in Sonoma County CA, Pure 

116 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-139---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-153ORIGINAL



Analytics has extensive experience supporting the needs of cultivators, manufacturers, 
dispensaries and small batch producers.  
 
Our partnership will ensure the following: 

● Standards for purity, integrity and potency  
● Preparation of product for testing, video verification 
● According to state regulations all cannabis products must go through quality 

assurance, inspection and testing for the following items:  
○ Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) 
○ Tetrahydrocannabinolic Acid (THCA) 
○ Cannabidiol (CBD) 
○ Cannabidiolic Acid (CBDA) 
○ The terpenes required by the bureau in regulation  
○ Cannabigerol (CBG).  
○ Cannabinol (CBN)  
○ Any other compounds or contaminants required by the bureau. 
○ Pesticides, That the presence of contaminants does not exceed the levels 

established by the bureau.  
○ Mold Spores  
○ Microbiological Impurities identified by the bureau  

 
After taking physical possession of a cannabis batch, a distributor will contact the 
licensed testing laboratory  to arrange for testing, unless Thrive Society plans to sell the 
batch to another distributor. The laboratory agent will come to our licensed premises to 
take a sample. The sample selection will be recorded on video, and both the distributor 
and the laboratory agent must witness and attest to the sample selection. After the 
sample has been tested, the testing laboratory will provide the distributor with a 
certificate of analysis. If a sample passes testing, the distributor may then transport the 
cannabis goods to one or more retailers for sale. If a harvest batch fails testing, it can be 
remediated for use in a manufactured product, if doing so would not result in harm to 
consumers. The distributor will complete several quality assurance steps before 
distributing the batch for sale. The distributor must check that the certificate of analysis 
corresponds to the batch tested; the label is accurate; the packaging meets required 
standards; and the proper information is in the state’s track-and-trace database. 

A process flow chart, within our software, will identify each step in the distribution 
process so that each link on the distribution chain can be easily identified, tracked and 
analyzed, thus ensuring the highest quality for consumer safety and compliance with all 
state and local regulations. The process flow chart will identify critical areas such as 

117 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-140---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-154ORIGINAL



holding times, temperature controls, process regimens, coding thresholds, testing results 
and rejection processes. 

The quality of our products will be a big factor in our branding and marketing, so 
maintaining testing and quality assurance protocol is part of our fiduciary duty. Our 
product line will consist of a hand-selected menu of popular strains of flowers grown 
ecologically by local and independent permitted cultivators and manufactured products 
produced internally and by licensed artisans in the community. Our goods will have a 
range from top shelf award winning brands that are custom strains to common everyday 
strains for our lower quality varietals for those on a budget.  

Standards for purity, integrity and potency 

Facility packaging employees that have received the proper training will be responsible 
for identifying all use-able and non-usable plant parts and matter. Useable by-product 
plant matter created during the packaging phase of processing will be inspected, logged, 
and if appropriate, packaged into cannabis prerolls. All unusable plant matter, such as 
sticks and stems, will be disposed of properly and in accordance with our SOPs. Disposal 
procedures are described in the waste management plan.  
 
Facility packaging employees will provide a qualitative description of each batch of raw 
plant matter or dried cannabis flower that includes: 
 

● Batch size by weight 
● Name of the plant cultivar 
● Description of initial quality of plant matter 
● An organoleptic review 
● Batch number 
● UID 
● Cannabinoid profile 

 
Each batch of cannabis flower container packaged on-site at the facility will be monitored 
throughout each stage of processing and packaging.  

118 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-141---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-155ORIGINAL



Standards for cleanliness 

Facility Hygiene  

There are hygiene considerations throughout our plan, and will be a consideration in the 
development of all SOPs. Some of the specific hygiene considerations Thrive Society will 
address in our policies and procedures include: 

● The water we use for washing, rinsing cannabis or cannabis ingredients will be be 
safe and of adequate sanitary quality, as well as any ice that is used in processes. 

● Raw materials and other ingredients will not contain levels of microorganisms that 
render the cannabis product injurious to human health, and will be pasteurized if 
applicable. 

● Raw materials and other ingredients susceptible to contamination with aflatoxin or 
other natural toxins pests, or extraneous material shall not exceed generally 
acceptable limits set by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration for aflatoxins, other 
natural toxins, pest contamination, undesirable microorganisms, or extraneous 
materials. 

● Frozen raw materials and other ingredients shall be kept frozen. If thawing is 
required prior to use, it shall be done in a manner that prevents the raw materials 
and other ingredients from becoming adulterated. 

● Raw materials and other ingredients that are food allergens shall be identified and 
held in a manner that prevents cross contact with other raw materials or 
ingredients. 

● Steps such as washing, peeling, cutting, sorting and inspecting, mashing, 
shredding, decarboxylating, drying, and heat blanching shall be effected by 
heating the cannabis product to the required temperature, holding that 
temperature for the required amount of time, and then either rapidly cooling the 
cannabis product or passing it to subsequent manufacturing process without 
delay. Growth and contamination by thermophilic microorganisms in blanchers 
shall be minimized by the use of adequate operating temperatures and by 
periodic cleaning and sanitization as necessary. 

● Equipment, containers, and utensils used to convey, hold, or store raw materials 
and other ingredients, work in process, or other cannabis products shall be 
constructed, handled, and maintained during manufacturing, processing, packing, 
and holding in a manner that protects against allergen cross contact and 
contamination. 

● Measures such as sterilizing, irradiating, pasteurizing, cooking, freezing 
refrigerating, controlling pH, or controlling water activity that are undertaken to 
destroy or prevent the growth of undesirable microorganisms shall be adequate 

119 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-142---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-156ORIGINAL



under the conditions of manufacture, handling, and transfer to prevent the 
cannabis product from being adulterated.  

Personal hygiene 

As a medical cannabis facility, Thrive Society commits to ensuring our employees share 
the vision of a cannabis business that places patient health and safety first. Thrive 
Society employees will be trained to report to their direct supervisor any personal health 
condition that might compromise the cleanliness or quality of the medical cannabis the 
employee might handle.   
 
Our cleanliness and hygiene policies include: 

●  A Personal Health, Hygiene, and Cleanliness handout in the employee handbook 
will describe all of the symptoms and health conditions that may compromise the 
cleanliness or quality of any medical cannabis handled by an employee.  

● Before beginning employment, each employee will be asked to sign a document 
that acknowledges that the individual has read, and is aware of, the conditions 
described in the Personal Health, Hygiene, and Cleanliness document. 

● The Thrive Society employee handbook will include a stipulation for employees 
allowing them to call in sick without penalty. This will prevent any contamination 
from reaching any finished medical cannabis product. 

● During cold and flu season, or when contagious sickness seems frequent in the 
community, supervisors will be particularly diligent about meeting with and 
evaluating the health of each employee before he or she begins working directly 
with medical cannabis. 

● Employees will be trained to report any fellow employee that is demonstrating any 
of the symptoms or conditions identified in the Personal Health, Hygiene, and 
Cleanliness handout directly to the shift supervisor.  

● Employees will have access to emergency contact information for all local and 
state emergency service providers. 

● Employees demonstrating the symptoms for certain illnesses will be required to 
seek medical attention and will not be allowed to return to work without 
documentation from a physician indicating that the individual has been cleared to 
return to work. 

● Standard operating procedures will be made available in digital and print forms, 
and will be included in employee handbook/training manual. 

Sanitation and handling protocols 

 

120 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-143---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-157ORIGINAL



To maintain the integrity of all cannabis concentrates produced at the facility, Thrive 
Society and its partner company Thrive Society will provide sanitization and clean-room 
preparation training to all processing and manufacturing employees. Employees will 
maintain and follow standard cleaning procedures for all buildings and equipment used 
to store medical cannabis. The Director of Manufacturing will ensure all employees 
involved are trained to properly clean assigned equipment and document the process.  
In compliance with regulatory and GMP requirements, one or more trained supervisors 
will be assigned to supervise overall sanitation.  

The Director of Manufacturing will assign specific personnel for the cleaning of all 
production equipment and oversee the proper performance of cleaning and sanitation 
standard operating procedures. Standard operating procedures will address the cleaning 
of equipment, including utensils, used in the manufacture, processing, packing or holding 
of all products. These written procedures, schedules, and logbooks will include: 

● Assignment of responsibility for cleaning equipment  
● Controlling airborne contamination  
● Using sanitary handling procedures  
● Using safe water in all operations 
● Performing chemical, microbiological, or other testing, as necessary to prevent the 

use of contaminated ingredients in processing operations 
● Storing packaging materials, in-process medical cannabis raw material, and 

medical cannabis finished products appropriately to prevent contamination and 
adulteration 

● Preventing cross-contamination and mix-ups between contaminated or 
adulterated medical cannabis raw material or medical cannabis finished products 
and non-tainted medical cannabis  

● Washing or cleaning containers and packaging components that contain 
contaminants   

● Using effective measures to protect cannabis products against adulteration by 
other foreign materials when at risk due to processing equipment or instruments 

● A description in sufficient detail of the methods and materials used for cleaning 
and the methods of disassembling and reassembling equipment to ensure proper 
cleaning  

● Measures for the protection of clean equipment from contamination prior to use  
● Required inspection of equipment for cleanliness immediately before use  

 
Based upon the individual equipment design, the following sequence of cleaning 
operations will be performed upon the completion of each batch of product:   

121 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-144---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-158ORIGINAL



● If applicable, a reduced disassemble and cleaning procedure may be 
utilized between sequential batches of the identical product brand, strength, and 
dosage form 

● Upon the completion of a manufacturing or packaging operation, equipment will 
be disassembled and all moveable parts removed so that the equipment can be 
properly cleaned 

● All exterior surfaces will be sanitized and the interior cleaned with  an approved 
detergent mixed with water and then rinsed thoroughly with tap water 

● Finally, all surfaces that come in contact with components will be sanitized with 
denatured alcohol and allowed to air dry  

● Upon completion, the employee will fill in the cleaning log and inform their 
immediate supervisor the equipment is ready for inspection 

 
An audit or check will be performed on the equipment cleaning and its documentation on 
a random basis several times a week. These reviews will include an inspection of the 
actual equipment cleanliness and the accuracy of all cleaning documentation. All 
cleaning records required by this procedure will be retained for at least five (5) years 
after distribution of the last batch of product manufactured, processed or packaged 
utilizing that equipment. 
 
When developing the above protocols, the Director of Manufacturing will also 
incorporate the following elements: 

● Defining responsibility and frequency for cleaning and disinfecting each piece of 
equipment or item that comes in contact with medical cannabis 

● Monitoring compliance 
● Training employees to ensure they are able at all times to answer the question 

“How do you know that this item has been cleaned and/or disinfected?” 
● Cleaned/disinfected items should be labeled (date/time) 

 
All areas will maintain a general cleanliness and go through routine maintenance. The 
facility will be of food production quality at all times, with frequent inspections and 
internal audits to ensure safety in production. Sanitation units or wash stations should be 
utilized throughout the facility where they are placed. Employees are encouraged to 
wash frequently and always between handling products. 

Washroom Facilities 

Restrooms and toilets will be located separately from all production and manufacturing 
areas. Restrooms will have a self-closing door and be enclosed with proper, individual 

122 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-145---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-159ORIGINAL



ventilation unit. Wash hands signs will be placed above all sinks. Training on best 
practices will be given annually and documented. Restrooms will be cleaned daily and 
maintained in a clean manner. 

Equipment sanitation 

In general, surfaces and equipment within the processing and manufacturing facility 
would be classified by the CDC guidelines under Spaulding’s Classification as 
Non-Critical (i.e., items that might come in contact with intact skin, but not mucous 
membranes or non-intact skin) and in general most are environmental surfaces, which 
must be regularly disinfected to a low level.  

Cleaning protocols will include limits on how long reusable cleaning clothes and 
mop heads can be used before laundering, and on how frequently the water disinfectant 
mixture (using an appropriate and approved disinfectant, with preference for 
naturally-based options) is changed (at a minimum per every three rooms). The facility will 
have single-use disposable towels impregnated with a disinfectant (such as Clorox 
wipes) for spot cleaning as necessary during the day. All employees will be trained on 
these duties and procedures and cleaning procedures will be carefully overseen at the 
beginning and end of each business day. 

In addition, for all surfaces, equipment, or materials that will touch medical 
cannabis or individually packaged containers of medical cannabis, the Director of 
Manufacturing will develop and oversee the implementation of more rigorous cleaning 
protocols. These will be to the standard required by the CDC guidelines for Spaulding’s 
Classification of Critical, because medical cannabis can come into contact with mucous 
membranes. These items require either sterilization or a cleaning process followed by 
high-level disinfection. Additional handling protocols will meet or exceed California 
requirements for safe and sanitary food handling and packaging. 

Contamination Prevention 

In order to maintain the medical cannabis free of contamination, employees will be 
required to comply with standard operating procedures. All employees will be trained to 
ensure absolute sanitary conditions in areas that have been designated for packaging 
and handling, including all equipment, utensils, and accessories used during the 
packaging process. Our sanitation standard operating procedures have been designed 
to meet or exceed the high sanitary standards of the California state regulations 
pertaining to the handling of food-grade products: 

● All agents involved with the handling, manufacturing and packaging of medical 
cannabis will wear proper lab coats, latex gloves, and hairnets. 

123 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-146---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-160ORIGINAL



● Personnel will also be required to wash hands and exposed areas of the arm 
before beginning work, before and between glove use, and after using a toilet 
facility. 

● Gloves will be replaced after each pound of medical cannabis has been 
packaged, or, when beginning to package a different variety or shipment of 
product (to prevent  cross-contamination), and additionally every two-hours.   

● Prior to entering the packaging room, employees must report to the shift 
supervisor any illness or personal health condition that might compromise the 
cleanliness or quality of the medical cannabis the Processing Agent might handle. 

● Maintain a sanitation log with records retained for five years. 

Packaging and Labeling 

Thrive Society will comply with all local and state regulations regarding the proper 
labeling and packaging of cannabis and cannabis cannabis products. All products must 
properly carry warning labels as required by state regulations. SOPs will cover all of the 
following: 

● Packaging, repackaging, labeling and relabeling of non-manufactured medical 
cannabis (flower & standard pre-rolls) on behalf of our own brands, or a cultivator 
or another distributor, or while holding title. 

● Holding another licensee or non-licensee packaging and labelling materials in our 
distribution premises. 

● Being responsible for compliance with applicable medical cannabis handling, 
packaging and labeling laws including but not limited to Business and Professions 
Code section 19347 and Division 8, Title 3 of the California Code of Regulations. 

 
Packages containing cannabis products will include the following: 

● The net weight of cannabis in the package. 
● Identification of the source and date of cultivation, the type of cannabis or 

cannabis product and the date of manufacturing and packaging. 
● The appellation of origin, if any. 
● List of pharmacologically active ingredients, including, but not limited to, 

tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), cannabidiol (CBD), and other cannabinoid content, 
the THC and other cannabinoid amount in milligrams per serving, servings per 
package, and the THC and other cannabinoid amount in milligrams for the 
package total. 

● A warning if nuts or other known allergens are used. 
● Information associated with the unique identifier issued by the Department of 

Food and Agriculture. 

124 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-147---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-161ORIGINAL



● For a medicinal cannabis product sold at a retailer, the following statement will 
appear in bold: For flowers: “GOVERNMENT WARNING: THIS PACKAGE 
CONTAINS CANNABIS, A SCHEDULE I CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE. KEEP OUT 
OF REACH OF CHILDREN AND ANIMALS. CANNABIS MAY ONLY BE POSSESSED 
OR CONSUMED BY PERSONS 21 YEARS OF AGE OR OLDER UNLESS THE 
PERSON IS A QUALIFIED PATIENT. CANNABIS USE WHILE PREGNANT OR 
BREASTFEEDING MAY BE HARMFUL. CONSUMPTION OF CANNABIS IMPAIRS 
YOUR ABILITY TO DRIVE AND OPERATE MACHINERY. PLEASE USE EXTREME 
CAUTION.” 

 
Cannabis products will be labeled and placed in resealable, tamper-evident, 
child-resistant package and include a unique identifier for the purposes of identifying and 
tracking cannabis and cannabis products. We will utilize the child resistant packaging 
made by Pollen Gear. Our packaging plan includes packaging that implements: 

● ASTM-certified, childproof lids to protect minors 
● Standup Pouches’ flexible child proof bags that are certified compliant with the 

ASTM International D3475 standards 
● Thick wall glass jars with symmetric child-resistant closures 
● Child-Resistant Pre-Roll Tubes 
● Child Resistant Barrier bags 
● Shrink Wrapped seals on most packages 
● Significantly difficult for children under 5 years of age to open 
● Additional exterior exit packaging for internal containers 
● For more information about Sustainability in Packaging, See Section 7: 

Environmental Benefits . 
 
In addition, cannabis products will be packaged and labeled in a way that is not attractive 
to children and in accordance with all state laws. We will comply with any other 
requirement set by the Bureau or the Department of Public Health. 

In the event the federal government determines that cannabis is no longer a 
Schedule I controlled substance under federal law, the label prescribed in the regulations 
shall no longer require a statement that cannabis is a Schedule I controlled substance. 

Transportation 

If and when Thrive Society avails of the services of a licensed cannabis transporters, they 
shall ensure that all medical cannabis batches are stored separately and distinctly from 
other medical cannabis batches on the transporter’s vehicles, and in a manner that 
preserves the quality of the product, including but not limited to: 

125 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-148---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-162ORIGINAL



● Proper labeling 
● A transporter shall store medical cannabis goods in a manner designed to permit 

control of temperature and humidity and that prevents the entry of environmental 
contaminants such as smoke and dust. Medical cannabis goods are stored shall 
not be exposed to direct sunlight.   

● A transporter shall store harvest batches and edible cannabis products that 
require refrigeration at 35 to 42 degrees Fahrenheit. In addition, a transporter 
shall store harvest batches in a darkened area with no more than 60% humidity.    

Product Complaints 

From time to time, a complaint about a product produced in the facility may arise. Thrive 
lab will establish and implement written procedures to ensure that qualified personnel 
will review and investigate all complaints to determine whether a complaint involves a 
possible failure of a cannabis product to meet any of the specifications established in 
internal protocols or state regulations. Qualified personnel will review and approve of 
decisions determining whether to investigate a product complaint, report on the findings, 
and document any follow up actions taken by the investigation.  Written records shall be 
kept of any verified complaint and investigation that will include: 

● Name and subscription of the product in question 
● Batch number and/or UID of the cannabis product 
● Date of complaint and name, address, and/or contact number of the compaintant, 

if applicable 
● The nature of the complaint and method of consumption/ingestion 
● The reply to the complainant, if any 
● Findings of the investigations and/or any follow-up actions taken 

Product Recall 

Procedures for the recall of cannabis products manufactured by Thrive Labs will be 
established and implemented whenever a product is misbranded, adulterated, or a recall 
is otherwise determined to be necessary. The procedures will include Criteria for 
evaluating the necessity of a recall, Designated personnel responsible for implementing 
the Recall Procedure, and Notification protocols, including: 

● A method of notifying all customers who have, or could have, been affected 
● A method of notifying and licensed cannabis businesses that supplied or recieved 

the recalled product 
● Instructions to the general public and other licensees for the return and/or 

destruction of the recalled product 

126 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-149---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-163ORIGINAL



Disposal of the product shall be conducted, after the requisite quarantine period, as set 
forth in Article 4, Section 40268 (Recalls ) of the Manufactured Cannabis Safety 
Regulations. The Department of Manufactured Cannabis will be informed within 24 hours 
of any recall notice issued. 

 
 

 
 

   

127 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-150---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-164ORIGINAL



7. Environmental Benefits 
Thrive Society takes environmental stewardship seriously. Climate change is reaching 
every corner of the globe and being part of the solution is imperative to our economy, 
our food supply, water supply, livelihoods and our planet. As an environmentally 
responsible organization, we will implement an Environmental Plan that reduces energy 
consumption, conserves water and strives to eliminate waste from our operations. 

Thrive Society will serve as an active environmental steward within the Nevada 
City community. We welcome the opportunity to support Nevada City’s Energy Action 
Plan (EAP) objective to transition to 100% renewable energy, and the goal of a 28 percent 
reduction in electricity use by 2020.   

In our facility, we will conduct regular audits to bring to life patterns showing how 
our energy is misspent – whether from equipment in need of tune-up or repair, or 
“operator errors” like lights left on or thermostats set incorrectly. Energy-efficient light 
bulbs, automated thermostats and lighting schedules will ensure we are streamlining and 
minimizing our energy consumption. 

Energy and Climate 

Measures to maximize energy efficiency and reduce greenhouse gas emissions are the 
cornerstone of our Environmental Plan, and include: 

● High Performance Equipment: we have specified Energy Star rated equipment in 
the facility including controls and energy management systems for HVAC and 
refrigeration equipment, odor mitigation equipment, surge protectors, appliances 
and machinery 

● Efficiency Measures: water-efficient fixtures, programmable thermostat to 
increase electrical efficiency, use of sustainable and eco-friendly paints in our 
remodeling plans, 

● Recycling Programs: Reuse and Recycle programs in our day-to-day operations,  
● Strict sustainable packaging standards: focusing on recyclable or reusable 

containers, and biodegradable/ recycled chlorine free paper products, 
biodegradable and earth friendly materials in our day to day operations such as 
boxes, paper, soy and vegetable-based ink on labels and packaging.  

● Intelligent Lighting: low-voltage and LED Control Systems with at least three of 
the following controls strategies: (Scheduling, Daylighting, Occupant Sensing, 
Task Tuning, Demand Response) 

● LEED Certified Architects: we are working with Siteline  Architecture for our 
buildout retrofit 

128 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-151---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-165ORIGINAL



● Renewable Energy: Thrive Society will utilize PG&E’s Solar Choice and Regional 
Renewable Choice programs to purchase up to 100% of our electricity from a 
universal solar program generated within California. 

● A Commitment: to further our aims toward offsetting our carbon footprint in all of 
our standards as much as possible.  

Terrapass: A Carbon Offset Program 

Thrive Society plans to make our business as eco-conscious as possible from the start 
and over time increase our efficiencies further. Once we are in operation, we can 
determine a product’s carbon footprint, with a carbon footprint calculator, and reduce the 
footprint  where possible within our operations.  

For remaining offset emissions, we plan to work with Terrapass, an organization 
that helps businesses manage their sustainability goals. They help a business project and 
audit their energy usage. They provide Renewable Energy Certificates (REC) that are 
created for each megawatt-hour of renewable electricity (wind, solar, etc.) generated and 
delivered to the power grid. They also offer BEF Water Restoration Certificates (WRC) 
that provide organizations with an incentive to support projects that implement more 
efficient water management solutions thereby restoring water to critically-dewatered 
ecosystems. One WRC is the equivalent of restoring 1,000 gallons of water. Through 
these measures, Thrive Society aims to become fully carbon neutral by 2020.  

Clean Green Certified  

We are in the application process to become a Clean Green certified company. Once our 
facility is built-out, we will proceed with the next steps towards completing the audit. 
Clean Green launched in 2004 as an answer to the lack of organic standards. Consumers 
have come to recognize the Clean Green logo and have developed trust for products or 
farms that are stamped with it and have met all of the requirements of the rigorous 
program. 

Modeled on national and international sustainability, organic and biodynamic 
program standards, the Clean Green program requires on-site inspections and third-party 
lab testing.  The whole life cycle of the plant is considered, from seed selection to 
harvesting and processing. Clean Green Certified also goes further than the USDA 
organic in some areas, requiring every operator to undergo pesticide testing every year, 
rather than only a small percentage of farms. They have a certification specifically for 
cannabis packaging/handlers.  Whether it be a storefront or a manufacturer, the company 
audits the processor/handler's ability to keep Clean Green cannabis separate from 
cannabis grown conventionally.  

 

129 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-152---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-166ORIGINAL



Sustainability in Packaging 

Thrive Society aims to implement sustainable, reusable, and recycled packaging 
practices where possible. We are currently in communication with eco packaging 
suppliers, such as Sana, Green Packaging Group, Elevate Packaging, Pollen Gear, and 
Pure Labels. Our team will utilize compostable, reusable, and/or recyclable packages for 
our goods whenever feasible, and we commit to continuing our efforts at reducing our 
carbon footprint as much as possible.  

Additional Measures 

Thrive Society has identified additional ways in which we can operate with sustainability 
in mind: 

● Partnering with locally sourced, organic suppliers for raw materials in our products  
● Consult our local Waste Management group for their expert advice and to help us 

identify and implement sustainable waste management practices 
● Facilitating education and guidance to our farmers and to encourage their 

participation in 3rd party certification programs like Clean Green. We are part of a 
greater ecosystem and we hope to have a greater impact on the supply chain. 

● Creating standards for the suppliers we partner with and requiring implementation 
of best management practices in farming, organic agriculture protocols, and water 
conservation 

● Providing education to our suppliers on pesticide free organic farming practices 
● Encouraging carpools with our team of employees 
● Purchase second hand equipment where possible 
● Reducing the amount of paper we use as a company by utilizing technology for 

accounts, invoices, orders, and communication  
● Hiring local companies for supply and services like printing, marketing, 

technology, plumbing, engineers, security, etc. 
 

 
 

 
   

130 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-153---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-167ORIGINAL



8. Labor and Employment Plan 
Employee Qualifications and Requirements 
 
Thrive Society has specific qualifications we seek in all employees: 

● Resident of California 
● 21 years of age or older 
● Ability to handle multiple tasks and work well under pressure 
● Lift up to 30 pounds 
● Knowledge of cannabis and cannabis products 
● Knowledge of California cannabis regulations 
● Valid State of California MMJ card 
● Clean criminal record, no felony convictions. Exceptions will be made for 

non-violent cannabis convictions that haven’t already been expunged by the state, 
or reduced from felony to misdemeanor. 

● Excellent communication, attention to detail, interpersonal and organizational 
skills 

● Active team player 
● Active community members 

Living Wage 

Thrive Society will provide its employees with a Living Wage greater than the minimum wage 
mandated by the State of California. The current minimum wage in California is $10.50 per hour. 
Thrive Society will provide its employees significantly higher wages. Our wage scale is shown 
below: 
 

131 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-154---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-168ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-169ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-155

X

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-170ORIGINAL



● Paid family leave 
● Vacation and Paid Time Off 
● Group health insurance 

Workplace Harassment 

Thrive Society is committed to operating a safe and nonthreatening workplace 
environment, and to comply with all applicable labor laws. Harassment based on race, 
color, religion, sex (including gender identity and pregnancy), national origin, age, 
disability, genetic information, sexual orientation, or parental status will not be tolerated. 

Labor Peace Agreement 

As per regulatory requirements, if at any point in time Thrive Society grows to employ 20 
or more personnel, the company will first commit to signing a Labor Peace Agreement, 
and will not interfere in union efforts to organize members of our workforce.  
 

Our Hiring Guidelines: 
 

● Equal Opportunity Employer: without regard to race, color, religion, sexual 
orientation, gender identity, nationality, veteran status, or any other basis 
protected by applicable law 

● Drug Free Workplace Policy:  no employee shall use, possess, sell, convey, 
distribute, or manufacture illegal drugs, intoxicants, or controlled substances 

● Weapon-Free Workplace Policy:  we prohibit the possession or use of perilous 
weapons on company property. 

● Tobacco Free Workplace Policy: smoking shall not be permitted in any enclosed 
area 

Employee Training Guidelines 

Thrive Society will implement a routine training program to ensure that all personnel 
employed in both distribution and manufacturing premises are provided information and 
training that covers all topics necessary to operate a safe, secure, sanitary, productive 
and welcoming environment.  

An effective accident prevention program requires proper job performance from 
everyone in the workplace. We will ensure that our employees know about all materials 
and equipment in the facility, known hazards and risk mitigation. Upon hiring, we will train 
our employees on hazard risks and require they pass an exam to verify they understand 
our full protocol. 

133 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-156---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-171ORIGINAL



 
Within 30 days of the start of employment: 
 
● Health and safety hazards 
● Hazards presented by all solvents or chemicals used at the licensed premises as 

described in the material safety data sheets (MSDS) 
● Emergency procedures 
● Security procedures 
● Record keeping requirements 
● Training requirements 

And prior to independently engaging in any cannabis manufacturing process: 

● An overview of all Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) 
● Quality control procedures 
● Hazard analysis and control procedures as appropriate 
● Proper and safe usage of equipment or machinery 
● Safe work practices, including appropriate use of any necessary safety or sanitary 

equipment 
● Cleaning and maintenance requirements 
● Emergency operations, including shutdown 
● Additional training specific to an employee’s job duties 

Refresher trainings will be held at a minimum, once a year. In addition, all 
personnel who prepare, handle, or package edible cannabis products must within 90 
days of beginning employment, successfully complete an accredited California Food 
Handler Certificate course.  

Organizational Training 
We will provide training for all of these components: 

● Anti-harassment, discrimination and retaliation policy 
● Timekeeping policy 
● Computer and Internet Policy 
● Visitor protocols 
● Secure electronic recordkeeping 
● Inventory control system 
● Cannabis laws and regulations (local, state, federal) 
● Emergency situations 

 

134 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-157---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-172ORIGINAL



   

135 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-158---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-173ORIGINAL



9. Local Enterprise 

Our roots in Nevada County 

Since the Back-To-The-Land movement decades ago, Californians have led the way. The 
organic food movement was founded here, and in these same hills we call home, the 
largest natural foods distributor in the country was born. There is a legacy of 
craftsmanship in local agriculture here that carries through to the pioneers of today’s 
cannabis gardeners. In our region, farmers have been producing cannabis of 
world-renowned quality for many generations, with passion for the craft, respect for the 
land, and care for the community.  

In an era of farm-to-table banquets, micro-distilleries and a craft-beer revolution, 
the legal cannabis market actually faces consolidation and commodification. The craft 
suppliers in the region need a partner who understands this consumer sentiment and can 
leverage the unique quality and reputation of the region’s cannabis culture to broaden 
market appeal. Until the county establishes regulations and permits for local farms, we 
will work with other nearby counties to source cannabis material. But we anticipate local 
permits and will be positioned and ready to serve the local cultivators. Our aim is to set a 
new standard for purity and integrity within the cannabis industry, locally and statewide.     

Job Creation 

If awarded distribution and manufacturing licenses, Thrive Society will run its operations 
with the maximum amount of local employees possible. All our founders are local 
homeowners in Nevada County, and although we cannot legally discriminate against job 
applicants from out of the area, applicants who have meaningful ties to Nevada City and 
the surrounding region will be looked upon favorably, as these ties are understood to be 
the underpinning of our business values. 
 

Thrive Society commits to prioritize hiring locals in particular for the following 10 
positions: 

● 1 Assistant Manager 
● 2 Distribution Facility Employees 
● 2 Manufacturing Facility Employees 
● 2 Transportation Drivers 
● 1 Receptionist 
● 2 Security Guards 

136 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-159---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-174ORIGINAL



 

Commitment to Supporting Local Businesses 

The small business ecosystem that has endured in Nevada City and County is unique, 
and deserves to be supported and preserved. By contracting local businesses and 
service providers, we will be linking neighbors in a web of economic and social 
relationships. While it may pencil out to outsource some specialized tasks to virtual or 
national agencies, will endeavor to spend our purchasing power in support of the local 
economy. Perpetuating this cycle, locally focused business vendors recycle a much 
larger share of their revenue back into the local economy than national chains, creating 
resilience for the small business ecosystem. 
 
Local vendors who we have already contracted, or who we are seeking to contract: 

● Electrician : Grass Valley Electric 
● HVAC/ Odor mitigation : Brewer Heating and Air Conditioning 
● Siteline Architecture : Architectural Plans 
● Noah Thompson Drywall for our buildout 
● IT services for our facility, networks, and servers 
● Printing services : Grass Valley Printers 
● Internet : Spiral 
● Security Guards: Gold Country Security 
● Security Systems : Beam Security 
● Marketing firm : 7 Rays  
● Local freelance designers & illustrators 

 
 
 

   

137 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-160---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-175ORIGINAL



10. Qualifications of Principals
The principles of Thrive Society come to this business proposal with extensive 
experience with medical cannabis, start-up business, marketing, community development 
and cannabis regulatory affairs. 

Resumes for our three principles are provided here: 

138 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-161---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-176ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-177ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-178ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-179ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-162  -  TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-164

X

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-180ORIGINAL



Appendix 

142 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-165---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-181ORIGINAL



Business Organizational Status 

The following screenshots are taken from https://businesssearch.sos.ca.gov: 

 

 

 

For additional information, see Section 2: Business Plan- Entity Structure . 

Registration and Articles of Organization will be submitted as soon as they are available. 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-166---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-182ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-183ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-184ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-185ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-167  -  TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-169

X

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-186ORIGINAL



GOLD COUNTRY SECURITY

Security Consulting 

Providing guard and patrol services throughout Western Nevada County 

(530)273-1367
February	12,	2018	 	

To:	Thrive	Society	

From:	Jarret	Fink	

RE:	Security	Plan	Review	
138	New	Mohawk	Rd	
Nevada	City,	CA	95959	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 I	have	reviewed	the	security	plan	provided	for	your	proposed	new	business	site.	I	find	
that	your	security	plan	is	complete,	acceptable	and	meets	all	state	guidelines	set	forth	in	California	
Code	of	Regulations,	Title	17	Division	1	Chapter	13.	SUBCHAPTER	3.	REQUIREMENTS	OF	OPERATION	
Article	1.	§40200.	It	is	clear	that	your	company	is	making	the	safety	of	its	neighbors,	employees	
and	customers	a	high	priority.	

As	per	our	discussion,	I	would	recommend	the	following	minor	additions	to	your	security	plan;	

.	

Sincerely,	

Jarret Fink	

Jarret	Fink	
Security	Consultant	
PI	License	#	15771	
Security	License	#PPO15449	
(NCSO	Retired)	

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-170---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-187ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-170

X

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-188ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-189ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-190ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-191ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-192ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-193ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-194ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-195ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-196ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-197ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-198ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-199ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-200ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-201ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-202ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-203ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-171  - TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-185

X

X

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-204ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-205ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-186

X

Neighbor letter of support, kept confidential at the request of the author

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-206ORIGINAL



Memorandum February 12th, 2018 

Update to Neighborhood Outreach  

On February 12th, we met with Jaynie Ayden, Director of Twin Ridges Home Study 
Program. We felt that in light of the recent discussion in City Hall about MCB proximity to 
schools and youth centers, that it would be prudent for us to approach Mrs. Ayden, to 
introduce ourselves and to speak with her about any concerns or questions she may 
have about our proposed business. 

She was welcoming and receptive. With this memo, we wanted to provide a brief update 
to our Neighborhood Outreach efforts and to record the one concern that was raised in 
our meeting with Mrs. Ayden. She expressed a concern about the speed of 
neighborhood traffic that drives past their facility, and asked if speed control signs could 
be installed on New Mohawk to make traffic drive slower. We assured her that we would 
support her desire to see effective traffic controls upheld in the area, and told her that we 
would document her concern, and encourage the planning commission to consider 
installing traffic control signs, “slow” or “caution” signs, and that we would incorporate 
policies into our personnel trainings for distribution vehicle drivers to ensure compliance 
with all traffic laws, and a particular sensitivity to caution, driving on New Mohawk. 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-187---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-207ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-208ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-209ORIGINAL



Thrive Society

Basil McMahon, Vice-President, Thrive Society

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-188  -  TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-189

X

Site Plans redacted because public knowledge of the facility layout could pose a security risk

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-210ORIGINAL



---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-211ORIGINAL



April 10, 2018 

Thrive Society 
ATTN: Basil McMahon 
138 New Mohawk Road 
Nevada City, CA 95959 

Via email: l.basil.mcmahon@gmail.com 

Re: Application Clarification Requests from Nevada City Planning Department 

Responses provided by Thrive Society principal Basil McMahon in red: 
1. Please clarify, whether the pre-roll machine is a trimming machine. This process may

actually fall within the “cultivation” permit category.

The piece of equipment we intend to use to produce pre-rolls is called a “Knock Box”, made 
by Futurola. It is a compact, table-top device designed to take pre-ground flower material and 
pack paper cones, and is not capable of being used as a trimming machine. 

For more of a visual explanation of the use of this piece of equipment, here is a link to a brief 
promotional video made by the Futurola company: 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=kNp-5FYaMWw 
(Please excuse the obnoxious soundtrack. you could mute the audio if you prefer) 

2. Phase II of your business plan (Page identifier: TSL-M.NV.C.p.D.f-90) describes your
potential partnership with other licensed suppliers that use a co2 extraction process. Does
this mean you will utilize a co2 extraction process as part of that partnership? Or are you
only suggesting that you will use the partner’s bulk product to fill and package into
individual components on the partner business’s behalf?

We do not plan to utilize co2 extraction methods in our facility, during Phase II or otherwise. 
Yes, you are correct, we intended to suggest that we would receive bulk extract, or other raw 
materials, from a 3rd party partner, and focus solely on the filling and packaging of individual 
units to produce a finished product. 

To clarify, the example on page TSL-M.NV.C.p.D.f-90, of “filling and packaging their vape 
pen cartridge products”, was intended to provide an example of how we may perform co-packing 
services (otherwise known as “Contract Packaging”) to other manufacturers or cannabis brands. 
The co-packing activities that we intended to perform in our facility would vary depending on 
the product produced, but may include: packaging, assembly, design, labeling, purchasing, and 
shipping logistics, but would not involve any extraction activities not otherwise outlined in our 
business plan.  

Page 1 of 5 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-<<191>>---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-212ORIGINAL

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=kNp-5FYaMWw
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Contract_packager


Through feedback we’ve received from licensed operators around the region that we have 
received over the last few months since submitting our application, we anticipate that there may 
be demand for co-packing services. With a number of prospective licensed manufacturers 
focused on solvent extraction in the building and elsewhere in Nevada City, we feel that we 
would be better off focusing on a different aspect of the supply-chain.  

3. Clarify in general what your hours of operation will be, including manufacturing and
your distribution activity.

In our application, our proposed hours of operation were: 
8:00AM-6:30PM Weekdays 
9:00AM- 6:00PM Weekends 

Although we would like to request the ability to operate: 
7:00AM-7:00PM Weekdays 
7:00AM- 7:00PM Weekends 

We have been speaking to licensed dispensaries and distributors from across the state, and are 
coming to understand that it may be important for us to request permission to operate longer 
hours on days when transportation vehicles are in use. Many dispensaries request that deliveries 
arrive before 10:00 or 11:00 am, when their businesses open to the public, or on weekends when 
not open to the public. In order to accommodate this request, we would more likely need to load 
up a transport vehicle and depart earlier in the morning, depending on the distance travelled. Our 
geographic location, being +/-3 hours from many licensed retailers, is another factor that we did 
not account for sufficiently in our original proposal.  

These are important considerations for our distribution operations, but less of a concern for 
the manufacturing facility. If it is your preference that we keep to the hours originally proposed 
for our manufacturing facility, we could do that, although it would simplify our facility 
opening/closing protocols to maintain consistency of operating hours between the two premises. 

For further clarification, our transport vehicles will only be “in service” during the specified 
hours of operation (actively transporting product, cash, or otherwise being operated in the service 
of the business). We will not utilize transport vehicles for business purposes outside of the hours 
of operation, and will not leave product, cash or valuables in the vehicles while not attended. 

4. Indicate the number of employees you will have at peak operating times.

Please refer to the answer provided to question #7. 

5. How many distribution vehicles will you be using? Will the number of vehicles expand
with the operation and if so what is the maximum number you will have? Will
distribution vehicle(s) be stored on-site?

Our plan is to begin with one distribution vehicle (referred to as the “primary” vehicle 
below), and within the first few months, also outfit a secondary distribution vehicle 

Page 2 of 5 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-<<192>>---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-213ORIGINAL



, more information below). This 
“secondary” vehicle will be utilized as a service vehicle on occasion, but is otherwise

 for transit to/from work. We anticipate expanding to two primary 
vehicles, plus one secondary vehicle within the first year. 

We recognize that parking and security are concerns for the Planning Department and would 
like to take steps to ensure that parking impacts and security concerns are minimized. One way 
we thought to address the concern of primary transport vehicles left unattended in the parking lot 
overnight would be to have facility personnel use them to commute to/from work at the 
beginning and end of the work day. This would also alleviate the demand on the parking spaces 
allocated to us by the building manager. If this is not preferred, please let us know and we would 
be happy to come up with a better plan. 

6. Describe the distribution vehicle(s) you plan to use? Are they leased or privately owned?
Describe the security features of the vehicle(s) and precautions you plan on taking during
this component of the business.

As our primary vehicle, we intend to purchase (finance) a  that is 
outfitted with an alarm, GPS, temperature control, security camera, and locking steel cage 
affixed to the vehicle frame for product storage. The will be unmarked, and the cargo area of 
the vehicle will not be visible from outside the vehicle. The vehicle’s security and camera 
systems are designed to discourage break-ins when the vehicle is empty and unattended- but 
more importantly to rapidly alert the authorities in the event of a security incident.  

In addition to this primary vehicle, we intend to utilize a  as a 
secondary vehicle for intermittent use, and/or local area transport. This 

 and will be outfitted with the same security 
features, including a locking fabricated steel cage affixed to the vehicle bed. Both vehicles and 
all transport personnel will comply with state regulatory requirements, including obtaining a 
Motor Carrier Permit for the transport of goods for hire. 

We have discussed with the building manager and the other cannabis applicants in the 
building, sharing the cost of hiring an on-site security guard to monitor traffic to the building and 
to supervise instances of loading and unloading to the building. Gold Country Security, who is 
already familiar with building, is prepared to provide this service

Transport personnel will be required to attend a training program that includes situational 
awareness and protocols for incident response. One provider of such training that we are 
considering is Hard Car Security, a security consulting, service and transport company 
specializing in the cannabis industry:  http://www.hardcarsecurity.com/security-guard-training/ 

Two transport personnel will attend a vehicle at all times while in use for transporting 
cannabis. During loading and unloading of transport vehicles, the building Security Guard will 
be positioned near the loading bay door, with a good vantage point of the street and 
surroundings.  

Page 3 of 5 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-<<193>>---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-214ORIGINAL

http://www.hardcarsecurity.com/security-guard-training/


During transport of cannabis products, transport vehicles will only travel directly to or from 
our permitted facility, and the premises of other licensed cannabis businesses with whom we are 
conducting a business transaction. The path of transit will be established ahead of time and 
recorded by GPS, with deviations allowed only for necessary rest, fuel, or vehicle repair stops, or 
in the case of an emergency.  

7. Please indicate the number of parking spaces allocated by the building manager and
describe how the allocated parking spaces will accommodate employees at peak
operating times, the number of distribution vehicles, and visitor/vendor parking?

Parking 
After a minor revision to our lease, the number of parking spaces allocated to Thrive Society 

is 14. The following table indicates how our allocated parking spaces will accommodate parking 
needs during peak operating times:  

Category # of Personnel # of Parking Spaces Notes 

Principals 3 1 Two principals will commute using transport vehicles 

Managers 2 2 Brought on initially 

Facility Employees 3 3 Brought on later, as growth targets met 

Transport Workers 4 4 2 per vehicle. Work in facility when not transporting 

Transport Vehicles 0 2 Vehicles parked at facility only when not in service 

Reserved for 
Visitors/Vendors 0 2 

For security, scheduled vendor appointments will be 
staggered to prevent overlap 

Total 12 14 

Personnel 
To begin with, in addition to Thrive Society’s 3 principals, we anticipate having 2 other 

employees, for a total of 5. We expect to bring on a few other employees as we grow (see table, 
above) and employ two transport workers per transport vehicle in our fleet, but we estimate that 
the facility and the number of parking spaces allocated to us would only accommodate a fleet of 
two primary transport vehicles, plus the use of one of ou  as a secondary 
transport vehicle. 

Accommodating Growth 
With a number of prospective MCB applicants in the New Mohawk building, concerns about 

parking, security, neighborhood impact and capacity are certainly valid. We would like to assure 
you that we are mindful of these concerns and have been exploring solutions to operate 
efficiently, minimizing impact and working within the multiple natural constraints of our permit, 
licenses, allocated parking spaces, building, and surrounding environment. 

Thrive Society principal Danielle Dao holds a lease on a 3200 sq. ft. warehouse facility in 
Loma Rica (Unincorporated Nevada County). As a business, we may decide to utilize this 
warehouse property in a supporting capacity- for hosting meetings with clients and vendors, 

Page 4 of 5 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-<<194>>---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-215ORIGINAL



holding educational workshops, and for storing and assembling packaging materials. Under no 
circumstances will we store regulated cannabis products or cash at this facility- but it may be 
very helpful to utilize the building for non-cannabis related operations, like client relations, 
community engagement, and branding and marketing.  Also, it could help alleviate the pressure 
to host all of our various non-cannabis business functions within the state-licensed (and city 
permitted) facility.  

If the moment should arrive in the future, for example, where Thrive Society might want to 
employ a couple additional facility employees, we will need to implement a carpool or 
ride-sharing program to keep within the number of parking spaces allocated by the building 
manager. A protocol of arranging an employee carpool from the Loma Rica facility would 
provide a consistent and controlled way of minimizing traffic and parking impacts by our 
operations. Transport vehicles could also be parked at this property overnight if it was preferred, 
where they could be kept under video surveillance. 

We are committed to operating in a way that is prudent and in keeping with the intent outlined 
in our business plan- not to utilize this secondary facility as a loophole and expand beyond the 
natural constraints we recognize are appropriate for the building, roads and neighborhood. 

If we should be fortunate to find our business out-performing our expectations, we would 
explore the potential of relocating one or both of our Distribution or Manufacturing facilities to a 
property which would accommodate that growth. But that’s a ways down the road, and right now 
we are in start-up mode and expect to operate lean for some time as we establish our internal 
systems and build capacity. 

Page 5 of 5 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-<<195>>---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-216ORIGINAL



On behalf of Thrive Society, I am seeking the Planning Commission's approval to add a 
process to the list of activities our business is authorized to conduct. 

Specifically, we are seeking approval to perform what is known in the industry as 
"Micro-extractions", which involves the use of a very small scale, table top closed-loop 
extraction instrument that uses ethanol (less than 300 ml) to produce an sample amount 
of extract from loose leaf trim. 

As a licensed cannabis distributor, a decent amount of our business right now is in 
sourcing bulk amounts of cannabis "biomass" (loose leaf trim and/or flower material) for 
the extraction needs of licensed manufacturers. In order to be able to verify that the 
cannabis biomass will pass the state's rigorous testing standards, it is imperative that 
we be able to prove to our customers (the licensed extraction businesses we service) 
that the biomass we are sourcing for them will produce clean results once they have 
extracted it into oil. 

The instrument that we are requesting clearance to use is a product called a "Source 
Turbo", by the Company from Colorado called ExtractCraft. It extracts less than 2 oz. of 
biomass using less than 300 ml of ethanol in a completely closed-loop process- no 
solvent vapors are emitted, and no high pressure is involved. This is an instrument that 
is commonly used in licensed cannabis facilities for this very purpose. The volume of 
ethanol used in the process is less than that of a soda can, or a bottle of Isopropyl 
Alcohol that can be purchased at CVS or Walgreens. 

We recognize that it would be necessary and proper to obtain the approval of the NC 
Fire Department first in order to obtain approval to use this instrument, so I or my 
colleague Graham was planning to reach out to provide them with additional information 
to be able to review, unless you would prefer otherwise. 

Please confirm that you recieved my request and would be able to accommodate 
adding this item to the agenda for the Planning Commission's Feb. 21st meeting. 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-1
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-217

https://www.amazon.com/d/Electronics-Store/The-Source-Turbo-By-ExtractCraft/B01B816YN6
https://www.amazon.com/d/Electronics-Store/The-Source-Turbo-By-ExtractCraft/B01B816YN6


Turbo Mode User Manual

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-2
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-218



TURBO MODE USER MANUAL
Version 11  June 5, 2018

Part # 1007-1051

ExtractCraft
105 South Sunset Street, Unit M, 

Longmont, CO, 80501
United States

Phone: 720-307-8628 

customer support:  info@extractcraft.com

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-3
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-219



The Source User Manual  Contents  iii  

CONTENTS:

 

Safety...............................................1
Safety & Plant extract warning

The Source: Main Function............2
Appliance for Plant Extractions
Alcohol Solvent

Source Operation &
    Making a Plant Extract...............3
Care & Cleaning..............................9
Mobile Application........................10

Installing the Mobile App
Setting up Bluetooth
Launch the Source App
Using the Menu
Understanding the Control Screen

Altitude Tuning..............................13
Botanical Recipies........................14
Troubleshooting............................15
Technical Specifications...............16
Warranty.........................................16
Glossary.........................................16

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-4
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-220



1  The Source User Manual  Safety

SAFETY

 
 
  

WARNING: For your safety always allow all
metal parts of the Source to completely cool
before handling.  The reservoir cup, collector,
and metal top on the base can get very hot.

WARNING: For your safety and convenience
always follow these safety guidelines:

• Place the Source well away from heat
sources, direct sunlight, or places where
heat may become concentrated.
• Inspect the outer collector for cracks or
any defect and ensure that the lid and
lower seal fit securely.
• Do not use the Source if any parts are
damaged, flaking or show excessive wear in
any way.
• Alcohol is extremely flammable!
• Make sure the fan in the base unit is
always running.  The unit must not be
used if the fan stops running.
• Always use caution when handling
alcohol and keep it well away from any kind
of flame or ignition source.  This goes for
while operating the device, during
preparation, and anytime it is exposed
outside of a closed container. Keep alcohol
away from children and pets.
• Always allow the outer collector to cool
before opening the lid.
• Never allow the collector to over flow,
this could flood the pumps.
• Keep the base of the unit away from
water at all times.  Do not immerse or
expose base unit into water or liquid of any
kind.

SOLVENT: Only food grade ethanol
WARNING: Only food-grade ethanol may be 
used in the Source. Do not use methanol (wood 
alcohol) or any other solvents in the Source as 
they may be poisonous, lead to sickness or 
possibly death, or create fire and explosion 
hazards.  For safe operation it's very important 
no other solvents other than food grade ethanol 
are present in the machine at any time.

PLANT EXTRACT WARNING
WARNING: Some plant extracts are potentially 
dangerous due to the toxicity of concentrated 
chemical components and may be harmful or 
even deadly if ingested or absorbed through 
skin or membranes. 

Some botanical oils that would do no harm in a 
diluted form may do serious harm in higher 
concentrations. The internal use of botanical 
oils can also pose hazards to pregnant women. 

The flash point (temperature at which a 
compound gives off sufficient vapor to ignite) of 
each plant extract is different. Many common 
oils, such as tea tree, lavender, and citrus oils 
are classified as flammable liquids.

Botanical oils valued for aroma-therapeutic 
qualities may cause skin irritation, allergic 
reactions and other health problems. You must 
determine the hazards and handling 
requirements of the particular oils you extract. 

ExtractCraft makes no claims about botanical 
oils and their uses. This is simply a device for 
extracting them.

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-5
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-221



  The Source User Manual The Source Main Function 2  

THE SOURCE MAIN FUNCTION
APPLIANCE FOR PLANT EXTRACTIONS

The Source is an easy to use home appliance for 
extracting plant essences.

Plant essences are key to the smell, taste, and other 
properties of plants and are used in flavorings, 
perfumes, herbal extracts and medicinals.

The first step in making plant extracts is to make a 
tincture. A tincture is a solution made from the 
combination of plant matter and food-grade alcohol. 
Lavender, mint, hops, rosemary, cinnamon, radishes, 
calendula flowers and many other plants have been 
used successfully. The oils of some plants, such as mint 
and lavender, dissolve in alcohol very quickly (5 to 20 
minutes). Others, such as vanilla or rose petals, may 
take hours or longer for the best result. Some extracts 
benefit from using alcohol that has been thoroughly 
chilled in the freezer during the tincture process, 
others are best prepared at room temperature. See 
www.extractcraft.com for more information, recipes 
and links and share your own results.

The second step is to simply use the Source to 
separate the plant essence from the tincture.  The 
Source removes the alcohol from the tincture, leaving the 
pure plant essence. The alcohol is captured for reuse.

glass lid

upper seal with
built in slope 
(newest models only)

nickel platted
reservoir cup

collector

lower seal

base

The Source: Main Parts

threaded post

start/stop button
vacuum relief 
screw

For best results and operation use 190-proof 
(95%) or higher food grade ethanol. 

vacuum 
port

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-6
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-222



3  The Source User Manual Source Operation & Making A Plant Extract

MAKING A PLANT EXTRACT
1. INSTALL THE MOBILE APP
The Source app is a great way to monitor
the time, temperature of heat being 
applied, and vacuum. Information for 
installation can be found under
'Mobile App' on page 10.

2. GATHER THE NEEDED SUPPLIES
You will need:

• a glass container
• up to 2 oz. plant matter
• 190-proof grain alcohol
• strainer and filters
• funnel for rebottling the alcohol
• suitable container for storing extract

3. MAKE THE TINCTURE
Place clean plant matter in a clean glass 
container. Divide large pieces into similar 
smaller lengths for good fit. Cover with 
190-proof grain alcohol to about 1/4”
above the plant volume. Allow the plant
matter to soak for 5-20 minutes or more.
See www.extractcraft.com for recipes
specific to your botanicals.

4. UNSCREW THE NICKEL PLATED
RESERVOIR CUP
Reach inside the collector and unscrew the 
reservoir cup from the base.

Make the 
tincture.

Supplies

Install the 
app.

nickel plated
reservoir cup

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-7
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-223



The Source User Manual Source Operation & Making A Plant Extract      4

5. STRAIN THE TINCTURE
Strain the tincture into the reservoir
cup. Use a strainer, coffee filter, or
Buchner funnel to remove particles.

Tip The repeated and thorough filtering
results in a more clear end product.

6. READY THE SOURCE
Place the Source on a flat surface. 
Check that the lower seal is aligned 
with the base. Ensure the outer 
collector is seated properly in the 
recess of the lower seal on the base. A 
vacuum will be formed in the collector, 
so it must make good contact with the 
lower seal.

7. INSTALL THE RESERVOIR CUP
Carefully reach inside the collector 
and gently screw the reservoir cup 
onto the threaded post.

8. PLACE THE LID
Place the lid flat with the wide rubber 
seal facing down and in contact with 
the glass collector rim.

Once the Source is in operation, a 
vacuum is created and the lid will be 
held firmly in place with negative 
pressure.

Screw the
reservoir
cup onto the
threaded
post of the
base lightly.

Place the 
lid on the 
collector.

Ready the 
Source.

Strain the 
tincture into 
the reservoir 
cup.

reservoir cup

 Tip The wider rubber ring
of the upper seal rests on
the rim of the collector. The
narrower rubber ring faces up.

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-8
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-224



5  The Source User Manual  Source Operation & Making A Plant Extract

Turn the screw
fully to the
RIGHT to seal
the chamber.
Never
remove screw

9. PLUG IN THE SOURCE
Plug the Source into a 120 VAC outlet. The
indicator button on the base glows steady
green when the Source has power and is
ready for use. If the button is not lit, then
the Source is not getting power. When
the Source is plugged in, the fan runs to
ventilate the base.

10. SEAL THE VACUUM
Turn the vacuum valve screw fully to the 
right to close the vacuum release valve.

(When turned to the left, the vacuum 
relief opens to allow air into the unit, 
releasing the vacuum seal so the lid may 
be removed.)

11. START THE SOURCE

Normal Mode
Press the green button once or select the 
START PROCESS button on the app to start 
in normal mode.

• 1 slow flash of the green button
indicates the process starting.

• 2 fast flashes indicates stopping.

Turbo Mode
Press and hold the green button on the 
base for a full 3 seconds then release; 2 
slow flashes indicate Turbo mode began.

(When using the app a green comm icon indicates 
the app is com municating  with the Source via 
Bluetooth. A red comm icon indicates no Bluetooth 
communication: see trouble shooting p.15)

Mobile app START PROCESS button 
(When the process is running, the 
same button is for 
STOP PROCESS.)

comm icon

completely.

1 slow flash = starting Normal Mode
2 slow flash = starting Turbo Mode
2 fast flashes = stopping process
Press the green button on the base to 
start the Source or use
the mobile app. 

Plug in 
the Source.

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-9
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-225



The Source User Manual  Source Operation & Making A Plant Ext   r  act 6

If the vacuum isn't 
establishe within 10 
seconds, try pressing 
down on the lid to 
help it seal.

12. CHECK THE VACUUM
When the Source is first started, the 
vacuum pump will run for a few minutes 
until it reaches full vacuum.  When the 
vacuum pump start, press down firmly 
on the lid for 5-10 seconds. This helps to 
seal the chamber while the pump 
creates the vacuum.  After that, the 
pump runs periodically to maintain the 
vacuum.

Use the mobile app to view the vacuum 
level.  The vacuum level value will rise, 
then at maximum vacuum the pump 
will shut off. If a seal is not established 
within 10 seconds, check the following:

• Make sure the vacuum relief
screw, located below the green
button on the base, closed.

• Inspect the lower seal, collector,
and upper seal and adjust them if
needed to achieve better contact.

• Try pressing down on the lid if you
haven’t done so.

• Refer to Troubleshooting on page 15.

13. USING THE ICE TRAY
The ice tray cools the lid to increase
condensation of the alcohol vapor, which
accelerates the extraction process and
allows the vacuum pumps to run less
often. Fill the tray with ice cubes (or with 
water and freeze overnight) place it on
the lid and begin the extraction.

Always use the ice 
tray to help 
condense the 
alcohol, process 
faster, and 
requite less pump 
activity. 

After starting, this 
value will begin to 
quickly rise to 100 
at full vacuum.

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-10
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-226



7  The Source User Manual Source Operation & Making A Plant Extract

14. MONITOR EXTRACTION PROGRESS
Monitor the extraction by watching for alcohol 
condensing on the lid then rolling down the sides 
to accumulate in the collector. The liquid in the 
reservoir cup may or may not boil, but as long as 
condensation is happening on the glass progress 
is being made.  Make sure condensed drops on 
the lid aren't falling back into the reservoir cup.

The vacuum pumps will run periodically to 
maintain the required vacuum level and the heat 
relay will make a clicking sound.  In Turbo mode 
expect the pumps to run more often.

The maximum run time is 120 minutes per cycle. 
It can be restarted mid-cycle or just when it ends 
without the need for a cool-down period. It's very 
important to closely monitor the extraction at the 
end to stop the process at the exact desired 
consistency.

15. WHEN EXTRACTION IS FINISHED
As the alcohol is evaporated from the tincture, it 
accumulates in the collector, and the plant 
extract remains in the reservoir cup.

The extraction can be ended at any point, as a 
tincture, oil, sap, or wax-like substance 
otherwise known as an absolute or concrete. 
The target consistency depends completely on 
preference and intended use.

16. STOP THE SOURCE
Press and release the green button once to 
manually stop the process. On the app, you can 
stop it by selecting the STOP PROCESS button. 

On stopping, the green button on the base 
flashes 2 times quickly.

View heat input temperature, 
vacuum level, and run time 
for the extraction.

Monitor the extraction 
progress. You will see 
the alcohol condensing 
into the collector. About 
4 hours is needed to 
extract the alcohol 
from a completely full 
reservoir.

Closely monitor process during the last 10-20 minutes.
The Source’s temperature will rise above the intended
temperature when the alcohol in the solution is gone and active 
evaporation seises.

Press the button to stop 
the process or use the app 
STOP PROCESS button. 
2 quick flashes indicates 
stopping.

Never leave the Source unattended while 
operating.

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-11
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-227



The Source User Manual Source Operation & Making A Plant Extract      8

17. RELEASE THE VACUUM
Turn the vacuum relief screw to the left
4-full turns (8-half turns) to relieve the
pressure so you can remove the lid in the 
next step — do not remove the screw 
completely. It may take up to 60 seconds 
for pressure to release. Do not force the lid 
off.

18. ALLOW CHAMBER TO COOL
When finished, always allow the collector 
and reservoir cup  to cool before handling.  
If the Source is operated without alcohol 
directly in the cup, the cup will become 
very hot, and require extra time to cool.

19. REMOVE THE EXTRACT
Remove the lid. Unscrew the reservoir 
from the post and transfer the extract into 
a storage container. Store the extract in a 
sealed container away from direct light and 
heat, and out of reach of pets and children.

20. COLLECT ALCOHOL FOR REUSE
If the collector is full enough, spillage may 
occur from the bottom when pouring out. 
Emptying the collector over a large bowl is 
recommended.

Most botanical oils will not leave any taste 
or smell in the reclaimed alcohol, however, 
some may leave a slight trace. If so, reuse 
that alcohol for similar extracts.

Always store alcohol out of reach of pets 
and children and well away from heat, 
combustion, and ignition sources.

Loosen 
screw to the 
left to relieve 
vacuum 
pressure.

Allow 
components
to cool before
handling and 
removing
reservoircup.

Pour
alcohol
from
collector
into a
container
and store
safely for
reuse.

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-12
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-228



9  The Source User Manual Care & Cleaning

The removable parts, including 
the glass lid, upper seal, reservoir 
cup, glass collector, and lower seal, 
should be hand washed with a mild 
soap and water.

The base where the electronics are 
housed can not be put into water 
at any time. To clean the base, 
gently wipe with a damp towel.

Glass lid

Narrow ring
of the upper seal

CARE FOR THE SOURCE:
It's very important to remember the Source is an advanced piece of
technology and requires a certain degree of care to keep it in top
operating condition.

Glass Globe:  The glass globe will chip or crack if dropped or with a collision 
against another object. If any damage occurs the ability for a vacuum to form may 
become impossible. If this happens replacement globes are available for purchase.

Crucible Cup:  The Crucible must never be tightened down onto the heating post.
Lightly turn the cup onto the threaded heating post until it meets resistance and stop 
turning.  Never use damaged or flaking cups, replacements are available for 
purchase.
Vacuum Relief Screw:  NEVER REMOVE the screw all the way. To release the
vacuum turn only 4 full turns to the left and wait for the pressure to equalize.
Removing the screw can result in cross threading and will make creating a vacuum 
impossible. If this happens send the unit back to ExtractCraft for repairs, but it's not 
covered under the manufacture defects warranty.
Green Button:  Keep green button clean and clear of any debris or sticky elements.  
If the button becomes stuck, you can use a small amount of alcohol on a cotton 
swap then let dry over night.  If free movement is not restored, send back to 
ExtractCraft for repairs.

CLEAN THE SOURCE

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-13
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-229



The Source User Manual  Mobile App  10  

MOBILE APP
The mobile app works on Android or iOS mobile devices. It operates with the Source via Bluetooth and allows 
you to monitor time, temperature, vacuum, and confirm the altitude setting, as well as start and stop the unit.

INSTALLING THE MOBILE APP
Download the mobile app from 
your app store. 

For the Google Play store, tap the 
search bar and enter Extractcraft. 

Tap The Source by Extractcraft 
app, then tap INSTALL. Tap ACCEPT 
to allow the app to use Bluetooth.

For iOS, use search to find The 
Source by Extractcraft app, then 
tap the Source app, and under the 
app image, tap GET.

Once you have the app installed, you 
should see the Source app icon on 
your device.

CONFIRM BLUETOOTH ON
Use Settings to verify that you have 
Bluetooth ON. 

LAUNCH THE SOURCE APP
Once the Source app is downloaded tap the 
icon to launch the app.

comm icon

A green icon indicates when communication has been 
established with the Source. 

A red icon indicates no Bluetooth connection.  If this 
happens, confirm your mobile device Bluetooth is ON and 
make sure the Source has power and the green light is 
illuminated.

A blinking red/green icon means the Bluetooth connection 
is weak and the app is having trouble maintaining 
connectivity

OR

Be sure the Source is 
plugged in and receiving 
power before attempting 
to connect and pair the 
mobile app

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-14
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-230



11  The Source User Manual  Mobile App

The opening screen 
may open without an 
available device 
visible.  Tap the red 
phone icon at the top 
right of the screen to 
activate the 'SELECT 
APPLIANCE' screen  

The Select Appliance 
screen will come up 
and display the  
devices available to 
choose from.  Tap on 
the device you would 
like to monitor.

If the device you 
would like to monitor 
is not appearing as 
an available option 
touch the green, 
circular refresh icon 
at the top right and 
all available devices 
will appear.  Touch 
the device you wish 
to monitor.

From the Process 
Controls screen you 
can start the Source 
in normal mode, 
monitor the progress 
of the extraction, and 
stop the process.

1
The 'Src_####' 
number that 
appears on the 
display identifies  
available units.  
The four digits 
correspond to the 
last four digits of 
the unit's s/n found 
on the back of the 
base.

2

3 4

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-15
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-231

troyivan
Line

troyivan
Line

troyivan
Line

troyivan
Sticky Note
Unmarked set by troyivan



The Source User Manual  Mobile App  12  

START/STOP PROCESS BUTTON
Select this button to start or stop the  
process.  The green illuminated button on 
the base of the unit will flash to confirm 
the app's command.

INTERPRETING THE DISPLAY VALUESINTERPRETING THE DISPLAY VALUES
Process Process control readouts control readouts for for the the Source Source areare  available from the Controlavailable from the Control  
screen:screen:

Current Temp, FCurrent Temp, F::  Displays the heat beingDisplays the heat being  pumped into the unit at anypumped into the unit at any  
given time.  When the heater is at rest it may display a low value, andgiven time.  When the heater is at rest it may display a low value, and  
when it is active it may display a higher value.  Those heat input tempswhen it is active it may display a higher value.  Those heat input temps  
change to keep the alcohol in the cup at a constant 100change to keep the alcohol in the cup at a constant 100°°FF-105-105°°FF..  

Vacuum levelVacuum level  %:%:  Indicates the current vacuum asIndicates the current vacuum as  a percentage of totala percentage of total  
achievable vacuum.  The internal controls will determine when itachievable vacuum.  The internal controls will determine when it''ss  
necessary for the pumps to engage and reestablish 100%.necessary for the pumps to engage and reestablish 100%.

Time Left, Min:Time Left, Min:  Shows the time remaining for theShows the time remaining for the  current cycle.  This cancurrent cycle.  This can  
be reset to the max 120 min by turning the machine off and on.be reset to the max 120 min by turning the machine off and on.

Altitude, Ft:Altitude, Ft:  Reflects the default altitude that hasReflects the default altitude that has  been programmed intobeen programmed into  
the unit.  If the displayedthe unit.  If the displayed  value is not the closest 1,000 feet of elevationvalue is not the closest 1,000 feet of elevation  
forfor  where you are located, follow the Altitude Tuningwhere you are located, follow the Altitude Tuning  directions on pagedirections on page  
13 to set accordingly.13 to set accordingly.

Current Source:Current Source:  This This area area lists lists the the ExtractCraftExtractCraft  Source unit that isSource unit that is 
connecteconnected and being monitored.  The four digits displayed coincide with 
the last four digits of the s/n of the unit found on the backside of the unit.

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-16
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-232



13  The Source User Manual  ALTITUDE TUNING

ALTITUDE TUNING
In order for your Source to perform at its full potential it’s very important to program the elevation where it will 
be used to the closest 1,000 feet of elevation.  Once you program an elevation it will remain as the default until it’s 
manually changed to a different elevation. 

DETERMINING ELEVATION

STEPS TO PROGRAM ELEVATION

Option 1- Ask Siri “What’s my current elevation?”

Option 2- Visit www.whatismyelevation.com and enter your current location.

1) Plug in the Source and wait for the green lighted button to illuminate.

2) Push and hold the button for a full 10-seconds and release.

3) Observe the lighted button flash quickly 10-times.

4) Push the button once for every 1,000 feet of elevation up to 8,000 feet:

Sea Level.................no pushing (just wait for 10-seconds)

1,000-feet...............1-time

2,000-feet...............2-times

3,000-feet...............3-times

4,000-feet...............4-times

5,000-feet...............5-times

6,000-feet...............6-times

7,000-feet...............7-times

8,000-feet...............8-times

5) After entering your elevation the Source will pause for 10-seconds and the green lighted button will
flash the same number of times it was pushed, once for every 1,000 feet.

6) If the Source repeats back the correct number of flashes you’re finished and ready to start your extract
crafting.  If it's incorrect repeat steps 1-6 again. The elevation setting is stored permanently until the
elevation is reprogrammed.

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-17
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-233



The Source User Manual  Botanical Recipes  14  

BOTANICAL RECIPES
ROSE EXTRACT
Ingredients: 100 grams dried rose petals, 12 oz.  
food-grade, grain alcohol of 190-proof (95%) alcohol 

Tincture directions: Fill mason jar with rose petals. Fill 
alcohol to 1” above the level of the petals. Allow rose 
petal tincture to soak for 36 hours.

Strain tincture into Source reservoir cup. Follow typical 
extraction process. 

LAVENDER EXTRACT
Ingredients: 20 grams of lavender, 12 oz. food-grade, 
grain alcohol of 190-proof (95%) alcohol

Tincture directions: Fill jar with cleaned lavender, hand 
break or crush the leaves, do not grind. Cover to 1/4” 
past the plant volume with alcohol. Allow tincture to 
soak for 30 minutes.

Strain tincture into Source reservoir cup. Follow typical 
extraction process. 

PEACH HABANERO OIL MARGARITA ADDITIVE
Ingredients:  3 ripe peaches (pitted), 2 habanero 
peppers (remove stems), 7 oz. of freezer chilled  
food-grade, grain alcohol of 190-proof (95%) alcohol 

Tincture directions: Blend all ingredients for 5 seconds 
in blender. Allow the mixture to soak 30 minutes.

Strain tincture into Source reservoir cup. Follow typical 
extraction process. 

For this volume, the processing will take 240 minutes. 
Restart the Source after it automatically stops after 
120 minutes. Check the consistency and taste, and 
continue to your desired result for the peach habanero 
extract. 

Add full solution directly to a full bottle of tequila or 
add 1–5 drops per drink.

LAVENDER, CAYENNE, LEMON TOPICAL RUB
Ingredients: 28 grams lavender, 2 dried cayenne 
peppers, 1/4 cup dried lemon peel, 5-7 oz. chilled food-
grade, grain alcohol of 190-proof (95%) from freezer.

Tincture directions: Use an 8 oz. mason jar in which to 
combine all ingredients. Allow soak time of 30 minutes.

Strain tincture into Source reservoir cup. Follow typical 
extraction process. Processing should take 90 minutes. 
Stop the processing. Pour in bottle and allow the extract 
to settle before use.

Use oil directly on sore muscles or mix with coconut oil 
for topical cream.

Optionally you can prepare separate oils of lavender, 
cayenne (be careful!), and lemon. Warm up coconut 
oil to soft but not melted consistency, mix in lavender, 
cayenne, lemon oil and allow it to cool.

SOAK TIMES FOR TINCTURES 
The following are some general times for soaking 
your tinctures that may help your results.

3–5 MINUTES ...............................................................
Hops Basil Ground Coffee Mint
Thyme Oregano Ground Vanilla

30 MINUTES .................................................................
Cayenne Jalapeno Habanero
Resins Lobelia Citronella
Aloe Vera Clove Rosemary
Lavender Eucalyptus Star Anise

12 HOURS .....................................................................
Propolis Avocado Nuts 
Dried Fruit Marcuja

24–96 HOURS ...............................................................
Rose Petal Oak Dried Citrus Peel Pine 
Dried Beans Cedar Whole Roots 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-18
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-234



15  The Source User Manual  Troubleshooting

TROUBLESHOOTING

Problem Possible cause Solution
Vacuum 
pump runs 
continually

Outer collector is not 
sealing.

Check the lower seal and collector are securely in place and clear of 
any debris. Try pressing down on the lid gently while the vacuum pump 
is running.  Confirm the pressure relief screw is turned fully to the right 
and has not been crossthreaded. Use the mobile app to view the 
vacuum level. When the pump is running, the vacuum level should be 
steadily rising and will turn off when it reaches 100%.  If the problem 
persists inspect the glass cylinder composing the collector for chips 
and damage.  If the glass is obstructed or damaged a vacuum seal is 
not possible.

Comm icon 
in mobile 
app is red

Bluetooth not on/
Source not pairing

Check your mobile device settings and make sure you have Bluetooth ON. 
Plug in the Source and make sure the green light on the base is ON before 
launching the Source app.

The Source 
process 
turned off 
but the 
extraction 
is not 
finished

Automatic shut 
down due to time 
allowance 

The Source process runs for a maximum of 120 minutes, then 
automatically shuts off. To run a longer extraction, simply restart it by 
pressing the green button or by using START PROCESS from the mobile 
app.

Power outage or 
circut breaker

To restart, unplug the Source and allow it to cool. Once it is cool, plug it 
back in and restart the process.

Green light
does not
illuminate

The power cord is 
not plugged in/outlet 
not getting power

Check that the power cord is firmly plugged into the outlet. Check your 
breaker or switches that control your outlet. Test another appliance in that 
outlet to verify it is working.

Cannot 
tell if the 
process is 
running 

Green button is lit, 
but the Source is 
quiet.

Once the Source has been started, if you are unsure whether the process
is stopped or running, you can check two ways: observing the green 
illuminated button which will blink once every 10-15 seconds when in 
operation; or by using the app to view the status.

Green light
continuous

 flashing

Safety shut off Contact customer service at info@extractcraft.com or call  (720) 307-8628

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-19
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-235



The Source User Manual  Technical Specifications  16  

TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS
Performance: Processes 1/2- 2 oz of 
dry material 

Power: 110-120 VAC 60 Hz, 2.1 A

Connectivity: Bluetooth BLE

Dimensions: The Source stands 10-inches tall. 
The base is 7-inches long by 7-inches wide.

Safety Feature: 120 minute maximum run time per 
start

WARRANTY
Extractcraft shall repair or replace the Source, in its sole discretion, for any manufacturing defect for a period of 12 
months from shipment of the device when purchased from ExtractCraft or an authorized dealer defined in the 
“AUTHORIZED SELLER” section below.

We strongly urge caution when purchasing from Amazon and Ebay.  Amazon and Ebay online purchases from 
sellers not included in the "AUTHORIZED SELLERS" list below will not be covered by the ExtractCraft warranty and 
will not be eligible to be serviced by ExtractCraft.  ExtractCraft reserves the right to update and amend the 
Authorized Sellers list without notice.  The ExtractCraft warranty does not cover purchases outside of our 
authorized dealers and units will not be eligible for servicing by ExtractCraft. 

AUTHORIZED SELLERS: All brick and mortar store sellers.  All independent website online sellers. ExtractCraft on 
Amazon.  Focus Camera on Amazon.  ALL other Amazon and Ebay sellers are UNAUTHORIZED and will not be 
covered by warranty or serviced by ExtractCraft. 

GLOSSARY

absolutes aromatic concentrated oily mixtures 

extracted from plants requiring the use 
of solvent extraction techniques 

concrete a more concentrated form than 
absolutes, resulting in a wax-like 
substance 

flash point  temperature at which a compound gives 

off sufficient vapor to ignite in air

tincture a solution of plant matter in alcohol 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-20
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-236



ExtractCraft.com | 720-307-8628 | info@ExtractCraft.com | Like us on Facebook 

TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f AMEND-21
AMENDMENT ---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-237



                               City of Nevada City 

 
City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

 

 
 
 
TO:    Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
 
MEETING DATE:  April 19, 2019 

RE: Thrive Society, LLC - Medical Cannabis Manufacturing and Distribution Business 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Redacted Application 
2. Recommended Conditions of Approval  
3. Memorandum on Nevada City Medical Cannabis Business Regulations 
4. Zoning Verification Letter 

 
APPLICATION REVIEW: The subject application was submitted on February 12, 2018. 
Notification and an invitation to review and comment was sent to the Fire Chief, the Police Chief, our 
consulting attorney, the City Engineer, the City Manager, the Environmental Health Department, the 
Building Department,  and to the Planning Commissioners. Redacted versions of the application are 
attached to the staff report.  After the initial agency review, the applicant responded to staff requests 
for clarification, which has been included in the attached application.  Agency comments have been 
provided to the planning commission and if applicable have been  incorporated into the conditions of 
approval.  
 
PROJECT PROPOSAL: Thrive Society, LLC is managed by Basil McMahon, Danielle Dao, and 
Ella Alpina.  Their operation involves a mechanical extraction process, involving pressure, heat, and/or 
agitation machinery to remove cannabinoid oil from raw product to produce concentrates as a finished 
product, and also produce edible and topical products infused with concentrates. They are also 
proposing to occasionally partner with other permitted medical cannabis manufacturers to provide co-
packing services.  The applicant is proposing to distribute their own licensed product, as well as third-
party licensed products and they are requesting that the commission consider a request to expand the 
hours of their operation to 7AM to 7PM, seven days a week. The request for expanded hours is 
primarily to accommodate the distribution component of their business.  They plan to use a maximum 
of two primary distribution vehicle and one secondary vehicle, all of which will also be used as 
commuting vehicles by personnel and will not require additional parking accommodation beyond staff 
parking needs. The building manager has allocated 14 parking spaces, which is fewer than staff’s 
calculated ratio of facility spaces per square foot of lease area and will be reiterated in the conditions of 
approval. The applicant has provided documentation that this number of spaces will accommodate 
their business operations.  
 
All finished products will include labels that are compliant with State medical cannabis labeling 
standards. A background check has been conducted on Dao, and Alpina and no disqualifying 
information was reported pursuant to Section 9.22.090 (M) of the City Municipal Code. McMahon is 
expected to provide staff with additional requested information prior to the planning commission 
meeting, at which time staff will provide the commission a determination on his qualifying status.  

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-238



Cannabis Businesses –Thrive Society 
138 New Mohawk 
April 19, 2018 
Page 2 of 3 
 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

The facility will be video surveilled in accordance with their application and Section 9.22.090 of the 
City Municipal Code. The Police Department has provided recommendations to the applicant, 
including an inspection of the facility prior to tenant improvements.. The Police Chief or designee will 
conduct an inspection of the facility prior to the city’s issuance of a medical cannabis business permit.  
 
LOCATION: The local ordinance allows medical cannabis manufacturing, distribution, testing 
laboratory, and cultivation businesses only in the Light Industrial (LI) zoning district.  The proposed 
manufacturing and distribution business is proposed at 138 New Mohawk Road on the second floor of 
the building, encompassing several suites on the east side, totaling 4,900 square feet. Several other 
tenants, many of which are prospective medical cannabis business applicants, also occupy the building. 
Caltrans occupies the lower floor for office use. Other nearby businesses uses include manufacturing 
and assembly, a campground, the railroad museum, a home study program, and general office use.  A 
Zoning Verification letter has been issued for this business at the proposed location, verifying that the 
site meets local zoning and locational requirements of the Nevada City Ordinance Section 17.142 of 
the City Municipal Code. 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

 
1) Make a Motion to find the project exempt pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15301 (existing 

facilities) because the building is already existing and the proposed manufacturing and self-
distribution use is consistent with the principal permitted uses allowed in the Light Industrial 
Zoning District pursuant to Section 17.48.020, and there is no expansion of use  beyond what is 
already considered a  permitted use.  
  

2) Make a Motion to approve the application as presented to authorize a medical cannabis business 
permit to Thrive Society, LLC for a manufacturing (cold-water extraction, infusion) and 
distribution operation at 138 New Mohawk  , subject to the recommended Conditions of Approval, 
attached, as may be  modified by the planning commission, making the following findings 

 
a) As presented and conditioned, there is no reasonable argument that approval of the application 

is likely to be detrimental to the city, taking into account any health, safety, and welfare 
impacts on the community.    
 

b) Finding that the application is consistent with Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal 
Code.   
 

OR 
 
Make a Motion to reject the application for a medical cannabis business permit to Thrive Society, 
LLC finding that the application is not consistent with Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal 
Code.   
 
OR 
 
Make a Motion to continue the decision for authorization of a medical cannabis business permit to 
Thrive Society, LLC with direction to the applicant regarding any inadequacies of their application 
that must be addressed.   
 

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-239



Cannabis Businesses –Thrive Society 
138 New Mohawk 
April 19, 2018 
Page 3 of 3 
 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

 

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-240



RECOMMEDED AMENDED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
Thrive Society, LLC, 138 New Mohawk (second level, east side) 

 
A. PLANNING DEPARTMENT 
 
1. Provide proof of California State Licensing that verifies the license type(s) issued. 
 
2. Prior to commencing operations, you are required to complete all tenant improvements as 

detailed in your application. A medical cannabis business shall be subject to a mandatory 
building inspection, and must obtain all required permits and approvals which would otherwise 
be required for any business of the same size and intensity operating in that zone. This includes 
but is not limited to obtaining any required building permit(s), fire department approvals, 
Environmental Health Department approvals and other zoning and land use permit(s) and 
approvals. 

 
3. Provide evidence of the right to occupy and to use the property for purposes of a medical cannabis 

manufacturing business. As a condition precedent to the City's issuance of a medical cannabis 
business permit pursuant to this Chapter, any person intending to open and to operate a medical 
cannabis business shall provide sufficient evidence of the legal right to occupy and to use the 
proposed location.  

 
4. Execute an agreement, in a form approved by the city attorney, agreeing to indemnify, defend 

(at applicant's sole cost and expense), and hold the City of Nevada City, and its officers, officials, 
employees, representatives, and agents, harmless, from any and all claims, losses, damages, 
injuries, liabilities or losses which arise out of, or which are in any way related to, the City's 
issuance of the medical cannabis business permit, the City's decision to approve the operation of 
the medical cannabis business or activity, to process used by the City in making its decision, or 
the alleged violation of any federal, state or local laws by the medical cannabis business or any 
of its officers, employees or agents. 

 
5. Provide proof of liability insurance and liability agreement. You are required to maintain 

insurance at coverage limits, and with conditions thereon determined necessary and appropriate 
from time to time by the city attorney. 

 
6. Operation of your business shall be consistent with the submitted application material or as 

otherwise presented at the public meeting and as approved by the planning commission.  

 
7. Your business is allotted no more than 14 parking spaces per your agreement with the building 

manager and based on the stated needs to accommodate your manufacturing and distribution 
business.  Parking allotment is intended to accommodate all employees, distribution vehicles, 
vendors, and visitors of the subject business. 

8. Cannabis Manufacturing: Edibles and Other Cannabis Products; Sale or Distribution of Edible 
and Other Cannabis Products. The manufacturing of food or other products infused with or which 
otherwise contain cannabis may be manufactured within the appropriate manufacturing zoning 
districts Section 17.142 of the Nevada City Municipal Code, subject to the regulations set forth in 
this Chapter, and subject to whatever additional regulations may be promulgated hereunder by an 
ordinance or resolution of the City Council 

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-241



9. Packaging and Labeling: 

a. Before a medical cannabis manufacturer delivers any edible cannabis or edible 
cannabis product to a dispensary, the same shall be labeled and placed in tamper-
evident packaging which at least meets the requirements of California Business and 
Professions Code section 19347, as the same may be amended from time-to-time or 
superseded or replaced by subsequent State legislation or by any department or 
division of the State of California 

b. All items to be sold or distributed shall be individually wrapped at the original 
point of preparation by the business permitted as a medical cannabis manufacturer 

c. Labeling must include a warning if nuts or other known allergens are used, and 
must include the total weight (in ounces or grams) of cannabis in the package 

d. A warning that the item is a medication and not a food must be clearly legible on 
the front of the package 

e. The package must have a label warning that the product is to be kept away from 
children 

f. The label must also state that the product contains cannabis and must specify the 
date of manufacture 

g. Any edible cannabis product that is made to resemble a typical food product must 
be in a properly labeled opaque (non-see-through) package before it leaves the 
medical marijuana manufacturing business 

h. Deliveries must be in a properly labeled opaque package when delivered 

i. The City Council may impose additional packaging and labeling requirements on 
cannabis or cannabis products by resolution, as permitted by law 

B. ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 

1 Unless  authorized by separate waste discharge requirements, the Cannabis General Order, or a 
CWA section 404 permit, the following discharges are prohibited: 
 

o Any waste that could affect the quality of the waters of the state. 
 

o Any wastewater discharge to City sewer that contains excessive nutrients (e.g., 
phosphate or nitrate), salinity constituents (e.g., sodium, chloride, potassium, 
calcium, sulfate, magnesium), constituents (e.g., iron, manganese, zinc, 
molybdenum, boron, and silver) or chemicals 

 

C. FIRE DEPARTMENT 

1. The occupancy classification shall be determined as a Group F (Factory Industrial). Group F 
occupancies include those intended for the purpose of assembling, disassembling, 
fabricating, finishing, manufacturing, packaging, repair or processing operations that not 
classified as Group H or S. 

 

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-242



2. Note that NFPA 1 is not recognized by the California Building or Fire Codes. However, it is 
recommended that NFPA 1 Chapter 38, Marijuana Growing, Processing or Extraction Facilities, 
be used to determine fire protection requirements not covered in the California Fire Code (CFC). 

 
3. Fire extinguishers with a minimum rating of 2-A: 10-B: C shall be provided such that no point in 

the building is further than 75-foot travel distance to an extinguisher. 
 

4. A Class K fire extinguisher shall be provided within 30 feet of the commercial cooking 
equipment. 

 
5. The existing fire sprinkler system shall be reviewed by a fire protection contractor or specialist for 

proper coverage. Sprinklers in the production, storage, shipping and receiving areas shall be spaced 
for Ordinary Hazard Occupancy per NFPA 13; 130 square feet per sprinkler maximum. The existing 
usage of the space is offices which are considered Light Hazard Occupancy (225 square feet per 
sprinkler maximum). Hydraulic calculations may be required. Fire sprinkler plans shall be submitted 
to the Fire Department by a licensed C-16. 

 
6. Plans and specifications for the Fike’s FAAST early warning fire detection system, mentioned on 

page 106 of the proposal, shall be submitted to the Fire Department for review. 
 

7. Plans and specifications for the kitchen hood fire system, described on page 34 of the 
proposal, shall be submitted to the Fire Department for review. 

 
8. Air-moving systems supplying air in excess of 2000 cubic feet per minute to enclosed spaces 

within the building shall be equipped with an automatic shut. 
 

9. There appears to be no volatile extraction processes taking place with in this facility. If any 
volatile extraction operations are to take place, details shall be submitted for review and approval 
prior to conducting any extraction processes. 

 
10. Keys shall be provided to access all spaces to be placed into the facility Knox box. 

 
 

D. COUNTY ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH DEPARTMENT 

1. The Nevada County Environmental Health Department does not have any opposition to the 
proposed applications. All hazardous materials stored, utilized and wastes generated as a result of 
the manufacturing operations will require permitting through the Environmental Health 
Department CUPA program per California Health and Safety Code. Retail sales of edible food 
product requirements will be determined upon the approval of the County of Nevada Cannabis 
Ordinance. 

2. The manufacturing operation must adhere to existing California Department of Public Health - 
Manufactured Cannabis Safety Branch (MCSB) regulations governing the manufacture of 
cannabis-infused edibles for both medical and nonmedical use. The regulations released on 
November 16, 2017. 

3. Any retail medical cannabis operation, in conjunction with the manufacturing operation, must be 
licensed with the Bureau of Cannabis Control. 

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-243



4. The applicant andlor facility operator must adhere to all applicable codes and regulations 
regarding the storage of hazardous materials and the generation of hazardous wastes set forth in 
California Health and Safety Code Section 25500-25519 and 25100- 25258.2 including the 
electronic reporting requirement to the California Environmental Reporting System (CERS). 

5. The applicant and/or facility operator must apply for and obtain a permit for the storage of 
hazardous materials and the generation of hazardous wastes from the Nevada County Department 
of Environmental Health (NCDEH), Certified Unified Program Agency (CUPA). 

6. The applicant and/or facility operator shall secure and annually renew the permit for this facility 
within 30 days of becoming subject to applicable regulations. Routine compliance inspections, 
conducted by NCDEH inspectors, will occur at the facility and compliance inspections are 
typically unannounced inspections during regular business hours: Monday -Friday, 8:00am -
5:00pm. 

7. The County of Nevada Cannabis Ordinance, once codified, may require additional permitting, 
registration and reporting to the Environmental Health Department. 

E. POLICE DEPARTMENT 

1 Prior to tenant improvements, the Police Chief or designee shall conducted a walk-through of the 
facility and make security recommendations.  The final security plan shall be prepared and 
submitted to the Police Chief for review and approval. 
 

2 The applicant shall provide a copy of the contract with their security company and shall clarify 
whether there will be one or two security guards on site.  
 

3 The police Chief shall inspect the facility prior to issuance of a local medical cannabis business 
permit.  

---------------------------
RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-244



1 

Lyle ‘Basil’ McMahon 
Soon-to-be R&R Goods, Inc. 
(Formerly Thrive Society)  
 138 New Mohawk Rd. #270 
Nevada City, CA 95959 
basil@rnrgoods.com 
541-602-8812

To: 
Amy Wolfson 
Nevada City Planning Department 
Amy.wolfson@nevadacityca.gov 

October 7, 2019 
Notification- Change of Owners, Change of Business Name 

Dear Mrs. Wolfson, 

I am writing to provide your Department notice of a change in ownership, contact information, and the 
name of our business entity.  

Our company has recently reached an amicable settlement agreement with one of our owners. As a part 
of the terms of the settlement, we have agreed to carry out certain changes in ownership, management, 
and the use of Company brand IP which I wanted to notify you of. 

I shall be providing a similar letter of notice to the Department of Public Health- Manufactured Cannabis 
Safety Branch, as well as the Bureau of Cannabis Control. 

The changes are as follows: 

1. Change in Ownership
- As a part of the settlement agreement, Ms. Danielle Dao will be discontinuing all involvement in

our Company. From this point going forwards, she is no longer a Director, officer, or involved in
management.

- In keeping with the terms of the settlement agreed to by our Company, Ms. Dao has resigned
from the Board of Directors, and the shareholders have voted to elect the following individuals as
Directors going forward:

o Lyle ‘Basil’ McMahon (continuing on)
o Hezekiah D. Allen (becoming a new Director and Owner)

 DOB 7/26/1983, CA DL #D1835623
o Graham Burke (becoming a new Director and Owner)

 DOB 3/23/78, CA DL# D5330485

We expect that Mr. Allen and Mr. Burke will need to submit Live Scans and perform other such tasks 
as required of Owners when being added to our permit, so do please advise as to what steps they 
should take. 

Separate and apart from the Settlement Agreement between our Company and Ms. Dao, Ella Alpina 
is no longer a director, officer, or involved in management of our Company, and as such, in our 
estimation, should also no longer be considered an owner on our permit, either. 

AMENDMENT 2
---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-245

mailto:l.basil.mcmahon@gmail.com


2 

2. Change in Contact Information
In keeping with the change of business name outlined in #4 and #5 below, we have agreed to
discontinue use of any web domains making use of the phrase “Thrive Society”. As such, we would
like to update our contact information on file to:

Primary owner contact:
Lyle ‘Basil’ McMahon
basil@rnrgoods.com
541-602-8812

Business contact: 
frontdesk@rnrgoods.com 
415-484-2646

3. Change in Name or Legal Business Name
As a part of the settlement, our Company has agreed to transfer to Ms. Dao the exclusive use and
ownership of the trade name “Thrive Society” and all associated brand IP. Further to this point, we
have agreed to change the legal business name of our Company such that it no longer includes the
words or phrase “Thrive Society”.

Accordingly, we have filed a name change request with the California Secretary of State, to change
the legal business name of our Company to “R&R Goods, Inc.” We have not yet received
confirmation that this name change request has been processed, although we anticipate hearing
back from them within 7-10 days.

4. Change in DBA/FBN
As a part of the settlement, our Company has agreed to transfer to Ms. Dao the exclusive use and
ownership of the trade name “Thrive Society” and all associated brand IP. Further to this point, we
have agreed to surrender the Fictitious Business Name “Thrive Society” that was registered with the
County of Nevada Clerk-Recorder’s Office.

We have filed for two new DBA/ FBNs to operate under:
Rough & Ready Holdings
Rough & Ready Goods

For the purposes of referring to our business, “Rough & Ready Goods” will be our preferred trade
name.

If any of these changes should require us to return to the planning commission for an amendment to our 
cannabis business permit, we would be happy to do so. Do please let me know if you have any questions 
or require any further information. Thank you! 

Best Regards, 

Lyle ‘Basil’ McMahon 
Soon-to-be R&R Goods, Inc. 
(Formerly Thrive Society)  

AMENDMENT 2
---------------------------

RRG-Mnv.Cp.Df.-246

mailto:basil@rnrgoods.com
mailto:frontdesk@rnrgoods.com


RECOMMEDED AMENDED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
R&R Goods, Inc., 138 New Mohawk (second level, east side) 

 
A. PLANNING DEPARTMENT 
 
1. Provide proof of California State Licensing that verifies the license type(s) issued. 
 
2. Prior to commencing operations, you are required to complete all tenant improvements as 

detailed in your application. A medical cannabis business shall be subject to a mandatory 
building inspection, and must obtain all required permits and approvals which would otherwise 
be required for any business of the same size and intensity operating in that zone. This includes 
but is not limited to obtaining any required building permit(s), fire department approvals, 
Environmental Health Department approvals and other zoning and land use permit(s) and 
approvals. 

 
3. Provide evidence of the right to occupy and to use the property for purposes of a medical cannabis 

manufacturing business. As a condition precedent to the City's issuance of a medical cannabis 
business permit pursuant to this Chapter, any person intending to open and to operate a medical 
cannabis business shall provide sufficient evidence of the legal right to occupy and to use the 
proposed location.  

 
4. Execute an agreement, in a form approved by the city attorney, agreeing to indemnify, defend 

(at applicant's sole cost and expense), and hold the City of Nevada City, and its officers, officials, 
employees, representatives, and agents, harmless, from any and all claims, losses, damages, 
injuries, liabilities or losses which arise out of, or which are in any way related to, the City's 
issuance of the medical cannabis business permit, the City's decision to approve the operation of 
the medical cannabis business or activity, to process used by the City in making its decision, or 
the alleged violation of any federal, state or local laws by the medical cannabis business or any 
of its officers, employees or agents. 

 
5. Provide proof of liability insurance and liability agreement. You are required to maintain 

insurance at coverage limits, and with conditions thereon determined necessary and appropriate 
from time to time by the city attorney. 

 
6. Operation of your business shall be consistent with the submitted application material or as 

otherwise presented at the public meeting and as approved by the planning commission.  

 
7. Your business is allotted no more than 14 parking spaces per your agreement with the building 

manager and based on the stated needs to accommodate your manufacturing and distribution 
business.  Parking allotment is intended to accommodate all employees, distribution vehicles, 
vendors, and visitors of the subject business. 

8. Cannabis Manufacturing: Edibles and Other Cannabis Products; Sale or Distribution of Edible 
and Other Cannabis Products. The manufacturing of food or other products infused with or which 
otherwise contain cannabis may be manufactured within the appropriate manufacturing zoning 
districts Section 17.142 of the Nevada City Municipal Code, subject to the regulations set forth in 
this Chapter, and subject to whatever additional regulations may be promulgated hereunder by an 
ordinance or resolution of the City Council 



9. Packaging and Labeling: 

a. Before a medical cannabis manufacturer delivers any edible cannabis or edible 
cannabis product to a dispensary, the same shall be labeled and placed in tamper-
evident packaging which at least meets the requirements of California Business and 
Professions Code section 19347, as the same may be amended from time-to-time or 
superseded or replaced by subsequent State legislation or by any department or 
division of the State of California 

b. All items to be sold or distributed shall be individually wrapped at the original 
point of preparation by the business permitted as a medical cannabis manufacturer 

c. Labeling must include a warning if nuts or other known allergens are used, and 
must include the total weight (in ounces or grams) of cannabis in the package 

d. A warning that the item is a medication and not a food must be clearly legible on 
the front of the package 

e. The package must have a label warning that the product is to be kept away from 
children 

f. The label must also state that the product contains cannabis and must specify the 
date of manufacture 

g. Any edible cannabis product that is made to resemble a typical food product must 
be in a properly labeled opaque (non-see-through) package before it leaves the 
medical marijuana manufacturing business 

h. Deliveries must be in a properly labeled opaque package when delivered 

i. The City Council may impose additional packaging and labeling requirements on 
cannabis or cannabis products by resolution, as permitted by law 

B. ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 

1 Unless  authorized by separate waste discharge requirements, the Cannabis General Order, or a 
CWA section 404 permit, the following discharges are prohibited: 
 

o Any waste that could affect the quality of the waters of the state. 
 

o Any wastewater discharge to City sewer that contains excessive nutrients (e.g., 
phosphate or nitrate), salinity constituents (e.g., sodium, chloride, potassium, 
calcium, sulfate, magnesium), constituents (e.g., iron, manganese, zinc, 
molybdenum, boron, and silver) or chemicals 

 

C. FIRE DEPARTMENT 

1. The occupancy classification shall be determined as a Group F (Factory Industrial). Group F 
occupancies include those intended for the purpose of assembling, disassembling, 
fabricating, finishing, manufacturing, packaging, repair or processing operations that not 
classified as Group H or S. 

 



2. Note that NFPA 1 is not recognized by the California Building or Fire Codes. However, it is 
recommended that NFPA 1 Chapter 38, Marijuana Growing, Processing or Extraction Facilities, 
be used to determine fire protection requirements not covered in the California Fire Code (CFC). 

 
3. Fire extinguishers with a minimum rating of 2-A: 10-B: C shall be provided such that no point in 

the building is further than 75-foot travel distance to an extinguisher. 
 

4. A Class K fire extinguisher shall be provided within 30 feet of the commercial cooking 
equipment. 

 
5. The existing fire sprinkler system shall be reviewed by a fire protection contractor or specialist for 

proper coverage. Sprinklers in the production, storage, shipping and receiving areas shall be spaced 
for Ordinary Hazard Occupancy per NFPA 13; 130 square feet per sprinkler maximum. The existing 
usage of the space is offices which are considered Light Hazard Occupancy (225 square feet per 
sprinkler maximum). Hydraulic calculations may be required. Fire sprinkler plans shall be submitted 
to the Fire Department by a licensed C-16. 

 
6. Plans and specifications for the Fike’s FAAST early warning fire detection system, mentioned on 

page 106 of the proposal, shall be submitted to the Fire Department for review. 
 

7. Plans and specifications for the kitchen hood fire system, described on page 34 of the 
proposal, shall be submitted to the Fire Department for review. 

 
8. Air-moving systems supplying air in excess of 2000 cubic feet per minute to enclosed spaces 

within the building shall be equipped with an automatic shut. 
 

9. There appears to be no volatile extraction processes taking place with in this facility. If any 
volatile extraction operations are to take place, details shall be submitted for review and approval 
prior to conducting any extraction processes. 

 
10. Keys shall be provided to access all spaces to be placed into the facility Knox box. 

 
 

D. COUNTY ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH DEPARTMENT 

1. The Nevada County Environmental Health Department does not have any opposition to the 
proposed applications. All hazardous materials stored, utilized and wastes generated as a result of 
the manufacturing operations will require permitting through the Environmental Health 
Department CUPA program per California Health and Safety Code. Retail sales of edible food 
product requirements will be determined upon the approval of the County of Nevada Cannabis 
Ordinance. 

2. The manufacturing operation must adhere to existing California Department of Public Health - 
Manufactured Cannabis Safety Branch (MCSB) regulations governing the manufacture of 
cannabis-infused edibles for both medical and nonmedical use. The regulations released on 
November 16, 2017. 

3. Any retail medical cannabis operation, in conjunction with the manufacturing operation, must be 
licensed with the Bureau of Cannabis Control. 



4. The applicant andlor facility operator must adhere to all applicable codes and regulations 
regarding the storage of hazardous materials and the generation of hazardous wastes set forth in 
California Health and Safety Code Section 25500-25519 and 25100- 25258.2 including the 
electronic reporting requirement to the California Environmental Reporting System (CERS). 

5. The applicant and/or facility operator must apply for and obtain a permit for the storage of 
hazardous materials and the generation of hazardous wastes from the Nevada County Department 
of Environmental Health (NCDEH), Certified Unified Program Agency (CUPA). 

6. The applicant and/or facility operator shall secure and annually renew the permit for this facility 
within 30 days of becoming subject to applicable regulations. Routine compliance inspections, 
conducted by NCDEH inspectors, will occur at the facility and compliance inspections are 
typically unannounced inspections during regular business hours: Monday -Friday, 8:00am -
5:00pm. 

7. The County of Nevada Cannabis Ordinance, once codified, may require additional permitting, 
registration and reporting to the Environmental Health Department. 

E. POLICE DEPARTMENT 

1 Prior to tenant improvements, the Police Chief or designee shall conducted a walk-through of the 
facility and make security recommendations.  The final security plan shall be prepared and 
submitted to the Police Chief for review and approval. 
 

2 The applicant shall provide a copy of the contract with their security company and shall clarify 
whether there will be one or two security guards on site.  
 

3 The police Chief shall inspect the facility prior to issuance of a local medical cannabis business 
permit.  


	224 Church Remodel PCSR1-16-2020wATT.pdf
	224 CHURCH_20.0106 planning submittal.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	A1.1 SITE PLAN_224 CHURCH-A1.1
	A3.1 LOWER LEVEL FLOOR PLAN_224 CHURCH-A3.1
	A3.2 UPPER LEVEL FLOOR PLAN_224 CHURCH-A3.2
	A3.3 DOOR & WINDOW SCHEDULE_224 CHURCH-A3.3
	A6.1-A6.2 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS_224 CHURCH-A6.1
	A6.1-A6.2 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS_224 CHURCH-A6.2



	National Hotel Sign Variance PC SRwATT.pdf
	I. Make a Motion to find the project is exempt from environmental review pursuant to §15301 of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guidelines making the following finding:
	1. That proposed sign constitutes a minor alteration of existing private building and does not provide for an expansion of use.
	II. Make a Motion to approve a Variance request making the following findings pursuant to Section 17.88.030 of the City Municipal Code:
	1. That there are special circumstances applicable to the property, including the historic nature of the hotel building whereby the proposed sign contributes to its historic significance along with the use of the building as the largest hotel within t...
	2. That the Variance to the sign standards does not constitute a special privilege inconsistent with the limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in which such property is situated because the size and architectural style deprive the...
	3. The hotel is often a visitor’s first point of contact and use as such requires clear and easy visibility for registered guests that may be unfamiliar with the City to readily find their hotel accommodation when they enter downtown.
	III. Make a motion to approve the historic district sign as conditioned, making finding 1 below:
	1. The historic district sign is, as to its exterior appearance, compatible with the Mother Lode type of architecture
	Variance2.20.20.1.pdf
	Variance.pdf
	Binder2
	Variance2.20.20.1.pdf
	200206_National_East_Wall
	EASTWALL
	SINGNS
	History
	Hotel Signs




	Longitude PCSR 2-20-2020wATT.pdf
	ATT1-LML-D-Longitude Application_Redacted.pdf
	cover page - long distro
	300ft radius Elev Distro
	569 Searls Parks and Schools
	569 searls SITE PLAN
	2019-09-27 (2)
	Copy of Zoning Verification Letter -569 Searls
	IMG_5641
	IMG_5642
	IMG_7437
	Pics of building
	Proposed Location statement - Long Distro
	SUITE B ELEVATIONS
	SUITE B FP
	2019-09-24 (1)
	Business and Parking Plan
	300ft radius Elev Distro
	image
	Letter of Intent
	Neighborhood Compatibility Plan - draft
	parking
	2019-09-30 (2)
	Copy of SUITE B FP-SECURITY
	q000010372 - elevation 2477 alarm
	Safety Plan - LD
	Security Plan - draft_template
	Security Plan
	4.1. Physical Security Measures.
	4.2. Facility Access Control.
	4.4. Product and Cash Storage Plan.
	4.5. Product and Cash Transportation Plan
	4.5.1 Receiving Room. The Product Receiving Room will be used for in-taking product from vendors, pre-weighing products for future shelf stocking along with discrete cash pickups. This room will eliminate open exposure to bulk cannabis and cash in uns...

	Transportation of Product Policy
	Record Keeping Policy
	Employee Qualifications and Training

	SUITE B FP-SECURITY
	Community Benefits - draft_
	Enhanced Product Safety - LD
	Environmental Benefits - LD
	Labor _ Employment - LD
	Employee Hiring Guidelines

	Local Enterprise - LD
	Qualifications of Principals - Elev Distro

	ATT5 Responses to SCI Checklist wChecklist.pdf
	SCI Review-Longitude Management - Application Review Summary.pdf
	Distribution



	REDUCEDThrive to R&R Goods PCSR2-20-2020 (New Princiapals)wATT.pdf
	Ammendments 1 and 2 with Redactions.pdf
	1.REDACTED TSL-M.nv.C.p.D.f-Thrive Society MCB Permit Application 2-12-18.pdf
	Amedment Proposal.pdf
	Source+Turbo+Manual+V11 (1).pdf
	Untitled
	Untitled
	Untitled
	Untitled
	Blank Page
	Blank Page






	To Agenda: 


